EPIDEMIOLOGY OF AVIAN INFLUENZA VIRUSES

EDITED BY: Irene Iglesias, Timothée Vergne, Mathilde C. Paul, Paolo Mulatti and Thanawat Tiensin <u>PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Veterinary Science</u>







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2019 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714

ISBN 978-2-88945-994-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-994-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

EPIDEMIOLOGY OF AVIAN INFLUENZA VIRUSES

Topic Editors:

Irene Iglesias, Animal Health Research Center (INIA-CISA), Spain Timothée Vergne, UMR ENVT-INRA 1225, France Mathilde C. Paul, UMR ENVT-INRA 1225, France Paolo Mulatti, Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale delle Venezie, Italy Thanawat Tiensin, Department of Livestock Development, Thailand



Image: Timothée Vergne and Irene Iglesias. Cover image: tea maeklong/Shutterstock and nobeastsofierce/ Shutterstock.

Avian influenza is a highly contagious viral disease, characterized by intense circulation in the wild waterbird reservoirs, with periodical introductions into the domestic poultry sector. Al viruses have been the source of devastating economic losses in the poultry industry over the last three decades, and have become a major veterinary and public health concern due to their zoonotic potential. The most emblematic illustration of this impact has been the emergence of the HPAI H5N1 virus in southern China in the mid-1990s, followed by its continental spread across East and Southeast Asia, and the unprecedented epidemics recorded in 2003–2004. More recently (from 2014 to 2017), several subtypes of HPAI (including H5N1, H5N6, H5N8) emerged in East Asia and spread intercontinentally, stressing the crucial role of this geographical hotspot as a source of new HPAI subtypes. The international dimension and the difficulty to effectively control those epidemics highlight the need for a global approach to HPAI surveillance and a comprehensive knowledge on epidemiology and patterns of the disease. This Research Topic aims at contributing to fill this gap. It includes ten papers which supplement the knowledge of the epidemiology of AI and offer new approaches on control strategies in various regions of the world.

Citation: Iglesias, I., Vergne, T., Paul, M. C., Mulatti, P., Tiensin, T., eds. (2019). Epidemiology of Avian Influenza Viruses. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-994-0

Table of Contents

06 Editorial: Epidemiology of Avian Influenza Viruses

Mathilde C. Paul, Timothée Vergne, Paolo Mulatti, Thanawat Tiensin and Irene Iglesias

08 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5N8 Clade 2.3.4.4b in Germany in 2016/2017

Anja Globig, Christoph Staubach, Carola Sauter-Louis, Klaas Dietze, Timo Homeier-Bachmann, Carolina Probst, Jörn Gethmann, Klaus R. Depner, Christian Grund, Timm C. Harder, Elke Starick, Anne Pohlmann, Dirk Höper, Martin Beer, Thomas C. Mettenleiter and Franz J. Conraths

16 Garbage Management: An Important Risk Factor for HPAI-Virus Infection in Commercial Poultry Flocks

Emily Walz, Eric Linskens, Jamie Umber, Marie Rene Culhane, David Halvorson, Francesca Contadini and Carol Cardona

21 Airborne Detection of H5N8 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Genome in Poultry Farms, France

Axelle Scoizec, Eric Niqueux, Rodolphe Thomas, Patrick Daniel, Audrey Schmitz and Sophie Le Bouquin

28 Comparative Epidemiology of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus H5N1 and H5N6 in Vietnamese Live Bird Markets: Spatiotemporal Patterns of Distribution and Risk Factors

Kate C. Mellor, Anne Meyer, Doaa A. Elkholly, Guillaume Fournié, Pham T. Long, Ken Inui, Pawin Padungtod, Marius Gilbert, Scott H. Newman, Timothée Vergne, Dirk U. Pfeiffer and Kim B. Stevens

- **41** *Low- and High-Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5 and H7 Spread Risk Assessment Within and Between Australian Commercial Chicken Farms* Angela Bullanday Scott, Jenny-Ann L. M. L. Toribio, Mini Singh, Peter Groves, Belinda Barnes, Kathryn Glass, Barbara Moloney, Amanda Black and Marta Hernandez-Jover
- 64 Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza Exposure Risk Assessment in Australian Commercial Chicken Farms

Angela Bullanday Scott, Jenny-Ann Toribio, Mini Singh, Peter Groves, Belinda Barnes, Kathryn Glass, Barbara Moloney, Amanda Black and Marta Hernandez-Jover

89 Linking Supply Chain Governance and Biosecurity in the Context of HPAI Control in Western Java: A Value Chain Perspective Dikky Indrawan, Karl M. Rich, Peter van Horne, Arief Daryanto and Henk Hogeveen

101 Geographical and Historical Patterns in the Emergences of Novel Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) H5 and H7 Viruses in Poultry Madhur S. Dhingra, Jean Artois, Simon Dellicour, Philippe Lemey, Gwenaelle Dauphin, Sophie Von Dobschuetz, Thomas P. Van Boeckel, David M. Castellan, Subhash Morzaria and Marius Gilbert

115 Establishing Monitored Premises Status for Continuity of Business Permits During an HPAI Outbreak

Jamie Umber, Rebecca Johnson, Michelle Kromm, Eric Linskens, Marie R. Culhane, Timothy Goldsmith, David Halvorson and Carol Cardona

121 Developing Farm-Level Post-vaccination Sero-Monitoring Systems for H5N1 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza in an Endemically Infected Country

Peter A. Durr, Risa Indriani, Paul Selleck, Abdul R. M. Adjid, Tatty Syafriati and Jagoda Ignjatovic





Editorial: Epidemiology of Avian Influenza Viruses

Mathilde C. Paul¹, Timothée Vergne¹, Paolo Mulatti², Thanawat Tiensin³ and Irene Iglesias^{4*}

¹ IHAP, Université de Toulouse, INRA, ENVT, Toulouse, France, ² Laboratorio di Sorveglianza epidemiologica, legislazione veterinaria e benessere animale, Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale delle Venezie, Legnaro, Italy, ³ Department of Livestock Development, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives, Bangkok, Thailand, ⁴ Center for Animal Health Research (CISA), INIA, Madrid, Spain

Keywords: avian influenza, epidemiology, surveillance, animal health, control strategies, domestic poultry, wild birds

Editorial on the Research Topic

Epidemiology of Avian Influenza Viruses

Avian influenza (AI) is a highly contagious viral disease, characterized by an intense circulation in many wild waterbird reservoir populations, with periodical introduction into the domestic poultry sector. AI viruses have been the source of devastating economic losses in the poultry industry over the last three decades and have become a major veterinary and public health concern due to their zoonotic potential (1, 2). Outbreaks caused by highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) viruses have caused serious animal health crises worldwide, such as the high case fatality rates in poultry, the control measures that are applied (massive pre-emptive culling or vaccination) and the consequences of virus detection on the international poultry produce trade.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Salome Dürr, University of Bern, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Peter Andrew Durr, Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO), Australia

> *Correspondence: Irene Iglesias irene_iglesias@yahoo.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

> **Received:** 05 April 2019 **Accepted:** 29 April 2019 **Published:** 22 May 2019

Citation:

Paul MC, Vergne T, Mulatti P, Tiensin T and Iglesias I (2019) Editorial: Epidemiology of Avian Influenza Viruses. Front. Vet. Sci. 6:150. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2019.00150 Consequences of virus detection on the international poultry produce trade.
The most emblematic illustration of this impact was the emergence of the HPAI H5N1 virus in southern China in the mid-1990s, followed by its continental spread across East and Southeast Asia, and the unprecedented epidemics recorded in 2003–2004. More recently (from 2014 to 2017), several subtypes of HPAI (including H5N1, H5N6, H5N8) have emerged in East Asia and spread intercontinentally, stressing the crucial role of this geographical hotspot as a source of new HPAI subtypes (3, 4). The international dimension and the difficulties in effectively controlling these epidemics, highlight the need for more scientific information in relation to the epidemiology and patterns of the disease in affected countries, especially in East Asia, as well as the need for effective policies against HPAI. This Research Topic aims at contributing to fill this gap. It includes 10 papers which supplement the knowledge of the epidemiology of AI and offer new approaches and insights for surveillance and control strategies in various regions of the world (including France, Germany, the USA, Vietnam, Australia, and Indonesia).

Undoubtedly, the rapid and continuous evolution of AI viruses make their surveillance and control particularly challenging. Dhingra et al. collated all emergence events of H5 and H7 HPAI subtypes, reported since 1959, and used spatial and phylogeographical analyses to shed new light on the emergence processes of highly pathogenic strains. An increase in viral reassortment rates and an antigenic diversity found in China and Vietnam emphasizes the need for further research in these HPAI emergence hotspots. Furthermore, the identification of differences in the spatio-temporal patterns and risk factors for HPAI subtypes in Vietnam, as developed by Mellor et al. highlights the challenge of tailoring surveillance and intervention strategies to the epidemiological contexts and subtypes of interest. Control can be particularly challenging in endemic areas, such as Indonesia, where multiple HPAI virus subtypes and clades may circulate, as described by Durr et al. The authors illustrate the importance of the seed strain used in vaccine developments and of the antigens used to assess sero-protection of vaccinated flocks, under field conditions.

6

Another great challenge of HPAI control is the intense circulation of AI viruses in waterfowl populations, which act as a natural reservoir with periodic spill-over to domestic poultry. Globig et al. conducted a detailed examination of the distribution of the HPAI H5N8 cases that were reported in wild or captive birds in Germany (2016–2017). They emphasize the lessons learnt during the epidemic in terms of prevention and control, highlighting substantial gaps in farm biosecurity.

AI management is further complicated by the fact that viruses are able to spread through a large number of transmission routes. Identifying these pathways is key in the development of appropriate prevention and control strategies. Walz et al. described the types of potentially infectious or contaminated materials that are disposed of in different US poultry sectors and suggested that poultry farm garbage management and disposal practices may well-contribute to the spread of HPAI viruses between farms. The potential of airborne transmission was questioned by Scoizec et al. who detected the presence of the AIV genome in some air samples collected up to 110 m outside of infected premises during the French HPAI H5N8 epidemic (2016-2017). Based on these results, the authors stress the challenge of implementing the depopulation of infected farms, without contributing to the airborne diffusion of the virus.

Veterinary epidemiology has an eminently applied nature, generating valuable tools of risk analysis that assist decisionmaking in the animal health sector. The two studies presented by Scott et al. illustrate the relevance of such approaches in the context of early warning systems in disease-free areas. Scenario tree modeling approaches made it possible to assess the pathways of LPAI exposure, as well as to quantify the risk of LPAI and HPAI spread within and between Australian commercial chicken farms.

REFERENCES

- EFSA. Risk Factors of Primary Introduction of Highly Pathogenic and Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Into European Poultry Holdings, Considering at Least Material Contaminated by Wild Birds and Contact With Wild Birds. EFSA supporting publication (2017). p. 24.doi: 10.2903/sp.efsa.2017. EN-1282
- Ramos S, MacLachlan M, Melton A. Impacts of the 2014-2015 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Outbreak on the U.S. Poultry Sector, LDPM-282-02. USDA, Economic Research Service (2017).
- Gilbert M, Prosser DJ, Zhang G, Artois J, Dhingra MS, Tildesley M, et al. Could changes in the agricultural landscape of Northeastern China Have influenced the long-distance transmission of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5NX viruses? *Front Vet Sci.* (2017) 4:225. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017. 00225

Timely information is required to optimize the emergency response during outbreaks. In this regard, the questionnaire developed by Umber et al. based on the experience and lessons learnt during an HPAI outbreak in the USA, provides an essential tool in establishing poultry premises status, and tailoring future outbreak management measures. The heterogeneity of actors and organizations involved in poultry production chains is another challenge that needs to be addressed in the design of appropriate measures for AI. Indrawan et al. used a value chain analysis to establish a theoretical framework that makes it possible to examine biosecurity and HPAI control in Western Java, Indonesia, where the disease remains endemic despite extensive efforts. Their results highlight that a proper understanding of the chain governance structure is vital to improve the effectiveness of HPAI control measures, target the incentives, and design fit-for-purpose interventions.

The papers gathered in this Research Topic provide a broad overview of the challenges posed by the surveillance and control of AI viruses (both low and highly pathogenic) in a wide diversity of epidemiological contexts (from disease-free to endemic situations) in different countries. This Research Topic contributes to generating new insights into the epidemiology of avian influenza, which could be used to inform prevention, surveillance and intervention strategies in domestic poultry.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The main text has been redacted by MP, TV, PM, and II. All authors revised and approved the editorial.

FUNDING

This work was partially funded by a national project EG17-141.

 Li KS, Xu KM, Peiris JS, Poon LL, Yu KZ, Yuen KY, et al. Characterization of H9 subtype influenza viruses from the ducks of Southern China: a candidate for the next influenza pandemic in humans? *J Virol.* (2003) 77:6988. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.12.6988-6994.2003

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Paul, Vergne, Mulatti, Tiensin and Iglesias. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5N8 Clade 2.3.4.4b in Germany in 2016/2017

Anja Globig*, Christoph Staubach, Carola Sauter-Louis, Klaas Dietze, Timo Homeier-Bachmann, Carolina Probst, Jörn Gethmann, Klaus R. Depner, Christian Grund, Timm C. Harder, Elke Starick, Anne Pohlmann, Dirk Höper, Martin Beer, Thomas C. Mettenleiter and Franz J. Conraths

Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut, Federal Research Institute for Animal Health, Greifswald-Insel Riems, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Timothée Vergne, Institut de Recherche pour le Développement (IRD), France

Reviewed by:

Ana Alba-Casals, University of Minnesota, United States Sophie Von Dobschuetz, Food and Agriculture Organization delle Nazioni Unite, Italy

*Correspondence:

Anja Globig anja.globig@fli.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 10 October 2017 Accepted: 19 December 2017 Published: 24 January 2018

Citation:

Globig A, Staubach C, Sauter-Louis C, Dietze K, Homeier-Bachmann T, Probst C, Gethmann J, Depner KR, Grund C, Harder TC, Starick E, Pohlmann A, Höper D, Beer M, Mettenleiter TC and Conraths FJ (2018) Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5N8 Clade 2.3.4.4b in Germany in 2016/2017. Front. Vet. Sci. 4:240. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017.00240 Here, we report on the occurrence of highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) H5Nx clade 2.3.4.4b in Germany. Between November 8, 2016, and September 30, 2017, more than 1,150 cases of HPAI H5Nx clade 2.3.4.4b in wild birds and 107 outbreaks in birds kept in captivity (92 poultry holdings and 15 zoos/animal parks) were reported in Germany. This HPAI epidemic is the most severe recorded in Germany so far. The viruses were apparently introduced by migratory birds, sparking an epidemic among wild birds across Germany with occasional incursions into poultry holdings, zoos and animal parks, which were usually rapidly detected and controlled by stamping out. HPAI viruses (mainly subtype H5N8, in a few cases also H5N5) were found in dead wild birds of at least 53 species. The affected wild birds were water birds (including gulls, storks, herons, and cormorants) and scavenging birds (birds of prey, owls, and crows). In a number of cases, substantial gaps in farm biosecurity may have eased virus entry into the holdings. In a second wave of the epidemic starting from February 2017, there was epidemiological and molecular evidence for virus transmission of the infections between commercial turkey holdings in an area of high poultry density, which caused approximately 25% of the total number of outbreaks in poultry. Biosecurity measures in poultry holdings should be adapted. This includes, inter alia, wearing of stable-specific protective clothing and footwear, cleaning, and disinfection of equipment that has been in contact with birds and prevention of contacts between poultry and wild water birds.

Keywords: highly pathogenic avian influenza, H5N8, clade 2.3.4.4b, Germany, wild water birds, outbreak investigations, primary incursion, farm-to-farm spread

INTRODUCTION

Avian Influenza is an infectious disease of poultry caused by influenza A viruses, which are enveloped viruses of the family *Orthomyxoviridae* with a segmented single-stranded RNA genome. These viruses occur in two pathogenicity variants (low/highly pathogenic) and a multitude of different subtypes. Wild water birds (*Anseriformes*) as well as gulls, terns, and wader birds (*Charadriiformes*) are regarded as the natural reservoir for all low pathogenic avian influenza viruses (LPAIVs), i.e., viruses of the subtypes H1–H16 and N1–N9. While LPAIV of the subtypes H5 and H7 may cause almost no or only mild disease in domestic poultry, these subtypes have the capacity to evolve spontaneously into highly pathogenic forms [highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses (HPAIVs)]. The underlying mutational steps seem to be associated with adaptation to domestic poultry after transmission of the low pathogenic progenitors from wild birds (1). The highly pathogenic form clinically manifests itself in poultry as fowl plague, which causes drastic losses especially in turkeys and chickens. In ducks and geese, however, the clinical signs of an HPAIV infection may be mild, and mortality can be considerably lower than in turkeys and chickens. Therefore, HPAIV may circulate in waterfowl undetected, whereas mortality is always very high in *Galliformes* [75–100% (2)].

Upon exposure to a high infectious dose, usually by direct contact to infected birds, some avian influenza viruses (AIVs) (e.g., HPAIV H5N1 and H5N6, LPAIV H7N9 in China, of which a HPAI variant has recently been detected) can be transmitted to humans and may cause fatal disease. Due to the segmented genome of influenza A viruses, new viruses can evolve, when simultaneous infections of a single host with different influenza A viruses allow mixing (reassortment) of the genome segments. Therefore, there is a permanent risk for the generation of novel influenza A virus strains cocirculate (3).

In 1996, a HPAIV of subtype H5N1 originating from geese (goose/Guangdong/96, gs/GD) in southern China caused outbreaks in chickens and disease in 18 humans with six fatalities. This virus evolved steadily during the following two decades into various phylogenetic clades, subtypes, and genotypes within the so-called gs/GD lineage. A combination of blanket vaccination of poultry against HPAI H5, trading at live bird markets and the traditional way of keeping waterfowl, for example, in rice fields, in contact to wild or feral water birds is a perfect source for the genesis, emergence, and evolution of new HPAIVs in large parts of Asia, especially in South East Asia. Migratory water birds mixing with poultry may contribute to the development of new viruses by reassortment and eventually give rise to intra- and intercontinental spread. Many of the gs/GD H5-descendants caused serious outbreaks of fowl plague in poultry in South East Asia and some were detected in Europe as well: in 2005/2006 (H5N1 clade 2.2), in 2010 (H5N1 clade 2.3.2.1c), and in 2014 (H5N8 clade 2.3.4.4a). This led to a massive increase of HPAI outbreaks worldwide since 1996 (4-6). Some, but not all of these HPAI H5 strains can also cause severe infections in humans. The generation of a potentially pandemic virus from this lineage that is able to spread within the human population is of worldwide concern and under careful observation. Genetic analysis and animal experiments showed that there was no indication of a zoonotic potential of the clade 2.3.4.4 H5N8a and b viruses (7) and no human infections with this virus have been reported so far. However, 2.3.4.4c H5N6 viruses, which have hitherto only been detected in South East Asia, bear a zoonotic potential (8).

In September 2016, the FAO released a risk alert about the potential westward spread of a novel HPAIV H5N8 of clade 2.3.4.4b, which was detected through surveillance of wild migratory birds in the Tyva Republic, Russian Federation, in June 2016 (9). Only one month later, Hungary and then Poland notified the first cases of HPAIV H5N8 clade 2.3.4.4b detection in dead wild birds (a swan in Hungary and ducks as well as gulls in Poland).

Here, we provide a brief account of the course of the HPAI epidemic that took place in wild and kept birds in Germany in 2016–2017.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Case and Outbreak Data

Records of cases of HPAIV infections in wild birds and HPAI outbreaks in kept birds in Germany, i.e., commercial and backyard poultry holdings as well as zoos, were obtained from the German National Animal Disease Data Base (10). In brief, all cases of HPAIV detection in wild and captive birds were submitted to the database by the competent veterinary authorities at the district level.

Records on HPAI cases in wild birds in Germany were retrieved from the "Wildvogelmonitoring-Datenbank", the National Avian Influenza Data Base run by the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut (11). Data on the type of surveillance (active or passive), the sampled wild bird species and the laboratory result were entered by the veterinary investigation centers of the respective federal states.

Data on outbreaks in poultry and cases in wild birds in Europe were obtained from the European Animal Disease Notification System¹ and EMPRES Global Animal Disease Information System (FAO²). Data were analyzed in Excel spreadsheets (Microsoft Excel, 2016). Maps were created using ArcGIS software (ESRI, Redlands, CA, USA).

Epidemiological Outbreak Investigations

Epidemiological outbreak investigations were conducted in affected poultry holdings and zoos according to Council Directive 2005/94/EC as previously described (12). In brief, data were obtained by on-site visits to the holdings and by structured interviews with farm or zoo managers, employees, and veterinarians who had visited the farm or zoo. Additional data were extracted from invoices, trade documents (purchase of poultry and feed), and stable records of the affected holdings if available. Touring records of the veterinarians and of vehicles (feed transports, rendering lorries, etc.) were checked for their potential role in virus introduction into the affected holdings.

RESULTS

HPAI H5N8 Clade 2.3.4.4b Outbreaks in Europe and Germany

On November 7, 2016, shortly after the first detection of HPAIV H5N8 clade 2.3.4.4b in Hungary and Poland, an increased mortality of uncertain cause was first reported in tufted ducks (*Aythya fuligula*) at Lake Constance in Baden-Württemberg, in the southwest of Germany. One day later, on November 8, 2016, HPAIV H5N8 was identified in wild birds (mostly tufted ducks) at Lake Constance as well as in tufted ducks found dead at Lake

¹https://ec.europa.eu/food/animals/animal-diseases/not-system_en ²http://empres-i.fao.org/eipws3g/



Plön in Schleswig-Holstein, northern Germany. Simultaneously, an increased number of wild water birds and sea gulls were found dead at the eastern coast of Schleswig-Holstein, around Lake Constance in Switzerland, Austria, and Germany (Bavaria and Baden-Württemberg) as well as at the Baltic Sea Coast in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania, northeastern Germany (**Figure 1A**, blue points).

Soon, the HPAI H5N8 infections widened to an epidemic across Germany (**Figure 1A**, red points) affecting mainly wild water birds of the orders *Anseriformes, Podicipediformes, Charadriiformes, Phalacrocoraciformes, Ardeiformes, and Ciconiiformes* overwintering at lakes and rivers or along the coast, and scavenging birds of the orders *Accipitriformes, Falconiformes*, and *Strigiformes* as well as in few cases also crows that had apparently fed on infected carcasses. The virus was isolated from at least 53 wild or feral bird species (**Table 1**). Almost all other European countries were affected by the epidemic as well (**Figure 2**).

Between November 8, 2016, and September 30, 2017, more than 1,150 cases of HPAI H5N8 in wild birds and 107 outbreaks in birds kept in captivity (92 poultry holdings and 15 zoos or animal parks) were reported in Germany (**Figures 1**, **3** and **4**). The vast majority of cases in wild birds were detected in the context of passive surveillance (sick and dead birds). The last

outbreak in poultry so far was reported on May 9, 2017. Thus, the HPAI epidemic seemed to be waning in Germany since April 2017 (**Figure 4**). Rise in ambient temperature and increasing UV radiation as well as lower densities of overwintering waterfowl on lakes and rivers may have influenced the decrease of observed cases since the tenacity of AIV is in general regarded as low (13, 14). However, in August 2017 feral mute swans in central Germany were found dead and tested positive for HPAIV H5N8.

Generally, the temporal course of the epidemic in wild birds was characterized by at least two waves, with maxima in mid-November 2016 and mid-February 2017, respectively (**Figure 4**). A few days after the detection of HPAIV H5N8 in wild birds, the first outbreaks were reported in non-commercial poultry (backyard) and a small animal park close to the coast of the Baltic Sea. Subsequently, large commercial poultry farms were also affected. By the end of February 2017, all federal states of Germany had reported HPAIV H5N8 infections in wild birds or poultry (**Figures 1**, **3** and **4**). During the second wave of the epidemic, further HPAIV H5 reassortants were found in wild birds and domestic poultry (turkeys) in Schleswig-Holstein. These strains could be clearly distinguished from the first reported strains as they belonged to different genotypes involving several gene segments including another NA subtype (N5).

TABLE 1 Species of wild or feral (marked with *) birds infected with HPA	IV
clade 2.3.4.4b H5N8/N5.	

Species	Latin name
Order Anseriformes	
Diving ducks	Aythya
Tufted duck	Aythya fuligula
Common pochard	Aythya ferina
Common goldeneye	Bucephala clangula
Red crested pochard	Netta Rufina
Greater scaup	Aythya marila
Common eider	Somateria mollissima
Common scoter	Melanitta nigra
Dabbling ducks	Anas
Mallard	Anas platyrhynchos
Northern pintail	Anas acuta
Gadwall	Mareca strepera
Eurasian wigeon	Anas penelope
Perching ducks	Anatini
Wood duck	Aix sponsa
Ruddy ducks	Oxyura
Ruddy duck*	Oxyura jamaicensis
Shelducks	Tadorninae
Common shelduck	Tadorna tadorna
	Podiceps
Great crested grebe	Podiceps cristatus
Red-necked grebe	Podiceps grisegena
Little grebe	Tachybaptus ruficollis
Merganser	Mergus
Merganser	mergus
Common merganser	Mergus merganser
Goose	
Greylag goose	Anser anser
Bean goose	Anser fabalis
Canada goose	Branta canadensis
White-fronted goose	Anser albifrons
Pink-footed goose	Anser brachyrhynchus
Barnacle goose	Branta leucopsis
Dark-bellied brant	Branta bernicla
Red-breasted goose*	Branta ruficollis
Lesser white-fronted goose	Anser erythropus
Swans	
Mute swan	Cygnus Cygnus clor
	Cygnus olor
Black swan*	Cygnus atratus
Whooper swan	Cygnus cygnus
Order Charadriiformes	Laridas
Gulls	Laridae
Black-headed gull	Chroicocephalus ridibundus
European herring gull	Larus argentatus
Great black-backed gull	Larus marinus
Mew gull	Larus canus
Little gull	Hydrocoloeus minutus
Lesser black-backed gull	Larus fuscus
Sandpipers	Scolopacidae
Red shank	Tringa totanus
Order Gruiformes	_
Rail Common coot	Rallidae Fulica atra
	1 01100 0010
Order Ardeiformes Grey heron	Ardea cinerea
	Continued

(Continued)

TABLE 1	Continued

Species	Latin name
Western great egret	Ardea alba
Order Accipitriformes	
	Accipitridae
Common buzzard	Buteo buteo
Rough-legged buzzard	Buteo lagopus
White-tailed eagle	Haliaeetus albicilla
Northern goshawk	Accipiter gentilis
Eurasian sparrowhawk	Accipiter nisus
Order Phalacrocoraciformes	
Great cormorant	Phalacrocorax carbo
Order Passeriformes	
Crows	Corvidae
Carrion crow	Corvus corone
Magpie	Pica pica
Order Ciconiiformes	
Storks	Ciconiidae
White stork	Ciconia ciconia
Order Falconiformes	
Falcons	Falco
Peregrine falcon	Falco peregrinus
Order Strigiformes	
Owls	Strigidae
Long-eared Owl	Asio otus
20119 000 0111	

Phylogenetic analyses indicated that multiple independent incursions of HPAIV into Germany had occurred more or less at the same time (15).

Epidemiological Outbreak Investigations

A total of 68 commercial poultry holdings were affected by the epidemic, including 52 turkey, 5 laying hen, 9 duck, and 2 geese holdings (**Figure 3**). Moreover, 24 small scale, non-commercial poultry holdings were also infected by HPAIV H5N8. They were distributed almost all over Germany. Similar to the outbreaks in captive birds in zoos, they were most likely caused by primary virus incursions into the holdings/zoos *via* direct contact to infected wild birds (where captive birds were kept outdoors and with access to ponds also visited by wild birds) or *via* indirect contact (feces or material contaminated by infected carcasses). No evidence for the transmission of HPAIVs through trade of live animals, feed, or products of animal origin was detected in the course of the epidemiological outbreak investigations.

The majority of outbreaks in large commercial poultry holdings were apparently caused by single incursion events, often affecting only one out of several stables of the respective holding. In a number of cases, substantial gaps in farm biosecurity may have eased virus entry. This refers to outdoor storage of bedding material, lack of personal hygiene when entering the stables (no changing of footwear and protective clothing, lack of appropriate disinfection), regrouping of poultry flocks (mainly turkeys) during fattening, attraction of wild water birds close to the stables either by ponds or by storing silage on the premise as supply for a biogas plant. Only in the late phase of the epidemic,



FIGURE 2 | Distribution of reported highly pathogenic avian influenza clade 2.3.4.4b H5Nx cases in wild birds (points) and outbreaks in poultry holdings (triangles) and captive birds in zoos (squares) in 2016 (blue) and 2017 (red) in Europe.

there was epidemiological and molecular evidence for direct farm-to-farm transmission affecting mainly turkey holdings in the area with the highest poultry densitiy, which caused approximately 25% of the total number of outbreaks (**Figure 3**, within red circles). The mode of farm-to-farm spread remained elusive, but was in a few cases found to be potentially related to sharing a single carcass bin by some holdings and possible vehicle contacts between farms.

Approximately 1.2 million birds died or had to be killed, and the economic losses (direct costs) were estimated as in excess of 17 million Euros.

DISCUSSION

Continuous cocirculation of HPAIVs and LPAIVs in poultry with frequent spill-over transmissions into migratory wild birds has been observed in several parts of Asia over more than two decades. Chances to eradicate these viruses at their source in poultry in Asia are estimated to be low. Similarly, in Egypt and West-Africa HPAIV H5N1 2.3.2.1c and HPAIV H5N8 2.3.4.4b are continuously circulating. Therefore, the poultry industry, risk managers and poultry associations must anticipate future incursions and improve their preparations for prevention and control. Fortunately, the recent HPAIV H5N8 clade 2.3.4.4a and b had no zoonotic potential, but this is prone to change as new viruses within this clade (2.3.4.4c and d) that may lead to fatal infections in mammals have already evolved in Asia (8). Efficient measures to prevent the spread of notifiable AIV include prompt detection of infection, closing affected holdings already in the case of suspected infections, immediate depopulation and cleansing/disinfection, as well as a temporary ban on restocking (7). Moreover, potential contact to wild birds, mode and frequency of farm visits, biosecurity practices, and the density of poultry holdings in a specific region are relevant risk factors for the introduction and the spread of HPAIVs (16).

Historically, HPAI outbreaks were usually geographically limited and mainly restricted to poultry, i.e., the viruses causing the outbreaks did not circulate in wild birds. This situation has fundamentally changed since the expansion of Gs/GD HPAIVs H5 to other continents, including Europe, which has led to a panzootic (5, 6). Although the epidemic of HPAIV H5N8 clade 2.3.4.4b in poultry came to a hold in late spring 2017, sporadic cases in wild water birds have continuously been reported from European countries during the summer of this year. As demonstrated by



FIGURE 3 | Highly pathogenic avian influenza in holdings of captive birds in Germany since November 2016. Red points: turkeys (52), orange points: ducks (9), blue points: geese (2), pink points: laying hens (5), yellow triangles: small scale, mixed holdings (24), and green squares: zoos (15). Red circles indicate outbreaks where farm-to-farm spread most likely occurred.

the cases detected in mute swans in central Germany in August 2017 and by several outbreaks in poultry and wild birds in Italy, Belgium, and the UK during summer 2017, continuing low level

circulation among kept birds or repeated introduction into wild bird populations and vice versa cannot be excluded as long as there is the chance for direct or indirect contact to infected wild



birds. This applies in particular to zoos or animal parks where birds are kept on ponds that are also frequented by wild water birds.

Adequate farm biosecurity is essential to decrease the risk of introduction and spread in poultry farms, which is particularly relevant in areas with high poultry density, particularly during epidemics. In high-risk periods and locations, losses should be compensated according to the level of biosecurity established and enforced on the affected holdings.

The most important lesson learned during the epidemic was the finding of substantial gaps in farm biosecurity and the impact of HPAI in an area of high poultry density, i.e., substantial farmto-farm spread.

In general, protection of domestic poultry holdings from infection with HPAIV H5N8 has highest priority. Emphasis is put on the creation of a physical and functional barrier between wild bird habitats and domestic poultry holdings. Among other biosafety measures, mandatory indoor housing of poultry or the use of protected shelters (fenced and covered with fabric) minimize the risk of direct and indirect contact with infected wild birds. In particular, indirect introduction routes, e.g., through feed contaminated by wild birds, contaminated water, litter, and objects (shoes, wheelbarrows, vehicles, etc.) must be interrupted and adequate disinfection measures applied. Revision, optimization and strict implementation of biosafety measures are of utmost importance.

The HPAI H5N8 epidemic has taught the German veterinary authorities some limitations, but also the use of possible exceptions from culling as laid down in the national legislation, e.g., minimizing culling of birds kept in zoos. Based on the experience made, the national legislation is currently under revision. Furthermore, the German legislation on biosafety in poultry holdings has been amended. Not only commercial poultry farms but also small holders must now follow rules and principles that aim at reducing the risk of introduction of HPAIV into poultry farms. An online tool for an assessment of the quality of farm biosecurity by the farmers themselves is under development.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AG, CS, and FC designed the study and analyzed the data. AG and FC drafted the manuscript. CS-L, KD, TH-B, CP, JG, KD, CG, TH, ES, AP, DH, MB, and TM collected or analyzed data and edited the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The assistance of Nicole Reimer and Patrick Wysocki in preparing maps is gratefully acknowledged. The authors further wish to thank all persons involved in outbreak investigations and everybody who contributed to find out the gaps, through which the virus could be introduced. The authors further acknowledge the improvement of the manuscript by the reviewers.

15

January 2018 | Volume 4 | Article 240

REFERENCES

- Jones BA, Grace D, Kock R, Alonso S, Rushton J, Said MY, et al. Zoonosis emergence linked to agricultural intensification and environmental change. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 21:8399–404. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1208059110
- Swayne DE, Suarez DL. Highly pathogenic avian influenza. *Rev Sci Tech* (2000) 19:463–8. doi:10.20506/rst.19.2.1230
- Lam TT, Hon C, Tang JW. Use of phylogenetics in the molecular epidemiology and evolutionary studies of viral infections. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci* (2010) 47:5–49. doi:10.3109/10408361003633318
- Guan Y, Smith GJD. The emergence and diversification of panzootic H5N1 influenza viruses. *Virus Res* (2013) 178:35–43. doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2013. 05.012
- Lee DH, Sharshov K, Swayne DE, Kurskaya O, Sobolev I, Kabilov M, et al. Novel reassortant clade 2.3.4.4 avian influenza A(H5N8) virus in wild aquatic birds, Russia, 2016. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2017) 23:358–60. doi:10.3201/ eid2302.161616
- Lee DH, Bertran K, Kwon J, Swayne DE. Evolution, global spread, and pathogenicity of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5Nx clade 2.3.4.4. J Vet Sci (2017) 18(S1):269–80. doi:10.4142/jvs.2017.18.S1.269
- EFSA AHAW Panel. Urgent request on avian influenza. EFSA J (2017) 15(1):4687. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4687
- Li M, Zhao N, Luo J, Li Y, Chen L, Ma J, et al. Genetic characterization of continually evolving highly pathogenic H5N6 influenza viruses in China, 2012-2016. Front Microbiol (2017) 28(8):260. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2017. 00260
- Sims L, Khomenko S, Kamata A, Belot G, Bastard J, Palamara E, et al. H5N8 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) of Clade 2.3.4.4 Detected through Surveillance of Wild Migratory Birds in the Tyva Republic, the Russian Federation – Potential for International Spread (Vol. 35). Rome: Empres Watch (2016). Available from: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i6113e.pdf
- Kroschewski K, Kramer M, Micklich A, Staubach C, Carmanns R, Conraths FJ. Animal disease outbreak control: the use of crisis management tools. *Rev Sci Tech* (2006) 25:211–21. doi:10.20506/rst.25.1.1657

- Wilking H, Ziller M, Staubach C, Globig A, Harder TC, Conraths FJ. Chances and limitations of wild bird monitoring for the avian influenza virus H5N1 – detection of pathogens highly mobile in time and space. *PLoS One* (2009) 14:e6639. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006639
- Conraths FJ, Sauter-Louis C, Globig A, Dietze K, Pannwitz G, Albrecht K, et al. Highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N8 in Germany: outbreak investigations. *Transbound Emerg Dis* (2016) 63:10–3. doi:10.1111/tbed.12443
- Kurmi B, Murugkar HV, Nagarajan S, Tosh C, Dubey SC, Kumar M. Survivability of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 virus in poultry faeces at different temperatures. *Indian J Virol* (2013) 24(2):272–7. doi:10.1007/ s13337-013-0135-2
- Wood JP, Choi YW, Chappie DJ, Rogers JV, Kaye JZ. Environmental persistence of a highly pathogenic avian influenza (H5N1) virus. *Environ Sci Technol* (2010) 44(19):7515–20. doi:10.1021/es1016153
- Pohlmann A, Starick E, Harder T, Grund C, Höper D, Globig A, et al. Outbreaks among wild birds and domestic poultry caused by reassorted influenza A (H5N8) clade 2.3.4.4 viruses, Germany, 2016. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2017) 23:633–6. doi:10.3201/eid2304.161949
- Ssematimba A, Hagenaars TJ, de Wit JJ, Ruiterkamp F, Fabri TH, Stegeman JA, et al. Avian influenza transmission risks: analysis of biosecurity measures and contact structure in Dutch poultry farming. *Prev Vet Med* (2013) 109:106–15. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2012.09.001

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Globig, Staubach, Sauter-Louis, Dietze, Homeier-Bachmann, Probst, Gethmann, Depner, Grund, Harder, Starick, Pohlmann, Höper, Beer, Mettenleiter and Conraths. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Garbage Management: An Important Risk Factor for HPAI-Virus Infection in Commercial Poultry Flocks

Emily Walz^{1*}, Eric Linskens¹, Jamie Umber¹, Marie Rene Culhane², David Halvorson¹, Francesca Contadini³ and Carol Cardona¹

¹ Department of Veterinary and Biomedical Sciences, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN, United States, ² Department of Veterinary Population Medicine, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN, United States, ³ Center for Animal Health and Food Safety, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN, United States

Garbage management represents a potential pathway of HPAI-virus infection for commercial poultry operations as multiple poultry premises may share a common trash collection service provider, trash collection site (e.g., shared dumpster for multiple premises) or disposal site (e.g., landfill). The types of potentially infectious or contaminated material disposed of in the garbage has not been previously described but is suspected to vary by poultry industry sector. A survey of representatives from the broiler, turkey, and layer sectors in the United States revealed that many potentially contaminated or infectious items are routinely disposed of in the trash on commercial poultry premises. On-farm garbage management practices, along with trash hauling and disposal practices are thus key components that must be considered to evaluate the risk of commercial poultry becoming infected with HPAI virus.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Irene Iglesias, INIA, Spain

Reviewed by:

Alexis Delabouglise, Pennsylvania State University, United States Cristobal Cristian Verdugo, Universidad Austral de Chile, Chile

*Correspondence:

Emily Walz walzx148@umn.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 18 September 2017 Accepted: 10 January 2018 Published: 26 January 2018

Citation:

Walz E, Linskens E, Umber J, Culhane MR, Halvorson D, Contadini F and Cardona C (2018) Garbage Management: An Important Risk Factor for HPAI-Virus Infection in Commercial Poultry Flocks. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:5. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00005 Keywords: United States, poultry, farms, chickens, turkeys, risk, waste disposal facilities, highly pathogenic avian influenza

INTRODUCTION

In past avian influenza (AI) outbreaks in US poultry, evidence of lateral disease spread has been documented *via* transfer of people, vehicles, and shared equipment or visitors between farms (1). Before 2015, however, epidemiological trace-back questionnaires in AI outbreaks on commercial poultry farms in the United States did not specifically investigate garbage management services as a risk factor for disease spread.

Many and likely most commercial poultry operations in the United States use third-party companies to collect and transport trash to off-site disposal locations. Garbage management poses a risk for potential HPAI-virus infection of a commercial poultry flock through a number of pathways. These include: multiple poultry premises (commercial and backyard operations) sharing a common trash collection service provider, sharing a trash collection site (i.e., common dumpster for multiple premises) or disposal site (i.e. landfill). HPAI virus may be carried onto a poultry premises *via* contaminated garbage transport vehicles or drivers, and it is hypothesized that garbage contents within the truck may contain virus-laden trash items. Garbage trucks coming near the barns (within 15 ft) were identified as a significant risk factor in a case–control study in the 2015 United States HPAI H5N2 outbreak. It was shown that egg layer flocks in Nebraska and Iowa that had garbage trucks coming near the barns were 14.7 times more likely to be infected (at the farm level) than flocks that did not have garbage trucks come near the barns (p < 0.001) (2). Of note, the frequency with which garbage trucks visited the farms in this study is not known.

To date there are no known studies describing disposal practices used by commercial poultry operations in the United States To more fully evaluate the risk of HPAI infection to commercial poultry *via* garbage management, we initiated a survey of the poultry industry to refine the risk and establish mitigation measures.

METHODS

A convenience sample of veterinarians and other managers in the poultry industry was surveyed between June and August 2016 on standard practices for garbage management on farms that they manage or supervise. A URL link to the survey was distributed to members of the Secure Egg, Turkey, and Broiler Supply working groups via email; these groups consisted of industry veterinarians and production managers within major United States poultry producing companies (Appendix S1 in Supplementary Material). The survey was administered using an online polling service.¹ Participants were surveyed anonymously, minimal opt-in demographic questions (such as company name or job position within the organization) were also included. Some minor differences in the survey wording were used to match common terminology for the commodity (broiler, turkey, or layer) to which it was distributed. In addition, participants were given the option to decline to answer any question within the survey. Respondents were stratified by industry sector (broiler chicken, layer chicken, or turkey) and descriptive statistics were calculated for each. The study was submitted to the University of Minnesota Institutional Review Board and determined to be exempt from review.

RESULTS

A total of 63 surveys were completed. Respondents represented the turkey (n = 15), broiler (n = 8), and layer (n = 40) commodities. The types of potentially infectious or contaminated material

¹Qualtrics© 2015 Provo, UT, USA. http://www.qualtrics.com.

disposed of in the garbage varied by sector of the poultry industry, and many potentially contaminated or infectious materials were reported as routinely disposed of in the trash as listed in **Table 1**. One or more items classified as a risk (e.g., poultry or wild bird carcasses and items that contacted birds or bird feces) were reported to be disposed of in trash on premises managed by 79.4% of all respondents (layers 75% n = 30; broilers 75% n = 6; and turkeys 93.3% n = 14).

Approximately half of broiler and turkey sector respondents reported that the garbage truck may collect waste from multiple poultry premises before depositing the load at a landfill (43 and 53% respectively), while an additional 48% (n = 23) of respondents from all three sectors reported they did not know if the garbage truck route included other poultry premises.

The dumpster or garbage collection area may be located at various locations on a premises (reported proximity to the nearest barn of <100 ft (30.48 m) to >250 ft (76.2 m); **Figure 1**), however only a minority of respondents (n = 2; 3.3%) reported sharing a trash collection location between multiple premises. Representatives of all three industry sectors suggest it is common practice for the dumpster or trash collection point to be located at the entrance or perimeter of the farm. This exact distance to the nearest poultry barn may vary; however, this appears to represent a distance of at least 100 ft (30.48 m) to the nearest barn for a majority of respondents.

DISCUSSION

In our study, respondents identified potential HPAI contaminated or infectious material (i.e., dead wildlife, poultry carcasses, egg shells, and materials that have contacted poultry) that are regularly disposed of in the garbage on their poultry premises. Estimates of HPAI-virus concentrations in chicken and turkey secretions,

TABLE 1 | Survey results of material disposed of in the garbage on premises in the broiler, turkey, and layer industries.^a

Item	Broiler sector $(n = 8 respondents)$	Turkey sector $(n = 15 \text{ respondents})$	Layer sector (n = 39 respondents)
Dead wildlife/wild birds	Yes (1/8)	Yes (5/15)	Yes (1/39)
Rodents	Yes (3/8)	Yes (5/15)	Yes (10/39)
Dead poultry or poultry carcasses	No (0/8)	Yes (1/15)	Yes (9/39)
Eggs or egg products ^b	Yes (1/8)	Yes (1/15)	Yes (8/39)
Manure	No (0/8)	No (0/15)	Yes (1/39)
Spilled feed	Yes (2/8)	Yes (8/15)	Yes (7/39)
Disposable chick transport boxes ^b	Yes (4/8)	Yes (4/15)	Yes (24/39)
Used needles/syringes/diagnostic supplies that have contacted birds ^b	Yes (1/8)	Yes (5/15)	Yes (14/39)
Personal protective equipment (boot covers, gloves, coveralls, etc.)	Yes (8/8)	Yes (14/15)	Yes (36/39)
Feathers	No (0/8)	Yes (2/15)	Yes (4/39)
Offal	No (0/8)	No (0/15)	No (0/39)
Equipment or supplies from inside barns ^c	Yes	Yes	Yes (22/39)
Household garbage from farm manager or any other residence ^c	_	Yes	Yes (20/39)
Trash associated with waterfowl hunting ^c	_	_	No (0/39)
Garbage from processing operation ^c	_	_	Yes (23/39)
Lunch room and restroom garbage ^c	_	_	Yes (37/39)

^aYes indicates materials disposed of in the garbage by one or more survey respondents within each industry. In parenthesis, numerator indicates number of survey respondents reporting disposal of item and denominator indicates total number of respondents.

^bLanguage of selection choice modified in survey distributed to representatives of layer industry.

^cItem only explicitly asked in survey distributed to representatives of layer industry. Yes in the broiler and turkey industries for these items represent at least one write-in response indicating disposal of that item.



feces, feathers, and other tissues generally range between 10^3 and 10^7 EID₅₀ per gram of solid or per milliliter of liquid (3–10), and virus persistence is generally longer at cooler temperatures and in more humid conditions. Virus survival on materials that may be disposed of in the garbage, such as poultry carcasses, feathers, egg shells, egg trays, wood, steel, glass, and personal protective equipment, has been reviewed elsewhere (11–15). Viruses may survive days to weeks or longer depending on environmental conditions. Thus, we suggest the potential for HPAI virus to be present in the garbage and survive in that environment is sufficient to infect a bird should the bird become exposed to that material.

Study participants reported that garbage management contractors used by some turkey and broiler premises visit multiple poultry premises on one route before depositing a load at the landfill; thus, the pathway by which HPAI virus-contaminated garbage from infected premises may be present on the truck when it arrives at the next poultry farm appears to be viable. The types of potentially contaminated trash from non-commercial poultry operations and related industries (e.g., backyard poultry, processing facilities, and live bird markets) are not known, but are likely to include materials similar to those reported in garbage from commercial poultry operations. Poultry carcasses have been reported in the trash of backyard chicken keepers during an exotic Newcastle disease outbreak in California in 2002 (A. Jones, personal communication, September 2017). In the Netherlands, poor waste management practices pertaining to liquid waste (e.g., waste water) and solid waste have been identified as potentially increasing the risk of AI transmission in the neighborhood of infected farms (A. Ssematimba, personal communication, August 2016) (16). A shared dumpster or common trash collection point for multiple poultry premises, while not a common practice in the United States poultry industry, represents an additional site of potential cross-contamination between commercial poultry operations related to garbage management.

Garbage trucks and drivers typically do not contact live poultry while completing contracted duties on poultry premises. Biosecurity recommendations and site-specific biosecurity plans may not stipulate specific biosecurity measures for garbage truck drivers; however, it is recommended in recent updates to the National Poultry Improvement Plan guidance that all visitors and vehicles remain as far from poultry barns as possible (e.g., outside the "Perimeter Buffer Area" or PBA), and for those vehicles which must come near poultry barns, all must be cleaned and disinfected (17). If garbage management activities and pickups occur outside of the PBA, there may be a decreased likelihood of contaminated garbage vehicles, personnel, or virus-laden garbage on the truck contacting farm personnel or equipment which may access the poultry house and expose birds to HPAI virus.

An overwhelming majority of respondents in our survey indicated that they hire a contractor for some or all of their garbage transport needs. Similar to activities of other third-party contractors, cleaning and disinfection of garbage transport vehicles, pickup routing, and landfill practices may be difficult to control and may not be easily influenced by the poultry grower or integrator if using a contractor to haul garbage.

The use of hauling routes that include multiple farms and the use of communal landfills increase the likelihood of contact with infectious garbage. It appears reasonable that garbage within a truck upon arrival to a commercial poultry farm could originate from both commercial and non-commercial (live poultry markets and backyard) poultry operations. In previous outbreaks of HPAI in non-commercial poultry operations, disposal of dead poultry in garbage was noted as a practice which correlated with risk for AI infection. In an evaluation of risk factors for live bird markets in New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and New England, markets that disposed of dead birds and offal in the trash were 2.4 times more likely to have a repeated presence of LPAI H5 and H7 viruses (OR: 2.4; 95% CI, 1.8-3.4) (18). In an analysis of risk factors associated with H5N1 in backyard poultry in Egypt from 2010 to 2012, disposing of dead birds and poultry feces in garbage piles outside was highly correlated with infection in the regression model (F = 15.7; p < 0.0001) (19). Whether disposing birds in the garbage represented a risk for infection on one's own premises, or rather is indicative of likelihood for other high-risk practices in these non-commercial operations is not clear. The final destination of the garbage and garbage vehicles, such as to a landfill, also can contribute to the risk of HPAI-virus contamination. Landfills may serve as a potential

site for cross-contamination as contracted garbage management services for poultry premises may transport garbage to the same landfill; it has been noted that upon arrival at landfills, garbage hauling vehicles may drive over previously deposited garbage (D. Halvorson, personal communication, June 2016). This risk of vehicle contamination likely increases if landfills are used as an off-site disposal method for infected depopulated flocks, which has been reported in previous LPAI outbreaks (20, 21). Landfills also attract wild birds, including scavenger species such as gulls which are susceptible to HPAI viruses and are a known reservoir of AIVs (22, 23).

This survey used a purposive sampling method focused on recruiting participants with significant experience in the poultry industry and was subsequently limited by small sample size. Members of the surveyed working groups were encouraged to share the survey with others within their companies who might have first-hand knowledge of garbage management practices on poultry farms. Therefore, it is not possible to calculate a reliable response rate for this survey and results may not be generalizable to the entire United States commercial poultry industry. Still, the data are informative for the purpose of risk assessment and serve to illustrate the variations in industry practices and potential differences between poultry sectors that may operate in the same geographic area. As such, we suggest the absence of an affirmative response to a high-risk activity does not definitively indicate it is not occurring, and that further evaluation of the prevalence of such practices on an industry-wide scale may be warranted based on this exploratory survey.

CONCLUSION

This exploratory survey identified items in garbage that may contain infectious HPAI virus, some of which may carry high titers of infectious virus. Given that there is potential for HPAI virus to be associated with trash contents and garbage management practices, and taking into account the ease with which virus could be introduced into the poultry house, the potential

REFERENCES

- Halvorson D. Prevention and management of avian influenza outbreaks: experiences from the United States of America. *Rev Sci Tech* (2009) 28(1): 359–69. doi:10.20506/rst.28.1.1866
- Garber L, Bjork KE, Patyk KA, Rawdon T, Antognoli M, Delgado A, et al. Factors associated with highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N2 infection on table egg layer farms in the Midwest, United States, 2015. *Avian Dis* (2016) 60(2):460–6. doi:10.1637/11351-121715-Reg
- Beato MS, Mancin M, Bertoli E, Buratin A, Terregino C, Capua I. Infectivity of H7 LP and HP influenza viruses at different temperatures and pH and persistence of H7 HP virus in poultry meat at refrigeration temperature. *Virology* (2012) 433:522–7. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2012.08.009
- 4. Bertran K, Swayne DE, Pantin-Jackwood MJ, Kapczynski DR, Spackman E, Suarez DL. Lack of chicken adaptation of newly emergent Eurasian H5N8 and reassortant H5N2 high pathogenicity avian influenza viruses in the U.S. is consistent with restricted poultry outbreaks in the Pacific flyway during 2014–2015. Virology (2016) 494:190–7. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2016.04.019
- Brahmakshatriya V, Lupiani B, Brinlee J, Cepeda M, Pillai S, Reddy S. Preliminary study for evaluation of avian influenza virus inactivation in contaminated poultry products using electron beam irradiation. *Avian Pathol* (2009) 38:245–50. doi:10.1080/03079450902912150

for a commercial poultry flock becoming infected with HPAI virus due to garbage management during an outbreak should be considered. Further research is needed to determine prevalence of garbage management practices in different production systems and across geographic regions in the United States and producers should develop appropriate mitigation measures in the event of a HPAI outbreak in commercial poultry.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was submitted to the University of Minnesota Institutional Review Board and determined to be exempt from review.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Survey design and distribution: EW, FC, JU, and EL. Manuscript writing: EW, EL, DH, CC, and MC. Manuscript editing: DH, EL, JU, CC, MC, and FC.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to acknowledge Patricia Stonger and David Inall for assistance in distribution of the layer survey and Mary Hourigan for corresponding with the UMN IRB.

FUNDING

The authors of this perspectives article would like to acknowledge the support of this work discussed earlier through USDA APHIS Cooperative Agreement 15-9100-1495ca.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2018.00005/ full#supplementary-material.

- Chmielewski R, Swayne DE. Avian influenza: public health and food safety concerns. Annu Rev Food Sci Technol (2011) 2:21. doi:10.1146/annurevfood-022510-133710
- Das A, Spackman E, Thomas C, Swayne DE, Suarez DL. Detection of H5N1 high-pathogenicity avian influenza virus in meat and tracheal samples from experimentally infected chickens. *Avian Dis* (2008) 52:40–8. doi:10.1637/ 8093-082107-Reg
- Shortridge KF, Zhou NN, Guan Y, Gao P, Ito T, Kawaoka Y, et al. Characterization of avian H5N1 influenza viruses from poultry in Hong Kong. *Virology* (1998) 252:331–42. doi:10.1006/viro.1998.9488
- Spackman E, Gelb J, Preskenis LA, Ladman BS, Pope CR, Pantin-Jackwood MJ, et al. The pathogenesis of low pathogenicity H7 avian influenza viruses in chickens, ducks and turkeys. *Virol J* (2010) 7:1. doi:10.1186/1743-422X-7-331
- Toffan A, Serena Beato M, Nardi R. De, Bertoli E, Salviato A, Cattoli G, et al. Conventional inactivated bivalent H5/H7 vaccine prevents viral localization in muscles of turkeys infected experimentally with low pathogenic avian influenza and highly pathogenic avian influenza H7N1 isolates. *Avian Pathol* (2008) 37:407–12. doi:10.1080/03079450802061124
- Guan J, Chan M, Grenier C, Wilkie D, Brooks B, Spencer J. Survival of avian influenza and Newcastle disease viruses in compost and at ambient temperatures based on virus isolation and real-time reverse transcriptase PCR. Avian Dis (2009) 53:26–33. doi:10.1637/8381-062008-Reg.1

- Sakaguchi H, Wada K, Kajioka J, Watanabe M, Nakano R, Hirose T, et al. Maintenance of influenza virus infectivity on the surfaces of personal protective equipment and clothing used in healthcare settings. *Environ Health Prev Med* (2010) 15:344–9. doi:10.1007/s12199-010-0149-y
- Tiwari A, Patnayak DP, Chander Y, Parsad M, Goyal SM. Survival of two avian respiratory viruses on porous and nonporous surfaces. *Avian Dis* (2006) 50:284–7. doi:10.1637/7453-101205R.1
- Wood JP, Choi YW, Chappie DJ, Rogers JV, Kaye JZ. Environmental persistence of a highly pathogenic avian influenza (H5N1) virus. *Environ Sci Technol* (2010) 44:7515–20. doi:10.1021/es1016153
- Yamamoto Y, Nakamura K, Yamada M, Mase M. Persistence of avian influenza virus (H5N1) in feathers detached from bodies of infected domestic ducks. *Appl Environ Microbiol* (2010) 76:5496–9. doi:10.1128/AEM.00563-10
- Ssematimba A, Hagenaars T, de Wit J, Ruiterkamp F, Fabri T, Stegeman J, et al. Avian influenza transmission risks: analysis of biosecurity measures and contact structure in Dutch poultry farming. *Prev Vet Med* (2013) 109:106–15. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2012.09.001
- The National Poultry Improvement Plan. Report of voting results on 9-CFR proposed changes. *NPIP 43rd NPIP Biennial Conference*. Bellevue, WA (2016). p. 89–92.
- Garber L, Voelker L, Hill G, Rodriguez J. Description of live poultry markets in the United States and factors associated with repeated presence of H5/ H7 low-pathogenicity avian influenza virus. *Avian Dis* (2007) 51:417–20. doi:10.1637/7571-033106R.1
- Sheta BM, Fuller TL, Larison B, Njabo KY, Ahmed AS, Harrigan R, et al. Putative human and avian risk factors for avian influenza virus infections in backyard poultry in Egypt. *Vet Microbiol* (2014) 168:208–13. doi:10.1016/j. vetmic.2013.11.010

- Akey BL. Low-pathogenicity H7N2 avian influenza outbreak in Virginia during 2002. Avian Dis (2003) 47:1099–103. doi:10.1637/0005-2086-47. s3.1099
- Dunn PA, Wallner-Pendleton EA, Lu H, Shaw DP, Kradel D, Henzler DJ, et al. Summary of the 2001–02 Pennsylvania H7N2 low pathogenicity avian influenza outbreak in meat type chickens. *Avian Dis* (2003) 47:812–6. doi:10.1637/0005-2086-47.s3.812
- Arnal A, Vittecoq M, Pearce-Duvet J, Gauthier-Clerc M, Boulinier T, Laridae EJ. A neglected reservoir that could play a major role in avian influenza virus epidemiological dynamics. *Crit Rev Microbiol* (2015) 41:508–19. doi:10.3109/1040841X.2013.870967
- Brown JD, Stallknecht DE, Beck JR, Suarez DL, Swayne DE. Susceptibility of North American ducks and gulls to H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2006) 12:1663–70. doi:10.3201/eid1211. 060652

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Walz, Linskens, Umber, Culhane, Halvorson, Contadini and Cardona. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Airborne Detection of H5N8 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Genome in Poultry Farms, France

Axelle Scoizec^{1*}, Eric Niqueux², Rodolphe Thomas¹, Patrick Daniel³, Audrey Schmitz² and Sophie Le Bouquin¹

¹ Avian and Rabbit Epidemiology and Welfare Unit, ANSES, French Agency for Food Environmental and Occupational Health Safety, Ploufragan, France, ² Avian and Rabbit Virology, Immunology and Parasitology Unit, ANSES, French Agency for Food Environmental and Occupational Health Safety, Ploufragan, France, ³ Laboratoire des Pyrénées et des Landes, Mont de Marsan, France

In southwestern France, during the winter of 2016–2017, the rapid spread of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N8 outbreaks despite the implementation of routine control measures, raised the question about the potential role of airborne transmission in viral spread. As a first step to investigate the plausibility of that transmission, air samples were collected inside, outside and downwind from infected duck and chicken facilities. H5 avian influenza virus RNA was detected in all samples collected inside poultry houses, at external exhaust fans and at 5 m distance from poultry houses. For three of the five flocks studied, in the sample collected at 50–110 m distance, viral genomic RNA was detected. The measured viral air concentrations ranged between 4.3 and 6.4 log₁₀ RNA copies per m³, and their geometric mean decreased from external exhaust fans to the downwind measurement point. These findings are in accordance with the possibility of airborne transmission and question the procedures for outbreak depopulation.

Keywords: avian influenza, highly pathogenic avian influenza, H5N8, clade 2.3.4.4, airborne, transmission, ducks, chickens

INTRODUCTION

A H5N8 clade 2.3.4.4 strain of highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) virus (HPAIV) was first detected in France in November 2016. Until the 3rd of March 2017, 348 cases of HPAI H5N8 and 136 cases of HPAI H5Nx strain closely related to HPAIV H5N8 were detected in poultry, with 80% of cases occurring in waterfowl farms (mainly duck farms) (1). In the area affected by the outbreak (zones from 0 to 5 km distance from a poultry case), the mean proportion of poultry farms affected was around 15 and 24% where the poultry farm density was greater than 1/km². In the southwestern region of France, the virus spread rapidly especially in high poultry farm density zones, despite the implementation of routine control measure. This rapid regional spread and the proportion of farms affected in some areas, drove us to question the potential role of airborne transmission in HPAI H5N8 viral spread.

The capacity of poultry to transmit influenza virus *via* the airborne route, was evidenced by experimental studies in chickens infected with the H5N1 HPAIV strain (2, 3) and was further supported by field studies as the ones detailed below. Thus, the detection and isolation of strains of AIV in air samples, with particles sizes partly compatible with respiratory contamination, in wet poultry markets could explain human infections reported after a visit of a wet poultry market without any direct contact with live poultry or poultry stalls (4–6). Detection of different AIV strains, with or without quantification, have been performed on air samples collected outside, inside and downwind

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Irene Iglesias, Center for Animal Health Research, INIA, Spain

Reviewed by:

Benjamin D. Anderson, Duke University, United States Luis Gustavo Corbellini, Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Brazil

*Correspondence:

Axelle Scoizec axelle.scoizec@anses.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 10 October 2017 Accepted: 24 January 2018 Published: 13 February 2018

Citation:

Scoizec A, Niqueux E, Thomas R, Daniel P, Schmitz A and Le Bouquin S (2018) Airborne Detection of H5N8 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus Genome in Poultry Farms, France. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:15. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00015

21

from infected poultry premises, up to 59 m for low pathogenic strains and up to 1,000 m for highly pathogenic ones (7–9) and occurred partly on particles respirable fraction. Isolation of HPAIV H5N2 clade 2.3.4.4 has been performed on air samples collected inside, 5 m outside and even 70–150 m outside from poultry barns (8, 9).

The capacity of poultry flock to be infected through the airborne route is strongly suggested by epidemiological studies. For example, pig farm proximity to turkey premises has been associated with turkey seropositivity to swine-origin influenza A virus (IAV) and the detection and quantification of swine IAV in air samples collected inside and outside swine barns (10), support the hypothesis of airborne transmission (11). Modeling studies on the outbreak of HPAI H7N7 in the Netherlands in 2003, estimated the contribution of a possible wind-mediated mechanism to the total amount of spread to be around 18% (12) and showed that the wind-borne route could contribute substantially to the spread over short distance ranges, explaining, for example, 24% of the transmission over a distance up to 25 km (13).

The first observations of the French H5 clade 2.3.4.4 epizootic short distance diffusion (<10 km) (14) are compatible with a contribution of wind-born transmission to the spread when compared with the Dutch H7N7 2003 outbreak. Thus the objective of this study was to determine whether AIV could be detected in air samples collected inside, outside, and downwind from poultry barns infected by H5N8 HPAIV under field conditions. This study was designed and performed as part of a rapid outbreak response.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Flock Selection/Description

The study was conducted in January and March 2017. The selection of flocks was carried out in collaboration with departmental animal health authorities regarding the confirmed infected status, the not-yet depopulation of flocks and the agreement of the farmer, at the time of the field team availability. Three duck flocks (A, B, and C) and two chicken flocks (D and E), located in Landes and Pyrénées Atlantiques departments were selected. All selected flocks had an officially confirmed diagnosis of HPAI H5N8 at the time of sampling, according to the European diagnostic manual for avian influenza (15). Sampling was performed 2-7 days after confirmation date. At the sampling event, three of the five selected flocks were confined totally in-house (C, D, and E). Loading for culling occurred during the sampling process for one flock (E). A part of the ducks for the flocks A and B, had still an access to the open free range at the sampling event. Characteristics of flocks are summarized in Table 1 and their location within the affected region presented in the Figure 1.

Air Sampling Procedures and Sampling Scheme

To detect AIV genome in aerosols, air samples were collected using a cyclone-based bioareosol sampler, Coriolis[®] μ microbial air sampler (Bertin Technologies, St-Quentin en Yvelines, France): 300 L/min, 10 min/sample, in 10–12 mL of 0.005% Triton X-100

(Sigma Aldrich) solution prepared in demineralized water and placed into a sterile sampling cone. The collected sample was poured directly after collection from the sampling cone into a sterile 50 mL tube.

After each sample collection, the air sampler was cleaned and disinfected, the cone removed and the sample stored at $0-4^{\circ}$ C. The disinfection was performed by spraying Aniospray Surf 29 (Laboratoires Anios, France) on external surface and inside and outside the air intake and the aspiration tube. The samples were transported to a nearby laboratory (from accredited laboratories national network) within 12 h where they were stored at -80° C until testing.

For each flock, air samples were collected in the following order: downwind from the barn at 50-110 m distance, at 5 m distance, at external exhaust fans and finally inside the barn. For one flock (E), the loading of the flock for culling started during the sampling process, the air samples were collected downwind at 110 m distance, inside the barn and at 1 m distance from the animal transport truck. One control sample was collected at 5 km distance from any poultry farm. The sampler was placed directly against the exhaust fans and on the ground for the other sampling locations.

Detection and Quantification of AIV RNA Genome

Collected air samples were concentrated using a Amicon® Ultra-15 30K centrifugal filter device (Merck Millipore Ltd., Ireland). After centrifugation (for 30 min at 5,000 g), RNA was purified from 200 µL eluate using the RNeasy Mini Kit© (Qiagen GmbH, Hiden, Germany), and 2 µL RNA extract from the 50 µL obtained from purification was tested by real-time reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction (rRT-PCR) targeting the matrix gene (M gene) of avian influenza type A viruses, as previously described by Ref. (16, 17). Samples with a detection of M gene signal were tested by subtype specific H5 rRT-PCR (16, 18). We will refer to samples with a detection of viral genome signal by rRT-PCR as positive in the text that follows. For the positive samples, the number of M gene copies in the volume of analyzed sample is estimated from the cycle threshold (Ct) value obtained in RT-PCR, according to a calibration curve relating decimal dilution series of a synthetic RNA transcript of known concentration (determined by fluorimetric quantitation) to Ct values: each dilution point of the RNA transcript was tested twice.

For each sample, the number of AIV M gene copies per m³ air was calculated according to the formula:

M gene copies / $m^3 = M$ gene copies PCR × (Vextract ÷ Vpcr) ÷ (U×t),

where Vextract is the sample final reduced volume obtained after centrifugation and RNA extraction, Vpcr is the volume analyzed by RT-PCR, U is the air flow rate (m³ per min), and t is the sampling duration (min).

Ethic Statement

Air sampling was performed with the permission of the farmers and the departmental animal health authorities.

TABLE 1 | Attributes of flocks studied and environmental conditions at sampling events.

Farm ID	French depart.ª	Specie/type	House	Flock initial size	House poultry density ^ь	Positive confirmation date ^c (dd/mm/ yyyy)	Proportion of positive pools ^d	Clinical signs	Air sampling date (dd/mm/ yyyy)	Sampling location/distance (m)	Ambient temperature (°C)	Wind velocity (km/h)
A	40	Ducks/PAG ^e	Tunnel ^f	2,500	7/m²	29/01/2017	2/2	Mortality/ symptoms	31/01/2017	Inside	NR NR	<5
										External exhaust fans	NR	
										Outside 5 m Downwind 50 m	20	
В	64	Ducks/PAG	Tunnel	3,000	0.5/m ²	09/03/2017	5/24	None	16/03/2017	Inside	NR	10
											NR	
										External exhaust fans	NR	
										Outside 5 m Downwind 80 m	24	
4	64	Ducks/FF ^G	Barn	800	2.5/m ²	11/03/2017	12/12	None	16/03/2017	Inside	NR NR	<5
										External exhaust fans Outside 5 m Downwind 60 m	NR 17	
D	40	Chickens/grow	Barn	4,000	1/m ²	14/03/2017	2/2	Mortality/ symptoms	21/03/2017	Inside	NR NR	<5
										External exhaust fans	NR	
										Outside 5 m Downwind 50 m	12	
E	64	Chickens/grow	Barn	4,400	8/m²	18/03/2017	8/8	Mortality/ symptoms	22/03/2017	Inside Loading for culling	NR NR	≈0
										Downwind 110 m	2	

^aDepartment is an administrative division unit in France (the median land area of French metropolitan departments is 5,960 km²).

^bAt sampling event.

^cDate of the official sampling that permitted to confirm the avian influenza H5 infection of the flock.

^dProportion of pools of five swabs (cloacal or oropharyngeal) positive to rRT-PCR targeting the matrix gene at the official sampling.

PAG, growing ducks for "foie gras" production.

'Tunnel: open sided tunnel.

^gFF ("foie gras" production).

NR, not recorded; FF, force feeding period; PAG, prêts à gaver.



TABLE 2 | Detection of influenza virus genome in air samples by rRT-PCR inside and outside poultry barns infected by HPAI subtype H5N8 clade 2.3.4.4.

Farm ID	Specie/type		ne rRT-PCR Ct value			
		Inside	External exhaust fans	Outside 5 m	Downwind (distance in m)	Loading for culling
A	Ducks/PAG ^a	32.4/34.9	32.7/35.8	32.3/36.1	33.6/35.4 (50)	NT
В	Ducks/PAG	35.6/39.7	31.2/34.8	33.9/35.8	Not detected (80)	NT
С	Ducks/FF ^b	29.8/30	31/30.7	30.5/31.1	Not detected (60)	NT
D	Chickens/grow	34.9/35.3	33.1/34.4	33.1/36.2	34.2/38.8 (50)	NT
E	Chickens/grow	31.5/32	NT	NT	34.2/37.5 (110)	28.7/29.3

^aPAG, growing ducks for "foie gras" production.

^bFF ("foie gras" production).

Ct, cycle threshold; PAG, prêts à gaver; FF, force feeding period; NT, not tested.

RESULTS

Detection of HPAI Viral Genome in Air Samples

In the control sample, no viral genome signal was detected by M gene rRT-PCR. All positive air samples detected in this study, were both positive by M gene and H5 subtype rRT-PCR. All air samples collected inside (5/5), at external exhaust fans (4/4), 5 m outside the barn (4/4) were positive. Three of the five samples collected downwind from the barn were also positive (**Table 2**). Regarding samples collected downwind, the positive samples correspond to the flocks with clinical signs (mortality) and to an ambient temperature at sampling event of 2, 12, and 20°C and the negative samples to the asymptomatic flocks and to an ambient temperature of 17 and 24°C. The two flocks (B and C) with no detection of viral genome in air sample collected downwind also had low housing poultry densities. The sample collected during the animal loading was positive. In the five flocks studied, all air samples collected inside and at least one sample collected outside at 5–110 m distance from the barn were positive.

Quantification of HPAI Viral Genome in Air Samples

The quantity of virus (expressed in log_{10} RNA copies per m³) estimated in positive air samples, ranged from 4.33 to 6.09 and from 4.54 to 6.43, in duck and chicken flocks, respectively (**Figure 2**; **Table 3**). The maximum air viral RNA concentration

was found at the animal loading point. For two of four flocks (one duck, one chicken, flocks B and D), the concentration found at the external fans was higher than inside the barn. There was a higher concentration variability between flocks (Figure 2; Table 3) for the samples collected inside barns than at the other sampling locations. The two lowest air concentrations measured inside barns corresponded to the lowest house poultry densities flocks (B and D) at sampling event. Furthermore the lowest of these two air concentrations mentioned above also corresponded to the flock (B) with the lowest proportion of pools of five swabs positive by rRT-PCR targeting the matrix gene (Table 1). The highest concentrations measured inside and at the short distance outside (external exhaust fans and 5 m distance) corresponded to the flock (C) of ducks at the force feeding period. Outside of the barns, there was a decrease of the geometric mean of positive air sample RNA concentrations measured against an increasing distance from the barns (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

The rapid spread of H5N8 or H5Nx HPAI clade 2.3.4.4 virus during the winter of 2016–2017 in South West France raised questions



about the possibility of airborne transmission contribution to the global spread. As a first step in the investigation of airborne transmission hypothesis, we detected H5 gene viral RNA from air samples collected inside, outside and downwind of H5N8 HPAI infected poultry facilities and this detection occurred inside and outside poultry facilities in all of the five flocks studied.

The percentage of actively infected birds, the poultry density and environmental conditions inside and outside barns at the time of sampling, were expected to influence the detection and the concentration of viral genome in air samples. This seems to be particularly the case for the measurement inside the barns. The decrease of positive air sample proportion, as well as the decrease of viral genome concentration in air samples between the samples collected inside or at short distance outside poultry facilities and the ones collected at 50-110 m distance, likely reflect decreasing virus concentration by dilution as a function of distance from the source. The time of sampling, which took place late morning (10 a.m.) for the flocks D and E and early afternoon (2 p.m.) for the other flocks (A, B, and C), could have also influenced the results due to the ambient temperature. Indeed, it could have contributed to the no detection of viral genome at 50-110 m distance for two of the three flocks collected early afternoon.

The levels of viral detection (proportion of positive samples and positive air sample viral RNA concentrations) were comparable to the ones found around H5N2 clade 2.3.4.4 HPAI poultry facilities during the 2015 spring outbreaks in the United States (8) and higher than the results around LPAI poultry facilities in the Netherlands (7) and at live poultry markets in China (4, 6). The virus viability in the air samples collected could not be investigated in this study, due to the sample processing (nature of the solution used). However, based on previous studies with different strains of AIV (6) or the same clade of AIV (8), we hypothesize that viable virus was likely captured in our sampling given the high levels of viral RNA concentrations.

For the airborne transmission of HPAIV to potentially occur, it would require not only the transport of viable virus on aerosolized particles, but also the capacity of viral contaminated particles to infect birds. The fact that experimentally, H5N1 HPAI airborne transmission has been performed with chickens (2, 3, 19) with air viral genome concentrations (all air fractions included) comparable to Ref. (3) our findings, is in favor of the hypothesis of infective capacity of the contaminated aerosolized particles present in the positive air samples collected. Even considering that the infectivity of AIV, considering the infectious

TABLE 3 | Quantity (RNA copies/m³ of air) of H5N8 HPAIV in positive sampling events collected inside and outside duck and chicken premises.

Sampling location		ſ	Duck		Chicken				
	n	GM	GSD	max	n	GM	GSD	max	
Inside	3	1.76E + 05	7.6	1.25E + 06	2	1.15E + 05	5.4	3.79E + 05	
External exhaust fans	3	3.46E + 05	1.9	5.38E + 05	1	1.24E + 05	-	-	
Outside 5 m	3	2.27E + 05	3.3	7.64E + 05	1	1.24E + 05	_	_	
Downwind (50–110 m)	1	8.72E + 04	_	-	2	5.73E + 04	0	_	
Loading for culling					1	2.69E + 06	_	-	

GM, geometric mean; GSD, geometric standard deviation.

dose, is both host-dependent and virus strain-dependent (20-23), the fact that a low mean bird infectious dose ($<2-3 \log_{10} \text{EID}_{50}$) by intranasal route has been determined with H5 HPAIV clade 2.3.4.4 (H5N8 and H5N2) United States index viruses in Pekin ducks and Chinese geese (24) and that the infectivity of AIV can be much higher (30 times) by aerosol route as compared with intranasal route, as established for eight strains of subtype H5N1 HPAIV in chickens (19), suggests that the airborne transmission through infected aerosols could require a very low dose of AIV with domestic ducks for such strains.

Infectious particles with aerodynamic diameter smaller than 10 μ m are more susceptible to cause infection as they are inhaled into the lower respiratory tract. In future studies, the infectious particle size distribution should be investigated to confirm the infective potential of the exhausted air from H5N8 HPAI infected poultry facilities in case of new outbreaks, as was performed around H5N2 clade 2.3.4.4 HPAI infected poultry facilities with results indicating that viral RNA can be associated with fine particles (8, 9).

Despite the limitations of the study, our results suggest that exhaust air from H5N8 HPAI infected poultry facilities could be an important source of environmental contamination by deposition of infected dust on surfaces surrounding the infected premises, generating fomites. This phenomenon would be highly influenced by the environmental conditions such as temperature, relative humidity, UV exposure, etc. The quantity of viruses emitted in the air by an infected flock considering the downwind estimated air viral concentration and the duration of the flock excreting period (estimated, for example, at 7 days at least for the flock B) could be considered as potentially important enough to infect a nearby large poultry flock close. However, this possibility doesn't only depend on environmental conditions but also on factors influencing infected aerosol dispersion such as wind and factors influencing animal receptivity such as species.

REFERENCES

- Moisson MC, Bronner A, Van-De-Wiele A, Humeau A, Calavas D, Schmitz A, et al. Situation de L'influenza Aviaire en France au 03/04/2017 (20h00). (2017). Available from: http://www.plateforme-esa.fr/article/situation-de-linfluenza-aviaire-en-france-au-03042017-20h00
- Spekreijse D, Bouma A, Koch G, Stegeman JA. Airborne transmission of a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus strain H5N1 between groups of chickens quantified in an experimental setting. *Vet Microbiol* (2011) 152(1-2):88–95. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2011.04.024
- Spekreijse D, Bouma A, Koch G, Stegeman A. Quantification of dust-borne transmission of highly pathogenic avian influenza virus between chickens. *Influenza* Other Respir Viruses (2013) 7(2):132–8. doi:10.1111/j.1750-2659.2012.00362.x
- Chen P-S, Lin CK, Tsai FT, Yang C-Y, Lee C-H, Liao Y-S, et al. Quantification of airborne influenza and avian influenza virus in a wet poultry market using a filter/Real-time qPCR method. *Aerosol Sci Technol* (2009) 43(4):290–7. doi:10.1080/02786820802621232
- Kang N, Chen M, Bi FY, Chen MM, Tan Y. First positive detection of H9 subtype of avian influenza virus nucleic acid in aerosol samples from live poultry markets in Guangxi, South of China. *Chin Med J (Engl)* (2016) 129(11):1371–3. doi:10.4103/0366-6999.182824
- 6. Zhou J, Wu J, Zeng X, Huang G, Zou L, Song Y, et al. Isolation of H5N6, H7N9 and H9N2 avian influenza A viruses from air sampled at live poultry markets

Our results also question the management of infected flocks. The confinement inside housing does not seem to be effective enough to prevent viral diffusion into the environment surrounding infected premises and the culling process requiring the loading of the animals into containers located outside the poultry house seems to generate an important emission of potentially infectious dust and/or aerosols into the environment. It would be essential to reduce this diffusion by rapidly implementing the depopulation using a method that reduces the air viral emission. To achieve this goal, new case management methods must require less human resource in terms of time and volume because human resources availability is the main cause of increasing time between the confirmation date and the depopulation. Furthermore, the methods must include a depopulation process minimizing the air viral diffusion to the surrounding environment. Methods such as emergency mass culling of poultry using a foam blanket over birds and in-house carcasses and litter composting could contribute to improve the control of influenza outbreaks (25, 26).

In conclusion, our results sustain the hypothesis of a potential airborne transmission contribution to the spread of the H5N8 HPAIV. However, more investigations would be required to support this hypothesis so as to provide evidence of virus viability in fine particles emitted from poultry outbreaks and epidemiological evidence.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Survey design and field implementation: AXS, RT and SLB. Laboratory analyses: PD. Data analysis: AXS, SLB, EN, AUS. Manuscript writing: AXS. Manuscript editing: SLB, EN, PD, AUS.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was financed by the French Ministry of Agriculture.

in China, 2014 and 2015. Euro Surveill (2016) 21(35):30331. doi:10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2016.21.35.30331

- Jonges M, van Leuken J, Wouters I, Koch G, Meijer A, Koopmans M. Wind-mediated spread of low-pathogenic avian influenza virus into the environment during outbreaks at commercial poultry farms. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(5):e0125401. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0125401
- Torremorell M, Alonso C, Davies PR, Raynor PC, Patnayak D, Torchetti M, et al. Investigation into the airborne dissemination of H5N2 highly pathogenic avian influenza virus during the 2015 spring outbreaks in the midwestern United States. *Avian Dis* (2016) 60(3):637–43. doi:10.1637/11395-021816-Reg.1
- Alonso C, Raynor PC, Goyal S, Olson BA, Alba A, Davies PR, et al. Assessment of air sampling methods and size distribution of virus-laden aerosols in outbreaks in swine and poultry farms. *J Vet Diagn Invest* (2017) 29(3):298–304. doi:10.1177/1040638717700221
- Corzo CA, Culhane M, Dee S, Morrison RB, Torremorell M. Airborne detection and quantification of swine influenza a virus in air samples collected inside, outside and downwind from swine barns. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(8):e71444. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0071444
- Corzo CA, Gramer M, Lauer D, Davies PR. Prevalence and risk factors for H1N1 and H3N2 influenza A virus infections in Minnesota turkey premises. *Avian Dis* (2012) 56(3):488–93. doi:10.1637/10037-121211-Reg.1

- Ypma RJ, Jonges M, Bataille A, Stegeman A, Koch G, van Boven M, et al. Genetic data provide evidence for wind-mediated transmission of highly pathogenic avian influenza. J Infect Dis (2013) 207(5):730–5. doi:10.1093/infdis/jis757
- Ssematimba A, Hagenaars TJ, de Jong MC. Modelling the wind-borne spread of highly pathogenic avian influenza virus between farms. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(2):e31114. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031114
- 14. Bronner A, Moisson MC, Calavas D, Hendrikx P, Paul M, Guinat C, et al. Influenza Aviaire Hautement Pathogène en France en Lien Avec le Virus H5N8: Premiers Éléments D'interprétation Épidémio-Clinique. (2017). Available from: http://plateforme-esa.fr/article/influenza-aviaire-hautement-pathogene-enfrance-en-lien-avec-le-virus-h5n8-premiers-elements
- CEC. CEC, Commission Decision 2006/437/EC of 4 August 2006 approving a diagnostic manual for avian influenza as provided for in council directive 2005/94/EC. Off J Eur Union (2006) L237(2006):1–27.
- Spackman E, Senne DA, Myers TJ, Bulaga LL, Garber LP, Perdue ML, et al. Development of a real-time reverse transcriptase PCR assay for type A influenza virus and the avian H5 and H7 hemagglutinin subtypes. *J Clin Microbiol* (2002) 40(9):3256–60. doi:10.1128/JCM.40.9.3256-3260.2002
- Cherbonnel M, Henry A, Ogor K, Jestin V. Validation of a duplex real-time RT-PCR assay to detect avian influenza virus matrix gene using armored RNA as an internal positive control. *Book of Abstracts*. (Vol. 2013), Nantes, France: WVPAC2013 (2013). 466 p.
- Slomka MJ, Pavlidis T, Banks J, Shell W, McNally A, Essen S, et al. Validated H5 Eurasian real-time reverse transcriptase–polymerase chain reaction and its application in H5N1 outbreaks in 2005–2006. *Avian Dis* (2007) 51:373–7. doi:10.1637/7664-060906R1.1
- Sergeev AA, Demina OK, Pyankov OV, Pyankova OG, Agafonov AP, Kiselev SA, et al. Infection of chickens caused by avian influenza virus A/H5N1 delivered by aerosol and other routes. *Transbound Emerg Dis* (2013) 60(2):159–65. doi:10.1111/j.1865-1682.2012.01329.x
- Swayne DE, Slemons RD. Using mean infectious dose of high- and low-pathogenicity avian influenza viruses originating from wild duck and poultry as one measure of infectivity and adaptation to poultry. *Avian Dis* (2008) 52(3):455-60. doi:10.1637/8229-012508-Reg.1
- 21. Bertran K, Swayne DE, Pantin-Jackwood MJ, Kapczynski DR, Spackman E, Suarez DL. Lack of chicken adaptation of newly emergent Eurasian

H5N8 and reassortant H5N2 high pathogenicity avian influenza viruses in the U.S. is consistent with restricted poultry outbreaks in the Pacific flyway during 2014-2015. *Virology* (2016) 494:190–7. doi:10.1016/j.virol. 2016.04.019

- 22. Pantin-Jackwood MJ, Costa-Hurtado M, Shepherd E, DeJesus E, Smith D, Spackman E, et al. Pathogenicity and transmission of H5 and H7 highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses in mallards. *J Virol* (2016) 90:9967–82. doi:10.1128/JVI.01165-16
- Spackman E, Pantin-Jackwood MJ, Kapczynski DR, Swayne DE, Suarez DL. H5N2 highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses from the US 2014-2015 outbreak have an unusually long pre-clinical period in Turkeys. *BMC Vet Res* (2016) 12:260. doi:10.1186/s12917-016-0890-6
- Pantin-Jackwood MJ, Costa-Hurtado M, Bertran K, DeJesus E, Smith D, Swayne DE. Infectivity, transmission and pathogenicity of H5 highly pathogenic avian influenza clade 2.3.4.4 (H5N8 and H5N2) United States index viruses in pekin ducks and Chinese geese. *Vet Res* (2017) 48:33. doi:10.1186/ s13567-017-0435-4
- Benson E, Malone GW, Alphin RL, Dawson MD, Pope CR, Van Wicklen GL. Foam-based mass emergency depopulation of floor-reared meat-type poultry operations. *Poult Sci* (2007) 86(2):219–24. doi:10.1093/ps/86.2.219
- Benson ER, Malone GW, Alphin RL, Johnson K, Staicu E. Application of in-house mortality composting on viral inactivity of Newcastle disease virus. *Poult Sci* (2008) 87(4):627–35. doi:10.3382/ps.2007-00308

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Scoizec, Niqueux, Thomas, Daniel, Schmitz and Le Bouquin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Comparative Epidemiology of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus H5N1 and H5N6 in Vietnamese Live Bird Markets: Spatiotemporal Patterns of Distribution and Risk Factors

Kate C. Mellor¹*, Anne Meyer¹, Doaa A. Elkholly¹, Guillaume Fournié¹, Pham T. Long², CCESS Ken Inui³, Pawin Padungtod³, Marius Gilbert⁴, Scott H. Newman^{3,5†}, Timothée Vergne^{1,6,7}, Dirk U. Pfeiffer^{1,8} and Kim B. Stevens¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Moh A. Alkhamis, Kuwait University, Kuwait

Reviewed by:

Marta Hernandez-Jover, Charles Sturt University, Australia Luis Gustavo Corbellini, Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Brazil

> *Correspondence: Kate C. Mellor kmellor5@rvc.ac.uk

[†]Present address

Scott Newman, Regional Office for Africa, Senior Animal Health & Production Officer, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Accra, Ghana

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 30 November 2017 Accepted: 27 February 2018 Published: 05 April 2018

Citation:

Mellor KC, Meyer A, Elkholly DA, Fournié G, Long PT, Inui K, Padungtod P, Gilbert M, Newman SH, Vergne T, Pfeiffer DU and Stevens KB (2018) Comparative Epidemiology of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus H5N1 and H5N6 in Vietnamese Live Bird Markets: Spatiotemporal Patterns of Distribution and Risk Factors. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:51. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00051 ¹ Veterinary Epidemiology, Economics and Public Health Group, Department of Pathobiology and Population Sciences, Royal Veterinary College, Hatfield, United Kingdom, ²Department of Animal Health, Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development, Hanoi, Vietnam, ³ Country Office for Vietnam, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Hanoi, Vietnam, ⁴ Spatial Epidemiology Laboratory, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium, ⁶ Country Office for Ethiopia, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Hanoi, Vietnam, ⁶ Spatial Epidemiology Laboratory, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium, ⁶ Country Office for Ethiopia, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, ⁶Maladies Infectieuses et Vecteurs Ecologie, Génétique, Evolution et Contrôle (MIVEGEC), Institut de Recherche pour le Développement (IRD), Montpellier, France, ⁷ UMR 1225 INRA, ENVT Interactions Hôtes – Agents Pathogènes (IHAP), University of Toulouse, Toulouse, France, ⁸ College of Veterinary Medicine & Life Sciences, City University of Hong Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) H5N1 virus has been circulating in Vietnam since 2003, whilst outbreaks of HPAI H5N6 virus are more recent, having only been reported since 2014. Although the spatial distribution of H5N1 outbreaks and risk factors for virus occurrence has been extensively studied, there have been no comparative studies for H5N6. Data collected through active surveillance of Vietnamese live bird markets (LBMs) between 2011 and 2015 were used to explore and compare the spatiotemporal distributions of H5N1- and H5N6-positive LBMs. Conditional autoregressive models were developed to quantify spatiotemporal associations between agroecological factors and the two HPAI strains using the same set of predictor variables. Unlike H5N1, which exhibited a strong north-south divide, with repeated occurrence in the extreme south of a cluster of high-risk provinces, H5N6 was homogeneously distributed throughout Vietnam. Similarly, different agroecological factors were associated with each strain. Sample collection in the months of January and February and higher average maximum temperature were associated with higher likelihood of H5N1-positive market-day status. The likelihood of market days being positive for H5N6 increased with decreased river density, and with successive Rounds of data collection. This study highlights marked differences in spatial patterns and risk factors for H5N1 and H5N6 in Vietnam, suggesting the need for tailored surveillance and control approaches.

Keywords: avian influenza, epidemiology, live bird markets, poultry, spatial modelling, Vietnam, emerging infectious disease

Abbreviations: HPAI, highly pathogenic avian influenza; LBM, live bird market; INLA, integrated nested Laplace approximations; LISA, local indicators of spatial association; DAH, Department of Animal Health; CAR, conditional autoregressive model.

INTRODUCTION

Highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) H5N1 virus (hereafter H5N1) is endemic to multiple Asian countries, including Vietnam, where the first recorded H5N1 outbreak occurred in 2003. Since then, costly control measures have been introduced, including culling of infected birds and vaccination of poultry (1). In addition to the economic impact, H5N1 has a high mortality rate in humans coupled with an ever-present threat of pandemic influenza (2). HPAI H5N6 virus (hereafter H5N6) emerged in Vietnam in April 2014 (3, 4).

Both virus subtypes are highly pathogenic in chickens, may cause asymptomatic infection in ducks, and have been associated with sporadic human infection and deaths in Asia. Numerous studies have explored the epidemiology of H5N1 in Asia, describing its spatial distribution at the regional level and in individual countries. Multiple factors have been associated with H5N1 including increased density of domestic ducks (5, 6) and chickens (7), proximity to high aggregations of human population density, a greater percentage of land used as rice paddy fields, higher rice-cropping intensity and lower average annual precipitation (8, 9). These studies predominantly analysed passive surveillance disease presence data resulting in exposure to temporal and spatial variations in surveillance effectiveness. However, contrast to the extensive literature surrounding H5N1, little has been published on the epidemiology of H5N6 in poultry.

In response to the endemic HPAI status in Vietnam, extensive active surveillance of live bird markets (LBMs) was initiated in 2008, first targeting the H5N1 virus and later expanding to include the H5N6 strain. LBMs were chosen as the foci for surveillance activities, partly because funding constraints precluded active surveillance at the farm level, but also because LBMs act as potential reservoirs for HPAI due to their role as hubs for poultry trade (10-12). Moreover, LBMs in northern Vietnam have been found to be highly connected through contact networks, enabling spread of HPAI not only between markets, but also between regions and even across international borders (12, 13). The key role that LBMs play in endemic spread of the virus was highlighted by the impact of the introduction of various biosecurity measures and infection control policies. Requirements such as the introduction of a day of market closure, cleaning at regular intervals, and for all birds to be sold or slaughtered by the end of trading each day greatly reduced the prevalence of HPAI in Hong Kong LBMs (14).

The aim of this study was to analyse the spatial distribution of H5N1 and H5N6 in Vietnamese LBMs using the same set of

TADLE 4. Craphical illustration of the temperal distribution of the six reunde of estive

predictor variables. The majority of studies investigating HPAI in Asia utilise passive surveillance data, which relies upon detection and testing of clinically affected birds. Whilst HPAI H5N1 has been detected in asymptomatic ducks and poultry in LBM (15, 16), such cases are not detected through passive surveillance. The data collected through active surveillance of Vietnamese LBMs over a 5-year period provide a unique opportunity to explore HPAI epidemiology in Vietnam using virus detection data that are less exposed to reporting bias compared with data from passive surveillance. Specific objectives of this study were to (i) determine the prevalence of H5N1 and H5N6 virus in Vietnamese LBMs between 2011 and 2015; (ii) explore the spatiotemporal distributions of H5N1 and H5N6 virus in Vietnam; and (iii) develop models to quantify the spatiotemporal association between agroecological factors and the two HPAI strains using the same set of predictor variables.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Surveillance Characteristics Surveillance Protocol

Sampling was conducted as part of routine governmental active surveillance. All surveillance activities and protocols were approved by the Vietnamese Department of Animal Health (DAH) Epidemiology Division before implementation.

Sampling activities were implemented at specified times and places by the provincial Sub-Department of Animal Health (SDAH). At the LBM level, a sample size of 30 was required for 95% confidence of detection of H5N1 or H5N6, assuming prevalence of 10%, test sensitivity of 90%, and specificity of 99%. Sample testing was conducted in seven Regional Animal Health Office BSL2+ certified laboratories belonging to DAH, using BSL3 biosafety practice.

The surveillance period extended from September 2011 to December 2015 and was divided into six "Rounds" (**Table 1**).

LBM Selection

Selection of sampling locations varied by Round as follows:

1. *Round 1*: samples were collected from the two largest LBMs in each of 30 provinces out of a total of 63 (58 provinces and 5 centrally controlled municipalities (cities) at the same level as provinces). Provinces were selected on the basis of fulfilling one or more of the following criteria: (i) having a previous history of HPAI outbreaks, (ii) presence of an international

cillance compliant between Contember 2011 and December 2015

	January	February	March	April	Мау	June	July	August	September	October	November	December
2011									Round 1			
2012	Round	1 (cont)							Round 2			
2013		Round 2 (cont)									Round 3	
2014		Round 3 (c	:ont)					Round 4			Round 5	
2015									Ro	und 6		

29

border, (iii) having a high density of poultry, or (iv) high human population density.

2. *Rounds* 2–5: samples were collected from provinces distributed throughout Vietnam using the same criteria for province selection as in Round 1. For every round, the DAH selected (i) 40 provinces from which one small-scale LBM was sampled and (ii) 20 provinces from which a large-scale LBM was sampled. The DAH selected 120 districts from the aforementioned 40 provinces (three districts per province) and 20 cities from the aforementioned 20 provinces.

Districts were selected on the basis of (i) having a high duck density and (ii) having a history of H5N1 outbreaks. In each selected district or city, the SDAH of the corresponding province selected one LBM for sampling. LBMs were selected on the basis of (i) size (at least six vendors), (ii) source of birds (within the district for small-scale LBMs, outside the province for large-scale LBMs), and (iii) no inclusion in H7N9 surveillance activities.

Small-scale markets were defined as markets which draw birds from within the same district and/or province. Sampling should therefore capture/represent the local circulation of HPAI. Largescale markets were defined as markets which draw birds from outside the province and therefore capture/represent the national and/or regional circulation of HPAI.

3. *Round* 6: DAH selected 32 provinces distributed throughout the country; 12 northern provinces that share a border with China or have poultry trading connected to northern border provinces, and 20 central/southern provinces. In the northern provinces, a total of 48 LBM (4 from each province) were sampled. In the central/southern provinces, the largest LBM in each province was sampled.

Data Collection Sampling

On the day of sampling, the vendors to be sampled were selected randomly from all vendors present at the market selling more than five ducks (or chickens for Round 6). The number and type of samples collected for each market day according to the surveillance design is summarised in **Table 2**.

Oropharyngeal swabs from ducks were collected consistently during each surveillance Round, whilst oropharyngeal swabs from chickens were collected during the last Round only. Environmental sampling started during Round 2 with the collection of faeces, feathers and waste in the resting and slaughter areas at four selected large LBMs. Four samples of each type were collected and tested individually. From Round 5 onwards, environmental sampling was extended to all LBMs regardless of their size and environmental swabs were pooled instead of being tested individually. Pooled samples comprised five merged swab samples (either oropharyngeal or environmental). Depending on the Round, between 93 and 100% of the market days reached the sample size targets (detailed in **Table 2**) for each type of sample.

Case Definition

Samples were tested at Regional Animal Health Offices for the H5 and N1 virus subtypes using real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction. From Round 4 onwards samples were also tested for the N6 subtype. Cycle threshold values of less than 35 were regarded as positive. Samples positive for both the H5 and N1 subtypes were classified as positive for H5N1. Similarly, samples positive for both the H5 and N6 subtypes were classified as positive for H5N6.

The epidemiological unit for this study was a market day at a given LBM on a given date. A market day was classified as positive for H5N1 or H5N6 if one or more samples (individual or pooled) collected from that LBM on that date tested positive.

Agroecological Predictor Data

A review of the published literature served to identify potential predictor variables previously shown to be risk factors for HPAI occurrence and the final set of predictor variables used in this study included the following: density of ducks (heads/km²) (7, 8, 17, 18), density of chickens (heads/km²) (7, 8, 18, 19), human population density (heads/km²) (6–8, 18, 20), travel time (minutes) to the nearest city with a population of \geq 50,000, suitability of areas for growing rice (8, 18), river density (km length/km²) (7, 19, 21, 22), average annual precipitation (mm) (23), average monthly minimum temperature (°C), and average monthly maximum temperature (°C) (23–25). LBM density (number of LBM/10 km²) was also included.

Digital spatial data layers representing each predictor variable were sourced for Vietnam from the public domain, and all spatial

TABLE 2 | Target number of samples to be collected per market day, according to round and sample type.

Sample type		Numbers refer to pooled samples when not indicated otherwise							
		Round 1	Rounds 2–4	Round 5	Round 6				
Oropharyngeal swabs	Ducks	4	6	6	6				
	Chicken	0	0	0	6				
Environmental swabs from four large live bird markets	Faeces from cage	0	4 individual samples	0	0				
	Waste from resting area	0	4 individual samples	0	0				
	Feathers	0	4 individual samples	0	0				
	Dirt in slaughter area	0	4 individual samples	0	0				
Environmental swabs from all sampling sites	Liquid waste	0	0	2	2				
	Solid waste	0	0	2	2				
	Faeces	0	0	1	1				
	Drinking water	0	0	1	1				

Pooled samples are the combination of 5 swab samples.

data manipulations and map creation were performed using ArcGIS 10.3.1 (28). Chicken and duck densities were extracted from the Gridded Livestock of the World (resolution: 1 km²),¹ and human population density was obtained from Gridded Population of the World v4 (resolution: 1 km²; estimated for 2015).² The predicted density of LBMs/10 km² was obtained from a model generated by Gilbert et al. (unpublished, model description in Supplementary Material; resolution: 10 km²), which was resampled to a resolution of 1 km². Travel time to the nearest city was obtained from the Global Environment Monitoring Unit in the Joint Research Centre of the European Commission (26). Areas suitable for rice growing were extracted from Suitability for Rain-fed and Irrigated Rice (High Input), a shapefile available from Food and Agricultural Organization's GeoNetwork website (published 2007).³ The data were converted to raster format (resolution: 1 km²), and the original eight suitability categories were recategorised as follows: high (very high/high/good), moderate (medium/moderate), low (marginal/very marginal), unsuitable. Open water features were extracted from VMap0 Perennial Water Courses (Rivers) of the World (published 1997) (available from the Food and Agricultural Organization's GeoNetwork website; see text footnote 3) and density of rivers per square kilometre calculated using the line density feature in ArcGIS. Average monthly precipitation and minimum and maximum temperature data (based on the time frame 1950-2000) were obtained from the WorldClim website ((27); accessed March 2017). A vector shapefile of Vietnam's provincial boundaries was obtained from the GADM Database of Global Administrative Areas v2.8.4 All data were processed to ensure that projections and extents matched. Latitude and longitude were available for LBMs, and data for each predictor variable were extracted to the point location of individual LBMs.

Statistical Analysis

Data Management

The Regional Animal Health Offices used Microsoft Excel to compile the sample collection spreadsheet and laboratory results into a single dataset (regional dataset). These regional datasets were submitted to the DAH each month where they were aggregated to provide a single dataset for each surveillance period. However, merged datasets were not available for some periods, and data recording was not harmonised between regional datasets resulting in multiple names identifying the same location. In such instances, markets with different names but the same coordinates were considered to be the same market. Eighty-three LBMs with missing longitude and latitude data were assigned the coordinates of the relevant commune centroid.

Mapping Spatiotemporal Distribution

To preserve LBM anonymity, market days were aggregated by province, and province-level prevalence of H5N1 and H5N6 was

Frontiers in Veterinary Science | www.frontiersin.org

calculated for each Round as the number of positive market days in a province divided by the total number of market days sampled in that province.

Choropleth maps of raw rates or standard mortality ratios per area can be misleading; the addition of a small number of cases in an area with a small population at risk can dramatically increase the reported rate of disease for the area. Conversely, the addition of the same number of cases in an area with a large population at risk has little effect on the reported rate of disease for the area. Bayesian approaches allow disease rates to be adjusted through combining the observed rate for an area with rates observed in surrounding areas. When the at risk population of an area of interest is large, and the statistical error of the rate estimate small, higher credibility is given to the observed rates. However, where the population at risk is small, the rate is adjusted towards the mean rate observed over the wider study area.

Choropleth maps of empirical Bayes-smoothed prevalence were generated for H5N1 and H5N6 using Eqs 1–3 as follows: given that y_i equalled the number of positive market days observed in the *i*th province, n_i the total number of market days sampled in the *i*th province, and r_i was the proportion of positive market days for the *i*th province, then the pooled mean of observed prevalence across all provinces (γ) was calculated as follows:

$$\gamma = \sum \frac{y_i}{n_i},\tag{1}$$

and the estimate of the population variance of the prevalence based on a weighted sample of the observed prevalences (ϕ) was calculated as follows:

$$\varphi = \frac{\sum n_i \left(r_i - \gamma \right)^2}{\sum n_i} - \frac{\gamma}{\overline{n}}, \qquad (2)$$

then θ , the empirical Bayes-smoothed prevalence for the *i*th province, was calculated as follows:

$$\theta = \frac{\varphi * (r_i - \gamma)}{\varphi + \frac{\gamma}{r_i}} + \gamma.$$
(3)

Exploring Spatial Autocorrelation and Clustering

Spatial autocorrelation of the smoothed Bayes risk was explored at a global scale using the Moran's *I* statistic and at a local scale using the Anselin Local Moran's *I* statistic and Getis-Ord GI* statistic. The global Moran's *I* statistic was used to assess the presence, strength and direction of spatial autocorrelation over the whole study area, using a queen's contiguity weights matrix and 499 random permutations. A *p*-value ≤ 0.05 was considered significant. The Local Moran's *I* and GI* statistics were used to detect clustering of provinces with similar risk of H5N1 or H5N6, and to identify the locations of province-level hot and/or cold spots. The GI* statistic returned a *z*-score for each province and for statistically significant positive *z*-scores, the larger the *z*-score the more intense the clustering of high values (hot spot). For statistically significant negative *z*-scores, the smaller the *z*-score the more intense the clustering of low values

¹https://livestock.geo-wiki.org/home-2/ (Accessed: March, 2017).

²http://sedac.ciesin.columbia.edu/data/collection/gpw-v4 (Accessed: March, 2017).

³http://www.fao.org/geonetwork/srv/en/main.home (Accessed: March, 2017).

⁴http://www.gadm.org/ (Accessed: March, 2017).

(cold spot). All spatial analyses were conducted using tools provided in ArcGIS 10.3.1 (28).

Modelling Associations Between Agroecological Factors and HPAI

Multivariable logistic regression analyses were used to investigate associations between putative predictor variables and H5N1 or H5N6-positive market days. Univariable analyses for each predictor variable were conducted, with significant variables included in multivariable analysis. All univariable and multivariable statistical analyses were performed in R 3.4.0 (29). Before multivariable analysis, all predictor data were standardised to a mean of 0 and SD of 1, for variables measured at different scales to contribute equally to the analysis. To identify the set of predictors associated with H5N1 and H5N6positive market days, non-spatial generalised linear models were used, implemented via the R glmulti package (30), to build every possible non-redundant model for every combination of predictor main effects (interactions were not included due to the number of variables involved). Final best-fit models were chosen using Akaike's information criterion (AIC), which ranks models based on goodness-of-fit and complexity, whilst penalising deviance. The predictors identified in this first step were then included in a mixed-effects logistic regression model with the variable "market" as a random effect to determine whether any predictors were no longer significant after accounting for non-independence of market days. All continuous variables were assessed for linear trend by comparing the model with the continuous version of the variable with a model where the variable was categorised into quartiles. If the likelihood ratio test *p*-value was <0.05 the categorical version of the variable was included in model.

All identified predictors which remained significant at the 5% level in the mixed-effects logistic regressions were then included in a conditional autoregressive model (CAR) to account for the spatial autocorrelation of observations. Clustering of markets within provinces was accounted for by the inclusion of a spatially

varying random effect "Province," using a spatial weights matrix where polygons were classified as neighbouring if they shared a corner or border (queen's contiguity). Clustering of market days within markets was accounted for through the inclusion of the non-spatially varying random effect "Market." The potential temporal effect of sampling heterogeneity was accounted for through inclusion of the variable "Round" in the model.

All CAR models were implemented in R using integrated nested Laplace approximations (INLA) which uses an approximation for inference and avoids the computational demands, convergence issues and mixing problems sometimes encountered by Markov chain Monte Carlo algorithms (31). The model was fitted using R-INLA, with the Besag model for spatial effects specified inside the function. In the Besag model, Gaussian Markov random fields are used as priors to model spatial dependency structures and unobserved effects. In addition, each model was run through INLA whilst excluding the random spatial effect to obtain non-spatial Bayesian estimates and to compare model fit and performance due to the explicit spatial process. Model selection was based on the deviance information criterion (DIC) where a lower DIC indicates a better model fit. In all analyses, an α -level of 0.05 was adopted to indicate statistical significance.

Choropleth maps showing the spatial distribution of the posterior means of the structured random effects obtained from the models were produced in ArcGIS (28).

RESULTS

Sampling Sites and Samples

During the surveillance period 22,185 pooled samples were collected from 459 LBM distributed between 48 provinces (242 districts) (**Table 3**). Each LBM was visited between 1 and 28 times (median 4 visits), providing a total of 3,461 market days for analysis. Sampling intensity was highest in Round 1 and decreased thereafter (**Table 3**).

TABLE 3 | Sampling characteristics and prevalence of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1- and H5N6-positive market days of the six surveillance Rounds.

	Rounds								
	1	2	3	4	5	6	Total		
Dates	September 2011–February 2012	October 2012–September 2013	October 2013–April 2014	April 2014–October 2014	November 2014–December 2014	July 2015–December 2015	September 2011–December 2015		
Number of pooled samples	3,952	4,642	3,984	5,301	1,668	2,638	22,185		
Number of provinces	30	44	42	44	44	30	48		
Number of districts	122	141	135	138	71	58	242		
Number of live bird markets	279	152	143	143	77	63	459		
Number of days	153	365	212	184	61	183	1,158		
Total market days	974	748	624	827	142	146	3,461		
Sampling intensity (market days/number of days)	6.4	2.1	3.0	4.5	2.3	0.8	3.0		
Observed prevalence H5N1-positive market days (%)	8.5 (41/974)	19.5 (146/748)	15.7 (111/624)	6.8 (56/827)	14.5 (18/142)	10.2 (15/146)	11.2 (387/3,461)		
Observed prevalence H5N6-positive market days (%)				0.7 (6/827)	16.2 (23/142)	26.0 (38/146)	6.01 (67/1,115)		

In general, sampled provinces were evenly distributed throughout the country although sampling in Rounds 2–4 provided more homogenous coverage of Vietnam than Rounds 1 and 6, with the latter exhibiting a slight north–south emphasis.

Prevalence of H5N1 and H5N6-Positive Market Days

The observed prevalence of H5N1-positive market days varied between rounds (median: 12.35; range: 6.8–19.5%) although this difference was not significant ($\chi^2 p$ -value = 0.48) (**Table 3**). The observed prevalence of H5N6-positive market days increased significantly ($\chi^2 p < 0.001$) over Rounds 4–6 from 0.7 to 26% (**Table 3**).

Spatiotemporal Distribution of H5N1and H5N6-Positive Market Days

Province-level Bayes-smoothed prevalence of H5N1-positive market days was spatially heterogeneous in all six Rounds, although it was highest in Rounds 2 and 6 (Figure 1). This apparent spatial heterogeneity was supported by both the global and local autocorrelation statistics, which identified significant positive spatial autocorrelation in all rounds except Round 2 (Moran's I p-value > 0.05; Figure 2). The positive autocorrelation was characterised by repeated occurrence, in the south of the country, of a cluster of high-risk provinces surrounded by other high-risk provinces, although the size of the cluster varied between Rounds (Figure 2). Conversely, northern Vietnam was characterised by low-risk provinces surrounded by other provinces of low risk. However, the north also exhibited periodic recurrent outliers; provinces with a high disease risk but surrounded by others with a low disease risk (Figure 2). Hot-spot provinces were identified in all Rounds but the number decreased over time (Rounds 1–3: *n* = 4; Rounds 4–5: *n* = 2; Round 6: *n* = 1) (**Figure 3**). One province, in particular, Ca Mau was identified as a hot-spot province of H5N1-positive market days in four of the six rounds. Unlike H5N1, province-level empirical Bayes-smoothed risk of H5N6-positive market days did not display any significant spatial heterogeneity in any of the Rounds (Moran's I p-value > 0.05)

although the level of risk increased between Rounds 4 and 6 (**Figure 4**). In general, the most common pattern was one of outliers; provinces with a high risk of H5N6-positive market days were generally surrounded by low-risk provinces and *vice versa* (**Figure 5**). Two hot-spot provinces were identified in each Round although Quang Ngai was the only province to be identified as a hot spot more than once (Rounds 4 and 5; **Figure 6**).

Risk Factors for H5N1 and H5N6-Positive Market Days

The most robust H5N1 multivariable model, based on the AIC, included six of the thirteen predictor variables; suitability for ricegrowing, sampling month, average monthly maximum temperature, river density, travel time to a city and chicken density, and were therefore included in the H5N1 INLA model. The variable "Round" was forced into the model to account for temporal variation in sampling. The CAR model based on these variables had a DIC value of 1,984.31 (H5N1). Inclusion of the spatial random effect "province" improved the fit of the H5N1 model by 8.17%, reducing the DIC to, 1,822.10. Three of the six variables retained in the model were statistically significant, three variables were not deemed significant, due to the odds ratio (OR) 95% credible interval crossing 1. The odds of a market day being positive for H5N1 varied between Rounds. Comparison of OR across months identified the likelihood of market day status being positive to be highest in January and February. The odds of a market day being positive for H5N1 were 3.36 (95% CrI 1.29, 8.36) greater where the average maximum temperature was \geq 30.33°C compared with areas where the average maximum temperature was ≤24.47°C (Table 4).

In the multivariable analysis, only three of the thirteen predictors were significantly associated with market days being positive for H5N6: river density, human population density and market density. These covariates were taken forward to the H5N6 INLA model. The variable "Round" was forced into the model to account for temporal variation in the sampling. The CAR model based on these variables had a DIC value of 202.36, inclusion of the spatial random effect "province" did not improve the model fit (the DIC







was lowered by 0.03% to 202.29). Therefore, the final model used for H5N6 therefore did not include the spatially varying random effect. The likelihood of a market day being positive for H5N6 was higher with successive Rounds and lower river density (**Table 5**).

Mapping posterior means of the spatially structured random effects for H5N1 showed them to be reasonably homogenously distributed throughout the country, suggesting that there is unexplained variation in most regions, after accounting for the model covariates (**Figure 7**).

DISCUSSION

The results of this study suggest that the epidemiology of H5N1 and H5N6 in Vietnam are very different. Not only do the two strains show different distributions, they are also associated with different risk factors. Whilst the risk of H5N6-positive market days was homogenous across Vietnam, the posterior mean probabilities of H5N1 from the CAR model at the province level showed clear regional differences, with higher probabilities in

the southern and central provinces of Vietnam. Similarly, whilst higher risk of H5N6-positive LBMs was associated with lower river density, spatial variation in H5N1 risk was primarily associated with climatic factors.

Collection month was associated with variation in market-day H5N1 risk. The odds of H5N1-positive market days were highest in January and February. No samples collected between January and March were tested for H5N6. Seasonal fluctuations in the proportion of positive market days may be due to a combination of climatic factors and peaks in demand for poultry products. Higher incidence of H5N1 in domestic poultry in central and southern Vietnam has been shown to coincide with an increased demand for poultry products in January and February associated with the Lunar New Year Festival (32). Colder temperatures in winter months have also been proposed to contribute to higher risk of H5N1 due to longer virus survival time in the environment (24, 25).

Higher average maximum temperature was associated with higher risk of market day H5N1 positivity. This factor contributes to the observed north/south risk divide, as average maximum



temperatures are higher in southern than northern provinces of Vietnam. However, due to limitations in sampling strategy, with time gaps in surveillance and variation in sampling strategy between years, it is not possible to reliably assess consistency of seasonal patterns over time.

Rice-cropping intensity has previously been associated with H5N1 presence in South East Asia (18). None of the samples collected on the 28 market days in areas with poor suitability for rice production tested positive for H5N1. Similarly, of the six market days sampled for H5N6 in areas with poor suitability for rice production, no samples tested positive. However, a significant association between the risk of H5N1-positive market days and the higher suitability of land for growing rice was not identified in this study, which may be due to the small number of market days sampled in poor rice production areas. Remote sensing data can capture greater resolution compared with traditional census collection, allowing for greater accuracy in assessment of rice-cropping intensity and suitability. This finer scale resolution may improve detection of associations between rice growing and prevalence of HPAI (18).

The purpose of inclusion of variables such as chicken density, duck density, and rice suitability was to capture risk factors at point of production. Consideration must be given to the potential for chicken and duck farms to be located in geographically distant areas from the market (33). Contrary to findings of some previous studies in South East Asia, higher domestic chicken population density and waterfowl density were not found to be associated with increased risk of H5N1-positive market days (8, 17). The production location of poultry from which samples were collected was not obtained during the study. Data used in the models are reflective of the locality of the market, but not necessarily the location of production. Therefore, caution is necessary regarding the interpretation of the association between risk of a market being positive for H5N1 or H5N6 and variables relating to location of production including chicken density, duck density, and the suitability of land for rice production. The prevalence of HPAI at the LBM level will be impacted by the catchment area and the extent of interconnectedness with other LBM through poultry trade. Identification of production location would enable capture of risk associated with production factors with greater accuracy.

Reduced travel time to a major city has been associated with higher risk of H7N9 presence in LBM in Asia (34). Travel time to the nearest city is a measure of accessibility of the LBM, and the increased risk associated with more accessible LBM could be reflective of birds being drawn from more diverse populations, over a larger catchment area and connections with other LBM. In the multivariable INLA model, shorter travel time to the nearest city was not significantly associated with higher H5N1-positive market-day status. This may be due to the highly connected nature of LBM in Vietnam, enabling dissemination even between relatively less well accessed markets (12, 13).

The residual spatial variation in H5N1 market-day risk at the province level indicates that there are unexplained factors contributing to risk that were not included in the model. Vaccination has been used to control HPAI in Vietnam and may have contributed to the spatial and temporal variation in risk,


FIGURE 5 | Local Indicators of Spatial Association cluster maps and Moran's / statistics of empirical Bayes risk estimates of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N6 for Rounds 4–6.



TABLE 4 | Posterior mean coefficients, odds ratios (ORs), and 95% credible intervals (Crl) of spatial and non-spatial conditional autoregressive models of market days positive for highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 virus (Vietnam, 2011–2015).

	Coefficient, post	erior mean (95% Crl)	OR, posterio	r mean (95% Crl)
	Multivariable model (no spatially varying random effect)	Multivariable model (province as spatially varying random effect)	Multivariable model (no spatially varying random effect)	Multivariable model (province as spatially varying random effect
Suitability for rice growing				
High/moderate Marginal/unsuitable	Baseline 0.47 (0.15, 0.78)	Baseline -0.04 (-0.51, 0.42)	Baseline 1.60 (1.17, 2.19)	Baseline 0.96 (0.60, 1.52)
Sampling month				
January	Baseline	Baseline	Baseline	Baseline
February	-0.27 (-0.67, 0.12)	-0.36 (-0.77, 0.05)	0.76 (0.51, 1.13)	0.70 (0.46, 1.05)
March	-0.87 (-1.40, -0.36)	-1.00 (-1.55, -0.47)	0.42 (0.25, 0.70)	0.37 (0.21, 0.63)
April	-1.01 (-1.55, -0.49)	-1.11 (-1.68, -0.57)	0.37 (0.21, 0.62)	0.33 (0.19, 0.57)
May	-1.48 (-2.19, -0.82)	-1.75 (-2.49, -1.06)	0.23 (0.11, 0.44)	0.17 (0.08, 0.35)
June	-0.27 (-1.19, 0.60)	-0.59 (-1.51, 0.29)	0.76 (0.30, 1.83)	0.55 (0.22, 1.34)
July	-0.50 (-1.47, 0.43)	-0.82 (-1.79, 0.12)	0.61 (0.23, 1.54)	0.44 (0.17, 1.13)
August	-0.35 (-1.26, 0.53)	-0.65 (-1.58, 0.26)	0.70 (0.20, 1.70)	0.52 (0.21, 1.30)
September	-0.80 (-1.60, -0.05)	-1.10 (-1.92, -0.33)	0.45 (0.20, 0.95)	0.33 (0.15, 0.72)
October	-1.80 (-3.44, -0.49)	-1.96 (-3.62, -0.62)	0.16 (0.03, 0.61)	0.14 (0.03, 0.54)
November	-0.53 (-0.99, -0.08)	-0.66 (-1.13, -0.20)	0.59 (0.37, 0.92)	0.52 (0.32, 0.82)
December	-0.80 (-1.20, -0.40)	-0.92 (-1.34, -0.51)	0.45 (0.30, 0.67)	0.40 (0.26, 0.60)
Average maximum temperature (°C)				
<u>≤</u> 24.47	Baseline	Baseline	Baseline	Baseline
24.48–28.74	0.72 (0.26, 1.20)	0.15 (-0.75, 1.03)	2.06 (1.29, 3.34)	1.17 (0.47, 2.81)
28.75–30.32	1.71 (1.29, 2.15)	1.12 (0.21, 1.99)	5.54 (3.63, 8.62)	3.07 (1.23, 7.32)
≥30.33	1.69 (1.23, 2.16)	1.21 (0.26, 2.12)	5.41 (3.43, 8.71)	3.36 (1.29, 8.36)
River density (km length/km²)	0.08 (-0.05, 0.21)	-0.05 (-0.29, 0.19)	1.08 (0.95, 1.23)	0.95 (0.75, 1.21)
Travel time (min) to nearest city with population \geq 50,000	-0.18 (-0.33, -0.04)	-0.07 (-0.24, 0.08)	0.84 (0.72, 0.96)	0.93 (0.78, 1.09)
Chicken density (heads/km²)				
<285	Baseline	Baseline	Baseline	Baseline
285–791.3	0.19 (-0.13, 0.51)	0.03 (-0.39, 0.45)	1.21 (0.88, 1.66)	1.03 (0.68, 1.57)
791.4–1,686.1	0.07 (-0.27, 0.41)	0.00 (-0.41, 0.42)	1.07 (0.77, 1.50)	1.00 (0.66, 1.52)
≥1,686.2	-0.44 (-0.86, -0.03)	-0.37 (-0.87, 0.12)	0.64 (0.42, 0.97)	0.69 (0.42, 1.13)
Round				
Round 1	Baseline	Baseline	Baseline	Baseline
Round 2	1.11 (0.76, 1.46)	1.14 (0.76, 1.52)	3.02 (2.13, 4.31)	3.13 (2.14, 4.57)
Round 3	0.85 (0.48, 1.21)	0.85 (0.47, 1.24)	2.33 (1.62, 3.35)	2.35 (1.60, 3.56)
Round 4	-0.12 (-0.85, 0.61)	0.06 (-0.68, 0.81)	0.89 (0.43, 1.85)	1.06 (0.51, 2.25)
Round 5	0.68 (-0.02, 1.33)	0.76 (0.03, 1.44)	1.97 (0.98, 3.78)	2.14 (1.03, 4.23)
Round 6	1.25 (0.18, 2.29)	1.57 (0.47, 2.65)	3.48 (1.19, 9.91)	4.81 (1.60, 14.16)
Model deviance information criterion	1,934.81	1,822.10		

Province included as a spatially varying random effect.

as vaccine coverage has been found to vary with both district and season (35). In addition, the predominant duck breeds may vary between regions and vaccine response of different breeds of domestic ducks to the commercial vaccines has been shown to differ, resulting in shedding continuing in some clinically unaffected, vaccinated ducks (36–38).

Additional market level factors not included in the model have the potential to contribute to between-market variation in the likelihood of a sample testing positive for H5N1 or H5N6. Factors include the number of days per week the market opens, biosecurity measures, length of holding of birds in the LBM, number of birds and stocking density in the LBM, biosecurity, and husbandry on farms producing the poultry for sale (39, 40). Collection of further market level information would enable further improvement of understanding of both H5N1 and H5N6 epidemiology in Vietnam.

Previous studies mapping the spatial distribution of avian influenza in Vietnam have utilised data obtained through passive surveillance (8, 18). In Vietnam, passive surveillance is conducted through farmers or community animal health workers notifying local state vets, with subsequent diagnostic testing and investigation. Positive samples are then reported to the central government. Currently, a low number of outbreaks are reported through passive surveillance (32) due to the reliance on clinical detection of disease, testing, and reporting processes. During this study, samples were collected through active surveillance, with standardised selection criteria across regional areas within each round of sample collection. This approach enables detection of HPAI in subclinical birds and minimises temporal and spatial variation in surveillance effectiveness, enabling more robust identification of regional differences in the prevalence of H5N1 and H5N6 at the level of the LBM. The ongoing active surveillance conducted **TABLE 5** | Posterior mean coefficients, odds ratios (ORs), and 95% credible intervals (Crl) of non-spatial conditional autoregressive models of market days positive for highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N6 virus (Vietnam, 2011–2015).

	Coefficient, posterior mean (95% Crl) Multivariable model (no spatially varying random effect)	OR, posterior mean (95% Crl) Multivariable model (no spatially varying random effect)
River density (km length/km²)	-0.74 (-1.17, -0.34)	0.48 (0.31, 0.71)
Human population density (heads/km²)	0.28 (-0.08, 0.61)	1.31 (0.92, 1.84)
Market density (live bird marke	t/10 km²)	
≤2.8	Baseline	Baseline
2.81-4.64	-0.15 (-1.45, 1.16)	0.86 (0.24, 3.19)
4.65-8.91	0.90 (-0.24 2.14)	2.47 (0.78, 8.52)
≥8.92	0.28 (-1.01, 1.61)	1.32 (0.36, 4.99)
Round		
Round 4	Baseline	Baseline
Round 5	3.37 (2.39, 4.48)	26.06 (9.84, 78.44)
Round 6	3.72 (2.62, 4.92)	40.48 (13.61, 133.16)
Model deviance information criterion	200.94	



in LBM is essential to monitor changes in spatiotemporal distribution patterns and strain evolution. Sampling continues to be focussed upon LBM and provinces where prevalence of infection has previously been detected to be highest.

One of the main limitations of the data analysed in this study is that the sampling strategy was not consistent between Rounds. Sampling at the district level was randomised for Round 1, then from Round 2 onwards the sampling strategy at the district level was to target districts with higher risk of H5N1 infection. The variation in odds of a market-day testing positive for H5N1 or H5N6 between Rounds may reflect temporal variation in risk, however, is augmented by the differences in sampling strategies implemented in different rounds. In addition, the sampling strategy at the level of the LBM was not perfectly sensitive; not all birds were sampled and AI positive birds may have been clustered in only part of an LBM. Due to the potential for under-detection, the observed proportion of HPAI positive market days may be lower than the true proportion of HPAI positive market days. In addition, aggregating market days by province, for reasons of anonymity, will have resulted in some loss of within-province heterogeneity. However, as the provinces with the highest risk were also the smallest (southern) provinces, this loss of information is expected to be comparatively small.

In conclusion, this study suggests that the spatial patterns and risk factors are very different for H5N1 and H5N6 in Vietnam. Whilst H5N1 distribution was spatially heterogeneous with significant clustering of high-risk provinces in the south, H5N6 was homogenously distributed. In addition, the likelihood of H5N1 detection at LBM was primarily associated with climatic factors. The different epidemiology of these two HPAI virus strains in Vietnam suggests the need for different surveillance and control approaches.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Data were generated as part of routine governmental active surveillance monitoring of avian influenza in Vietnam, coordinated by the Department of Animal Health, Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development in Vietnam. All surveillance activities and protocols were approved by the Vietnamese Department of Animal Health (DAH) Epidemiology Division before implementation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PL, SN, KI, and PP contributed to the design of the study. KS, KM, AM, DE, GF, and DP contributed to the data analysis plan. AM organised the database. KS, KM, AM, and DE performed the statistical analyses. KM wrote the first draft of the manuscript. KS and AM wrote sections of the manuscript. KS, KM, AM, GF, DP, TV, and MG contributed to interpretation of results. All the authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Data were generated as part of active surveillance monitoring of avian influenza in Vietnam, coordinated by the Department of Animal Health, Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development in Vietnam. This work was partially supported by USAID (grant number: GHA-G-00-06-00001). The authors would like to thank USAID for their generous support, which contributed significantly to the success of this operational research and has helped to build greater disease prevention and control capacity in Vietnam. KM is supported by the Bloomsbury Colleges (University of London) Scholarship and Maynard Endowment. GF and DP receive funding from the BALZAC research programme "Behavioural adaptations in live poultry trading and farming systems and zoonoses control in Bangladesh" (ref: BB/L018993/1). This is one of 11 programmes funded under ZELS, a joint research initiative between Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (BBSRC), Defence Science and Technology Laboratory (DSTL), Department for International Development (DFID), Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC), Medical Research

REFERENCES

- Pfeiffer D, Otte M, Roland-Holst D, Zilberman D. A one health perspective on HPAI H5N1 in the Greater Mekong sub-region. *Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis* (2013) 36:309–19. doi:10.1016/j.cimid.2012.11.005
- Liem N, Tung C, Hien N, Hien T, Chau N, Long H, et al. Clinical features of human influenza A (H5N1) infection in Vietnam: 2004–2006. *Clin Infect Dis* (2009) 48:1639–46. doi:10.1086/599031
- Bi Y, Mei K, Shi W, Liu D, Yu X, Gao Z, et al. Two novel reassortants of avian influenza A (H5N6) virus in China. J Gen Virol (2015) 96:975–81. doi:10.1099/ vir.0.000056
- OIE. Update on Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza in Animals (Type H5 and H7). (2014). Available from: http://www.oie.int/en/animal-health-in-the-world/ update-on-avian-influenza/2014/
- Gilbert M, Newman S, Takekawa J, Loth L, Biradar C, Prosser D, et al. Flying over an infected landscape: distribution of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 risk in South Asia and satellite tracking of wild waterfowl. *Ecohealth* (2010) 7:448–58. doi:10.1007/s10393-010-0672-8
- Paul M, Tavornpanich S, Abrial D, Gasqui P, Charras-Garrido M, Thanapongtharm W, et al. Anthropogenic factors and the risk of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1: prospects from a spatial-based model. *Vet Res* (2010) 41:28. doi:10.1051/vetres/2009076
- Martin V, Pfeiffer D, Zhou X, Xiao X, Prosser D, Guo F, et al. Spatial distribution and risk factors of highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) H5N1 in China. *PLoS Pathog* (2011) 7:e1001308. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001308
- Pfeiffer D, Minh P, Martin V, Epprecht M, Otte M. An analysis of the spatial and temporal patterns of highly pathogenic avian influenza occurrence in Vietnam using national surveillance data. *Vet J* (2007) 174:302–9. doi:10.1016/j.tvjl. 2007.05.010
- Loth L, Gilbert M, Wu J, Czarnecki C, Hidayat M, Xiao X. Identifying risk factors of highly pathogenic avian influenza (H5N1 subtype) in Indonesia. *Prev Vet Med* (2011) 102:50–8. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2011.06.006
- Webster R. Wet markets—a continuing source of severe acute respiratory syndrome and influenza? *Lancet* (2004) 363:234–6. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736 (03)15329-9
- Choi Y, Heui Seo S, Kim J, Webby R, Webster R. Avian influenza viruses in Korean live poultry markets and their pathogenic potential. *Virology* (2005) 332:529–37. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2004.12.002
- Fournié G, Guitian J, Desvaux S, Cuong V, Dung D, Pfeiffer D, et al. Interventions for avian influenza A (H5N1) risk management in live bird market networks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:9177–82. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1220815110
- Wang J, Vijaykrishna D, Duan L, Bahl J, Zhang J, Webster R, et al. Identification of the progenitors of Indonesian and Vietnamese avian influenza A (H5N1) viruses from Southern China. J Virol (2008) 82:3405–14. doi:10.1128/ jvi.02468-07
- Leung Y, Lau E, Zhang L, Guan Y, Cowling B, Peiris J. Avian influenza and ban on overnight poultry storage in live poultry markets, Hong Kong. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2012) 18:1339–41. doi:10.3201/eid1808.111879
- Nguyen D, Uyeki T, Jadhao S, Maines T, Shaw M, Matsuoka Y, et al. Isolation and characterization of avian influenza viruses, including highly pathogenic H5N1, from poultry in live bird markets in Hanoi, Vietnam, in 2001. J Virol (2005) 79:4201–12. doi:10.1128/jvi.79.7.4201-4212.2005

Council (MRC), and Natural Environment Research Council (NERC): http://www.bbsrc.ac.uk/research/international/zels/. MG is funded by the Belgian FNRS, and this work was partly supported by the NIH grant 1R01AI101028-02A1. RVC reference: PPB_01714.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2018.00051/full#supplementary-material.

- Sturm-Ramirez K, Hulse-Post D, Govorkova E, Humberd J, Seiler P, Puthavathana P, et al. Are ducks contributing to the endemicity of highly pathogenic H5N1 influenza virus in Asia? *J Virol* (2005) 79:11269–79. doi:10.1128/ jvi.79.17.11269-11279.2005
- Gilbert M, Chaitaweesub P, Parakamawongsa T, Premashthira S, Tiensin T, Kalpravidh W, et al. Free-grazing ducks and highly pathogenic avian influenza, Thailand. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2006) 12:227–34. doi:10.3201/eid1202.050640
- Gilbert M, Xiao X, Pfeiffer D, Epprecht M, Boles S, Czarnecki C, et al. Mapping H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza risk in Southeast Asia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:4769–74. doi:10.1073/pnas.0710581105
- Ward M, Maftei D, Apostu C, Suru A. Environmental and anthropogenic risk factors for highly pathogenic avian influenza subtype H5N1 outbreaks in Romania, 2005–2006. *Vet Res Commun* (2008) 32:627–34. doi:10.1007/ s11259-008-9064-8
- Loth L, Gilbert M, Osmani M, Kalam A, Xiao X. Risk factors and clusters of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 outbreaks in Bangladesh. *Prev Vet Med* (2010) 96:104–13. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2010.05.013
- Biswas P, Christensen J, Ahmed S, Das A, Rahman M, Barua H, et al. Risk for infection with highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (H5N1) in backyard chickens, Bangladesh. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2009) 15:1931–6. doi:10.3201/ eid1512.090643
- 22. Fang L, de Vlas S, Liang S, Looman C, Gong P, Xu B, et al. Environmental factors contributing to the spread of H5N1 avian influenza in Mainland China. *PLoS One* (2008) 3:e2268. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002268
- Walsh M, Amstislavski P, Greene A, Haseeb M. The landscape epidemiology of seasonal clustering of highly pathogenic avian influenza (H5N1) in domestic poultry in Africa, Europe and Asia. *Transbound Emerg Dis* (2016) 64:1465–78. doi:10.1111/tbed.12537
- Shortridge K, Zhou N, Guan Y, Gao P, Ito T, Kawaoka Y, et al. Characterization of avian H5N1 influenza viruses from poultry in Hong Kong. *Virology* (1998) 252:331–42. doi:10.1006/viro.1998.9488
- Zhang H, Li Y, Chen J, Chen Q, Chen Z. Perpetuation of H5N1 and H9N2 avian influenza viruses in natural water bodies. *J Gen Virol* (2014) 95:1430–5. doi:10.1099/vir.0.063438-0
- Nelson A. Estimated Travel Time to the Nearest City of 50,000 or more People in Year 2000. Global Environment Monitoring Unit. Ispra: Joint Research Centre of the European Commission (2008). Available at: http://forobs.jrc.ec.europa. eu/products/gam/ (Accessed: March, 2017).
- Hijmans R, Cameron S, Parra J, Jones P, Jarvis A. Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. *Int J Climatol* (2005) 25:1965–78. doi:10.1002/joc.1276
- ESRI. ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10.3.1. Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute (2015).
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2017). Available from: https://www.r-project.org/ (Accessed: June 30, 2017).
- Calcagno V, Mazancourt C. glmulti: an R package for easy automated model selection with (generalized) linear models. J Stat Softw (2010) 34:1–29. doi:10.18637/ jss.v034.i12
- Rue H, Martino S, Chopin N. Approximate Bayesian inference for latent Gaussian models by using integrated nested Laplace approximations. J R Stat Soc Series B Stat Methodol (2009) 71:319–92. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9868.2008. 00700.x

- 32. Delabouglise A, Choisy M, Phan T, Antoine-Moussiaux N, Peyre M, Vu T, et al. Economic factors influencing zoonotic disease dynamics: demand for poultry meat and seasonal transmission of avian influenza in Vietnam. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:5905. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-06244-6
- 33. Fournié G, Tripodi A, Nguyen T, Nguyen V, Tran T, Bisson A, et al. Investigating poultry trade patterns to guide avian influenza surveillance and control: a case study in Vietnam. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:29463. doi:10.1038/srep29463
- 34. Gilbert M, Golding N, Zhou H, Wint G, Robinson T, Tatem A, et al. Predicting the risk of avian influenza A H7N9 infection in live-poultry markets across Asia. Nat Commun (2014) 5:4116. doi:10.1038/ncomms5116
- Cuong N, Truc V, Nhung N, Thanh T, Chieu T, Hieu T, et al. Highly pathogenic avian influenza virus A/H5N1 infection in vaccinated meat duck flocks in the Mekong Delta of Vietnam. *Transbound Emerg Dis* (2016) 63:127–35. doi:10.1111/tbed.12470
- 36. Cagle C, To T, Nguyen T, Wasilenko J, Adams S, Cardona C, et al. Pekin and Muscovy ducks respond differently to vaccination with a H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) commercial inactivated vaccine. *Vaccine* (2011) 29:6549–57. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.07.004
- 37. Steensels M, Van Borm S, Lambrecht B, De Vriese J, Le Gros F, Bublot M, et al. Efficacy of an inactivated and a Fowlpox-vectored Vaccine in Muscovy Ducks against an Asian H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza viral challenge. *Avian Dis* (2007) 51:325–31. doi:10.1637/7628-042806r.1
- 38. Steensels M, Bublot M, Van Borm S, De Vriese J, Lambrecht B, Richard-Mazet A, et al. Prime-boost vaccination with a fowlpox vector and an inactivated avian influenza vaccine is highly immunogenic in Pekin ducks challenged with

Asian H5N1 HPAI. Vaccine (2009) 27:646-54. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2008. 11.044

- Kung N, Guan Y, Perkins N, Bissett L, Ellis T, Sims L, et al. The impact of a monthly rest day on avian influenza virus isolation rates in retail live poultry markets in Hong Kong. *Avian Dis* (2003) 47:1037–41. doi:10.1637/0005-2086-47.s3.1037
- Henning J, Pfeiffer D, Vu L. Risk factors and characteristics of H5N1 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) post-vaccination outbreaks. *Vet Res* (2009) 40:15. doi:10.1051/vetres:2008053

Disclaimer: The views expressed in this information product are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of FAO.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Mellor, Meyer, Elkholly, Fournié, Long, Inui, Padungtod, Gilbert, Newman, Vergne, Pfeiffer and Stevens. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Low- and High-Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5 and H7 Spread Risk Assessment Within and Between Australian Commercial Chicken Farms

Angela Bullanday Scott¹, Jenny-Ann L. M. L. Toribio¹, Mini Singh¹, Peter Groves¹, Belinda Barnes², Kathryn Glass³, Barbara Moloney⁴, Amanda Black⁴ and Marta Hernandez-Jover^{5,6*}

¹ Sydney School of Veterinary Science, Faculty of Science, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ² Quantitative Sciences, Department of Agriculture and Water Resources, Canberra, ACT, Australia, ³ College of Medicine, Biology and Environment, Australian National University, Canberra, ACT, Australia, ⁴ New South Wales Department of Primary Industries, Orange, NSW, Australia, ⁶ Graham Centre for Agricultural Innovation, School of Animal and Veterinary Sciences, Charles Sturt University and New South Wales Department of Primary Industries, Wagga Wagga, NSW, Australia, ⁶ School of Animal and Veterinary Sciences, Charles Sturt University, Sciences, Charles Sturt University, Wagga Wagga, NSW, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Irene Iglesias, CENTER FOR ANIMAL HEALTH RESEARCH, INIA, Spain

Reviewed by:

Fernanda Dorea, National Veterinary Institute, Sweden Marius Gilbert, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium

*Correspondence:

Marta Hernandez-Jover mhernandez-jover@csu.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 29 November 2017 Accepted: 14 March 2018 Published: 09 April 2018

Citation:

Scott AB, Toribio J-ALML, Singh M, Groves P, Barnes B, Glass K, Moloney B, Black A and Hernandez-Jover M (2018) Low- and High-Pathogenic Avian Influenza H5 and H7 Spread Risk Assessment Within and Between Australian Commercial Chicken Farms. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:63. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00063 This study quantified and compared the probability of avian influenza (AI) spread within and between Australian commercial chicken farms via specified spread pathways using scenario tree mathematical modeling. Input values for the models were sourced from scientific literature, expert opinion, and a farm survey conducted during 2015 and 2016 on Australian commercial chicken farms located in New South Wales (NSW) and Queensland. Outputs from the models indicate that the probability of no establishment of infection in a shed is the most likely end-point after exposure and infection of low-pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) in one chicken for all farm types (non-free range meat chicken, free range meat chicken, cage layer, barn layer, and free range layer farms). If LPAI infection is established in a shed, LPAI is more likely to spread to other sheds and beyond the index farm due to a relatively low probability of detection and reporting during LPAI infection compared to high-pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) infection. Among farm types, the median probability for HPAI spread between sheds and between farms is higher for layer farms (0.0019, 0.0016, and 0.0031 for cage, barn, and free range layer, respectively) than meat chicken farms (0.00025 and 0.00043 for barn and free range meat chicken, respectively) due to a higher probability of mutation in layer birds, which relates to their longer production cycle. The pathway of LPAI spread between sheds with the highest average median probability was spread via equipment (0.015; 5–95%, 0.0058–0.036) and for HPAI spread between farms, the pathway with the highest average median probability was spread via egg trays $(3.70 \times 10^{-5}; 5-95\%)$, 1.47×10^{-6} –0.00034). As the spread model did not explicitly consider volume and frequency of the spread pathways, these results provide a comparison of spread probabilities per pathway. These findings highlight the importance of performing biosecurity practices to limit spread of the AI virus. The models can be updated as new information on the mechanisms of the AI virus and on the volume and frequency of movements shed-to-shed and of movements between commercial chicken farms becomes available.

Keywords: avian influenza, Australia, commercial chickens, H5, H7, scenario trees, partial consequence assessment, spread

INTRODUCTION

The risk of low-pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) virus spread in Australia is initially dependent on the risk of exposure of commercial chicken farms in this country to LPAI, which has been quantified for New South Wales by Scott et al. (1). After exposure to the virus, the risk of spread is then dependent on infection of the chicken with the virus and establishment of the virus within the flock (2-4). Once established in one flock, LPAI spread within farms (between sheds) and between farms can occur. LPAI infection can be associated with no clinical signs but a range of clinical illness in birds including respiratory disease can also be seen, thereby leading to production losses and decreased welfare (2, 5). For infections with H5 and H7 LPAI viruses, with further virus spread and the subsequent increasing number of infected birds, there is a greater possibility of mutation of the virus to high-pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI). HPAI has very high morbidity and mortality rates in gallinaceous poultry (up to 100%) (5). If mutation does occur, the risk of HPAI spread within and between farms must then be considered.

Factors influencing the success of LPAI or HPAI spread depend heavily on biosecurity actions put into place on the farm. Previous modeling work suggest that bird pickup trucks and feed trucks that move between farms and human movements between sheds were pathways associated with the highest risk of spread of AI. Emphasis to ensure good biosecurity practices associated with these pathways, such as vehicle disinfection and footbaths, was therefore made (6, 7). The timeliness of detection of clinical signs of infected flocks by farmers also plays a significant role in limiting spread of the disease. If the appropriate authority figures are contacted by farmers promptly, management practices can be put into place to limit spread of the virus both within and between farms (2, 8). This is supported by several previous mathematical modeling studies that revealed a reduction in the probability of AI spread to other farms if detection and reporting occurs earlier rather than later in the outbreak and if the detection threshold is lowered or frequent sampling occurs on high-risk farms (9-11).

All seven HPAI outbreaks in Australia to date have had only commercial chicken farms as the index farms; including commercial layer or meat chicken farms, with two outbreaks involving meat chicken breeder farms. Four of the seven HPAI outbreaks involved spread from the index farm to affect the nearby farms (12, 13). In addition, surveillance found evidence of LPAI infection among duck farms in the vicinity for two of the seven HPAI outbreaks, suggesting initial LPAI spread with subsequent mutation (14, 15). The focus on commercial chicken farms in this study is due to the comparatively small threat posed by non-commercial chicken farms to the Australian poultry industry. There is limited contact between non-commercial and commercial chicken farms in Australia. In addition, AI detection on non-commercial chicken farms, as did occur with three of the 12 LPAI cases detected in this country to date, has little impact on the industry, market, and consumers due to the small number of birds to destroy (14-16).

The pathways of spread in the past Australian HPAI outbreaks were suspected based on epidemiological investigations; examples identified include common dead bird pick up and egg transport vehicles among the affected farms (13, 17, 18). However, it is currently unknown for the Australian context which pathways are most likely to cause spread, whether particular farm types are at more risk of spread than others, and the influence biosecurity practices will have on spread. Thus there is a need to quantify and compare the probability of both LPAI and HPAI spread for all types of Australian commercial chicken enterprises, i.e., cage, barn, and free range systems of both layer and meat chicken farms. Further, there is a need to quantify the effect of on-farm preventive actions that can mitigate the risk and impact of future AI outbreak occurrences in Australia.

In response to these needs, the aim of this study was first to estimate the probability of infection and establishment of LPAI virus after one chicken is exposed to the virus using results obtained from Scott et al. (1). Then, potential pathways for LPAI and HPAI spread between sheds and farms on all types of Australian commercial chicken enterprises were identified. A partial consequence assessment was then performed to estimate and compare the probabilities of LPAI and of HPAI spread between sheds and farms with particular focus on the differences in spread via the investigated pathways, without explicit consideration of pathway volume and frequency as insufficient information was available to incorporate consideration of these in this study. Comparison of study results will inform understanding of the most influential pathways of spread of LPAI and HPAI, and of any differences between farm types if these exist. This new knowledge can direct thinking about on-farm biosecurity practices that can be put into place to reduce the potential for AI spread.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Risk Assessment Model

The overall study used the World Organisation of Animal Health (OIE) risk analysis framework (19) to conduct an exposure and partial consequence assessment in relation to AI for Australian commercial chicken farms. The exposure assessment considered the potential pathways by which chickens situated in a commercial layer or meat chicken farm can be exposed to avian influenza (AI) virus from wild birds. This assessment can be found in the study by Scott et al. (1). The current study focused on a partial consequence assessment, where the risk of spread was determined but the level of consequences following spread was not measured. This assessment considered the pathways by which these viruses can spread between sheds on the same farm and from one farm to other farms. The probability of these pathways occurring was calculated. Such pathways were portrayed using scenario trees (20) and developed using Microsoft Excel (PC/ Windows 7, 2010). The probabilities were estimated using Monte Carlo stochastic simulation modeling using the program @RISK 7.0 (Palisade Corporation, USA). Each simulation consisted of 50,000 iterations sampled using the Latin hypercube method with a fixed random seed of one.

Data Sources

Most of the input values used in this model were parameterized using data collected from a survey on commercial chicken farms in Australia (8, 21). This study defined commercial layer farms as those with more than 1,000 birds, and commercial meat chicken farms as those with more than 25,000 birds. It involved a comprehensive on-farm interview with farmers including questions related to farm management, biosecurity practices, and wild bird presence. In addition, input values were also obtained from scientific literature. An expert opinion workshop was also held to obtain input values that were largely unknown or undescribed in the scientific literature (22).

Survey on Commercial Layer and Meat Chicken Farms in the Sydney Basin Region and South East Queensland

A survey was conducted from mid-2015 with on-farm interviews on 73 commercial chicken farms; nine cage layer, 9 barn layer, 25 free range layer, 15 non-free range meat chicken, and 15 free range meat chicken farms (8, 21). The farms were located in the Sydney basin region in New South Wales (NSW) and in South East Queensland. The Sydney basin region was selected due to the high concentration of both layer and meat chicken farms in this area. However, in this region, free range meat chicken farms are all owned by one of the two large privately owned meat chicken companies in Australia. Therefore, additional farm visits to South East Queensland were conducted to gain more representative data of privately owned meat chicken companies in Australia. The interviews with the farm manager or farm owner involved a comprehensive questionnaire with questions relating to biosecurity practices performed on farm, wild bird and animal presence, general farm information, and farm management. A greater proportion of layer farms and of free range farms were surveyed due to the greater perceived risk of AI occurrence on these farm types. Further details on the survey methodology, including the region and farm selection, questionnaire development, and conduct of the on-farm interviews can be found in the study by Scott et al. (21).

Expert Opinion

Due to many unknowns related to the AI virus, an expert elicitation process was conducted in late 2015 to help inform the parameters of mutation from LPAI to HPAI and farm-tofarm spread pathways; the shed-to-shed spread pathways were informed from a combination of scientific literature and the farm survey. The elicitation process used a modified Delphi technique to gather the information, based on a four-step elicitation process. The process involved the experts completing a questionnaire individually, followed by a discussion of the results at a workshop, and then a reassessment of the questionnaire answers after the workshop. A total of 10 experts who had varying levels of expertise related to the poultry industry, wild bird behavior, and AI virus characteristics, participated in the process. The experts were selected based on their experience in the Australian poultry industries including involvement in the management of HPAI outbreaks in Australia or overseas as well as knowledge on the AI virus and wild

birds. The questionnaire included 39 probability questions, and experts were asked to provide a most likely, minimum and maximum estimates of the probabilities and their level of confidence on their estimates. Pert distributions were used to obtain individual expert estimates for each question. The second round of estimates for each question for all experts was then combined using a weighting factor depending on their respective level of expertise relevant to each question, in a discrete distribution. More details on the expert elicitation process and the outcomes of the study can be found in the study by Singh et al. (22).

Statistical Analysis

The statistical program JMP[®] was used (© 2012 SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) to conduct one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to analyze the differences between the outcome probabilities from the models for different farm types. The outcome probabilities compared using ANOVA were the outcome probability from 1,000 iterations of each pathway endpoint of the spread scenario tree model simulation for each farm type with each iteration reflecting the situation for one farm at any point in time. A *p*-value of <0.05 was used to determine statistical significance in these analyses.

Partial Consequence (Spread) Assessment

The partial consequence assessment investigates the pathways of AI virus spread after one bird has been exposed to the virus at any point in time. It provides a comparison of spread probabilities between pathways; however, the volume and frequency of each pathway occurring were not explicitly considered. For shed-to-shed spread, there is consideration of the proportion of farms that perform or have these pathways present in combination with the survival of the virus on these pathways. For farm-to-farm spread, it was assumed that variation between pathways in volume and frequency and in virus survival was considered by experts. From the assumed LPAI exposure of one bird, spread first depends on infection of this bird, and this probability differs between direct or indirect exposure. In addition, spread depends on establishment of the virus within the shed after infection of one individual, which is influenced by the subtype of the virus. Both LPAI and HPAI spread are assessed, where the probability of H5/H7 mutation from LPAI to HPAI is also considered after establishment within a flock. The end-points of this model are exclusive of one another and are as follows: (1) no establishment of the infection; (2) limited LPAI spread; (3) limited HPAI spread; (4) LPAI spread; and (5) HPAI spread.

Limited spread is defined as the spread that would occur even when infection is detected and reported by the farmer. In this situation, although it is assumed that control measures will be put into place to restrict further spread of the virus, spread prior to detection and reporting would be likely to occur due to the routine large volume of activities between both sheds and farms. Supporting this assumption, the number of days required for detection and reporting was estimated using an index function on Microsoft Excel, resulting in a time period of at least 70 days from infection of the first chicken with LPAI to establishment, detection and reporting by the farmer for all farm types. This estimation considered a reproduction number (*R*) of 1.35, the proportion of birds showing clinical signs, the shed size, and the percentage threshold for LPAI detection and reporting. The calculation of R and the proportion of birds showing clinical signs are presented in the description of the *Establishment of LPAI after infection in one chicken* node in the Supplementary Material. The shed size and percentage threshold for LPAI detection and reporting differ for each farm type and are described by Scott et al. (21). If there is no detection and reporting, the potential pathways by which LPAI and HPAI can spread between sheds and between farms are evaluated for each farm type.

The spread models used to estimate shed-to-shed and farmto-farm spread are two separate models and are independent of each other. The same input parameters are used in both models with the exception of the last node that considers the different pathways of spread, shed-to-shed and farm-tofarm. The five pathways for spread between sheds are shown in Figure 1 and the 12 pathways for spread between farms are shown in Figure 2, following the nodes "LPAI spread methods" and "HPAI spread methods". The input parameters used are described in Table 1 and a detailed description of the nodes is provided in the Supplementary Material. The majority of nodes apply to both LPAI and HPAI spread, with some specific to LPAI or HPAI spread only. The specific nodes for LPAI spread are LPAI spread methods shed-to-shed and LPAI spread methods farm-to-farm. The specific nodes for HPAI spread are HPAI clinical signs, detection, and reporting, HPAI spread methods shed-to-shed, and HPAI spread methods farm-to-farm. The probabilities of the different spread pathways were complementary to each other in the spread scenario tree models (e.g., the sum of the probabilities of all pathways occurring equaled one).

Sensitivity Analysis

The Advanced Sensitivity Analysis on the program @RISK 7.0 (Palisade Corporation, USA) was used to determine the effect of input parameters on the model outputs. The input values varied from 0 to 1 in thirds (0, 0.3, 0.6, 1). Each input value of interest was assessed in a simulation of 1,000 iterations while all other input values were fixed to their base value. The model outputs assessed were the probability of LPAI and HPAI spread between both sheds and farms per farm type.

The effect of the following inputs of LPAI and HPAI spread between sheds and farms were investigated: (1) Probability that the H5/H7 LPAI subtype will establish within the flock from one infected chicken (*Prob_Establishment*); (2) Probability that LPAI established within the flock will mutate to HPAI (*Prob_Mutation*); (3) Probability that the farmer will detect and report disease to appropriate officials during LPAI establishment (*Prob_LPAI_Detection*); (4) Probability that HPAI will produce clinical signs with the assumption that the probability of detection is extremely high (*Prob_HPAI_Detection*).

In addition, the impact of the probability of spread to another shed or farm through any of the pathways considered in this assessment, which is dependent to a high extent on the level of biosecurity implemented on farm, was also investigated. As the probabilities of the different spread pathways were complementary to each other in the spread scenario tree models, each pathway has the same influence on the probability of spread on the sensitivity analysis. As such, only one pathway probability is included in the sensitivity analysis and the generic term *Prob_PathwaySpread* is used.

RESULTS

Probabilities of LPAI and HPAI Spread

Results from the spread models provided the overall probabilities of no establishment of LPAI and of LPAI and HPAI limited spread and LPAI and HPAI spread between both sheds and farms, given one chicken is exposed to LPAI virus from one wild bird in Australia at any point of time. The results are summarized in Table 2 and Figure 3. The pathways involved in calculating these probabilities incorporated the probability of LPAI infection in a chicken after exposure and the probability that the virus is able to spread and establish among chickens within a shed. For all farm types, the most likely end-point after one chicken is exposed and infected with LPAI is no establishment. For each pathotype, the overall probabilities of spread are identical for each farm type between sheds and between farms. The results also show that for all farm types, the probability of limited LPAI spread is lower than that of limited HPAI spread; that LPAI spread is more likely to occur than limited LPAI spread; and that HPAI spread is less likely to occur than limited HPAI spread.

Low-pathogenic avian influenza and HPAI spread occur when the randomly selected values for the beta distribution for the probability of detection and reporting in the spread model are very low or zero. The probabilities of LPAI spread between sheds and farms, although low for all farms, were estimated to be highest in free range farms compared to other farm types. The model estimated a median probability of LPAI spread of 0.068 and 0.059 for free range meat chicken and layer farms, respectively. Among indoor farms, the probability (median; 5–95%) of LPAI spread between sheds and farms is higher in barn meat chicken farms (0.037; 0.015–0.073) when compared to the indoor layer farm types; cage layer (0.027; 0.0028–0.079) and barn layer (0.026; 0.0030–0.071). The probabilities of HPAI spread between sheds and farms are lower than that of LPAI spread for all farm types (**Table 2**).

Probabilities of the Different Spread Pathways

Results of the probability of LPAI and HPAI spread between sheds and farms are summarized in **Figure 4**, which presents the averages of the median, 5% and 95% probability values per pathway among all farm types and provides a comparison of relative probability of spread between pathways that does not explicitly consider the volume and frequency of each respective pathway occurring.

The pathways of spread between sheds were estimated using farm survey data to determine the proportion of farms that would perform or have specific practices or pathways for each farm type. This was combined with scientific literature to determine



FIGURE 1 | Scenario tree representing the spread pathways of low-pathogenic and high-pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI and HPAI) viruses between sheds for Australian commercial layer and meat chicken farms. (Prob_Indirect_Exposure, probability of indirect exposure of LPAI virus to a commercial chicken; Prob Direct Exposure, probability of direct exposure of LPAI virus to a commercial chicken; Prob Infection Indirect, probability of infection of LPAI after indirect exposure; Prob_Infection_Direct, probability of infection of LPAI after direct exposure; Prob_Subtype_Spread, probability that the H5/H7 subtype that has infected a chicken is able to spread to other chickens; Prob_Establishment, probability that the H5/H7 LPAI subtype will establish within the flock from one infected chicken; Prob_Subtype_CS, probability that the LPAI H5/H7 subtype established within the flock is able to produce clinical signs within the flock; Proportion_CS, proportion of birds infected with LPAI that will produce clinical signs; Prob_Mutation, probability that LPAI established within the flock will mutate to HPAI; Prob_LPAI_Detection, probability that the farmer will detect and report disease to appropriate officials during LPAI establishment; Prob_HPAI_ Detection, probability that HPAI will produce clinical signs with the assumption that the probability of detection is extremely high; Spread LPAI Boots, probability that shed-to-shed spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of boots; Spread_LPAI_Equipment, probability that shed-to-shed spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of equipment; Spread_LPAI_Vermin, probability that shed-to-shed spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of vermin such as rats and insects; Spread LPAI Aerosol, probability that shed-to-shed spread of LPAI will occur via aerosol; Spread LPAI Animals, probability that shed-to-shed spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of other animals including pets; Spread_HPAI_Boots, probability that shed-to-shed spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of boots; Spread_HPAI_Equipment, probability that shed-to-shed spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of equipment; Spread_HPAI_Vermin, probability that shed-to-shed spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of vermin such as rats and insects: Spread HPAI Aerosol, probability that shed-toshed spread of HPAI will occur via aerosol; Spread_HPAI_Animals, probability that shed-to-shed spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of other animals including pets).

the survival of the virus on each of these pathways, and similar volume and frequency for each pathway were assumed. The pathway of LPAI spread between sheds (**Figure 4A**) with the highest average median probability was spread via equipment (0.015; 0.0058–0.036), followed by vermin (0.010; 0.0028–0.023) and then boots (0.0064; 0.00087–0.018). When the results of each farm type were assessed, the pathway of spread via equipment was the pathway with the highest median probability of LPAI spread between sheds for each farm type except free range layer farms. For this farm type, the pathway of LPAI spread between sheds with the highest median probability was spread via vermin (0.019; 0.0022–0.041).

The pathway of HPAI spread between sheds (**Figure 4B**) with the highest average median probability was also spread via equipment (5.76×10^{-5} ; 1.90×10^{-6} –0.00057). All farm types except free range layer farms had the pathway of spread via equipment as the pathway with the highest median probability of HPAI spread between sheds. For free range farms, the pathway with the highest median probability was spread via animals (8.93×10^{-5} ; 2.57×10^{-6} –0.001) (data not shown in **Figure 4**).

The pathways of spread between farms were estimated from expert opinion which is assumed to have considered variation in volume and frequency and virus survival between pathways. The pathway of LPAI spread between farms (**Figure 4C**) with the highest average median probability was spread via bird pick up systems (0.0072; 0.0019–0.02), followed by egg trays (0.0059; 0.00066–0.017). The latter applies to only layer farm types. When assessing each farm type on its own, the pathway with the highest median probability of LPAI spread between farms was bird pick up systems for both barn and free range meat chicken farm types. Spread via egg trays was the pathway with the highest median probability of LPAI spread between farms for all layer farms.

The pathway of HPAI spread between farms (**Figure 4D**) with the highest average median probability was spread via egg trays $(3.70 \times 10^{-5}; 1.47 \times 10^{-6}-0.00034)$, followed by egg pallets $(2.07 \times 10^{-5}; 7.86 \times 10^{-7}-0.00021)$, bird pick up systems $(1.57 \times 10^{-5}; 4.83 \times 10^{-7}-0.00019)$, and farm workers $(1.41 \times 10^{-5}; 4.43 \times 10^{-7}-0.00018)$. The former two apply to layer farms only. For individual farm types, and similar to that for LPAI, the

pathway of HPAI spread between farms with the highest median probability was bird pick up systems for barn and free-range meat chicken farm types. Spread via egg trays was the pathway with the highest median probability of HPAI spread between farms for all layer farms.

Spread Sensitivity Analysis

Figure 5 shows the outputs of the spread sensitivity analysis, which depicts an example of one meat chicken or layer farm type per LPAI (**Figures 5A,B**) or HPAI (**Figures 5C,D**) spread between sheds and farms, as the sensitivity analysis outcomes were similar in proportional increase in value among all farm types. In addition, no difference on the spread sensitivity analyses for spread between sheds and spread between farms was observed.

According to the spread sensitivity analysis, the most influential parameter for LPAI spread between sheds and farms was the probability of establishment (**Figures 5A,B**). When the probability of establishment is increased to 100% (base value 0.47 for all farm types), there is an approximate 2.1 to 2.2-fold increase on the probability of LPAI spread between sheds and farms for all farm types.

The probability of mutation was the most influential parameter affecting the probability of HPAI spread between sheds and farms for all farm types. When this probability is increased to 100% (base value 0.070, 0.070, 0.50, 0.28, 0.30 for barn meat chicken, free range meat chicken, cage layer, barn layer and free range layer farms, respectively), there is at least a 3.5-fold increase on the probability of HPAI spread between both sheds and farms for all farm types (**Figures 5C,D**). The influence of the probability of mutation is most substantial on meat chicken farm types where there is an approximate 17-fold increase on the probability of HPAI spread between both sheds and farms within these farm types. The next most influential parameter on HPAI spread between sheds and farms was the probability of establishment where results obtained were similar to those seen with the LPAI spread sensitivity analysis described above.

The impact of the probability of detection on spread of LPAI and HPAI does not seem to be very significant. When this probability is increased to 100%, there is only an approximate 0.05-fold decrease on the probability of both LPAI (base value between 0.60

and 0.70 for all farm types) and HPAI (base value 0.99 for all farm types) spread between sheds and farms for all farm types.

Investigation of the spread pathways revealed that when the probability of any of these pathways is increased to 100% (base values ranging from 0.00034 to 0.040 and 3.87×10^{-7} and 8.83×10^{-5} for LPAI and HPAI spread, respectively), there is an approximate 1.5 to 2-fold increase on the probability of LPAI and HPAI spread between sheds and between farms for all farm types.



FIGURE 2 | Scenario tree representing the spread pathways of low-pathogenic and high-pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI and HPAI) viruses between farms for Australian commercial layer and meat chicken farms. (Prob_Indirect_Exposure, probability of indirect exposure of LPAI virus to a commercial chicken; Prob_Direct_ Exposure, probability of direct exposure of LPAI virus to a commercial chicken; Prob_Infection_Indirect, probability of infection of LPAI after indirect exposure; Prob_Infection_Direct, probability of infection of LPAI after direct exposure; Prob_Subtype_Spread, probability that the H5/H7 subtype that has infected a chicken is able to spread to other chickens; Prob_Establishment, probability that the H5/H7 LPAI subtype will establish within the flock from one infected chicken; Prob_ Subtype_CS, probability that the LPAI H5/H7 subtype established within the flock is able to produce clinical signs within the flock; Proportion_CS, proportion of birds infected with LPAI that will produce clinical signs; Prob_Mutation, probability that LPAI established within the flock will mutate to HPAI; Prob_LPAI_Detection, probability that the farmer will detect and report disease to appropriate officials during LPAI establishment; Prob_HPAI_Detection, probability that HPAI will produce clinical signs with the assumption that the probability of detection is extremely high; Farm LPAI Equipment, probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of equipment; Farm_LPAI_Aerosol, probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via aerosol; Farm_LPAI_Animals, probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of animals including both farm cats and dogs and vermin; Farm_LPAI_WB, probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of wild birds; Farm LPAI Delivery, probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of bird delivery transport vehicles; Farm_LPAI_Pickup, probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of dead and live bird pick up vehicles; Farm_LPAI_Feed, probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of feed delivery vehicles; Farm_LPAI_Manure, probability that farm-tofarm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of manure collection systems; Farm LPAI Workers, probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of farm workers; Farm_LPAI_Tradesmen, probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of tradesmen such as plumbers and electricians; Farm_LPAI_Eggtray, probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of egg trays; Farm_LPAI_Eggpallet, probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of egg pallets; Farm_HPAI_Equipment, probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of equipment; Farm_HPAI_Aerosol, probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via aerosol; Farm_HPAI_Animals, probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of animals including both farm cats and dogs and vermin; Farm_HPAI_WB, probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of wild birds; Farm HPAI Delivery, probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of bird delivery transport vehicles; Farm_HPAI_Pickup, probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of dead and live bird pick up vehicles; Farm_HPAI_Feed, probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of feed delivery vehicles; Farm_HPAI_Manure, probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of manure collection systems; Farm HPAI Workers, probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of farm workers; Farm_HPAI_Tradesmen, probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of tradesmen such as plumbers and electricians; Farm_HPAI_Eggtray, probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of egg trays; Farm_HPAI_Eggpallet, probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of egg pallets).

This enabled evaluation of the change in probability of spread with implementation or presence of biosecurity practices that act on these spread pathways.

DISCUSSION

The Probability of Spread

The most likely pathway or outcome after one chicken is exposed and infected with LPAI is no establishment of the infection. This is supported by East et al. (38) where in all 17 samples tested positive for AI antibodies in the sentinel free-range flocks, there was no evidence of chicken-to-chicken transmission. However, these results contrast with work performed at the Australian Animal Health Laboratory (AAHL) where chickens inoculated and subsequently infected with various LPAI subtypes were placed in direct contact with other chickens. All chickens in direct contact with these infected chickens subsequently became infected (23). In addition, the spread model assumes only one chicken is exposed to the virus; it is unknown how many chickens are exposed to the virus and over what time period in an Australian context. Therefore, in order for model validation to occur, sampling of commercial chickens to determine their level of exposure to LPAI must be performed.

The overall probabilities of spread are identical for shed-toshed and farm-to-farm spread for each farm type and pathotype (presented in **Table 2**), and this is due to the only difference being the specific pathways of spread which are represented in the last node of the scenario tree (**Figures 1** and **2**). The probabilities of LPAI spread between sheds and farms are highest in free range farms. As previously mentioned, the spread model incorporates the probability of LPAI infection after the first bird has been exposed, where this probability is higher after direct exposure compared to indirect exposure. As such, the higher probability of LPAI spread in free range farms is due to exposure of the exposed bird on these farms to more likely be via direct pathways. Among non-free-range farms, the probability of LPAI spread, although similar, is slightly higher in barn meat chicken farms compared to the indoor layer farm types, due to the higher threshold of detection and reporting of sick and dead chickens in meat chicken farms compared to layer farms. The higher threshold provides more opportunity for the virus to spread before it is detected. In contrast, the probability of HPAI spread in meat chicken farms is lower than that of layer farms due to the short-lived nature of meat chicken birds leading to a lower probability of mutation in meat chicken birds compared to layer birds. This is reflected in expert opinion answers which informed the mutation parameter and gave a higher probability of mutation for layer farms compared to meat chicken farms (22).

Relative comparisons of these results to other countries can only be made for countries with similar LPAI and HPAI situations such as Australia, i.e., countries in which LPAI and HPAI are not endemic in poultry and HPAI is not endemic in wild birds. Countries in which HPAI H5N1 is endemic in poultry include Bangladesh, China, Egypt, India, Indonesia, and Vietnam (39). Similarly, comparisons should only be made to those countries that have effective protocols setup to deal with positive detections to limit spread. In Australia, this is written in the Australian Veterinary Emergency Plan (AUSVETPLAN) for avian influenza, which was developed and agreed upon by government and the poultry industry. In the United Kingdom (UK) and United States of America (USA), similar protocols are written in the Notifiable Avian Influenza Disease Control Strategy and HPAI Response Plan (The Red Book), respectively TABLE 1 | Nodes, parameter estimates, and input values used for the partial consequence assessment estimating the probability of spread of Avian Influenza (AI) viruses from flocks on both layer and meat commercial chicken farms in Australia^a.

Node	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
Parameters that ap	oply to both LP	AI and HPAI spread		
1. Type of exposure	Direct Indirect	Probability that exposure to the virus is direct or indirect exposure based on results from the exposure scenario	Prob_Direct_Exposure Average of all direct exposure outputs from the three seasons of the respective farm type ^a exposure scenario trees. The following values (median; 5–95%) of <i>Prob_Direct_Exposure</i> for each farm type were:	Exposure section of this study (1)
		tree (Prob_Direct_Exposure;	Non-free range meat chicken (0.24; 0.095–0.47)	
		Prob_Indirect_Exposure)	Free range meat chicken (0.52; 0.28–0.76)	
			Cage layer (0.36; 0.14–0.60)	
			Barn layer (0.32; 0.10–0.59)	
			Free range layer (0.77; 0.60–0.86) Prob Indirect Exposure	
			1. Prob_Direct_Exposure	
2. Infection from	Yes	Probability of infection from	Probability of infection from intranasal inoculation (PrIntranasal)	Yao et al. (3),
direct exposure	No	direct exposure to AI virus in one chicken (<i>Prob_Infection_Direct</i>)	Average LPAI H5N2 viral titers in tracheal swabs of Mallard ducks was 10 ^{3.8} EID 50/ml over 6 days post inoculation	Selleck (23), Webster et al. (2
		Average of (probability of	26/26 chickens inoculated via intranasal route with 104.69 TCID 50/ml H9N2 LPAI became infected	
		infection from intranasal inoculation + probability of	16/18 chickens inoculated via intranasal route with 103.69 TCID 50/ml H9N2 LPAI became infected	
		infection from gastrointestinal inoculation + probability of	Therefore, 42 (s) of 46 (n) chickens become infected when inoculated via intranasal route with virus concentration similar to what is naturally excreted from upper respiratory tract from ducks	
		infection as a direct in-contact	PrIntranasal = Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) Probability of infection from gastrointestinal inoculation (PrGIT)	
		animal)	Average LPAI H5N2 viral titers in cloacal swabs of Mallard ducks was 10 ^{2.04} EID 50/ml over 5 days post inoculation	
			1/22 chickens inoculated via gastrointestinal route with 10 ^{2.69} TCID50/ml H9N2 LPAI became infected	
			In natural setting viral titers in duck feces will range considerably, therefore pert distribution used	
			PrGIT = Pert (0, 1/22, 1) Probability of infection as a direct in-contact animal (PrContact)	
			2 in-contact chickens placed directly in-contact with H5N2 LPAI infected chickens (n), 2 became infected (s) PrContact = Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) <i>Prob_Infection_Direct</i> = average (PrIntranasal; PrGIT; PrContact)	
 Infection from indirect 	Yes No	Probability of infection from indirect exposure to Al virus in one	Relative proportions of the following are taken by summing the two values and dividing each value by the sum:	Exposure sectio on this study (1)
exposure		chicken (<i>Prob_Infection_Indirect</i>) (Relative likelihood of aerosol	Average of all indirect exposure outputs via aerosol from the three seasons of the respective farm type ^a exposure scenario tree (PropAerosol)	Yao et al. (3), Jonges et al. (25
		exposure × Probability of infection from aerosol + Relative	Average of all other indirect exposure outputs from the three seasons of the respective farm type ^a exposure scenario tree (PropIndirect) <i>Probability of infection from aerosol</i> (PrAerosol)	
		likelihood of all other indirect	Assume virus concentration in air in realistic scenarios is very low from wild birds	
		exposure × Probability of infection from diluted gastrointestinal	0 (s) of 10 (n) chickens exposed to aerosol virus concentration of 10 ^{2.69} TCID50/ml H9N2 LPAI became infected	
		inoculation)	PrAerosol = Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) Probability of infection from gastrointestinal inoculation (PrGIT)	
			1/22 chickens inoculated via gastrointestinal route with 10 ^{2.69} TCID 50/ml H9N2 LPAI became infected	
			0/31 chickens inoculated via gastrointestinal route with 10 ^{1.69} TCID 50/ml H9N2 LPAI became infected	
			Therefore, 1 (s) of 53 (n) chickens become infected when inoculated via gastrointestinal route with diluted virus concentration	
			PrGIT = Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) Prob_Infection_Indirect = (PropAerosol × PrAerosol) + (PropIndirect × PrGIT)	

(Continued)

Avian Influenza Spread Risk Assessment

Node	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
 Low-pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) subtype can spread among chickens 	No	Probability that the H5/H7 subtype is a particular subtype that can spread among chickens once infected in an individual chicken (<i>Prob_Subtype_Spread</i>)	Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) 18 H5/H7 subtypes exist (n), nine have been recorded as AI outbreaks in chickens across the globe and therefore have the ability to spread (s)	FAO EMPRES-i (4)
5. Establishment of LPAI after infection in one chicken	Yes No	Probability that the virus will establish within the flock after infection in one chicken (Prob_Establishment)	Uniform (0.423,0.511) Derived from (1 – Probability of extinction) Probability of extinction of infection calculated with a Poisson branching process using a range of reproduction numbers (R) using real outbreak data	Barnes and Glass (26)
 LPAI subtype leads to clinical signs in chickens after infection 	Yes No	Probability that the LPAI subtype infected within the flock is a subtype that produces clinical signs in chickens (Prob_Subtype_CS)	Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) 52 H5/H7 virus subtypes, some repeated, have been inoculated in chickens (n), 24 caused clinical signs in chickens (s)	Spackman et al. (27), Spickler et al. (2)
 Proportion of chickens that show clinical signs from LPAI infection 	Yes No	Estimated proportion of chickens within a flock that show clinical signs after infected with a LPAI subtype capable of producing clinical signs (<i>Proportion_CS</i>)	Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) 23 chickens were inoculated with LPAI viruses of H5/H7 subtypes (n), 6 showed clinical signs (s)	Mo et al. (28), Jones and Swayne (29)
8. LPAI detection and reporting	Yes No	Probability that the farmer will report clinical signs of LPAI to appropriate officials (<i>Prob_LPAI_Detection</i>)	Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) Non-free range meat chicken farms: 50 answers reported from farmers of unusual signs in chickens (n), 31 answers linked to clinical signs caused by LPAI (s) Free range meat chicken farms: 58 answers reported from farmers of unusual signs in	Scott et al. (21), Scott et al. (8), Swayne (30)
			chickens (n), 35 answers linked to clinical signs caused by LPAI (s) Cage layer farms: 27 answers reported from farmers of unusual signs in chickens (n), 19 answers linked to clinical signs caused by LPAI (s)	
			Barn layer farms: 30 answers reported from farmers of unusual signs in chickens (n), 21 answers linked to clinical signs caused by LPAI (s)	
			Free range layer farms: 74 answers reported from farmers of unusual signs in chickens (n), 51 answers linked to clinical signs caused by LPAI (s)	
9. Mutation of LPAI to high- pathogenic avian influenza	Yes No	Probability that LPAI will mutate to HPAI (<i>Prob_Mutation</i>)	Results obtained from expert opinion workshop 10 experts responded using a 4-step elicitation process for all questions The question for this node was: "Imagine 100 sheds each of the following operation types where LPAI has recently been established. In how many of these sheds would LPAI mutate to HPAI?"	Singh et al. (22)
(HPAI)			This question was asked for each farm type. The following values (median; 5–95%) for each farm type (where the sum of the yes and no pathways was 1) were:	
			Non-free range meat chicken (0.068; 0–0.21) Free range meat chicken (0.068; 0–0.20)	
			Cage layer (0.49; 0.065–0.93)	
			Barn layer (0.29; 0.054–0.92) Free range layer (0.29; 0.057–0.92)	

Scott et al.

(Continued)

Avian Influenza Spread Risk Assessment

Node	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
Parameters that a	re specific to LI	-		
10. LPAI methods	Boots	Probability that LPAI will spread	Probability of LPAI spread via boots	Scott et al. (21);
shed to shed	Equipment Vermin	between sheds via the following pathways: boots, equipment,	Beta $(s + 1, n - s + 1)$ of farm answers (PrBoots)	Scott et al. (8); Achenbach and
	Aerosol	vermin, aerosol or pets	Non-free range meat chicken farms: 1/15 (s/n) answers did not use footbaths	Bowen (31);
	Pets	(Spread_LPAI_Boots; Spread_	Free range meat chicken farms: 1/15 (s/n) answers did not use footbaths	Nielsen et al. (32);
		LPAI_Equipment; Spread_LPAI_	Cage layer farms: 7/9 (s/n) answers did not use footbaths	Tiwari et al. (33);
		Vermin; Spread_LPAI_Aerosol;	Barn layer farms: 3/9 (s/n) answers did not use footbaths	Jonges et al. (25);
		Spread_LPAI_Animals)	Free range layer farms: 6/25 (s/n) answers did not use footbaths	Wood et al. (34)
			Probability of virus presence on boots in one day is 1 as survival is longer than one day on this material	
			$Spread_LPAI_Boots = (PrBoots) \times 1$	
			Probability of LPAI spread via equipment	
			Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) of farm answers (PrEquipment)	
			Non-free range meat chicken farms: 6/11 (s/n) answers do not clean equipment between sheds	
			Free range meat chicken farms: 9/9 (s/n) answers do not clean equipment between sheds	
			Cage layer farms: 7/7 (s/n) answers do not clean equipment between sheds	
			Barn layer farms: 6/7 (s/n) answers do not clean equipment between sheds	
			Free range layer farms: 2/23 (s/n) answers do not clean equipment between sheds	
			Probability of virus presence on equipment in one day is 1 as survival is longer than one day on this material	
			Spread_LPAI_Equipment = (PrEquipment) × 1	
			Probability of LPAI spread via vermin	
			Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) of farm answers (PrVermin)	
			Non-free range meat chicken farms: 24/30 (s/n) answers report vermin inside sheds	
			Free range meat chicken farms: 2/30 (s/n) answers report vermin inside sheds	
			Cage layer farms: 17/18 (s/n) answers report vermin inside sheds	
			Barn layer farms: 17/18 (s/n) answers report vermin inside sheds	
			Free range layer farms: 44/50 (s/n) answers report vermin inside sheds	
			Probability of virus presence/survival in vermin (SurvivalVermin):	
			Beta $(s + 1, n - s + 1)$	
			0/12 (s/n) LPAI inoculated rats and 73/171 (s/n) LPAI inoculated fly pools were positive on virus isolation	
			$Spread_LPAI_Vermin = (PrVermin) \times (SurvivalVermin)$	
			Probability of LPAI spread via aerosol	
			Beta $(s + 1, n - s + 1)$ of farm answers (PrAerosol)	
			Non-free range meat chicken farms: 15/15 (s/n) answers had sheds <60 m from each other	
			Free range meat chicken farms: 15/15 (s/n) answers had sheds < 60m from each other	
			Cage layer farms: 9/9 (s/n) answers had sheds <60 m from each other	
			Barn layer farms: 9/9 (s/n) answers had sheds <60 m from each other	
			Free range layer farms: 25/25 (s/n) answers had sheds <60 m from each other	
			Probability of virus presence/survival in air (SurvivalAerosol):	
			Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1)	
				(Continue

Scott et al.

51

Node	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
			0/9 (s/n) air samples tested at < 60m from LPAI infected chicken farms were positive for LPAI virus	
			$Spread_LPAI_Aerosol = (PrAerosol) \times (SurvivalAerosol)$	
			Probability of LPAI spread via animals	
			Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) of farm answers (PrAnimals)	
			Non-free range meat chicken farms: 0/15 (s/n) answers allow animals inside sheds	
			Free range meat chicken farms: 2/30 (s/n) answers allow animals inside sheds or range areas	
			Cage layer farms: 6/9 (s/n) answers allow animals inside sheds	
			Barn layer farms: 1/9 (s/n) answers allow animals inside sheds	
			Free range layer farms: 13/50 (s/n) answers allow animals inside sheds or range areas	
			Probability of virus presence on other animals in one day is 1 as virus survival is longer than one	
			day on other animals	
			$Spread_LPAI_Animals = (PrAnimals) \times 1$	
11. LPAI spread	Aerosol	Probability that LPAI will spread	Results obtained from expert opinion workshop	Singh et al. (22)
methods farm to farm	Infected wild bird	between farms via the following pathways: aerosol, infected	10 experts responded using a 4-step elicitation process for all questions	
to lam	Animals (vermin	wild bird going from one farm to	The question for this node was: "Imagine 100 LPAI established (farm type) ^c farms. Realistically how many of these will experience LPAI spread to at least one other chicken farm through each of the following pathways?"	
	and pets) Bird delivery	another, other animals including vermin and pets, new bird	The values for each pathway and farm type are present in the Supplementary Material	
	transport	delivery transport, bird pick up		
	Bird pick up	transport both live and dead,		
	transport (live	feed delivery transport, manure		
	and dead) Feed delivery	collection, farm workers, trades people such as electricians and		
	transport	plumbers, shared equipment		
	Manure	between farms, egg trays ^b , egg		
	collection	pallets ^b (<i>Farm_LPAI_Aerosol;</i>		
	Farm workers	Farm_LPAI_WB; Farm_LPAI_		
	Trades people Shared	Animals; Farm_LPAI_Delivery; Farm_LPAI_Pickup; Farm_LPAI_		
	equipment	Feed; Farm_LPAI_Manure;		
	Egg trays⁵	Farm_LPAI_Workers; Farm_		
	Egg pallets ^b	LPAI_Trades; Farm_LPAI_		
		Equipment; Farm_LPAI_Eggtray;		
_		Farm_LPAI_Eggpallet)		
Parameters that an	•	•		
12. HPAI clinical signs, detection	Yes No	Probability that clinical signs will be shown in chickens infected	Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) 52 abidrana wara inaculated with HDAL viruses of HZ subtyress (a). 53 abound elipical signs (a).	Selleck (23)
and reporting		with HPAI and the probability the	52 chickens were inoculated with HPAI viruses of H7 subtypes (n), 52 showed clinical signs (s)	
		farmer will detect and report the	Assume extremely high probability farmer will detect clinical signs of HPAI	
		disease to appropriate officials		
		(Prob_HPAI_Detection)		

(Continued)

52

Node	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
13. HPAI spread	Boots	Probability that HPAI will spread	Probability of HPAI spread via boots	Scott et al. (21),
methods shed	Equipment	between sheds via the following	Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) of farm answers (PrBoots)	Scott et al. (8),
to shed	Vermin	pathways: boots, equipment,	Non-free range meat chicken farms: 1/15 (s/n) answers did not use footbaths	Tiwari et al. (33),
	Aerosol Pets	vermin, aerosol or pets (Spread_HPAI_Boots; Spread_	Free range meat chicken farms: 1/15 (s/n) answers did not use footbaths	Wood et al. (34), Sawabe et al. (35),
	1 613	HPAI_Equipment; Spread_HPAI_	Cage layer farms: 7/9 (s/n) answers did not use footbaths	Nettles et al. (36),
		Vermin; Spread_HPAI_Aerosol;	Barn layer farms: 3/9 (s/n) answers did not use footbaths	McCluskey (37)
		Spread_HPAI_Animals)	Free range layer farms: 6/25 (s/n) answers did not use footbaths	
			Probability of virus presence on boots in one day is 1 as survival is longer than 1 day on this material	
			Spread_HPAI_Boots = (PrBoots) × 1	
			Probability of HPAI spread via equipment	
			Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) of farm answers (PrEquipment)	
			Non-free range meat chicken farms: 6/1 (s/n)1 answers do not clean equipment between sheds	
			Free range meat chicken farms: 9/9 (s/n) answers do not clean equipment between sheds	
			Cage layer farms: 7/7 (s/n) answers do not clean equipment between sheds	
			Barn layer farms: 6/7 (s/n) answers do not clean equipment between sheds	
			Free range layer farms: 2/23 (s/n) answers do not clean equipment between sheds	
			Probability of virus presence on equipment in one day is 1 as survival is longer than one day on this material	
			$Spread_HPAI_Equipment = (PrEquipment) \times 1$	
			Probability of HPAI spread via vermin Beta (s + 1, n – s + 1) of farm answers (PrVermin)	
			Non-free range meat chicken farms: 24/30 (s/n) answers report vermin inside sheds	
			Free range meat chicken farms: 2/30 (s/n) answers report vermin inside sheds	
			Cage layer farms: 17/18 (s/n) answers report vermin inside sheds	
			Barn layer farms: 17/18 (s/n) answers report vermin inside sheds	
			Free range layer farms: 44/50 (s/n) answers report vermin inside sheds	
			Probability of virus presence/survival in vermin (SurvivalVermin):	
			Beta $(s + 1, n - s + 1)$	
			0/516 (s/n) HPAI exposed rats and 41/59 (s/n) HPAI inoculated flies were positive on virus isolation	
			$Spread_HPAI_Vermin = (PrVermin) \times (SurvivalVermin)$	
			Probability of HPAI spread via aerosol	
			Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) of farm answers (PrAerosol)	
			Non-free range meat chicken farms: 15/15 (s/n) answers had sheds <150 m from each other	
			Free range meat chicken farms: 15/15 (s/n) answers had sheds <150 m from each other	
			Cage layer farms: 9/9 (s/n) answers had sheds <150 m from each other	
			Barn layer farms: 9/9 (s/n) answers had sheds <150 m from each other	
			Free range layer farms: 25/25 answers had sheds <150 m from each other	
			Probability of virus presence/survival in air (SurvivalAerosol):	
			Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1)	
			22/90 (s/n) air samples tested at <60 m from HPAI infected chicken farms were positive for HPAI virus	
			Spread_HPAI_Aerosol = (PrAerosol) \times (SurvivalAerosol)	
			Probability of HPAI spread via animals	

Scott et al.

(Continued)

Node	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
			Beta (s + 1, n – s + 1) of farm answers (PrAnimals)	
			Non-free range meat chicken farms: 0/15 (s/n) answers allow animals inside sheds	
			Free range meat chicken farms: 2/30 (s/n) answers allow animals inside sheds	
			Cage layer farms: 6/9 (s/n) answers allow animals inside sheds	
			Barn layer farms: 1/9 (s/n) answers allow animals inside sheds	
			Free range layer farms: 13/50 (s/n) answers allow animals inside sheds	
			Probability of virus presence on other animals in one day is 1 as virus survival is longer than one day on other animals	
			<i>Spread_HPAI_Animals</i> = (PrAnimals) × 1	
14. HPAI spread methods farm to farm	Aerosol Infected wild bird Animals (vermin and pets) Bird delivery transport Bird pick up transport (live and dead) Feed delivery transport Manure collection Farm workers Trades people Shared equipment Egg trays ^b Egg pallets ^b	Probability that HPAI will spread between farms via the following pathways: aerosol, infected wild bird going from one farm to another, other animals including vermin and pets, new bird delivery transport, bird pick up transport both live and dead, feed delivery transport, manure collection, farm workers, trades people such as electricians and plumbers, shared equipment between farms, egg trays ^b , egg pallets ^b (<i>Farm_</i> <i>HPAI_Aerosol; Farm_HPAI_WB;</i> <i>Farm_HPAI_Animals; Farm_HPAI_</i> <i>Delivery; Farm_HPAI_Pickup;</i> <i>Farm_HPAI_Feed; Farm_HPAI_</i> <i>Manure; Farm_HPAI_Workers;</i> <i>Farm_HPAI_Trades; Farm_HPAI_</i> <i>Equipment; Farm_HPAI_Eggtray;</i> <i>Farm_HPAI_Eggpallet</i>)	Results obtained from expert opinion workshop 10 experts responded using a four-step elicitation process for all questions The question for this node was: "Imagine 100 HPAI established (farm type) ^c farms. Realistically how many of these will experience HPAI spread to at least one other chicken farm through each of the following pathways?" The values for each pathway and farm type are present in the Supplementary Material	Singh et al. (22)

^aA spread scenario tree was performed for all farm types; non-free range meat chicken, free range meat chicken, cage layer, barn layer and free range layer. ^bThese pathways applied to layer farms only; cage layer, barn layer, and free range layer.

°This question was asked for each farm type.

Avian Influenza Spread Risk Assessment

TABLE 2 | Median (5 and 95 percentiles) probabilities of no establishment and of low-pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) and high-pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) spread and limited spread between sheds and farms for the commercial chicken farm types (barn meat chicken, free range meat chicken, cage layer, barn layer, and free range layer) after exposure of one chicken to LPAI from one wild bird in Australia.

Farm type	Median	5%	95%	F statistic (degrees of freedom);P-value
No establishment				
Barn meat chicken	0.96	0.92	0.98	F(4,4995) = 990.03; < 0.0001
Free range meat chicken	0.92	0.86	0.96	
Cage layer	0.94	0.89	0.97	
Barn layer	0.95	0.9	0.98	
Free range layer	0.89	0.83	0.93	
Probability of LPAI spread				
Barn meat chicken	0.037	0.015	0.073	F(4,4995) = 490.61; < 0.0001
Free range meat chicken	0.068	0.033	0.12	
Cage layer	0.027	0.0031	0.079	
Barn layer	0.026	0.003	0.071	
Free range layer	0.059	0.0071	0.12	
Probability of HPAI spread				
Barn meat chicken	2.47×10^{-5}	0	0.00025	F(4,4995) = 164.01; < 0.0001
Free range meat chicken	4.60×10^{-5}	0	0.00043	
Cage layer	0.00022	1.01×10^{-5}	0.0019	
Barn layer	0.00017	7.33×10^{-6}	0.0016	
Free range layer	0.00037	1.68×10^{-5}	0.0031	
Probability of limited LPAI sprea	ad			
Barn meat chicken	0.0032	0.0011	0.008	F(4,4995) = 515.67; < 0.0001
Free range meat chicken	0.0058	0.0022	0.013	
Cage layer	0.0048	0.0017	0.012	
Barn layer	0.0044	0.0015	0.011	
Free range layer	0.0092	0.004	0.019	
Probability of limited HPAI spre	ad			
Barn meat chicken	0.0044	0.0012	0.013	F(4,4995) = 624.38; < 0.0001
Free range meat chicken	0.0084	0.0025	0.022	· · · ·
Cage layer	0.021	0.0044	0.068	
Barn layer	0.016	0.0035	0.063	
Free range layer	0.034	0.0087	0.11	

(40–42). The UK experienced 11 HPAI outbreaks since 2006, all of which were effectively eradicated by destroying all birds on infected premises, comparable to the results of this study which indicate limited HPAI spread to occur more often than HPAI spread (43). However, the USA has experienced more extensive HPAI outbreaks involving dozens of farms, which cost over hundreds of millions of dollars to effectively eradicate. These include the HPAI outbreaks that occurred in Pennsylvania in 1983 and 1984, and the more recent HPAI outbreaks since 2014 that affected more than 10 USA states (44, 45). Suggested factors influencing these extensive HPAI outbreaks in the USA include poor biosecurity between farms, and high levels of exposure to AI virus in poultry farms in general, leading to numerous separate introduction and infection events in addition to spread between sheds and between farms (37).

The Probability of Spread and the Probability of Limited Spread

The spread models revealed that for all farm types, the probability of LPAI spread is greater than the probability of limited LPAI spread. This is because detection and reporting is less likely to occur following LPAI establishment and so control measures are less likely to put into place that will limit LPAI spread. In contrast, the spread models indicate that limited HPAI spread is more likely to occur than HPAI spread due to the high probability farmers will detect and report the changes in morbidity and mortality that follow HPAI establishment in a chicken flock. In general, there is limited information to determine if shed-toshed spread has occurred on Australian LPAI-infected farms. There is evidence that shed-to-shed spread may have occurred on two farms; specifically chickens in several sheds on one farm were seropositive to LPAI H6N2 in 2006 and LPAI H9N2 was detected in three sheds on a turkey farm in 2012 (46). However, it is also possible that independent introductions and infections occurred on the sheds of these farms instead of spread between sheds. There has only been one incursion to date with evidence of farm-to-farm LPAI spread in Australia; investigation of the 2012 H9N2 incursion identified a second infected turkey farm during trace back surveillance from the first turkey farm. This second turkey farm showed no clinical signs or increased mortality (14). As mentioned, it is very likely that LPAI detections in Australia are underreported due to these being non-clinical LPAI infections which provides credibility to the outputs of the spread model; that the probability of LPAI spread is greater than that of limited LPAI spread.

Most farms in Australia in which HPAI occurred had the virus spread to other sheds within the farm. However, all outbreaks



were effectively controlled via the stamping out procedure and resulting in limited farm-to-farm spread (12, 47, 48). It is likely that the outputs of the spread model which indicate that the probability of HPAI spread is lower than that of limited HPAI spread reflect what has been experienced in Australia; this is easily seen with the farm-to-farm spread model.

The Different Pathways of Spread

The different pathways of LPAI and HPAI spread between sheds have differing probabilities. For LPAI spread between sheds, equipment and vermin were the most likely pathways and aerosol was the least likely pathway. For HPAI spread between sheds, equipment and boots were the most likely pathways and vermin was the least likely pathway. This is largely due to differences in the survival or detection of the virus reported in the literature relevant to these different pathways. LPAI spread via aerosol is regarded as an unlikely pathway in the literature, but detections of HPAI in air samples have been relatively frequently reported, particularly during the 2015 HPAI outbreaks in USA (25, 37). This is likely due to the higher levels of viral replication that occurs in the respiratory tract of birds with HPAI infection compared to LPAI infection (5). The relatively low probability of HPAI spread between sheds via vermin estimated in this study is likely due to how the input parameters in relation to this pathway were calculated. The input parameters were based on several studies where no virus isolation was obtained after exposure of vermin to AI viruses. It is generally been concluded that mice and rats do not play significant roles in the spread of AI virus but insects may (31, 32). In a study where a large number (n = 516) of samples were taken from rodents exposed to HPAI, no positive virus isolations were obtained (36). Similarly, a study where 12 rodents were inoculated with LPAI, no positive virus isolations

were identified (31). The feeding of flies with LPAI and HPAI resulted in lower proportions of positive virus isolations from flies fed HPAI compared to LPAI (32, 35). The pathway of shed-to-shed spread via vermin is possibly more significant for LPAI than HPAI.

When considering the results of this study, it must be remembered that the volume and frequency of the different spread pathways between both sheds and farms were not explicitly incorporated in the spread model. For shed-to-shed spread, these pathways were estimated using farm survey data in combination with scientific literature. The farm survey data were used to determine the proportion of farms that would perform or have specific practices or pathways for each farm type and scientific literature was used to determine the probability of survival of the virus on these pathways. It is known that there is a high frequency of daily movements between sheds and if incorporated in the model, may indicate that HPAI spread between sheds is more likely than limited HPAI spread which would actually explain the high incidence of HPAI spread between sheds on farms affected by HPAI outbreaks in Australia (12, 47, 48). This contrasts with the farm-to-farm spread pathways which were informed by expert opinion due to the lack of information in relation to these pathways. Expert understanding and answers of parameters influencing spread by each pathway can be assumed to have included consideration of the volume and frequency of occurrence and the survival of the virus for each pathway.

The output probabilities from the farm-to-farm spread model on the differing pathways of spread largely reflect the expert opinion answers where relatively higher probabilities of farm-to-farm spread were given to pickup trucks, egg trays, and egg pallets. These comparisons can be made from the model output results in **Table 2** and the values in the Supplementary Material derived from expert opinion that were used to inform the pathways between farms (22). Expert estimates were largely influenced by the previous Australian HPAI outbreaks. An epidemiological investigation of the 2013 HPAI outbreak in Young, NSW suggested that the most likely route of spread of this virus to another farm was the contamination of cardboard egg trays (18). Similarly, a dead bird pick-up vehicle which visited multiple farms was the only identifiable link between farms that were affected by the 1997 HPAI outbreak in Tamworth, NSW (17). This compares with an expert opinion elicitation workshop published in 2011, which estimated the probability of HPAI spread between poultry farms to inform models simulating the transmission and control of HPAI epidemics in the Australian poultry industries. The results of this workshop showed that meat chicken pick up crews followed by slaughter crews, manure collection, and cardboard egg trays were rated as the most likely probabilities of transmission between farms (49). Differences observed between the two expert elicitations could be due to the time difference, as the 2012 and 2013 HPAI outbreaks had not yet occurred when the first expert elicitation was conducted.

Spread Sensitivity Analysis

There were no differences in values or trends on the spread sensitivity analyses of spread between sheds and spread between farms due to the identical structures of the models as described previously. The analyses revealed that the probability of establishment was an important influential parameter on the probability of LPAI and HPAI spread, as well as the probability of mutation on HPAI spread. Although influential, these parameters depend on virus properties and as such cannot be changed by human intervention, and there are large uncertainties associated with these mechanisms (50). Mutation from LPAI to HPAI has particularly large unknowns regarding its probability. A recent review of 42 HPAI outbreaks from 1959 to 2016, most of which involved chickens and turkeys as the initial species, concluded that emergence of HPAI can vary from a few days to a couple of years. It also considered that factors such as poultry age, size of the index farm, and type of farm management do not appear to contribute significantly to HPAI emergence (51). The expert opinion workshop also demonstrated very different estimated probabilities for mutation among the experts (22). The variation of R, which was used to estimate the probability of establishment





FIGURE 4 | Average median (5 and 95 percentiles) probabilities of low-pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) and high-pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) spread pathways between sheds and farms of the commercial chicken farm types (barn meat chicken, free range meat chicken, cage layer, barn layer, free range layer) after one chicken is exposed to LPAI in Australia. (A) Average median probabilities of LPAI spread pathways between sheds. Spread LPAI Boots, Probability that shed-toshed spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of boots; Spread_LPAI_Equipment, Probability that shed-to-shed spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of equipment; Spread_LPAI_Vermin, Probability that shed-to-shed spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of vermin such as rats and insects; Spread_LPAI_ Aerosol, Probability that shed-to-shed spread of LPAI will occur via aerosol; Spread_LPAI_Animals, Probability that shed-to-shed spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of other animals including farm cats and dogs. (B) Average median probabilities of HPAI spread pathways between sheds. Spread_HPAI_Boots, Probability that shed-to-shed spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of boots; Spread_HPAI_Equipment, Probability that shed-to-shed spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of equipment; Spread_HPAI_Vermin, Probability that shed-to-shed spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of vermin such as rats and insects; Spread_HPAI_Aerosol, Probability that shed-to-shed spread of HPAI will occur via aerosol; Spread_HPAI_Animals, Probability that shed-to-shed spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of other animals including farm cats and dogs. (C) Average median probabilities of LPAI spread pathways between farms. Farm_LPAI_ Equipment, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of equipment; Farm_LPAI_Aerosol, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via aerosol; Farm_LPAI_Animals, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of animals including both farm cats and dogs and vermin: Farm LPAI WB. Probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of wild birds; Farm LPAI Delivery, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of bird delivery transport vehicles; Farm_LPAI_Pickup, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of dead and live bird pick up vehicles; Farm_LPAI_Feed, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of feed delivery vehicles; Farm_LPAI_Manure, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of manure collection systems; Farm_LPAI_Workers, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of farm workers; Farm_LPAI_Tradesmen, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of tradesmen such as plumbers and electricians; Farm_LPAI_Eggtray, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of egg trays; Farm_LPAI_Eggpallet, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of LPAI will occur via the movement of egg pallets. (D) Average median probabilities of HPAI spread pathways between farms. Farm_HPAI_Equipment, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of equipment; Farm_HPAI_Aerosol, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via aerosol; Farm_HPAI_Animals, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of animals including both farm cats and dogs and vermin; Farm_HPAI_WB, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of wild birds: Farm_HPAI_Delivery, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of bird delivery transport vehicles; Farm_HPAI_Pickup, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of dead and live bird pick up vehicles; Farm_HPAI_Feed, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of feed delivery vehicles; Farm_HPAI_Manure, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of manure collection systems; Farm_HPAI_Workers, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of farm workers; Farm_HPAI_Tradesmen, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of tradesmen such as plumbers and electricians; Farm_HPAI_Eggtray, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of egg trays; Farm_HPAI_Eggpallet, Probability that farm-to-farm spread of HPAI will occur via the movement of egg pallets.

in the current study, is significant in previous literature, even within the same pathotype and subtype (49, 52, 53). As there is insufficient knowledge about mutation at present to in any way alter the likelihood of its occurrence, the control of LPAI and HPAI spread is therefore mainly reliant on on-farm biosecurity actions.

The detection and reporting parameters were found not to be a significantly influential parameter on the probability of LPAI and HPAI spread. This is supported by modeling work of Barnes and Glass (26), which demonstrated a high probability that a second shed is already infected with HPAI by the time initial infection is detected and reported using typical daily and weekly mortality rates for all farm types. In addition, the index formula described above used to calculate the number of days from infection in the first chicken to establishment, detection and reporting of LPAI also supports the small influence of detection, and reporting on the overall probability of spread. This formula revealed a long time period of at least 70 days for all farm types; within this time period, it is very possible that spread has already occurred to other sheds or farms due to the high level of movements between sheds and farms on all farm types (54, 55). This compares with

previous modeling studies which revealed the high significance of detection and reporting in limiting spread of an AI outbreak. However, these studies assessed different but related factors to detection and reporting; including the impact of changing the detection threshold, performing frequent sampling of farms considered high risk, and ensuring prompt action after detection. In contrast, this study assumed a relatively fixed detection threshold based on farmer answers on unusual clinical signs, and therefore the changing parameter in the sensitivity analysis is simply a change in the proportion of farms that will detect and report at this relatively fixed detection threshold. Considerations to further evaluate the significance of detection and reporting are therefore described below.

The spread pathways on the scenario tree models were complementary to each other where the sum of all LPAI or HPAI spread pathway probabilities of one scenario tree model was one. Therefore, the spread sensitivity analysis could not accurately portray the effects of changing one spread pathway as this would result in complementary changes to the other spread pathways; each spread pathway had the same influence on the probability of spread. This was depicted as "*Prob_PathwaySpread*" which





FIGURE 5 | Results of the sensitivity analysis on the spread assessment depicting the change in probability (Y-axis) on the median overall probability of low-pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) or high-pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) spread (horizontal line) between sheds on a commercial poultry farm and between commercial poultry farms after exposure of one chicken to low-pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) virus from wild birds in Australia with changes of certain input variables listed in Table 1 (X-axis). Results were obtained from a simulation of 1,000 iterations using @Risk's Advanced Sensitivity Analysis. The outcomes were similar in proportional increase in value among all farm types so only one example of a meat chicken or layer farm type per LPAI (A,B) or HPAI (C,D) spread between sheds and farms was used. (A) Sensitivity analysis on input parameters affecting the probability of LPAI spread between sheds and farms on free range layer farm types.
(C) Sensitivity analysis on input parameters affecting the probability of HPAI spread between sheds and farms on free range layer farm types.
(D) Sensitivity analysis on input parameters affecting the probability of HPAI spread between sheds and farms on free range layer farm types.
(C) Sensitivity analysis on input parameters affecting the probability of HPAI spread between sheds and farms on barn meat chicken farm types.
(D) Sensitivity analysis on input parameters affecting the probability of HPAI spread between sheds and farms on barn meat chicken farm types.
(D) Sensitivity analysis on input parameters affecting the probability of HPAI spread between sheds and farms on barn meat chicken farm types.
(D) Sensitivity analysis on input parameters affecting the probability of HPAI spread between sheds and farms on barn meat chicken farm types.
(D) Sensitivity analysis on input parameters affecting the probability of HPAI spread between sheds and farms on cage layer farm types.
(D) S

represented changing the probability of any one spread pathway and the complementary changes to the probabilities of the other spread pathways. Increasing any spread pathway to 100%, which results in 0% probability of all other spread pathways, resulted in approximate doubling of the overall median probability of either LPAI or HPAI spread. This means if the probability of any pathway is certain to occur, and all other pathways are certain not to occur, the probability of either LPAI or HPAI spread is approximately doubled. In reality all other spread pathways will have a probability greater than zero of occurring. It is therefore expected that in a model where such pathways are not complementary to each other, the cumulative effect of increasing the probabilities of each individual pathway will result in greater than doubling the overall probability of LPAI or HPAI spread. The spread pathways are therefore significant influential parameters on the overall probability of spread and are dependent on biosecurity on the farm. Other highly influential parameters in the spread model such as the probability of establishment and mutation are dependent on the mechanisms of the virus and cannot be changed by human intervention. The importance of improving biosecurity on farms in order to reduce the probability of spread is therefore stressed from these results.

Other Considerations

These results show the large influence people who are not farm workers but regularly visit the farm have on the probability of spread. Such people include egg pallet and tray collectors and bird pick up crews. Consultation among different industry bodies is important to emphasize shared responsibility and agreement to biosecurity codes and guidelines. Further training for both farm workers and people who visit farms in regard to the importance of biosecurity is always beneficial. The integrated nature of the Australian chicken meat industry by a small number of companies allows for this shared responsibility and relative ease of communication across a range of networks. However, this may well be lacking in the Australian layer sector due to the nature of this industry which has a high level of numerous, privately owned farms (55). As new information arises related to the volume and frequency of spread pathways that occur in the Australian commercial chicken industry, as well as further information on the behavior and mechanisms of the AI virus, these can be used to update the input parameters in the spread scenario tree models.

Detection and reporting was not highly influential in this model as this node simply represented the proportion of farms that would detect or report at a relatively fixed detection threshold. However, this study did indicate that spread between sheds is likely to have already occurred before detection. Other factors related to detection and reporting were not assessed and should be considered for future studies, particularly for high-risk farms. These include those factors assessed in previous modeling studies such as; the impact of lowering the detection threshold, frequent sampling of farms considered high risk, and ensuring prompt action after detection (9-11). Frequent sampling can improve knowledge of LPAI transmission which has been demonstrated to be largely unknown in this study particularly in the Australian context. AI surveillance in poultry in Australia is currently not supported by the industry due to the consequences outlined in the AUSVETPLAN associated with H5 or H7 detections (56). Performance of surveillance in some form, such as sampling sentinel flocks or poultry at slaughter and processing should be considered for the Australian poultry industry (38).

Given this model considers and follows the probabilities of exposure quantified by Scott et al. (1), the probabilities estimated in this study can be considered representative for the same region as that of Scott et al. (1); the Sydney basin region. Extrapolating these results to other regions, poultry species or non-commercial chicken farms must be done with caution as differences in the probabilities of exposure may exist. However, the framework of this model can be used to aid in the development of similar risk assessment models for these different farms.

CONCLUSION

This study indicates that the probability of no establishment is the most likely end-point after exposure and infection of LPAI in one chicken. Nodes linked to attributes of the virus, such as the probability of establishment and the probability of mutation, were the most influential factors impacting the probability of LPAI and HPAI spread, respectively. While these cannot be changed by human intervention, some on-farm actions can be performed to potentially reduce the probability of spread. Biosecurity and cleanliness on farms, with particular attention to equipment and egg trays between sheds and farms, respectively, as these were found as the most likely spread pathways, will reduce the probability of spread. The results of this study and that of the exposure risk assessment in Scott et al. (1) help estimate the overall probability of spread and spread pathways of LPAI and HPAI in Australian commercial chicken enterprises. The results also provide guidance to the Australian commercial chicken industry on the importance of farm workers and people who regularly visit farms in performing biosecurity practices, as this is part of a shared responsibility in safeguarding the industry against AI.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Human Ethics Committee of the University of Sydney, Australia with written informed consent from all subjects. The protocol was approved by the the Human Ethics Committee of the University of Sydney, Australia (ethics reference number: 2015/252).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The first author AS was involved with investigation, methodology, writing of the original draft and reviewing and editing. J-AT formed initial conceptualization of the study, and was involved with formal analysis, methodology, project administration, supervision of AS, and reviewing and editing the manuscript. MS was also involved in investigation, methodology, project administration, supervision of AS, and reviewing and editing the manuscript. BB and KG were also involved with initial conceptualization of the study, formal analysis, methodology and provided reviewing and editing. BM, AB and PG were involved with conceptualization, project administration funding/support of the study. PG also provided methodology and supervision. BM provided reviewing and editing. MH-J was heavily involved in formal analysis of the results, conceptualization of the study, methodology, project administration, supervision of AS, and reviewing and editing the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors extend thanks to the New South Wales Department of Primary Industries, the University of Newcastle and the National Avian Influenza Wild Birds Surveillance Program, which is funded by the Australian Government Department of Agriculture and Water Resources and is administered by Wildlife Health Australia for their collaboration in providing wild bird LPAI virus prevalence data that was used in the exposure model. The New South Wales Department of Primary Industries (NSW DPI) is also appreciated for providing data on actual AI outbreaks that occurred in NSW. Australia, which were used for the branching process and spread scenario tree models. Thanks also to the Australian Animal Health Laboratory for providing experimental data on LPAI infections in chickens. The authors also appreciate the experts who attended and completed the expert opinion workshop, of which this data was also used in the spread scenario tree model. Egg and chicken meat companies and producers are also appreciated by the authors for their participation in the farm survey. This research was conducted within the Poultry Cooperative Research Centre (CRC) with support from the CRC and Woolworths Limited. The first author is also a recipient of a Post-graduate Scholarship from the Poultry CRC.

REFERENCES

- Scott AB, Toribio J-A, Singh M, Groves P, Barnes B, Glass K, et al. Low pathogenic avian influenza exposure risk assessment in Australian commercial chicken farms. *Front Vet Sci* (2018) 5:68. doi:10.3389/fvets.2018.00068
- Spickler AR, Trampel DW, Roth JA. The onset of virus shedding and clinical signs in chickens infected with high-pathogenicity and low-pathogenicity avian influenza viruses. *Avian Pathol* (2008) 37(6):555–77. doi:10.1080/ 03079450802499118
- Yao M, Lv J, Huang R, Yang Y, Chai T. Determination of infective dose of H9N2 avian influenza virus in different routes: aerosol, intranasal, and gastrointestinal. *Intervirology* (2014) 57:369–74. doi:10.1159/000365925
- FAO EMPRES-i. Disease Events (2016). Available from: http://empres-i.fao. org/eipws3g/. Accessed April 18, 2016.
- Swayne D, Pantin-Jackwood M. Pathobiology of Avian Influenza Virus Infections in birds and mammals. In: Swayne D, editor. *Avian Influenza*. Iowa, USA: Blackwell Publishing (2009). p. 87–122.
- Dorea F, Vieira A, Hofacre C, Waldrip D, Cole D. Stoachastic model of the potential spread of highly pathogenic avian influenza from an infected commercial broiler operation in Georgia. *Avian Dis* (2010) 53(s1):713–9. doi:10.1637/8706-031609-ResNote.1
- Ssematimba A, Hagenaars T, de Wit J, Ruiterkamp F, Fabri T, Stegeman J, et al. Avian influenza transmission risks: analysis of biosecurity measures and contact structure in Dutch poultry farming. *Prev Vet Med* (2013) 109(1–2):106–15. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2012.09.001
- 8. Scott AB. Avian Influenza Risk Assessment for the Australian Commercial Chicken Industry. PhD Thesis. Sydney: University of Sydney (2018).
- Comin A, Stegeman A, Marangon S, Klinkenberg D. Evaluating surveillance strategies for the early detection of low pathogenicity avian influenza infections. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(4):e35956. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0035956
- Weaver J, Malladi S, Goldsmith T, Hueston W, Hennessey M, Lee B, et al. Impact of virus strain characteristics on early detection of highly pathogenic avian influenza infection in commercial table-egg layer flocks and implications for outbreak control. *Avian Dis* (2012) 56(4s1):905–12. doi:10.1637/10189-041012-Reg.1
- Gonzales J, Boender G, Elbers AR, Stegeman J, de Koeijer A. Risk based surveillance for early detection of low pathogenic avian influenza outbreaks in layer chickens. *Prev Vet Med* (2014) 117(1):251–9. doi:10.1016/j. prevetmed.2014.08.015
- Sims LD, Turner AJ. Avian influenza in Australia. In: Swayne D, editor. Avian Influenza. Iowa, USA: Blackwell Publishing (2009). p. 239–50.
- Brown I, Abolnik C, Gracia-Gracia J, McCullough S, Swayne DE, Cattoli G. High-pathogenicity avian influenza outbreaks since 2008, excluding multi-continental panzootic of H5 Goose/Guangdong-lineage viruses. In: Swayne D, editor. *Animal Influenza*. Iowa, USA: Blackwell Publishing (2016). p. 248–70.
- 14. Arzey G. Low pathogenic avian influenza in Australia and implications. Proceedings of the Australasian Veterinary Poultry Association (AVPA) Scientific Meeting. Sydney (2013).
- AVCO. Detection of Low Pathogenic (LP) and Highly Pathogenic (HP) Avian Influenza Virus (AIV) in Flocks of Layers, Breeders and Meat Birds in Australia. Canberra, ACT: Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Poultry Cooperative Research Centre (CRC) (Sub-project number 1.5.7) and by Woolworths Limited. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, or preparation of the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2018.00063/ full#supplementary-material.

Legislation Committee (2015). Available from: https://www.aph.gov.au/~/ media/Committees/rrat_ctte/estimates/bud_1516/ag/answers/QoN62-64. pdf (Accessed: September 1, 2017).

- Singh M, Ruhnke I, Koning CD, Glatz PC. Demographics and practices of semi-intesnive free-range farming systems in Australia with an outdoor stocking density of ≤1500 hens/hectare. *PLoS One* (2017) 12(10):e0187057. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0187057
- Selleck P, Arzey G, Kirkland P, Reece R, Gould A, Daniels P, et al. An outbreak of highly pathogenic avian influenza in Australia in 1997 caused by an H7N4 virus. *Avian Dis* (2002) 47:806–11. doi:10.1637/0005-2086-47.s3.806
- Roth I. Avian influenza outbreak in young a synopsis. Proceedings of the Australasian Veterinary Poultry Association (AVPA) Scientific Meeting. Gold Coast, Qld (2014).
- OIE. Chapter 2.1. Import Risk Analysis. In: OIE, editor. *Terrestrial Animal Health Code*. 20th ed. Paris: OIE (2011). Available from: https://www.oie.int/doc/ged/D10905.PDF (Accessed: June 15, 2017).
- Martin P, Cameron A, Greiner M. Demonstrating freedom from disease using multiple complex data sources 1: a new methodology based on scenario trees. *Prev Vet Med* (2007) 79:71–97. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2006.09.007
- Scott AB, Singh M, Groves P, Hernandez-Jover M, Barnes B, Moloney KGB, et al. Comparisons of management practices and farm design on Australian commercial layer and meat chicken farms: cage, barn and free range. *PLoS One* (2017) 12(11):e0188505. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0188505
- 22. Singh M, Toribio J-A, Scott A, Groves P, Barnes B, Glass K, et al. Assessing the probability of introduction and spread of Avian Influenza (AI) virus in commercial Australian poultry operations using an expert opinion elicitation. *PLoS One* (2018) 13(3):e0193730. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0193730
- 23. Selleck P. AAHL AI Experiments Internal Report. Geelong: AAHL (2015).
- Webster R, Yakhno M, Hinshaw V, Bean W, Murti KG. Intestinal influenza: replication and characterisation of influenza viruses in ducks. *Virology* (1976) 84:268–78. doi:10.1016/0042-6822(78)90247-7
- Jonges M, Leuken JV, Wouters I, Koch G, Meijer A, Koopmans M. Windmediated spread of low pathogenic avian influenza virus into the environment during outbreaks at commercial poultry farms. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(5):e0125401. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0125401
- 26. Barnes B, Glass K. Modelling Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza Introduction into the Commercial Poultry Industry (2018).
- Spackman E, Gelb J, Preskenis LA, Ladman BS, Pope CR, Pantin-Jackwood MJ, et al. The pathogenesis of low pathogenicity H7 avian influenza viruses in chickens, ducks and turkeys. *Virol J* (2010) 7:331. doi:10.1186/1743-422X-7-331
- Mo I, Brugh M, Fletcher O, Rowland G, Swayne D. Comparative pathology of chickens experimentally inoculated with avian influenza viruses of low and high pathogenicity. *Avian Dis* (1997) 41:125–36. doi:10.2307/1592452
- Jones YL, Swayne DE. Comparative pathobiology of low and high pathogenicity H7N2 Chilean avian influenza viruses in chickens. *Avian Dis* (2004) 48:119–28. doi:10.1637/7080
- 30. Swayne DE. Avian Influenza. Iowa, USA: Blackwell Publishing (2008).
- Achenbach JE, Bowen RA. Transmission of avian influenza A viruses among species in an artificial barnyard. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(3):e17643. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0017643
- Nielsen AA, Sovgard H, Stockmarr A, Handberg KJ, Jorgensen PH. Persistence of low-pathogenic avian influenza H5N7 and H7N1 subtypes in house flies

(Diptera: Muscidae). J Med Entomol (2011) 48(3):608-14. doi:10.1603/ ME11017

- Tiwari A, Patnayak DP, Chander Y, Parsad M, Goyal SM. Survival of two avian respiratory viruses on porous and nonporous surfaces. *Avian Dis* (2006) 50(2):284–7. doi:10.1637/7453-101205R.1
- Wood J, Choi Y, Chappie D, Rogers J, Kaye J. Environmental persistence of a highly pathogenic avian influenza (H5N1) virus. *Environ Sci Technol* (2010) 44:7515–20. doi:10.1021/es1016153
- Sawabe K, Tanabayashi K, Hotta A, Hoshino K, Isawa H, Sasaki T, et al. Survival of Avian H5N1 influenza A viruses in *Calliphora nigribarbis* (Diptera: Calliphoridae). J Med Entomol (2009) 46(4):852–5. doi:10.1603/033.046.0416
- Nettles VF, Wood JM, Webster RG. Wildlife surveillance associated with an outbreak of lethal H5N2 avian influenza in domestic poultry. *Avian Dis* (1985) 29(3):733–41. doi:10.2307/1590665
- McCluskey BJ. In: United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), editor. *Epidemiologic and Other Analyses of HPAI-Affected Poultry Flocks: July 15,* 2015 Report. Colorado, USA: Animal and Plant Health Inspection Services (APHIS) (2015).
- East I, Ainsworth C, Warner S, Dunowska M, Azuolas J. Seroconversion to avian influenza virus in free-range chickens in the Riverland region of Victoria. Aust Vet J (2010) 88(8):290–3. doi:10.1111/j.1751-0813.2010.00601.x
- CDC. Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza A (H5N1) in Birds and Other Animals. Atlanta: CDC (2015). Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/ avianflu/h5n1-animals.htm (Accessed: July 5, 2017).
- AHA. Disease Strategy: Avian Influenza (Version 3.4). Australian Veterinary Emergency Plan (AUSVETPLAN). 3rd ed. Canberra, ACT: Primary Industries Ministerial Council (2011).
- DEFRA. Notifiable Avian Disease Control Strategy for Great Britain. Crown: DEFRA (2012).
- USDA. Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Response Plan The Red Book. Maryland, USA: Foreign Animal Disease Preparedness & Response Plan (2017).
- Siettou C. Avian Influenza: outbreaks and the impact on UK consumer demand for poultry. 90th Annual Conference of the Agricultural Economics Society. Warwick, UK (2016).
- Greene JL. Update on the Highly-Pathogenic Avian Influenza Outbreak of 2014-2015. Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service (2015). Available from: https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R44114.pdf (Accessed: July 10, 2017).
- Veterinary Record. Highly pathogenic avian influenza spreads in the USA. Veterinary Record (2015) 176:505. doi:10.1136/vr.h2582
- 46. DAF. Outbreaks of Avian Influenza. Brisbane: Queensland Government (2013).
- New South Wales Government. *Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (H7N7)* Maitland-Control and Eradication (2012). Available from: http://archive.dpi. nsw.gov.au/content/media-releases/2012/avian-influenza-hunter (Accessed: April 5, 2015).

- Australian Government. High Pathogenic Avian Influenza Young, NSW. Canberra, ACT: Commonwealth of Australia (2013). Available from: http:// www.agriculture.gov.au/about/media-centre/communiques/high-pathogenic-avian-influenza-a-young-nsw (Accessed: April 5, 2015).
- Hamilton S. Simulating the Transmission and Control of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Epidemics in the Australian Poultry Industries? PhD Thesis, University of Sydney, Sydney (2011).
- Gonzales J, Goot JV, Stegeman J, Elbers A, Koch G. Transmission between chickens of an H7N1 low pathogenic avian influenza virus isolated during the epidemic of 1999 in Italy. *Vet Microbiol* (2011) 152(1–2):187–90. doi:10.1016/j. vetmic.2011.04.022
- Richard M, Fouchier R, Monne I, Kuiken T. Mechanisms and Risk Factors for Mutation from Low to Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus. Parma: European Food Safety Authority (2017).
- Bouma A, Claassen I, Natih K, Klinkenberg D, Donnelly CA, Koch G, et al. Estimation of transmission parameters of H5N1 avian influenza virus in chickens. *PLoS Pathog* (2009) 5:e1000281. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000281
- Gonzales J, Elbers A, Bouma A, Koch G, Wit JD, Stegeman J. Transmission characteristics of low pathogenic avian influenza virus of H7N7 and H5N7 subtypes in layer chickens. *Vet Microbiol* (2012) 155(2–4):207–13. doi:10.1016/j. vetmic.2011.09.016
- Hamilton S, East I, Toribio J-A, Garner M. Are the Australian poultry industries vulnerable to large outbreaks of highly pathogenic avian influenza? *Aust Vet J* (2009) 87:165–74. doi:10.1111/j.1751-0813.2009.00423.x
- 55. Scott P, Turner A, Bibby S, Chamings A. In: Department of Agriculture Fisheries and Forestry DAFF, editor. *Structure and Dynamics of Australia's Commercial Poultry and Ratite Industries*. Moonee Ponds, Victoria: Scolexia Animal and Avian Health Consultancy (2009).
- 56. Animal Health Australia. Disease strategy: Avian influenza (Version 3.4). Australian Veterinary Emergency Plan (AUSVETPLAN). 3rd ed. Canberra, ACT: Primary Industries Ministerial Council (2011). Available from: http:// www.animalhealthaustralia.com.au/programs/emergency-animal-disease-preparedness/ausvetplan/ (Accessed: April 10, 2015).

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Scott, Toribio, Singh, Groves, Barnes, Glass, Moloney, Black and Hernandez-Jover. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza Exposure Risk Assessment in Australian Commercial Chicken Farms

Angela Bullanday Scott¹, Jenny-Ann Toribio¹, Mini Singh¹, Peter Groves¹, Belinda Barnes², Kathryn Glass³, Barbara Moloney⁴, Amanda Black⁴ and Marta Hernandez-Jover^{5,6*}

¹ Sydney School of Veterinary Science, Faculty of Science, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ² Quantitative Sciences, Department of Agriculture and Water Resources, Canberra, ACT, Australia, ³ College of Medicine, Biology and Environment, Australian National University, Canberra, ACT, Australia, ⁴ New South Wales Department of Primary Industries, Orange, NSW, Australia, ⁵ Graham Centre for Agricultural Innovation, School of Animal and Veterinary Sciences, Charles Sturt University and New South Wales Department of Primary Industries, Wagga Wagga, NSW, Australia, ⁶ School of Animal and Veterinary Sciences, Charles Sturt University, Sciences, Charles Sturt University, Wagga Wagga, NSW, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Irene Iglesias, Instituto Nacional de Investigación y Tecnología Agraria y Alimentaria (INIA), Spain

Reviewed by:

Marius Gilbert, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium Fernanda Dorea, National Veterinary Institute, Sweden

*Correspondence:

Marta Hernandez-Jover mhernandez-jover@csu.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 27 November 2017 Accepted: 20 March 2018 Published: 26 April 2018

Citation:

Scott AB, Toribio J-A, Singh M, Groves P, Barnes B, Glass K, Moloney B, Black A and Hernandez-Jover M (2018) Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza Exposure Risk Assessment in Australian Commercial Chicken Farms. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:68. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00068 This study investigated the pathways of exposure to low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) virus among Australian commercial chicken farms and estimated the likelihood of this exposure occurring using scenario trees and a stochastic modeling approach following the World Organization for Animal Health methodology for risk assessment. Input values for the models were sourced from scientific literature and an on-farm survey conducted during 2015 and 2016 among Australian commercial chicken farms located in New South Wales and Queensland. Outputs from the models revealed that the probability of a first LPAI virus exposure to a chicken in an Australian commercial chicken farms from one wild bird at any point in time is extremely low. A comparative assessment revealed that across the five farm types (non-free-range meat chicken, free-range meat chicken, cage layer, barn layer, and free range layer farms), free-range layer farms had the highest probability of exposure $(7.5 \times 10^{-4}; 5\%)$ and 95%, $5.7 \times 10^{-4} - 0.001$). The results indicate that the presence of a large number of wild birds on farm is required for exposure to occur across all farm types. The median probability of direct exposure was highest in free-range farm types $(5.6 \times 10^{-4} \text{ and } 1.6 \times 10^{-4} \text{ for free-range layer and free-range meat chicken farms,}$ respectively) and indirect exposure was highest in non-free-range farm types (2.7×10^{-4} , 2.0×10^{-4} , and 1.9×10^{-4} for non-free-range meat chicken, cage layer, and barn layer farms, respectively). The probability of exposure was found to be lowest in summer for all farm types. Sensitivity analysis revealed that the proportion of waterfowl among wild birds on the farm, the presence of waterfowl in the range and feed storage areas, and the prevalence of LPAI in wild birds are the most influential parameters for the probability of Australian commercial chicken farms being exposed to avian influenza (AI) virus. These results highlight the importance of ensuring good biosecurity on farms to minimize the risk of exposure to AI virus and the importance of continuous surveillance of LPAI prevalence including subtypes in wild bird populations.

Keywords: avian influenza, Australia, commercial chickens, scenario trees, exposure assessment, H5, H7

64

INTRODUCTION

Low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) viruses are naturally circulating in wild birds globally. Birds in the taxonomic orders Anseriformes (waterfowl including ducks and geese) and Charadriiformes (shorebirds including gulls, waders, and auks) constitute the major natural reservoir of LPAI with an approximate prevalence of 2.5 and 0.6%, respectively, in Australia (1). Domestic gallinaceous (e.g., chickens and turkeys) poultry can become infected with LPAI *via* the fecal–oral route whereby poultry consume infectious fecal material from wild birds; either consuming feces directly or indirectly, such as through contaminated water, aerosol, or fomites. Once poultry are infected with LPAI, the virus may then mutate to highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI). During HPAI infection, morbidity and mortality rates in gallinaceous poultry are very high (50–89%) and can reach 100% in some flocks (2).

Highly pathogenic avian influenza (AI) is classed as a category 2 emergency animal disease in Australia under the Emergency Animal Disease Response Agreement as it has the potential to cause severe production losses and impact the national economy, and potentially impact human health and/or the environment (3). Australia has experienced seven HPAI outbreaks in poultry farms since 1976. All outbreaks were eradicated using a "stamping out" strategy which involved quarantine and culling of all poultry on infected premises, tracing and surveillance of farms at risk and restriction of movement to reduce spread of the virus (4–6). To date HPAI virus has not been detected in wild birds in Australia (1).

There is concern from experts within the Australian poultry industry about the change in probability of AI outbreak occurrence with the recent consumer driven expansion of free-range poultry farms. There are approximately 800 commercial contract meat chicken grower farms and 300 commercial chicken egg farms currently in Australia (7, 8). Products from commercial chicken farms account for the large majority of the national market; where the top seven meat chicken companies and the top 50 chicken egg producers supply over 95 and 80% of the national chicken meat and eggs consumed in Australia (7-9). Non-commercial chicken farms are small-scale farms that are suspected or proven to have less adoption of biosecurity practices than commercial farms. However, there is limited contact between non-commercial and commercial chicken farms and so the risk of exposure to disease on non-commercial farms may be higher but they do not appear to be a threat to the Australian chicken industry. The cost of a disease outbreak in non-commercial farms would also be less than commercial farms due fewer birds to destroy and a small overall impact on the industry, market and consumers (10). New South Wales (NSW) is the leading state for both egg and chicken meat production; producing 32 and 34% of the national egg and chicken meat volumes, respectively. Queensland and Victoria follow, producing 28 and 27% of the national egg volume, respectively, and 19 and 24% of the national chicken meat volume, respectively (7-9). The highest concentrations of egg farms in the country are in the Greater Sydney (31%) and Hunter regions (20%) (9). Free-range chicken meat production in Australia was regarded as a "cottage industry" in 2006 and now accounts for at least 15% of the total market (7). Similarly, the retail market share of free-range eggs has increased from 10% in 2000 to 50% in 2017 (8). The concern is that the expansion of free-range poultry farms will increase the opportunities of contact between wild birds and domestic poultry in Australia, thus potentially increasing the probability of LPAI exposure in Australian commercial chicken farms.

There are substantial differences in farm design, management, and biosecurity practices among the Australian commercial chicken enterprises, i.e., cage, barn, and free-range systems of both layer and meat chicken farms which can influence wild bird presence on farm (11, 12). In addition, previous work has identified differences in the type of wild birds present on farms of different production types and biosecurity implementation (13). There is a need to quantify and compare the probability of LPAI exposure for all types of Australian commercial chicken enterprises considering these differences. In addition, there is a need to investigate the effect of on-farm preventive actions that can mitigate the risk and impact of future AI outbreak occurrences in Australia. The aim of this study was to consider the potential pathways for LPAI exposure from wild birds to chickens present on all types of commercial chicken enterprises in Australia (non-free-range meat, free-range meat, cage layer, barn layer, free-range layer), and then to conduct a comparative assessment of how likely LPAI exposure from wild birds to chickens would occur via each of the considered pathways and overall for each farm type. The most influential pathways of exposure are also identified, thereby leading to recommendations about on-farm biosecurity practices that could be implemented to minimize these risks.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Risk Assessment Model

The World Organisation of Animal Health provides a methodological framework for conducting animal health risk analysis (14). Risk assessment is a component of the overall risk analysis methods, which involves an entry, exposure and consequence assessment, and an estimation of the risk. The current study uses an exposure assessment to investigate the potential exposure to AI viruses of domestic chickens raised in commercial chicken properties in Australia. A partial consequence assessment was also conducted and is presented in a subsequent paper (15). The exposure assessment considers all the potential pathways by which chickens located in a commercial layer or meat chicken farm can be exposed to AI virus from wild birds and the probability of these pathways occurring is calculated. Such pathways were portrayed using scenario trees (16) and developed using Microsoft Excel (PC/Windows 7, 2010). The probabilities were estimated using Monte Carlo stochastic simulation modeling using the program @RISK 7.0 (Palisade Corporation, USA) implemented in Microsoft Excel. Each simulation consisted of 50,000 iterations sampled using the Latin hypercube method with a fixed random seed of one.

Data Sources

Most of the input values used in this model were parameterized using data collected from a survey on commercial chicken farms in Australia (11, 12). The survey defined commercial layer farms as those with more than 1,000 birds and commercial meat chicken farms as those with more than 25,000 birds. It involved a comprehensive on-farm interview with farmers, including questions related to farm management, biosecurity practices, and wild bird presence. Scientific literature was used to estimate input parameters when required.

Survey on Commercial Layer and Meat Chicken Farms in the Sydney Basin Region and South East Queensland

A survey commenced in mid-2015 involving on-farm interviews with the farm manager or farm owner on 73 commercial chicken farms; 15 non-free-range meat, 15 free-range meat, nine cage layer, 9 barn layer, and 25 free-range layer farms. The farms were located in the Sydney basin region in NSW and in South East Queensland. The Sydney basin region was selected due to the high concentration of both layer and meat chicken farms in this area. However in this region, free-range meat chicken farms are all owned by one of two large privately owned meat chicken companies in Australia. Therefore, additional farm visits to South East Queensland were conducted to gain more representative data of privately owned meat chicken companies in Australia. The interviews involved a comprehensive questionnaire which asked questions to the farmers relating to biosecurity practices performed on farm, wild bird and animal presence, general farm information, and farm management. A greater proportion of layer farms and of free-range farms were surveyed due to the greater perceived risk of AI occurrence on these farm types. More details on the methodology of the survey, including the region and farm selection, questionnaire development, and conduct of the on-farm interviews, can be found in Scott et al. (11).

Statistical Analysis

The statistical program JMP[®] was used (© 2012 SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) to conduct one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to analyze differences between the outcome probabilities for each of the different farm types. The outcome probabilities compared using ANOVA were the outcome probability from 1,000 iterations of the exposure scenario tree model simulation for each farm type, with each iteration reflecting the situation for one farm at a point in time. A *p*-value of <0.05 was used to determine statistical significance in these analyses.

Probability of Exposure

The exposure assessment examines all potential pathways by which AI virus can be introduced from wild birds into a commercial layer or meat chicken farm and estimates the probability that a first exposure to a chicken occurs through each of these pathways. Five exposure assessments were performed, one for each farm type: non-free-range meat chicken farms, free-range meat chicken farms, cage layer farms, barn layer farms, and freerange layer farms. Only LPAI viruses were considered due to the fact that HPAI viruses have never been detected from Australian wild birds during surveillance activities (1). In addition, the models considered differences depending on the season or time of the year, given virus prevalence in wild birds changes during different times of the year. The probability of chickens accessing outdoors in free-range farms also changes during different times of the year due to weather conditions. Therefore, three "seasons" were considered in the exposure assessments; winter (June–August), summer (December–February), and then autumn and spring (March–May and September–November) were combined as one season.

Parameters required in these exposure assessments included (1) the probability of wild bird presence in different areas of the commercial chicken farm; (2) the probability of wild birds being infected and excreting LPAI viruses; and (3) parameters in relation to the management and biosecurity practices performed on the farm that would increase or reduce the probability of exposure. The main pathways of exposure considered in these assessments were the following six pathways: (1) direct exposure in a shed; (2) direct exposure around feed storage areas; (3) indirect exposure through fomites or vectors; (4) indirect exposure through aerosol; (5) indirect exposure through contaminated water inside; (6) indirect exposure through contaminated water outside sheds; and (7) direct exposure on the range.

For the purpose of this model, direct exposure is defined as physical contact between a wild bird and a commercial chicken or direct contact between a commercial chicken and wild bird feces. By contrast, indirect exposure is defined as a commercial chicken coming into contact with the virus through a medium, i.e., through water, fomites, or vectors. Fomites include boots and equipment contaminated with wild bird feces and are subsequently in contact with chickens through movement. Biological vectors may become infected with the virus in the presence of chickens or be consumed by chickens. Mechanical vectors, such as dogs and cats, can also present the virus to chickens through movement only.

The overall probability of exposure represents the probability of a first exposure to a domestic chicken by one wild bird in each farm type, irrespective of the pathway of exposure. This probability was calculated by summing the outcome probability of all the pathways that lead to exposure for each farm type. In addition, the overall probability of direct and indirect exposure was calculated by summing the outcome probabilities of the direct (pathways 1, 2, and 7) and indirect (pathways 3, 4, 5, and 6) pathways, respectively, which lead to exposure for each farm type.

The models estimate the probability of exposure posed by a single wild bird at any point in time. This outcome probability of exposure is then used to estimate the expected number of exposures considering a range of the number of wild birds that could visit a property at any point in time and using binomial distributions. The standard prevalence of LPAI, at approximately 2.5, 0.6, and 0.5% for waterfowl, shorebirds, and other bird types, respectively, of which a subset are H5 and H7 subtypes, was used for these binomial distributions (1). The prevalence of LPAI in waterfowl and the proportion of waterfowl on the farm was then also changed in the model to assess the expected number of exposures in potential worst-case scenarios: (1) 100% waterfowl proportion and no change in waterfowl LPAI prevalence; (2)

80% waterfowl proportion and 20% waterfowl LPAI prevalence; (3) 100% waterfowl proportion and 10% waterfowl LPAI prevalence; (4) 50% waterfowl proportion and 20% waterfowl LPAI prevalence; and (5) 50% waterfowl proportion and 10% waterfowl LPAI prevalence. The distributions assume that all wild birds are independent, have the same probability of being infected, and those infected are always infective.

Tables 1-5 provide a description of the nodes and input parameters of the scenario trees used for the exposure assessments for non-free-range meat chicken farms, free-range meat chicken farms, cage layer farms, barn layer farms, and free-range layer farms, respectively. Cage and barn layer farms are referred to as non-free-range layer farms and have the same scenario tree structure. Similarly, free-range layer and free-range meat chicken farms also have the same scenario tree structure. Therefore, the scenario trees used for non-free-range layer farms, non-freerange meat chicken farms, and free-range layer and meat chicken farms are depicted in Figures 1-3, respectively. Nodes and input parameters related to the range areas are specific for free-range farm types, and the nodes for pathways in which surface water is used are specific for layer farm types and free-range meat chicken farms. The pathway (6) indirect exposure through contaminated water outside sheds does not exist for non-free-range meat chicken farms, and pathway (7) direct exposure on the range does not exist for non-free-range meat chicken and layer farms. Detailed and further descriptions of the nodes are provided in the supplementary information.

Sensitivity Analysis

The Advanced Sensitivity Analysis tool of the program @RISK 7.0 (Palisade Corporation, USA) was used to determine the impact of changes in the input parameters on the model outputs.

The effect of the following inputs on exposure were investigated: (1) proportion of waterfowl on property (*Prop_WF*); (2) proportion of waterfowl on waterbodies (*WB_WF*); (3) proportion of waterfowl in feed storage areas (*F_WF*); (4) proportion of waterfowl on the range (*R_WF*); (5) Farm use of surface water (*Surface_Water_Used*); (6) water inside the chicken shed is treated (*Water_Inside_Treated*); (7) water outside the chicken shed is treated (*Water_Outside_Treated*); (8) escapee chickens from the shed or range (*Escape*); and (9) indirect exposure to the virus (*Indirect*). The influence of the prevalence of LPAI (*Prev_WF*) in waterfowl was also investigated separately.

The values for the input parameters included in the sensitivity analysis were varied from 0 to 1 in thirds (0, 0.3, 0.6, 1), with 1,000 iterations used for each of the values included, while all other input values were fixed to their base value. The model outputs assessed were the overall probability of exposure to LPAI across the three seasons per farm type.

RESULTS

Probability of Direct and Indirect Exposure

The probability of a first LPAI exposure to a chicken on a commercial chicken farm being exposed from a wild bird present on the farm at any point in time through the pathways considered in this assessment was estimated to be extremely low for all farm types (**Table 6**). The assessment estimates a median (5–95%) overall probability of LPAI exposure on commercial free-range layer farms to be 7.5×10^{-4} ($5.7 \times 10^{-4}-1.0 \times 10^{-4}$); this being the highest probability among all farm types. The farm type with the lowest estimated overall probability of LPAI exposure was the barn layer farm type (3.0×10^{-4} ; $1.4 \times 10^{-4}-5.8 \times 10^{-4}$).

When the type of LPAI exposure was considered, direct exposure had the highest probability of causing first exposure to a domestic chicken among free-range farm types, with the lowest being reported for barn layer farms (**Table 6**). By contrast, the probability of indirect exposure was highest in non-free-range farm types.

To assess the influence of flock size of the farm on the probability of exposure, the overall probability of exposure of each farm type was multiplied by hypothetical numbers of sheds on the property, as each shed can be considered independent in the exposure models. Five and 10 sheds were used, and results are shown in **Table 6**.

Estimated Number of Exposures According to Volume of Wild Birds

Results from the binomial distributions are shown in **Table 7** and **Figure 4**. According to the model, a considerable number of wild birds are required for exposure to occur across all farm types. The output distributions indicate that for all farm types, except free-range layer farms, when 1,000 wild birds are present at any point in time around the farm, only on 5 of 100 farms (or scenarios) would one exposure occur, indicating that in 94.9% of farms, exposure would not occur. For free-range layer farms, only 100 wild birds are required to be present to expect a similar exposure output. In instances where 1,000 birds visit at any point in time on free-range layer farms, on 50 out of 100 farms (or scenarios), one LPAI exposure would occur based on the median of one in **Table 7**.

The number of exposures was assessed by changing the proportion of wild birds that are waterfowl and the LPAI prevalence of waterfowl, with some scenarios representing worst-case scenarios (with high proportion of waterfowl present among the wild birds on farm and with elevated LPAI prevalence among the wild birds on farm). Waterfowl may make up a considerable proportion of wild birds on the property during specific events such as drought and, similarly, the prevalence of LPAI in waterfowl may increase with population dynamics, such as an increase in immune-naive juvenile birds. The impact of these scenarios on the number of expected exposures is shown in Table 7. The largest number of exposures is seen when the proportion of waterfowl is increased to 80% and the prevalence increased to 20%. For all farm types, other than free-range layer farms, at least one exposure would occur when 50 wild birds are present at the property, and this would occur on 5 out of 100 farms (or scenarios). Only 10 wild birds are required for an exposure to occur in these circumstances for free-range layer farms.

Data sources Scott et al. (11, 13)

TABLE 1 | Nodes, p (specifically in the Sy Node
1. Type of wild bird on farm property
2. Prevalence of LP/ in wild birds

Branch of node

Waterfowl

Parameter estimates

Proportion of answers from farmers that reported the

Frontiers in Veterinary Science | www.frontiersin.org

April 2018 | Volume 5 | Article 68

1.	on farm property	Shorebirds Other	respective wild bird type on their property (<i>Prop_WF;</i> <i>Prop_SH; Prop_O</i>)	48 answers of wild birds on the property (<i>n</i>); 16 answers of waterfowl; 7 answers of shorebirds; and 25 answers of other wild birds	30011 et al. (11, 13)
2.	Prevalence of LPAI in wild birds	Yes No	Probability of the different wild bird types; waterfowl, shorebirds, or other, being infected with LPAI of H5 or H7 subtype in winter, summer, and autumn/spring (Prev_WF_Winter; Prev_WF_Summer; Prev_WF_AuSp; Prev_SH_Winter; Prev_SH_Summer; Prev_SH_AuSp; Prev_O_Winter; Prev_O_Summer; Prev_O_AuSp)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) multiplied by the proportion of H5 and H7 of total positive influenza A samples in New South Wales (NSW) for the seasons winter, summer, and autumn/spring Information on the values for waterfowl and shorebirds that informed the Beta distributions for the three seasons and the proportion of influenza A samples that are H5 and H7 subtypes can be obtained by contacting the corresponding author 1,552 other bird types samples (<i>n</i>), 1 positive other bird type sample (<i>s</i>); this Beta distribution used for all three seasons	Grillo et al. (1) Hansbro et al. (17) NSW NAIWB Surveillance unpublished data (2016)
3.	Respective wild bird type has been reported inside chicken sheds	Yes No	Proportion of farms that witnessed the respective wild bird type inside chicken sheds on the farm. The data suggest the probability for waterfowl and shorebirds inside sheds is close to 0 and, therefore, a Pert distribution is used for these wild bird types (<i>Sheds_WF;</i> <i>Sheds_SH; Sheds_O</i>)	Sheds_WF = Pert (0, 0, 0.05) Sheds_SH = Pert (0, 0, 0.05) Sheds_O = Beta ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) 15 non-free-range meat chicken farms surveyed; 7 reported seeing other wild bird types in sheds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
4.	Respective wild bird type has been reported in other locations on the farm	Waterbodies Feed storage	Proportion of answers from farmers that witnessed the respective wild bird type in the respective areas (<i>WB_WF</i> , <i>F_WF</i> ; <i>WB_SH</i> , <i>F_SH</i> ; <i>WB_O</i> , <i>F_O</i>)	Beta ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) 16 answers of waterfowl in other locations (<i>n</i>); 13 answers of waterfowl in waterbodies; and 3 answers of waterfowl in feed storage areas 7 answers of shorebirds in other locations (<i>n</i>); 6 answers of shorebirds in waterbodies; and 1 answer of shorebirds in feed storage areas 18 answers of other wild bird types in other locations (<i>n</i>); 9 answers of other bird types in waterbodies; and 9 answers of other bird types in feed storage areas	Scott et al. (11, 13)
5.	Aerial transmission of LPAI from wild birds to domestic chickens	Yes No	Probability of LPAI introduction <i>via</i> aerial dispersion from wild birds on waterbodies to chickens on farm (<i>Aerosol_WB</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 12 air samples tested at less than 100 m from 83 LPAI (H5N2)-infected swans (n), 0 positive air samples obtained	Jonges et al. (18)
6.	Surface water is used for chickens	Yes No	Proportion of farms that use surface water for the chicken farm (Surface_Water_Used)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 15 farms surveyed (n), 1 farm used surface water for farm	Scott et al. (11, 13)
7.	Water inside chicken sheds is treated	Yes No	Proportion of answers from farmers that treat water inside the chicken sheds (<i>Water_Inside_Treated</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 32 answers of water use inside chicken sheds (<i>n</i>), 28 answers of water treated inside chicken sheds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
8.	Chickens have escaped the shed	Yes No	Proportion of farms that have reported chickens unintentionally outside of the shed (<i>Escape</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 15 farms surveyed (n), 0 farms reported chickens escaped shed	Scott et al. (11, 13)
9.	Other indirect routes that can lead to LPAI introduction	Yes No	Probability that chickens will be exposed to LPAI virus via other indirect methods; boots, mice/rats, insects, and pets combined into one probability (<i>Indirect</i>) (Probability of exposure from boots + mice/rats + insects + pets)	Probability of exposure from boots (PrBoots) 1/25 answers did not use footbaths avian influenza (Al) virus survival on boots is 3/6 days, considered high probability of exposure PrBoots = (1/25) × [Uniform (0.7, 1)]	Scott et al. (11, 13) Achenbach and Bowen (19) Nielsen et al. (20) Tiwari et al. (21) Nazir et al. (22)

TABLE 1 | Nodes, parameter estimates, and input values used for the exposure assessment estimating the probability of exposure of commercial chickens on non-free-range meat chicken farms in Australia (specifically in the Sydney basin region and South East Queensland) to low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) from wild birds.

Input values

Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1)

(Continued)

Avian Influenza Exposure Risk Assessment

Probability of exposure from mice/rats (PrMice) 10/25 answers had mice/rats in sheds

Exposure Ass	essment	in	the	Three
Seasons				

The estimated probabilities of a chicken on commercial chicken farms being exposed to LPAI virus from wild birds at any point in time during the three seasons previously defined (winter, autumn/ spring, and summer) are summarized in **Table 8**. The results show that the overall probability of exposure differs between the different seasons and the season influence also differs between farm types. While the median overall probability of exposure to LPAI virus is highest in winter for free-range layer farms, this probability is highest in autumn/spring for non-free-range meat chicken, cage layer, and barn layer farm types. No difference between winter and autumn/spring was observed for free-range meat chicken farms. For all farm types, the lowest median overall probability of LPAI virus exposure is in summer.

Exposure Sensitivity Analysis

According to the exposure sensitivity analysis, the most influential parameters were the proportion of waterfowl among wild birds on the property and the probability of waterfowl being on the feed storage areas (Figure 5). When the proportion of waterfowl among wild birds on the property becomes 100% (base value between 0.28 and 0.34 for all farm types), which can occur during circumstances such as drought, there is an approximate 2.8-fold increase in the probability of LPAI exposure for all farm types. A similar increase in the probability of LPAI exposure is obtained when the probability of waterfowl being on feed storage areas is increased to 100%. On free-range farms (Figures 5A,B), waterfowl on the range was the third most influential parameter. When the probability of waterfowl on the range is increased to 100% (base value 0.50 and 0.28 for free-range meat chicken and layer farms, respectively), an approximate 1.7-fold increase in the probability of LPAI exposure occurs. On barn layer farm types, the treatment of water inside the shed is also an important influential parameter. If the probability of water inside sheds being appropriately treated is decreased to 0% (base value 0.92 for barn layer farms), there is an approximate 2.4-fold increase in the probability of LPAI exposure. For other farm types, the impact of water treatment is not as significant. Escapee chickens from the sheds or the range was another influential parameter; if the probability of this occurring is increased to 100% (base value 0.042, 0.042, 0.45, 0.067, and 0.46 for non-free-range meat chicken, free-range meat chicken, cage layer, barn layer and free-range layer farms, respectively), an approximate 1.7-fold increase in the probability of LPAI exposure occurs for all farm types. The other indirect routes parameter (includes boots, mice/rats, insects, farm cats, or dogs) was slightly less influential, with an approximate 1.5-fold increase in the probability of LPAI exposure if the probability of these pathways occurring increases to 100% (base value of 0.28-0.43 for all farm types). The proportion of waterfowl on waterbodies, the use of surface water, and the treatment of water outside of sheds were found to be the least influential parameters in the exposure probability for all farm types.

Sensitivity analysis on the prevalence of LPAI in waterfowl was also conducted separately as this parameter has a profound influence on the probability of LPAI exposure. It was found

TABLE 1 Continued				
Node	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
			12 mice inoculated (n) , 0 positive on virus isolation	
			PrMice = $(10/25) \times [Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1)]$	
			Probability of exposure from insects (PrInsects)	
			14/25 answers had insects in sheds	
			171 insects tested (n) , 73 positive on virus isolation	
			Prinsects = $(14/25) \times [Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1)]$	
			Probability of exposure from pets (PrPets)	
			0/25 answers allowed pets in sheds	
			Al virus survival on feces is 2/6 days, considered moderate	
			probability of exposure	
			PrBoots = $(1/25) \times [Uniform (0.3, 0.5)]$	

TABLE 2 | Nodes, parameter estimates, and input values used for the exposure assessment estimating the probability of exposure of commercial chickens on free-range meat chicken farms in Australia (specifically in the Sydney basin region and South East Queensland) to low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) from wild birds.

Node	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
 Type of wild bird on farm property 	Waterfowl Shorebirds Other	Proportion of answers from farmers that reported the respective wild bird type on their property (<i>Prop_WF</i> ; <i>Prop_SH</i> ; <i>Prop_O</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 36 answers of wild birds on the property (<i>n</i>); 12 answers of waterfowl; 2 answers of shorebirds; and 22 answers of other wild birds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
2. Prevalence of LPAI in wild birds	Yes No	Probability of the different wild bird types; waterfowl, shorebirds, or other, being infected with LPAI of H5 or H7 subtype in winter, summer, and autumn/spring (Prev_WF_Winter; Prev_WF_Summer; Prev_WF_AuSp; Prev_SH_Winter; Prev_SH_Summer; Prev_SH_AuSp; Prev_O_Winter; Prev_O_Summer; Prev_O_AuSp)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) multiplied by the proportion of H5 and H7 of total positive influenza A samples in New South Wales (NSW) for the seasons winter, summer, and autumn/spring Information on the values for waterfowl and shorebirds that informed the Beta distributions for the 3 seasons and the proportion of influenza A samples that are H5 and H7 subtypes can be obtained by contacting the corresponding author 1,552 other bird types samples (n), 1 positive other bird type sample (s); this Beta distribution used for all three seasons	Grillo et al. (1) Hansbro et al. (17) NSW NAIWB Surveillance unpublished data (2016)
 Respective wild bird type has been reported inside chicken sheds 	Yes No	Proportion of farms that witnessed the respective wild bird type inside chicken sheds on the farm. The data suggest the probability for waterfowl and shorebirds inside sheds is close to 0 and, therefore, a Pert distribution is used for these wild bird types (<i>Sheds_WF;</i> <i>Sheds_SH; Sheds_O</i>)	Sheds_WF = Pert (0, 0, 0.05) Sheds_SH = Pert (0, 0, 0.05) Sheds_O = Beta ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) 15 farms surveyed; 11 reported seeing other wild bird types in sheds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
 Respective wild bird type has been reported in other locations on the farm 	Waterbodies Feed storage	Proportion of answers from farmers that witnessed the respective wild bird type in the respective areas (<i>WB_WF</i> , <i>F_WF</i> ; <i>WB_SH</i> , <i>F_SH</i> ; <i>WB_O</i> , <i>F_O</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 20 answers of waterfowl in other locations (<i>n</i>); 14 answers of waterfowl in waterbodies; 2 answers of waterfowl in feed storage areas; and 4 answers of waterfowl on the range 4 answers of shorebirds in other locations (<i>n</i>); 2 answers of shorebirds in waterbodies; 0 answer of shorebirds in feed storage areas, and 2 answers of shorebirds on the range 37 answers of other wild bird types in other locations (<i>n</i>); 10 answers of other bird types in waterbodies; 12 answers of other bird types in feed storage areas; and 15 answers of other bird types on the range	Scott et al. (11, 13)
5. Suitable weather conditions for range access	Yes No	Probability that the weather conditions for seasons winter, summer, and autumn/spring are suitable for farmers to allow chickens on the range; when conditions are dry, between 17 and 28 C and there is no severe weather (<i>Range_Winter, Range_Summer, Range_AuSp</i>) (Probability of suitable temperature + dry conditions + no severe weather)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) Winter: 13,248 winter hours recorded (<i>n</i>), 1,555 winter hours >17°C; 1,755 winter hours where precipitation >1 mm; 114 severe weather events in NSW, 1 severe weather events in Sydney basin in winter Summer: 13,248 summer hours recorded (<i>n</i>), 6,231.5 summer hours <28°C; 8,098.5 summer hours where precipitation >1 mm; 114 severe weather events in NSW, 64 severe weather events in Sydney basin in summer Autumn/Spring: 26,352 autumn/spring hours recorded (<i>n</i>), 9,338.5 autumn/spring hours >17 C and <28 C; 3,960.5 autumn/spring hours where precipitation >1 mm; 114 severe weather events in NSW, 49 severe weather events in Sydney basin in autumn/spring	Bureau of Meterology (23)
 Birds are a suitable age for range access 	Yes No	Proportion of the chicken's lifetime in which they are allowed onto the range (<i>Age</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) Average age at flock depopulation 43.25 days (<i>n</i>), age allowed outside 21 days	Scott et al. (11, 13)
7. Birds actually go onto the range	Yes No	Proportion of flock that actually leave shed and use the range as reported by farmers (Use_Range)	Average of 15 Beta functions ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) Total flock proportion 100 (n); proportion of flock that use range (9 varying answers)	Scott et al. (11, 13)

(Continued)

Avian Influenza Exposure Risk Assessment

Avian Influenza Exposure Risk Assessment

TABLE 2 | Continued

Node	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
8. Aerial transmission of LPAI from wild birds to domestic chickens	Yes No	Probability of LPAI introduction <i>via</i> aerial dispersion from wild birds on waterbodies to chickens on farm (<i>Aerosol_WB</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 12 samples tested at less than 100 m from 83 LPAI (H5N2) infected swans (n), 0 positive air samples obtained	Jonges et al. (18)
9. Surface water is used for chickens	Yes No	Proportion of answers from farmers that use surface water for the chicken farm (Surface_Water_Used)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 15 farms surveyed (n), 2 answers used surface water for farm	Scott et al. (11, 13)
10. Locations surface water is used for	Inside shed Outside shed	Proportion of answers from farmers that use surface water for inside the shed versus outside the shed (Water_Inside_Used, Water_Outside_Used)	Beta ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) 6 answers of surface water use (n), 4 answers use surface water inside shed, and 2 answers use surface water outside shed	Scott et al. (11, 13)
11. Water inside chicken sheds is treated	Yes No	Proportion of answers from farmers that treat water inside the chicken sheds (<i>Water_Inside_Treated</i>)	Beta $(s + 1, n - s + 1)$	Scott et al. (11, 13)
			34 answers of water use inside chicken sheds (n), 34 answers of water treated inside chicken sheds	
12. Water outside chicken sheds is treated	Yes No	Proportion of answers from farmers that treat water used outside the shed (<i>Water_Outside_Treated</i>)	Beta ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) 9 answers of water use outside chicken sheds (n), 8 answers of water treated outside chicken sheds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
13. Chickens have escaped the shed or range area	Yes No	Proportion of farms that have reported chickens unintentionally outside of the shed or range area (<i>Escape</i>)	Beta ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) 15 farms surveyed (n), 0 farms reported chickens escaped shed or range area	Scott et al. (11, 13)
14. Other indirect routes that can lead to LPAI introduction	Yes No	Probability that chickens will be exposed to LPAI virus via other indirect methods; boots, mice/rats, insects and pets combined into one probability (<i>Indirect</i>) (Probability of exposure from boots + mice/rats + insects + pets)	Probability of exposure from boots (PrBoots)1/28 answers did not use footbathsAl virus survival on boots is 3/6 days, considered high probability of exposurePrBoots = (1/28) × [Uniform (0.7, 1)]Probability of exposure from mice/rats (PrMice)12/28 answers had mice/rats in sheds12 mice inoculated (n), 0 positive on virus isolationPrMice = (10/25) × [Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1)]Probability of exposure from insects (PrInsects)13/28 answers had insects in sheds171 insects tested (n), 73 positive on virus isolationPrInsects = (13/28) × [Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1)]Probability of exposure from pets (PrPets)2/28 answers allowed pets in sheds on range areaAl virus survival on feces is 2/6 days, considered moderate probability of exposurePrBoots = (2/28) × [Uniform (0.3, 0.5)]	Scott et al. (11, 13) Henzler et al. (24) Achenbach and Bowen (19) Nielsen et al. (20) Tiwari et al. (21) Nazir et al. (22)
TABLE 3 | Nodes, parameter estimates and input values used for the exposure assessment estimating the probability of exposure of commercial chickens on cage layer farms in Australia (specifically in the Sydney basin region and South East Queensland) to low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) from wild birds.

Node	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
1. Type of wild bird on farm property	Waterfowl Shorebirds Other	Proportion of answers from farmers that reported the respective wild bird type on their property (<i>Prop_WF; Prop_SH; Prop_O</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 30 answers of wild birds on the property (<i>n</i>); 9 answers of waterfowl; 2 answers of shorebirds; and 19 answers of other wild birds	Scott et al. (11, 13
2. Prevalence of LPAI in wild birds	Yes No	Probability of the different wild bird types; waterfowl, shorebirds or other, being infected with LPAI of H5 or H7 subtype in winter, summer and autumn/spring (Prev_WF_Winter; Prev_WF_ Summer; Prev_WF_AuSp; Prev_SH_Winter; Prev_SH_Summer; Prev_SH_AuSp; Prev_O_ Winter; Prev_O_Summer; Prev_O_AuSp)	Beta ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) multiplied by the proportion of H5 and H7 of total positive influenza A samples in New South Wales (NSW) for the seasons winter, summer, and autumn/spring Information on the values for waterfowl and shorebirds that informed the Beta distributions for the 3 seasons and the proportion of influenza A samples that are H5 and H7 subtypes can be obtained by contacting the corresponding author 1,552 other bird types samples (n), 1 positive other bird type sample (s); this Beta distribution used for all three seasons	Grillo et al. (1) Hansbro et al. (17) NSW NAIWB Surveillance unpublished data (2016)
 Respective wild bird type has been reported inside chicken sheds 	Yes No	Proportion of farms that witnessed the respective wild bird type inside chicken sheds on the farm. The data suggests the probability for waterfowl and shorebirds inside sheds is close to 0 and, therefore, a Pert distribution is used for these wild bird types (<i>Sheds_WF; Sheds_SH; Sheds_O</i>)	Sheds_WF = Pert (0, 0, 0.05) Sheds_SH = Pert (0, 0, 0.05) Sheds_O = Beta ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) 9 farms surveyed; 5 reported seeing other wild bird types in sheds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
 Respective wild bird type has been reported in other locations on the farm 	Waterbodies Feed storage	Proportion of answers from farmers that witnessed the respective wild bird type in the respective areas (<i>WB_WF</i> , <i>F_WF</i> ; <i>WB_SH</i> , <i>F_SH</i> ; <i>WB_O</i> , <i>F_O</i>)	Beta ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) 9 answers of waterfowl in other locations (n); 9 answers of waterfowl in waterbodies; and 0 answers of waterfowl in feed storage areas 2 answers of shorebirds in other locations (n); 2 answers of shorebirds in waterbodies; and 0 answer of shorebirds in feed storage areas 14 answers of other wild bird types in other locations (n); 6 answers of other bird types in waterbodies; and 8 answers of other bird types in feed storage areas	Scott et al. (11, 13)
5. Aerial transmission of LPAI from wild birds to domestic chickens	Yes No	Probability of LPAI introduction via aerial dispersion from wild birds on waterbodies to chickens on farm (<i>Aerosol_WB</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 12 samples tested at less than 100 m from 83 LPAI (H5N2) infected swans (n), 0 positive air samples obtained	Jonges et al. (18)
6. Surface water is used for chickens	Yes No	Proportion of farms that use surface water for the chicken farm (<i>Surface_Water_Used</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 9 farms surveyed (n), 2 farm used surface water for farm	Scott et al. (11, 13)
7. Locations surface water is used for	Inside shed Outside shed	Proportion of answers from farmers that use surface water for inside the shed versus outside the shed (<i>Water_Inside_Used</i> , <i>Water_Outside_Used</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 3 answers of surface water use (<i>n</i>), 1 answers use surface water inside shed, and 2 answers use surface water outside shed	Scott et al. (11, 13)
8. Water inside chicken sheds is treated	Yes No	Proportion of answers from farmers that treat water inside the chicken sheds (Water_Inside_Treated)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 18 answers of water use inside chicken sheds (n), 17 answers of water treated inside chicken sheds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
9. Water outside chicken sheds is treated	Yes No	Proportion of answers from farmers that treat water used outside the shed (Water_Outside_Treated)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 5 answers of water use outside chicken sheds (n), 2 answers of water treated outside chicken sheds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
10. Chickens have escaped the shed	Yes No	Proportion of farms that have reported chickens unintentionally outside of the shed (<i>Escape</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 9 farms surveyed (n), 1 farms reported chickens escaped shed	Scott et al. (11, 13)

(Continued)

Avian Influenza Exposure Risk Assessment

TABLE 3 Continued				
Node	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
11. Other indirect routes that can lead to LPAI introduction	N Kes	Probability that chickens will be exposed to LPAI virus via other indirect methods; boots, mice/rats, insects and pets combined into one probability (<i>Indirect</i>) (Probability of exposure from boots + mice/rats + insects + pets)	Probability of exposure from boots (PrBoots) 7/30 answers did not use footbaths Al virus survival on boots is 3/6 days, considered high probability of exposure PrBoots = (7/30) × [Uniform (0, 7, 1)] Probability of exposure from mice/rats (PrMice) 8/30 answers had mice/rats in sheds 12 mice inoculated (n), 0 positive on virus isolation PrMice = (10/25) × [Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$)] Probability of exposure from insects (PrInsects) 9/30 answers had insects in sheds 171 insects tested (n), 73 positive on virus isolation Prinsects = (9/30) × [Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$)] Probability of exposure from pets (PrInsects) 9/30 answers had insects in sheds 171 insects tested (n), 73 positive on virus isolation Prinsects = (9/30) × [Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$)] Probability of exposure from pets (PrInsects) 6/30 answers allowed pets in sheds Al virus survival on fecces is 2/6 days, considered moderate probability of exposure PrBoots = (6/30) × [Uniform (0.3, 0.5]]	Scott et al. (11, 13) Henzler et al. (24) Achenbach and Bowen (19) Nielsen et al. (20) Tīwari et al. (21) Nazir et al. (22)

Avian Influenza Exposure Risk Assessment

to fourfold increase in the probability of LPAI exposure across the farm types when the LPAI prevalence in wild waterfowl is increased to 20%.

DISCUSSION

This study comparatively estimates the probability of a first exposure of a chicken to LPAI viruses from wild birds present on different types of commercial chicken enterprises in Australia. The probabilities estimated in this study can be considered representative for the Sydney basin region as weather information and the majority of on-farm surveys conducted are specific to this region. In addition, all of the LPAI wild bird prevalence data used in this study was from the Sydney basin region, where most samples were collected from the Lower Hunter region which was considered part of the Sydney basin region in the survey by Scott et al. (11). Generalizing these probabilities to commercial chicken farms in other regions of Australia, noncommercial chicken farms or farms with poultry species other than chickens must be done with caution as differences in farm design and management and biosecurity practices exist as well as differences in weather conditions and LPAI wild bird prevalence in different regions (1, 23, 25). Further research is required to confidently quantify the risk of exposure to commercial chicken farms in other regions, to non-commercial chicken farms and other poultry farms.

Probability of LPAI Exposure

The probabilities of exposure estimated in this study apply to commercial chicken farms according to the definition implemented in the on-farm survey conducted by Scott et al. (11) as this survey provided data that informed most input parameters. This survey included layer and meat chicken farm which house more than 1,000 or 25,000 chickens, respectively. Thus, the model outputs in this study apply to these flock sizes. There is epidemiological evidence that large flock sizes may be at greater risk of HPAI introduction compared to small flock sizes (26). There is limited information to suggest that this is also true for LPAI introduction, but it is logical to acknowledge that large flock sizes have more animal contacts which may increase the risk of LPAI exposure. This study assessed the influence of flock size on the overall probability by considering the number of sheds on the property and demonstrated that more sheds on a property lead to greater probabilities of exposure.

Overall, the probability of a first exposure to LPAI from wild birds at any point in time is extremely low for all farm types; however, the highest probability of exposure is seen among free-range layer farms, with this probability being over two times higher than for the other farm types. These results are in agreement with a study conducted by Gonzales et al. (27), which reported a rate of introduction of LPAI virus 13 times higher in outdoor layer farms when compared to indoor layer farms in the Netherlands. It has been indicated that the most efficient means of introduction of AI into commercial poultry is through direct contact with infected birds (28). Free-range farms have access to the outdoors where direct exposure to wild birds is more likely to occur compared to TABLE 4 | Nodes, parameter estimates, and input values used for the exposure assessment estimating the probability of exposure of commercial chickens on barn layer farms in Australia (specifically in the Sydney basin region and South East Queensland) to low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) from wild birds.

No	de	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
1.	Type of wild bird on farm property	Waterfowl Shorebirds Other	Proportion of answers from farmers that reported the respective wild bird type on their property (<i>Prop_WF; Prop_SH; Prop_O</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 26 answers of wild birds on the property (n); 7 answers of waterfowl; 2 answers of shorebirds; and 17 answers of other wild birds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
2.	Prevalence of LPAI in wild birds	Yes No	Probability of the different wild bird types; waterfowl, shorebirds or other, being infected with LPAI of H5 or H7 subtype in winter, summer, and autumn/spring (Prev_WF_Winter; Prev_WF_Summer; Prev_WF_AuSp; Prev_SH_Winter; Prev_SH_Summer; Prev_SH_AuSp; Prev_O_Winter; Prev_O_Summer; Prev_O_AuSp)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) multiplied by the proportion of H5 and H7 of total positive influenza A samples in New South Wales (NSW) for the seasons winter, summer, and autumn/spring Information on the values for waterfowl and shorebirds that informed the Beta distributions for the 3 seasons and the proportion of influenza A samples that are H5 and H7 subtypes can be obtained by contacting the corresponding author 1,552 other bird types samples (<i>n</i>), 1 positive other bird type sample (s); this Beta distribution used for all three seasons	Grillo et al. (1) Hansbro et al. (17) NSW NAIWB Surveillance unpublished data (2016
3.	Respective wild bird type has been reported inside chicken sheds	Yes No	Proportion of farms that witnessed the respective wild bird type inside chicken sheds on the farm. The data suggests the probability for waterfowl and shorebirds inside sheds is close to 0 and, therefore, a Pert distribution is used for these wild bird types (<i>Sheds_WF;</i> <i>Sheds_SH; Sheds_O</i>)	Sheds_WF = Pert (0, 0, 0.05) Sheds_SH = Pert (0, 0, 0.05) Sheds_O = Beta ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) 9 barn layer farms surveyed; 5 reported seeing other wild bird types in sheds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
4.	wild bird type Feed storage respective wild bird type in the respective areas (WB_WF, 7 answer the spective areas (WB_WF, 7 answer the spectrum areas		respective wild bird type in the respective areas (WB_WF,	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 7 answers of waterfowl in other locations (<i>n</i>); 7 answers of waterfowl in waterbodies; 0 answers of waterfowl in feed storage areas 2 answers of shorebirds in other locations (<i>n</i>); 2 answers of shorebirds in waterbodies; 0 answer of shorebirds in feed storage areas 12 answers of other wild bird types in other locations (<i>n</i>); 4 answers of other bird types in waterbodies; 8 answers of other bird types in feed storage areas	Scott et al. (11, 13)
5.	Aerial transmission of LPAI from wild birds to domestic chickens	Yes No	Probability of LPAI introduction via aerial dispersion from wild birds on waterbodies to chickens on farm (<i>Aerosol_WB</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 12 samples tested at less than 100 m from 83 LPAI (H5N2) infected swans (n), 0 positive air samples obtained	Jonges et al. (18)
6.	Surface water is used for chickens	Yes No	Proportion of farms that use surface water for the chicken farm (Surface_Water_Used)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 9 farms surveyed (<i>n</i>), 3 farms used surface water for farm	Scott et al. (11, 13)
7.	7. LocationsInside shedProportion of answers from farmers that use surfaceBeta $(s + 1, n - s + 1)$ surface waterOutside shedwater for inside the shed versus outside the shed (<i>Water_</i> Inside_Used, Water_Outside_Used)6 total answers of surface water answer for outside the shed		water for inside the shed versus outside the shed (Water_	6 total answers of surface water use water is used for (n) , 5 answers for inside the shed, 1	Scott et al. (11, 13)
8.	Water inside chicken sheds is treated	Yes No	Proportion of answers from farmers that treat water inside the chicken sheds (<i>Water_Inside_Treated</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 19 answers of water use inside chicken sheds (<i>n</i>), 18 answers of water treated inside chicken sheds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
9.	Water outside chicken sheds is treated	Yes No	Proportion of answers from farmers that treat water used outside the shed (<i>Water_Outside_Treated</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 1 answers of water use outside chicken sheds (<i>n</i>), 1 answers of water treated outside chicken sheds	Scott et al. (11, 13)

Avian Influenza Exposure Risk Assessment

Node	Branch of node	Branch of node Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
10. Chickens have escaped the shed	Yes No	Proportion of farms that have reported chickens unintentionally outside of the shed (Escape)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 9 farms surveyed (η), 0 farms reported chickens escaped shed	Scott et al. (11, 13)
11. Other indirect routes that can lead to LPAI introduction	No Ves	Probability that chickens will be exposed to LPAI virus via other indirect methods; boots, mice/rats, insects and pets combined into one probability (<i>Indirect</i>) (Probability of exposure from boots + mice/rats + insects + pets)	Probability of exposure from boots (PrBoots) 3/21 answers did not use footbaths Al virus survival on boots is 3/6 days, considered high probability of exposure PrBoots = (3/21) × [Uniform (0.7, 1]] Probability of exposure from mice/rats (PrMice) 8/21 answers had mice/rats in sheds 12 mice inoculated (n), 0 positive on virus isolation PrMice = (8/21) × [Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1]] Probability of exposure from insects (PrInsects) 9/21 answers had insects in sheds 143 insects tested (n), 114 positive on virus isolation Probability of exposure from pets (PrInsects) 9/21 answers had insects in sheds 143 insects tested (n), 114 positive on virus isolation Probability of exposure from pets (PrPets) 1/21 answers allowed pets in sheds Al virus survival on fecas is 2/6 days, considered moderate probability of exposure PrBoots = (1/21) × [Uniform (0.3, 0.5])	Scott et al. (11, 13) Henzler et al. (24) Achenbach and Bowen (19) Nielsen et al. (20) Tiwari et al. (21) Nazir et al. (22)

Avian Influenza Exposure Risk Assessment

There have been a total of 15 confirmed LPAI cases in Australian poultry since 1976 (29, 30). These cases include LPAI detections of various subtypes, including outbreaks and single bird detections, in Australian poultry. These detections have been a result of passive surveillance (diagnostic submissions), active surveillance (during HPAI outbreaks) and incidental findings not associated with disease. Most have occurred in domestic flocks of ducks, with five incidents in combined chicken and duck farms. In addition, breeder birds were involved in several incidents, with two detections in breeder duck farms, two in breeder chicken farms, and two in mixed breeder and meat duck farms. Four cases occurred in meat poultry farms (two turkey and two duck farms). LPAI has never been detected on a meat chicken farm or on a single-species commercial egg layer enterprise (29). The exposure model considers single-species commercial chicken farms only. Therefore, of all LPAI detections that have occurred in Australia so far, comparisons with the model results can only be made with the two LPAI detections that occurred in breeder chicken farms. Breeder chicken farms are essentially equivalent to barn layer chicken farms and usually have good biosecurity (25). However, the exposure model suggests barn layers have the lowest probability of overall LPAI exposure compared to all farm types. As well as good biosecurity, breeder chicken farms tend to also have close flock health monitoring, as the LPAI detections that occurred were during outbreak investigation related to a drop in production performance (29). It is very likely LPAI detections in Australia are underreported as LPAI infections can be non-clinical, especially in ducks (29). This study found that information on AI virus characteristics and behavior, especially in an Australian context, is extremely scarce.

To best validate these models, routine sampling of Australian commercial chicken farms for LPAI should be conducted. According to the Australian Veterinary Emergency Plan for AI (31), farms with positive detections of H5 or H7 AI virus via cloacal or oropharyngeal swabs must be depopulated and quarantine measures put into place. Given the current depopulation policy, the introduction of financial incentives or encouragement from industry is required to convince farmers to participate in active surveillance sampling. Voluntary participation in routine surveillance as part of a farm accreditation program can also be considered (32). As an alternative to this sampling approach, serological surveys can also be used as occurs in the Netherlands, where all poultry farms were tested for evidence of seroconversion at least once a year, with outdoor layer farms being tested three to four times per year. These data were used to estimate the introduction rates between different farm types (27). Serological sampling has also been performed in Australia but in small, sentinel free-range flocks located near waterfowl habitat and far from commercial chicken enterprises. Results from this sampling showed an extremely low introduction rate; from 2,000

Scott et al.

 TABLE 5 | Nodes, parameter estimates and input values used for the exposure assessment estimating the probability of exposure of commercial chickens on free-range layer farms (specifically in the Sydney basin region and South East Queensland) in Australia to low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) from wild birds.

Node	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
1. Type of wild bird on farm property	Waterfowl Shorebirds Other	Proportion of answers from farmers that reported the respective wild bird type on their property (Prop_WF; Prop_SH; Prop_O)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 140 answers of wild birds on the property (n); 44 answers of waterfowl; 33 answers of shorebirds; 63 answers of other wild birds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
2. Prevalence of LPAI in wild birds	Yes No	Probability of the different wild bird types; waterfowl, shorebirds or other, being infected with LPAI of H5 or H7 subtype in winter, summer, and autumn/spring (Prev_WF_Winter; Prev_WF_ Summer; Prev_WF_AuSp; Prev_SH_Winter; Prev_ SH_Summer; Prev_SH_AuSp; Prev_O_Winter; Prev_O_Summer; Prev_O_AuSp)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) multiplied by the proportion of H5 and H7 of total positive influenza A samples in New South Wales (NSW) for the seasons winter, summer, and autumn/spring Information on the values for waterfowl and shorebirds that informed the Beta distributions for the 3 seasons and the proportion of influenza A samples that are H5 and H7 subtypes can be obtained by contacting the corresponding author 1,552 other bird types samples (n), 1 positive other bird type sample (s); this Beta distribution used for all three seasons	Grillo et al. (1) Hansbro et al. (17) NSW NAIWB Surveillance unpublished data (2016)
 Respective wild bird type has been reported inside chicken sheds 	Yes No	Proportion of farms that witnessed the respective wild bird type inside chicken sheds on the farm. The data suggests the probability for waterfowl and shorebirds inside sheds is close to 0 and, therefore, a Pert distribution is used for these wild bird types (<i>Sheds_WF; Sheds_SH; Sheds_O</i>)	Sheds_WF = Pert (0, 0, 0.05) Sheds_SH = Pert (0, 0, 0.05) Sheds_O = Beta ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) 25 farms surveyed; 13 reported seeing other wild bird types in sheds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
 Respective wild bird type has been reported in other locations on the farm 	Waterbodies Feed storage	Proportion of answers from farmers that witnessed the respective wild bird type in the respective areas (<i>WB_WF</i> , <i>F_WF</i> ; <i>WB_SH</i> , <i>F_SH</i> ; <i>WB_O</i> , <i>F_O</i>)	Beta ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) 44 answers of waterfowl in other locations (n); 23 answers of waterfowl in waterbodies; 9 answers of waterfowl in feed storage areas, 12 answers of waterfowl on the range 33 answers of shorebirds in other locations (n); 12 answers of shorebirds in waterbodies; 9 answer of shorebirds in feed storage areas, 12 answers of shorebirds on the range 50 answers of other wild bird types in other locations (n); 14 answers of other bird types in waterbodies; 16 answers of other bird types in feed storage areas, 20 answers of other bird types on the range	Scott et al. (11, 13)
5. Suitable weather conditions for range access	Yes No	Probability that the weather conditions for seasons winter, summer, and autumn/spring are suitable for farmers to allow chickens on the range; when conditions are dry, between 17 and 28 C and there is no severe weather (<i>Range_Winter,</i> <i>Range_Summer, Range_AuSp</i>) (Probability of suitable temperature + dry conditions + no severe weather)	Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1) Winter: 13,248 winter hours recorded (n), 1,555 winter hours > 17C; 1,755 winter hours where precipitation > 1mm; 114 severe weather events in NSW, 1 severe weather events in Sydney basin in winter Summer: 13,248 summer hours recorded (n), 6,231.5 summer hours <28°C; 8,098.5 summer hours where precipitation >1 mm; 114 severe weather events in NSW, 64 severe weather events in Sydney basin in summer Autumn/Spring: 26,352 autumn/spring hours recorded (n), 9,338.5 autumn/spring hours >17°C and <28°C; 3,960.5 autumn/spring hours where precipitation >1 mm; 114 severe weather events in NSW, 49 severe weather events in Sydney basin in autumn/spring	Bureau of Meterology (23)
6. Birds are a suitable age for range access	Yes No	Proportion of the chicken's lifetime in which they are allowed onto the range (<i>Age</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) Average age at flock depopulation 87.32 weeks (n), average age allowed outside 22.94 weeks	Scott et al. (11, 13)
7. Birds actually go onto the range	Yes No	Proportion of flock that actually leave shed and use the range as reported by farmers (Use_Range)	Average of 25 Beta functions (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) Total flock proportion 100 (n); proportion of flock that use range (25 varying answers)	Scott et al. (11, 13)
				(Continue

Avian Influenza Exposure Risk Assessment

TABLE 5 | Continued

Node	Branch of node	Parameter estimates	Input values	Data sources
8. Aerial transmission of LPAI from wild birds to domestic chickens	Yes No	Probability of LPAI introduction via aerial dispersion from wild birds on waterbodies to chickens on farm (<i>Aerosol_WB</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 12 air samples tested at less than 100 m from 83 LPAI (H5N2) infected swans (n), 0 positive air samples obtained	Jonges et al. (18)
9. Surface water is used for chickens	Yes No	Proportion of answers from farmers that use surface water for the chicken farm (Surface_Water_Used)	Beta ($s + 1$, $n - s + 1$) 25 farms surveyed (n), 6 answers used surface water for farm	Scott et al. (11, 13)
10. Locations surface water is used for	Inside shed Outside shed	Proportion of answers from farmers that use surface water for inside the shed versus outside the shed (<i>Water_Inside_Used</i> , <i>Water_Outside_Used</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 22 answers of surface water use (<i>n</i>), 12 answers use surface water inside shed, 10 answers use surface water outside shed	Scott et al. (11, 13)
11. Water inside chicken sheds is treated	Yes No	Proportion of answers from farmers that treat water inside the chicken sheds (<i>Water_Inside_Treated</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 50 answers of water use inside chicken sheds (<i>n</i>), 48 answers of water treated inside chicken sheds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
12. Water outside chicken sheds is treated	Yes No	Proportion of answers from farmers that treat water used outside the shed (<i>Water_Outside_Treated</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 17 answers of water use outside chicken sheds (<i>n</i>), 14 answers of water treated outside chicken sheds	Scott et al. (11, 13)
 Chickens have escaped the shed or range area 	Yes No	Proportion of farms that have reported chickens unintentionally outside of the shed or range area (<i>Escape</i>)	Beta (s + 1, $n - s + 1$) 25 farms surveyed (n), 21 farms reported chickens escaped shed or range area	Scott et al. (11, 13)
14. Other indirect routes that can lead to LPAI introduction	Yes No	Probability that chickens will be exposed to LPAI virus via other indirect methods; boots, mice/rats, insects and pets combined into one probability (<i>Indirect</i>) (Probability of exposure from boots + mice/rats + insects + pets)	Probability of exposure from boots (PrBoots)6/63 answers did not use footbathsAl virus survival on boots is 3/6 days, considered high probability of exposurePrBoots = (6/63) × [Uniform (0.7, 1)]Probability of exposure from mice/rats (PrMice)19/63 answers had mice/rats in sheds12 mice inoculated (n), 0 positive on virus isolationPrMice = (10/25) × [Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1)]Probability of exposure from insects (PrInsects)25/63 answers had insects in sheds171 insects tested (n), 73 positive on virus isolationPrInsects = (25/63) × [Beta (s + 1, n - s + 1)]Probability of exposure from pets (PrIPets)13/63 answers allowed pets in sheds on range areaAl virus survival on feces is 2/6 days, considered moderate probability of exposurePrBoots = (13/63) × [Uniform (0.3, 0.5)]	Scott et al. (11, 13) Henzler et al. (24) Achenbach and Bowen (19) Nielsen et al. (20) Tiwari et al. (21) Nazir et al. (22)

77



FIGURE 1 | Scenario tree representing the exposure of chickens on non-free-range layer farms to low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) viruses from wild birds in Australia (*Prop_WF*, proportion of waterfowl answers reported on property, *Prop_SH*, proportion of shorebird answers reported on property, *Prop_O*, proportion of other bird types reported on property, *Prev_WildBird_Season*, prevalence of LPAI of the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in the respective season (winter, summer, or autumn/spring), *Sheds_WildBird*, proportion of farms that reported the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in feed storage areas, *WB_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in feed storage areas, *WB_WildBird*, proportion of farms that reported chickens escaping from shed, *Indirect*, probability of the occurrence of other indirect methods that can introduce LPAI (boots, mice/rats, insects, farm cats, or dogs), *Aerosol_WB*, probability of LPAI exposure from aerial dispersion of virus from wild birds on waterbodies, *Surface_Water_Used*, proportion of answers that surface water is used for chicken farm, *Water_Inside_Used*, proportion of answers that treat water used outside sheds, *Water_Outside_Treated*, proportion of answers that treat water used outside sheds).

samples collected over 8 years, 0.85% (17) samples tested positive for AI antibodies and 4.35% (87) were uncertain. The number of H5 and H7 subtypes was not determined in the study (33). Although useful, this information cannot be confidently applied to commercial chicken enterprises due to stark differences in the number of birds in a flock, management practices, and farm locations.

Probability of Direct and Indirect LPAI Exposure

The differences in the probability of direct and indirect exposure between free-range and non-free-range farms are likely due to the definitions of exposures types used in this model. Direct exposure is more likely to occur when chickens have access to the outdoors and, as such, exposure to the virus in non-freerange farms is more likely to occur through indirect pathways. Biosecurity refers to actions to prevent the introduction and spread of infectious agents. In relation to poultry enterprises this refers to practices, such as the use of foot baths, treatment of water, disinfection of equipment between sheds, and vermin control (34). It was found during on-farm surveys that non-freerange meat chicken farms were usually older farms with relatively poorer biosecurity compared to free-range meat chicken farms (12). This relative lack in biosecurity contributed to the highest median probability of indirect exposure occurring in non-freerange meat chicken farms compared to the rest of the farm types. This in combination with the relative restriction to the outdoors in free-range meat chicken farms lead to the higher overall probability of LPAI exposure in non-free-range meat chicken farms compared to free-range meat chicken farms. Biosecurity was also relatively lacking in cage layer farms compared to other farm types, where layer chickens were reported to escape the sheds to the feed storage areas and wild birds reported to be inside sheds (11, 12). This explains the relatively high probability of both direct and indirect LPAI exposure in cage layer farms compared to other farm types.

Another major introduction route implicated for LPAI is the contamination of drinking water for chickens with infective wild bird feces. At least half of all Australian HPAI outbreaks so far are likely to have been associated with the introduction of LPAI *via* contaminated drinking water (4, 35). However, on-farm survey results showed a high level of water treatment across all farm types. The treatment methods identified in the on-farm surveys were deemed adequate to deactivate LPAI, due to the fragile nature and short persistence of AI viruses in

the environment (21). Therefore, the use of surface water is not a highly influential parameter, also depicted in the sensitivity analyses, due to the high proportion of water treatment among all farm types. Overall, the treatment of water inside and outside sheds were not found to be significantly influential parameters. In general, it was found that water treatment inside sheds was more influential in the indoor, non-free-range farms compared to free-range farms due to the limited opportunities of direct exposure in indoor farm types.

The exposure sensitivity analysis revealed that the most influential parameters were related to waterfowl presence on the farm; particularly the proportion of waterfowl among wild birds on the property, waterfowl around feed storage areas, and waterfowl on the range. Waterfowl on waterbodies was not a highly influential parameter due to the high proportion of farms that treat surface water, as previously mentioned, and the low probability of aerosol transmission of LPAI from wild waterfowl on waterbodies to commercial chickens (18). However, waterbodies are an attractant for waterfowl and artificial waters, such as dams are used extensively by waterfowl (36) and it is expected that waterfowl on waterbodies in proximity to farms will move to feed storage areas or the range of the farm. To effectively reduce the probability of LPAI exposure to Australian commercial chickens, efforts must be considered to ethically and effectively deter waterfowl from chicken farms. However, farm dams play an important role in water supply and irrigation in Australian agriculture and so the removal of open water sources can be of a great detriment to the farmer (37). In addition, covering open water sources and netting ranges are cost prohibitive (38). Recommendations from a critical review on the deterrence of wild waterfowl from Australian poultry production areas include maintaining optimal grass height, preventing grass going to seed, improving drainage on range areas and around sheds, and prompt cleaning of feed spills around feed storage areas. Other sophisticated recommendations include the development of a 24/7 waterfowl monitoring system on farm and then trialing a range of cost-effective radar-activated on-demand auditory, visual, or physical deterrent systems (38).

Volume of Wild Birds on the Probability of LPAI Exposure

In addition to the presence of waterfowl in different areas of the farm, the actual number of waterfowl present as well as the prevalence of LPAI in waterfowl are highly influential on the potential number of exposures occurring. The 1994 H7N2



FIGURE 2 | Scenario tree representing the exposure of chickens on non-free-range meat chicken farms to low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) viruses from wild birds in Australia (*Prop_WF*, proportion of waterfowl answers reported on property, *Prop_SH*, proportion of shorebird answers reported on property, *Prop_O*, proportion of other bird types reported on property, *Prev_WildBird_Season*, prevalence of LPAI of the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in the respective season (winter, summer, or autumn/spring), *Sheds_WildBird*, proportion of farms that reported the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) inside chicken sheds on the farm, *F_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in feed storage areas, *WB_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in feed storage areas, *WB_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in feed storage areas, *WB_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in feed storage areas, *WB_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in feed storage areas, *WB_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in feed storage areas, *WB_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in feed storage areas, *Index fort*, probability of the occurrence of other indirect methods that can introduce LPAI (boots, mice/rats, insects, farm cats, or dogs), *Aerosol_WB*, probability of LPAI exposure from aerial dispersion of virus from wild birds on waterbodies, Surface_Water_Used, proportion of answers that surface water is used for chicken farm, *Water_Inside_Treated*, proportion of answers that

outbreak in Lowood, Queensland is a classic example of both Australian waterfowl movements and the impact of the number of waterfowl in a property. The outbreak occurred during severe drought and a river that constituted one border for the farm as well as a small dam near the entrance of the chicken sheds had attracted a large population of wild birds prior to the subsequent outbreak. LPAI was speculated to be introduced to the flock through contaminated drinking water (4). Currently, there is no available data that accurately estimates the number of wild birds that visit Australian commercial chicken farms over a certain



FIGURE 3 | Scenario tree representing the exposure of chickens on free-range layer and meat chicken farms to low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) viruses from wild birds in Australia (*Prop_WF*, proportion of waterfowl answers reported on property, *Prop_SH*, proportion of shorebird answers reported on property, *Prop_O*, proportion of other bird types reported on property, *Prev_WildBird_Season*, prevalence of LPAI of the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in the respective season (winter, summer, or autumn/spring), *Sheds_WildBird*, proportion of farms that reported the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) inside chicken sheds on the farm, *F_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in general storage areas, *WB_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in waterbodies on/near the farm, *R_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in waterbodies on/near the farm, *R_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in waterbodies on/near the farm, *R_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) in waterbodies on/near the farm, *R_WildBird*, proportion of answers that witnessed the respective wild bird type (waterfowl, shorebird, or other) on the range, *Escape*, proportion of farms that reported chickens escaping from shed and from range, *Indirect*, probability of the occurrence of other indirect methods that can introduce LPAI (boots, mice/rats, insects, farm cats, or dogs), *Aerosol_WB*, probability of LPAI exposure from aerial dispersion of virus from wild birds on waterbodies, *Surface_Water_Used*, *Outside_Used*, proportion of answers that surface water is used for chicken farm, *Water_Inside_Treated*, proportion of answers tha

TABLE 6 | Median (5 and 95 percentiles) probabilities of direct and indirect exposure of a chicken on the commercial chicken farm types (non-free-range meat chicken, free-range meat chicken, cage layer, barn layer, free-range layer) to low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) viruses for the first time at any point in time from wild birds in Australia (specifically in the Sydney basin bioregion and South East Queensland).

Exposure and farm type	Median	5%	95%	Fstatistic (degrees of freedom); p-value
Overall probability of exposure (d	irect and indirect)			
Non-free-range meat chicken	0.00037	0.00020	0.00064	F(4,4995) = 1812.63; < 0.0001
Free-range meat chicken	0.00032	0.00018	0.00057	
Cage layer	0.00032	0.00015	0.00063	
Barn layer	0.00030	0.00014	0.00058	
Free-range layer	0.00075	0.00057	0.00010	
Probability of direct exposure				
Non-free-range meat chicken	8.68 × 10 ⁻⁵	3.153 × 10 ⁻⁵	0.00019	F(4,4995) = 8927.21; < 0.0001
Free-range meat chicken	0.00016	8.45 × 10 ⁻⁵	0.00030	
Cage layer	0.00011	3.81 × 10 ⁻⁵	0.00025	
Barn layer	8.82 × 10 ⁻⁵	3.00×10^{-5}	0.00022	
Free-range layer	0.00056	0.00043	0.00073	
Probability of indirect exposure				
Non-free-range meat chicken	0.00027	0.00014	0.00053	F(4,4995) = 235.78; < 0.0001
Free-range meat chicken	0.00016	5.72 × 10 ⁻⁵	0.00036	
Cage layer	0.00020	7.76 × 10 ⁻⁵	0.00047	
Barn layer	0.00019	7.46×10^{-5}	0.00045	
Free-range layer	0.00017	9.38 × 10 ⁻⁵	0.00036	
Overall probability of exposure (d	irect and indirect-5 she	ds on the property)		
Non-free-range meat chicken	0.00185	0.001	0.0032	F(4,4995) = 1878.45; < 0.0001
Free-range meat chicken	0.0016	0.0009	0.00285	
Cage layer	0.0016	0.00075	0.00315	
Barn layer	0.0015	0.0007	0.0029	
Free-range layer	0.00375	0.00285	0.0005	
Overall probability of exposure (d	irect and indirect-10 sh	eds on the property)		
Non-free-range meat chicken	0.0037	0.002	0.0064	F(4,4995) = 1878.45; < 0.0001
Free-range meat chicken	0.0032	0.0018	0.0057	
Cage layer	0.0032	0.0015	0.0063	
Barn layer	0.003	0.0014	0.0058	
Free-range layer	0.0075	0.0057	0.001	

time period. Wildlife camera trapping work conducted by Scott et al. (13) demonstrated an average of 17 wild bird sightings a week. This is very likely an underestimate as the cameras did not capture the whole farm area. However, this data can be extrapolated, and it can be said that approximately 17 wild birds a week is equivalent to approximately 1,000 wild birds a year. Therefore, the number of exposures estimated in this study for 1,000 wild birds present at one point in time could indicate the cumulative expected number of exposures that can occur in one year. Accurate information of wild bird numbers can be obtained from manual wild bird farm surveys or the development of a 24/7 wild bird monitoring system on farm as was stated as a recommendation for wild waterfowl deterrence previously (38).

The Effects of Season on the Probability of LPAI Exposure

The probability of the first exposure to LPAI virus for a chicken on an Australian commercial chicken farm was found to be lowest in summer for all farm types. The highest probability was estimated to be in winter for chickens on free-range layer **TABLE 7** | Number of low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) virus exposures that would occur given a number of wild birds (*n*) and changes in the overall probability of LPAI exposure (*p*) with changes in the proportion of wild birds on the farm that are waterfowl and the prevalence of LPAI in waterfowl for the commercial chicken farm types (non-free-range meat chicken, free-range meat chicken, cage layer, barn layer, free-range layer) at any point in time out of 100 scenarios (or farms) using binomial distributions.

Waterfowl proportion		Sta	andard	I	1	00%			80%		1	00%		:	50%		5	0%	
Waterfowl LPAI prevalence		Standard		Standard		20%			10%			20%		1	0%				
Farm type	Number of wild birds	Median	5%	95%	Median	5%	95%	Median	5%	95%	Median	5%	95%	Median	5%	95%	Median	5%	95%
Non-free-range meat chicken	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	50	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1
	100	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1
	1,000	0	0	2	1	0	3	3	0	7	2	0	5	2	0	5	1	0	3
Free-range meat chicken	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	50	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0
	100	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1
	1,000	0	0	1	1	0	3	2	0	7	1	0	5	2	0	5	1	0	3
Cage layer	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	50	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0
	100	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1
	1,000	0	0	2	1	0	3	2	0	7	1	0	5	2	0	5	1	0	3
Barn layer	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	50	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0
	100	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1
	1,000	0	0	1	1	0	3	2	0	7	1	0	5	1	0	5	1	0	3
Free-range layer	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	50	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1
	100	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	2	0	0	2	0	0	2	0	0	1
	1,000	1	0	2	2	0	5	6	2	11	4	1	8	4	1	8	2	0	5



TABLE 8 | Median (5 and 95 percentiles) overall probabilities of exposure

 (direct and indirect) of a chicken on the commercial chicken farm types

 (non-free-range meat chicken, free-range meat chicken, cage layer, barn layer, free-range layer) to low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) viruses for the first time at any point in time during the three defined seasons; winter (June–August); summer (December–February); and autumn and spring (March–May and September–November); from wild birds in Australia (specifically in the Sydney basin bioregion and South East Queensland).

binomial distributions; WF, waterfowl.

Farm type	Median	5%	95%	Fstatistic (degrees of freedom); p-value
Winter				
Non-free-range meat chicken	0.00044	0.00024	0.00079	F(4,4995) = 2327.39; <0.0001
Free-range meat chicken	0.00039	0.00022	0.00068	
Cage layer	0.00038	0.00017	0.00077	
Barn layer	0.00035	0.00016	0.00070	
Free-range layer	0.00102	0.00076	0.0014	
Summer				
Non-free-range meat chicken	0.00019	0.00010	0.00034	F(4,4995) = 403.78; <0.0001
Free-range meat chicken	0.00018	9.06 × 10 ⁻⁵	0.00035	
Cage layer	0.00018	8.09×10^{-5}	0.00036	
Barn layer	0.00017	7.56 × 10 ⁻⁵	0.00033	
Free-range layer	0.00030	0.00020	0.00049	
Autumn/Spring				
Non-free-range meat chicken	0.00046	0.00026	0.00082	F(4,4995) = 1525.98; <0.0001
Free-range meat chicken	0.00039	0.00023	0.00069	
Cage layer	0.00040	0.00018	0.00079	
Barn layer	0.00036	0.00017	0.00072	
Free-range layer	0.00093	0.00069	0.0012	

farms and autumn/spring for the rest of the farms, except for free-range meat chicken farms which reported no difference between winter and autumn/spring. However, there were minor differences in the probabilities of exposure for all farm types between winter and autumn/spring overall. Among previous HPAI outbreaks in Australia, one occurred in winter (July), four in autumn and spring (May, October, and November), and two in summer (December and January). The three latest outbreaks that occurred in Tamworth (1997), Maitland (2012), and Young (2013) occurred in October or November (4, 39, 40). The mechanisms of mutation from LPAI to HPAI are poorly understood and difficult to predict. In some overseas outbreaks, LPAI viruses have been detected in domestic poultry weeks or months prior to the subsequent HPAI virus outbreaks (41). It could be speculated for the Australian HPAI outbreaks that occurred in summer, when the probability of LPAI exposure is estimated to be lowest compared to the other seasons, which introduction of the virus occurred during spring, the virus then circulated within the flock for months and mutation subsequently occurring in summer (42). On the other hand, Fusaro et al. (43) demonstrated that some H7 LPAI subtypes detected in Italy can mutate quickly in order to adapt to the new host species.

The seasonal variations in the probability of exposure are influenced by the wild bird LPAI prevalence data and the guidelines on outside weather conditions that determine whether or not chickens are provided access to the range. The overall prevalence of LPAI in Australian wild waterfowl at any point in time is approximately 2.5%. Seasonal effects on the prevalence of LPAI in wild birds within NSW do not appear to fluctuate as greatly as in the northern hemisphere (17). There is evidence to suggest that the fluctuation of wild bird LPAI prevalence in Australia is more dependent on rainfall patterns and bird movements, abundance and breeding particularly in Australian waterfowl (44, 45). In the northern hemisphere, there is generally a low prevalence of LPAI in winter, an increase in viral prevalence in summer, followed by a peak in prevalence in autumn (46, 47). This contrasts with NSW data which reveals a high prevalence of LPAI in winter and autumn/spring and a low prevalence in summer (17). In the northern hemisphere, the increased prevalence in summer is thought to be due to the progressive influx of immunonaïve juvenile waterfowl to the population, following breeding in spring (48). In Australia, the breeding seasons and movements



FIGURE 5 | Results of the sensitivity analysis on the exposure assessment depicting the change in probability (Y-axis) on the median overall probability of exposure (horizontal line) of a chicken on a commercial chicken farm to low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) virus from wild birds in Australia with changes of certain input variables listed in **Tables 4** and **5** (X-axis). Results were obtained from a simulation of 1,000 iterations using @Risk's Advanced Sensitivity Analysis. [(**A**) = non-free-range meat chicken; (**B**) = free-range meat chicken; (**C**) = cage layer; (**D**) = barn layer; (**E**) = free-range layer]; Prop_WF, proportion of waterfowl reported on property, WB_WF, proportion of responses that witnessed waterfowl in waterbodies on/near the farm, F_WF, proportion of responses that witnessed waterfowl on the range, Surface_Water_Used, proportion of responses that use surface water for the chicken farm, Water_Inside_Treated, proportion of farms that reported chickens escaping from shed [and from range for (**B**) and (**E**)], Indirect, probability of the occurrence of other indirect methods that can introduce LPAI (boots, mice/rats, insects, farm cats, or dogs).

of waterfowl are less predictable; many populations are nomadic, which contrasts with the waterfowl populations in the northern hemisphere which are well known for their annual migrations over long distances. Movements and breeding of Australian waterfowl are instead largely determined by the distribution of surface water and rainfall (49, 50). A high prevalence of LPAI may occur during periods of waterfowl congregation, such as during droughts. A particular example that supports this point is the 1994 H7N3 HPAI outbreak that occurred in Queensland, Australia, which took place during a period of severe drought. Water used for the farm was drawn from a river on the periphery of the farm and had attracted a large population of wild birds. This likely greatly increased the probability of LPAI exposure to the farm and lead to the HPAI outbreak (4).

Birds in the families Scolopacidae and Charadriidae (shorebirds and waders) do undergo annual migrations over long distances and visit Australasia (49). In the northern hemisphere, the arrival of migrant birds to the resident population coincides with the peak LPAI prevalence in autumn. Migrating birds may be more susceptible to infection from long distance flights and/ or relatively low immune resistance to locally circulating LPAI strains compared to resident birds (48). These shorebirds are more likely to become infected with local Australian LPAI subtypes rather than bring exotic strains of the virus into Australia; the probability of the latter occurring was previously estimated to be extremely low (51).

Conclusion

There are still many uncertainties related to the mechanisms of the LPAI virus introduction and exposure, particularly in Australian commercial chicken farm settings. However, the results of this study have used the best data available at this time. The results suggest that chickens on commercial freerange layer farms have approximately double the risk of LPAI exposure compared to other farm types. The probability of direct exposure is also more likely in both free-range layer and meat chicken farms compared to the other farm types. Moreover, the probability of LPAI exposure seems to be lower in summer compared to all other seasons and this is influenced by the prevalence of LPAI in wild birds and the weather conditions in which free-range chickens are allowed to go on the range. The proportion of waterfowl on the farm and the presence of waterfowl on the range and feed storage areas are the most influential parameters on the probability of exposure. These results highlight the importance of good biosecurity on farms, providing insight regarding the on-farm actions that can reduce the risk of LPAI exposure such as those related to waterfowl deterrence. In addition, the importance of continuous surveillance of Australian wild bird populations to monitor LPAI prevalence and subtypes is highlighted, as this can help predict future introductions and outbreaks. The need of further research in AI virus properties, particularly in an Australian context is also highlighted.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Human Ethics Committee of the University of Sydney, Australia with written informed consent from all subjects. The protocol was approved by the Human Ethics Committee of the University of Sydney, Australia (ethics reference number: 2015/252).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The first author ABS was involved in investigation, methodology, writing of the original draft, and reviewing and editing. J-AT formed initial conceptualization of the study, and was involved in formal analysis, methodology, project administration, supervision of ABS, and reviewing and editing the manuscript. MS was also involved in investigation, methodology, project administration, supervision of ABS, and reviewing and editing the manuscript. BB and KG were also involved in initial conceptualization of the study, formal analysis, methodology, and provided reviewing and editing. BM, AB, and PG were involved in conceptualization and project administration funding/support of the study. PG also provided methodology and supervision. BM provided reviewing and editing. MH-J was heavily involved in formal analysis of the results, conceptualization of the study, methodology, project administration, supervision of ABS, and reviewing and editing the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors extend thanks to the New South Wales Department of Primary Industries, the University of Newcastle and the National Avian Influenza Wild Birds Surveillance Program, which is funded by the Australian Government Department of Agriculture and Water Resources and is administered by Wildlife Health Australia, for their collaboration in providing wild bird LPAI virus prevalence data that were used in the exposure model. Egg and chicken meat companies and producers are also appreciated by the authors for their participation in the farm survey. This research was conducted within the Poultry Cooperative Research Centre (CRC) with support from the CRC and Woolworths Limited. The first author is also a recipient of a Post-graduate Scholarship from the Poultry CRC.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Poultry Cooperative Research Centre (CRC) (Sub-project number 1.5.7) and by Woolworths Limited. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, or preparation of the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2018.00068/ full#supplementary-material.

REFERENCES

- Grillo V, Arzey K, Hansbro P, Hurt A, Warner S, Bergfeld J, et al. Avian influenza in Australia: a summary of 5 years of wild bird surveillance. *Aust Vet J* (2015) 93(11):387–93. doi:10.1111/avj.12379
- Swayne D, Pantin-Jackwood M. Pathobiology of avian influenza virus infections in birds and mammals. In: Swayne D, editor. *Avian Influenza*. Iowa, USA: Blackwell Publishing (2009). p. 87–122.
- Animal Health Australia. *Emergency Animal Disease*. (2015). Available from: https://www.animalhealthaustralia.com.au/what-we-do/emergency-animaldisease/ (Accessed: March 2, 2016).
- Sims LD, Turner AJ. Avian influenza in Australia. In: Swayne D, editor. Avian Influenza. Iowa, USA: Blackwell Publishing (2009). p. 239–50.
- Moloney B, Arzey G, Wright T, Copper K. Highly pathogenic avian influenza near Maitland, NSW, in 2012. Proceedings of the Epidemiology Chapter of the Australian and New Zealand College of Veterinary Scientists Scientific Meeting. Gold Coast (2013). 47 p.
- Roth I. Avian influenza outbreak in young a synopsis. Proceedings of the Australasian Veterinary Poultry Association (AVPA) Scientific Meeting. Gold Coast (2014).
- Australian Chicken Meat Federation (ACMF) Inc. *The Australian Chicken* Meat Industry: An Industry in Profile. North Sydney, NSW: Australian Chicken Meat Federation (ACMF) Inc (2011).
- Australian Eggs. Annual Report 2016/17. North Sydney, NSW (2017). Available from: https://www.australianeggs.org.au/who-we-are/annualreports/ (Accessed: January 6, 2018).
- New South Wales Department of Primary Industries. NSW Poultry Egg Industry Overview 2015. Orange, NSW: New South Wales Department of Primary Industries (2015).
- Singh M, Ruhnke I, Koning CD, Glatz PC. Demographics and practices of semi-intesnive free-range farming systems in Australia with an outdoor stocking density of ≤1500 hens/hectare. *PLoS One* (2017) 12(10):e0187057. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0187057
- Scott AB, Singh M, Toribio JA, Hernandez-Jover M, Barnes B, Glass K, et al. Comparisons of management practices and farm design on Australian commercial layer and meat chicken farms: cage, barn and free range. *PLoS One* (2017) 12(11):e0188505. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0188505
- Scott AB, Singh M, Groves P, Hernandez-Jover M, Barnes B, Glass K, et al. Biosecurity practices on Australian commercial layer and meat chicken farms: Performance and perceptions of farmers. *PLoS ONE* (2018) 13(4):e0195582. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0195582
- Scott AB, Phalen D, Hernandez-Jover M, Singh M, Groves P, Toribio AJ-AL. Wildlife presence and interactions with chickens on Australian commercial chicken farms assessed by camera traps. *Avian Dis* (2017).
- World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE). Chapter 2.1. Import Risk Analysis. *Terrestrial Animal Health Code*. Paris: World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE) (2011). Available from: https://www.oie.int/doc/ged/ D10905.PDF (Accessed: July 15, 2015).
- Scott AB, Toribio J-ALML, Singh M, Groves P, Barnes B, Glass K, et al. Low- and high-pathogenic avian influenza H5 and H7 spread risk assessment within and between Australian commercial chicken farms. *Front Vet Sci* (2018) 5:63. doi:10.3389/fvets.2018.00063
- Martin P, Cameron A, Greiner M. Demonstrating freedom from disease using multiple complex data sources 1: a new methodology based on scenario trees. *Prev Vet Med* (2007) 79(2-4):71–97.
- Hansbro PM, Warner S, Tracey JP, Arzey KE, Selleck P, O'Riley K, et al. Surveillance and analysis of avian influenza viruses, Australia. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2010) 16(12):1896–904. doi:10.3201/eid1612.100776
- Jonges M, Leuken JV, Wouters I, Koch G, Meijer A, Koopmans M. Windmediated spread of low pathogenic avian influenza virus into the environment during outbreaks at commercial poultry farms. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(5):e0125401. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0125401
- Achenbach JE, Bowen RA. Transmission of avian influenza A viruses among species in an artificial barnyard. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(3):e17643. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0017643
- Nielsen AA, Sovgard H, Stockmarr A, Handberg KJ, Jorgensen PH. Persistence of low-pathogenic avian influenza H5N7 and H7N1 subtypes in house flies (Diptera: Muscidae). *J Med Entomol* (2011) 48(3):608–14. doi:10.1603/ ME11017

- Tiwari A, Patnayak DP, Chander Y, Parsad M, Goyal SM. Survival of two avian respiratory viruses on porous and nonporous surfaces. *Avian Dis* (2006) 50(2):284–7. doi:10.1637/7453-101205R.1
- Nazir J, Haumacher R, Ike AC, Marschang RE. Persistence of avian influenza viruses in lake sediment, duck feces, and duck meat. *Appl Environ Microbiol* (2011) 77(14):4981–5. doi:10.1128/AEM.00415-11
- 23. Bureau of Meterology. *Weather Station Directory*. (2016). Available from: http://www.bom.gov.au/climate/data/stations/ (Accessed: February 4, 2016).
- 24. Henzler D, Kradel D, Davison S, Ziegler A, Singletary D, DeBok P, et al. Epidemiology, production losses, and control measures associated with an outbreak of avian influenza subtype H7N2 in Pennsylvania (1996–98). *Avian Dis* (2003) 47:1022–36. doi:10.1637/0005-2086-47. s3.1022
- Scott P, Turner A, Bibby S, Chamings A. In: Department of Agriculture Fisheries and Forestry, editor. *Structure and Dynamics of Australia's Commercial Poultry* and Ratite Industries. Moonee Ponds, VIC: Scolexia Animal and Avian Health Consultancy (2009).
- Thomas M, Bouma A, Ekker H, Fonken A, Stegeman J, Nielen M. Risk factors for the introduction of high pathogenicity avian influenza virus into poultry farms during the epidemic in the Netherlands in 2003. *Prev Vet Med* (2005) 69:1–11. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2004.12.001
- Gonzales JL, Stegeman JA, Koch G, Wit SJD, Elbers AR. Rate of introduction of a low pathogenic avian influenza virus infection in different poultry production sectors in the Netherlands. *Influenza Other Respi Viruses* (2012) 7(1):6–10. doi:10.1111/j.1750-2659.2012.00348.x
- Swayne D. Epidemiology of avian influenza in agricultural and other manmade systems. In: Swayne D, editor. *Avian Influenza*. Iowa, USA: Blackwell Publishing (2009). p. 59–86.
- 29. Arzey G. Low pathogenic avian influenza in Australia and implications. Proceedings of the Australasian Veterinary Poultry Association (AVPA) Scientific Meeting. Sydney (2013).
- 30. Australian Chief Veterinary Office. Detection of Low Pathogenic (LP) and Highly Pathogenic (HP) Avian Influenza Virus (AIV) in Flocks of Layers, Breeders and Meat Birds in Australia. Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee (2015). Available from: https://www.aph.gov.au/~/ media/Committees/rrat_ctte/estimates/bud_1516/ag/answers/QoN62-64. pdf (Accessed: January 10, 2018).
- Animal Health Australia. Disease Strategy: Avian Influenza (Version 3.4). Australian Veterinary Emergency Plan (AUSVETPLAN). 3rd ed. Canberra, ACT: Primary Industries Ministerial Council (2011).
- United States Department of Agriculture. National Poultry Improvement Plan. Georgia, USA: Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (2017). Available from: www.poultryimprovement.org/ (Accessed: January 6, 2018).
- East I, Ainsworth C, Warner S, Dunowska M, Azuolas J. Seroconversion to avian influenza virus in free-range chickens in the Riverland region of Victoria. Aust Vet J (2010) 88(8):290–3. doi:10.1111/j.1751-0813.2010. 00601.x
- Department of Agriculture Fisheries and Forestry. National Farm Biosecurity Manual Poultry Production. Canberra, ACT: Commonwealth of Australia (2009).
- Alexander D, Capua I. Avian influenza in poultry. Worlds Poult Sci J (2008) 24:513–32. doi:10.1017/S0043933908000184
- 36. Read J. A strategy for minimizing waterfowl deaths on toxic waterbodies. *J Appl Ecol* (1999) 36:345–50. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2664.1999.00407.x
- Tingey-Holyoak JL. Water sharing risk in agriculture: perceptions of farm dam management accountability in Australia. *Agric Water Manag* (2014) 145:123. doi:10.1016/j.agwat.2014.02.011
- Atzeni M, Fielder D, Thomson B. Deterrence of wild waterfowl from poultry production areas: a critical review of current techniques and literature. *Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation (RIRDC)*. Wagga Wagga: Australian Government (2016).
- New South Wales Government. *Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (H7N7)* Maitland- Control and Eradication. (2012). Available from: http://archive.dpi. nsw.gov.au/content/media-releases/2012/avian-influenza-hunter (Accessed: April 5, 2015).
- Department of Agriculture and Water Resources. *High Pathogenic Avian* Influenza – Young, NSW. (2013). Available from: http://www.agriculture.gov. au/about/media-centre/communiques/high-pathogenic-avian-influenzaa-young-nsw (Accessed: March 2, 2016).

- Stech J, Mettenleiter TC. Virulence determinants of high-pathogenic avian influenza viruses in gallinaceous poultry. *Future Virol* (2013) 8(5):459–68. doi:10.2217/fvl.13.27
- Richard M, Fouchier R, Monne I, Kuiken T. Mechanisms and risk factors for mutation from low to highly pathogenic avian influenza virus. *Eur Food Saf Auth* (2017) 14(10):EN-1287. doi:10.2903/sp.efsa.2017.EN-1287
- Fusaro A, Tassoni L, Hughes J, Milani A, Salviato A, Schivo A, et al. Evolutionary trajectories of two distinct avian influenza epidemics: parallelisms and divergences. *Infect Genet Evol* (2015) 34:457–66. doi:10.1016/j.meegid.2015. 05.020
- Tracey JP. Risk-based surveillance of avian influenza in Australia's wild birds. Wildl Res (2010) 37(2):134–44. doi:10.1071/WR09152
- 45. Ferenczi M, Beckmann C, Warner S, Loyn R, O'Riley K, Wang X, et al. Avian influenza infection dynamics under variable climatic conditions, viral prevalence is rainfall driven in waterfowl from temperate, south-east Australia. Vet Res (2016) 47:23. doi:10.1186/s13567-016-0308-2
- Causey D, Edwards SV. Ecology of avian influenza virus in birds. J Infect Dis (2008) 197:29–33. doi:10.1086/524991
- Vandegrift KJ, Sokolow SH, Daszak P, Kilpatrick AM. Ecology of avian influenza viruses in a changing world. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2010) 1195:113–28. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05451.x
- van-Dijk JG, Hoye BJ, Verhagen JH, Nolet BA, Fouchier RA, Klaassen M. Juveniles and migrants as drivers for seasonal epizootics of avian

influenza virus. J Anim Ecol (2014) 83:266-75. doi:10.1111/1365-2656. 12131

- Tracey JP, Woods R, Roshier D, West P, Saunders GR. The role of wild birds in the transmission of avian influenza for Australia: an ecological perspective. *Emu* (2004) 104:109–24. doi:10.1071/MU04017
- 50. Cooper RM, McAllan IA, Curtis BR. *An Atlas of the Birds of NSW and the ACT*. Gordon, NSW: Minipublishing (2014).
- East IJ, Hamilton S, Garner G. Identifying areas of Australia at risk of H5N1 avian influenza infection from exposure to migratory birds: a spatial analysis. *Geospat Health* (2008) 2(2):203–13. doi:10.4081/gh.2008.244

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Scott, Toribio, Singh, Groves, Barnes, Glass, Moloney, Black and Hernandez-Jover. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Linking Supply Chain Governance and Biosecurity in the Context of HPAI Control in Western Java: A Value Chain Perspective

Dikky Indrawan^{1*}, Karl M. Rich², Peter van Horne³, Arief Daryanto⁴ and Henk Hogeveen^{1,5}

¹ Business Economics Group, Wageningen University & Research, Wageningen, Netherlands, ² East and Southeast Asia Regional Office, International Livestock Research Institute, Hanoi, Vietnam, ³ Wageningen Economic Research, Wageningen University & Research, Wageningen, Netherlands, ⁴ Business School, Bogor Agricultural University, Bogor, Indonesia, ⁵ Department of Farm Animal Health–Epidemiology, Utrecht University, Utrecht, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mathilde C. Paul, Ecole Nationale Vétérinaire de Toulouse, France

Reviewed by:

Nicolas Antoine-Moussiaux, University of Liège, Belgium Virginie Baritaux, VetAgro Sup, France

> *Correspondence: Dikky Indrawan dikky.indrawan@wur.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 21 August 2017 Accepted: 20 April 2018 Published: 02 May 2018

Citation:

Indrawan D, Rich KM, van Horne P, Daryanto A and Hogeveen H (2018) Linking Supply Chain Governance and Biosecurity in the Context of HPAI Control in Western Java: A Value Chain Perspective. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:94. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00094 Despite extensive efforts to control the highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI), it remains endemic in Western Java, Indonesia. To understand the limited effectiveness of HPAI control measures, it is important to map the complex structure of the poultry sector. The governance of the poultry value chain in particular, could play a pivotal role, yet there is limited information on the different chain governance structures and their impacts on HPAI control. This article uses value chain analysis (VCA), focusing on an in-depth assessment of governance structures as well as transaction cost economics and quantitative estimates of the market power of different chain actors, to establish a theoretical framework to examine biosecurity and HPAI control in the Western Java poultry chain. During the research, semi-structured interviews were conducted with key value-chain stakeholders, and the economic performance of identified actors was estimated. Results indicated the co-existence of four different poultry value chains in West Java: the integrator chain, the semi-automated slaughterhouse chain, the controlled slaughter-point chain, and the private slaughter-point chain. The integrator chain was characterized by the highest levels of coordination and a tight, hierarchical governance. In contrast, the other three types of value chains were less coordinated. The market power of the different actors within the four value chains also differed. In more integrated chains, slaughterhouses held considerable market power, while in more informal value chains, market power was in the hands of traders. The economic effects of HPAI and biosecurity measures also varied for the identified actors in the different value chains. Implementation of biosecurity and HPAI control measures was strongly related to the governance structure of the chain, with interactions between different chains and governance structures accentuating the risk of HPAI. Our findings highlight that a proper understanding of the chain governance structure is vital to improve the effectiveness of HPAI control measures, by making the interventions more specific and fit-for-purpose given the incentive structures present in different chains.

Keywords: value chain analysis, HPAI, chain governance, diversity of transactions, transaction cost economics, biosecurity

INTRODUCTION

Highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) H5N1 is an important endemic disease in Indonesia (1, 2). HPAI outbreaks negatively affect public health but also food safety, social wellbeing and the broader economy. HPAI has been difficult to control in Indonesia for a variety of reasons. These include the limited capacity for prerequisite programs that address HPAI prevention, limited disease surveillance activities, and low levels of public health regulation. Likewise, the Indonesian government has had difficulties implementing its planned HPAI control programs. For instance, vaccination at the farm level has not been effectively implemented (3), while surveillance activities for HPAI through the Participatory Disease Surveillance and Response program have had only limited success (4, 5). There were many cases of under-reporting of HPAI due to farmer fears for mandatory culling without proper compensation (6). Efforts to apply biosecurity measures in both the small-scale commercial (termed "sector 3" by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations) and backyard (sector 4) poultry farms were largely unsuccessful. The proximity and mutual interaction of both types of smallholder poultry systems often reinforce disease dynamics and perpetuate recurrent "infection cycles" of HPAI (6).

An important underlying reason for the failure of HPAI control programs in Indonesia lies in the organizational and institutional structure of the poultry sector (7). The structure of rearing and selling poultry comprises all activities and interactions from farmer to consumer, and in Indonesia, that structure is complex with multiple links and interactions. Although the Indonesian poultry sector consists of a number of different value chains, there is a noteworthy lack of understanding of the structure of the existing value chains, the nature of value chain links and interactions, and how the poultry sector structure affects efforts to control HPAI. As noted by Rich and Perry (8), "weak" links in the chain can compromise control efforts at other stages, and as such, it is crucial to identify the incentives and pressures that drive these actors to work in "sub-optimal" ways from a disease control standpoint (even if economically rational). Therefore, understanding poultry value chain structures and their influence on HPAI control is important to develop incentives that drive chain actors to implement control measures. This can be achieved by employing value chain analysis (VCA) to analyze the marketing and governance structure of value chains.

An often overlooked aspect of the value chain is its governance structure, defined as the mechanisms that drive the coordination of transactions between actors. Value chains can be tightly governed through contracts or vertical integration where demands for quality or other product attributes are necessary. By contrast, transactions in traditional chains are simply governed by price and availability. Insight into the governance structure further reveals the power relations, which can be expressed in terms of diversity of transactions. When transactions are coordinated by a dominant chain actor, the ability of, or incentives for certain actors to comply with disease control will be affected.

Given our interest in linking VCA results to the control of HPAI, we used transaction cost economics (TCE) to relate governance to biosecurity practices (9). Which type of governance minimizes transaction costs depends on the relationship-specific investments (asset specificity) (9). Investments in biosecurity are one form of asset-specificity. In the case of HPAI control, these investments can be seen as risk mitigation practices that bind partners into tighter forms of coordination and improve incentives to control disease. In Indonesia, biosecurity investments and practices vary across different forms of value chain governance. Differences in biosecurity practices cause different risks of HPAI incursion within and between poultry chains. Moreover, where multiple types of value chain governance co-exist, there could be a variety of market and governance failures that spill over across different chains, driving the endemicity of HPAI. Since dominant actors may have a more significant role in the control of HPAI, we need to identify those actors that govern the chain. One approach to identify the dominant actor is by evaluating the chains' economic performance and the distribution of profits over the various actors within the value chain (10). A proper understanding of the poultry value chain and its governance is vital to drive improved adoption of HPAI control strategies of different value chain stakeholders (8).

Research applying VCA in the context of animal diseases has emphasized the importance of the value chain perspective to evaluate livestock disease management strategies. VCA provides information on the flow of materials, resources, commodities, and value-adding activities between the different parts of the value chain (e.g., (7, 11-15). In the context of HPAI in Indonesia, research adopting a value chain perspective has been limited. Existing literature includes study chronicling the HPAI situation on Java (16); a case study of HPAI in Bogor (17); a qualitative risk assessment of HPAI (6); a study examining the alignment of poultry sector actors with avian influenza control in Indonesia (18); and a study identifying risk factors of HPAI (5). These research outputs from the International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI) and the FAO highlight the complexity of different poultry value chains in Indonesia, but do not provide an in-depth assessment of governance structures or the diversity of transactions with respect to HPAI control. Sudarman et al. (17) come closest in this regard, but their focus is more holistic, zooming on the chain rather than on governance as such.

The objective of this study is to assess the complexity of poultry value chain structures and their influence on HPAI control in Western Java, paying particular attention to the relationship between value chain structures, actors, governance, and economic performance. The study focuses on relations across different types of actors and does not explore the horizontal links within different chain nodes or public governance. The study provides an in-depth discussion of the poultry chain that explains critical control points for HPAI and where policy can more effectively intervene taking the complexity of the marketing chain into account. More detailed information about governance and transaction diversity in Western Java will improve our understanding of the poultry value chain, and the role governance plays in shaping economic motivations and behavior of value chain actors. Thus, such information can be used to incentivize all actors to participate in fit-for-purpose HPAI control strategies in Western Java.

ANALYTICAL AND THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

To understand the diversity of transactions and governance structures of the poultry value chain, we used three complementary approaches. We first performed a value chain analysis (VCA), following Kaplinsky and Morris(2001), and applied it in an animal health context as in Rich and Wanyoike(11). This was followed by an analysis where we linked governance typologies to biosecurity practices (9, 10, 19). Finally, from the first two approaches, we derived quantitative estimates of economic performance (10). The results from these three approaches were combined to assess the risk factors of HPAI introduction and transmission, and the consequences of HPAI in the absence of government intervention.

First, VCA was used to construct the network of input-output relationships of the poultry supply chain. VCA tools allow practitioners to create a value chain map for the traditional and modern channels describing the actors and the nature of value chain governance structures. Value-chains represent the various processes involved in producing goods in the supply chain based on the notion of value-added at the production level. Once a value chain map has been identified, other approaches can be used together with VCA to obtain more insight into the poultry chain.

Second, governance structures were classified through the typology of Gereffi et al. (19). This typology illustrates the diversity of transactions triggered by the dominant actor's needs, shifting the degree of coordination, the capabilities in the supply base, the ability to codify transactions and the complexity of transactions in the value chain. In this typology, Gereffi et al. (19) identified five types of governance structures based on the degree of transaction coordination between value chain actors. The most loosely coordinated mode of governance is through markets, i.e., on the basis of price and availability. A modular form of governance involves customization of a product by a seller to a buyer without any other form of explicit coordination. Relational governance involves transactions facilitated through specific relationships and mutual dependence between buyers and sellers (e.g., family ties). Captive governance typically involves the direct coordination of transactions by the buyer through contracts and the provision of inputs and technical support. Captive governance is often required when product specifications are exacting, necessitating tighter control of transactions by the buyer to ensure quality control. Finally, vertical integration involves transactions taking place solely within one organization or firm to ensure compliance with internal processes, rather than taking the risk of working with independent suppliers.

Using insights from TCE, we identified how different types of value chain governance patterns influence biosecurity practices. TCE helps to justify the rationale associated with different types of coordination (governance) mechanisms (20). The underlying assumption of the TCE approach is that the actors will choose the governance form that minimizes transaction costs. Three aspects of transaction cost underpin these decisions: the level of asset specificity, the level of uncertainty, and the frequency of transaction. Asset specificity refers to the degree of relationshipspecific investments made by two parties to facilitate their transactions. Investments that are highly specific are unlikely to be productively re-used for other purposes, serving to bind actors more closely together. In such cases, tighter forms of coordination, such as contracts or vertical integration are required to protect those investments. Similarly, as the level of uncertainty (risk) and the transaction frequency (e.g., the intensity of exchange, number of times the same transactions take place) increase, greater coordination and tighter governance structures may be necessary. We posit that different types of biosecurity practices in different chains may be influenced by the coordination mechanisms associated with the governance structure of the value chain.

Third, we estimated economic performance via VCA to quantify the value added for each channel. Kaplinsky and Morris (10) define power as the ability of one party "to force other parties to take particular actions" or "to be deaf to demands of others". Our power estimation used the value chain structure to estimate chain conduct in terms of price and quantity decisions. The estimated profits and the profitability were used as a measure of economic performance. Economic performance is an essential parameter to understand the pattern of returns as part of distributional outcomes in the value chain, showing the added value (output value minus input costs) for each link of the chain (10). The share of chain value added can be an indicator of a firm's power, but qualitative indicators can be more relevant. Chain actors with a relatively high economic performance (profitability) can be seen as actors with a relatively high market power. They are able to exploit high prices and/or create barriers to entry (21). Knowledge about the share of chain value added can support other indicators that analyze power asymmetries such as the market structures (the number of buyers versus the number of sellers), the degree of dependence between buyers and sellers, and the characterization of the governance structures.

Finally, we assessed the risk factors of HPAI introduction and transmission and the consequences of failure to control HPAI in the chain. We looked at the enabling conditions generated under the different forms of value chain governance. Four factors can be used to identify the risk of HPAI introduction and transmission in relation with the value chain map, governance structure and the implementation of biosecurity: (1) the number of actors involved (22), (2) the frequency of contacts with a possible source (22, 23), (3) the number of links within the chain stages (13) and (4) the contact structure in the poultry chain (5, 13, 14, 22, 23). These four factors can be assessed based on the value chain map, the governance typologies present in each chain, and how they relate to the biosecurity practices in place.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Table 1 shows the relation between the theoretical framework and the data collection process, and provides details on the specific actors interviewed during the study. We carried out three workshops, seven site visits and 26 in-depth interviews with several key value chain stakeholders, to assess the governance and biosecurity practices in the different identified poultry value chains. The data collected during the early phases of our research were validated in later steps. This enabled us to make a thorough assessment of governance in the poultry value chain,

TABLE 1 | Data collection and respondents.

Approaches	Steps	Data Collected	Interviewed Actors
Value Chain Map	Workshop 1 (focus group discussions) in December 2013	ActorsProduction systemsInput, output, cost, price	 4 high-level representatives of large integrated companies, the chairman of slaughter house association representative (ARPHUIN)
	Workshop 2 (focus group discussions) in December 2013	ActorsProduction systemsInput, output, cost, price	 2 representatives of a small semi-automated slaughterhouse in Bogor the chairman of the union of farmer association (GOPAN)
Value chain governance typology, TCE	Site visits in December 2013	ActorsProduction systemsBiosecurityChain governanceTCE	 1 poultry farm, 1 collecting farm, 1 integrator slaughterhouse, 2 semi-automated slaughterhouses, 1 slaughter-point/wet market, 1 specialty store
	In-depth interviews 1 in January 2014	 Actors Production systems Biosecurity practices Chain governance TCE 	 1 specially store 2 representatives of the banking sectors, 2 government officials, 2 representatives of farmer associations, 1 representative of traders 1 representative of a traditional private slaughter-point associations 1 integrator slaughterhouse, 2 semi-automated slaughterhouses
Value chain governance typology, TCE (validation)	In-depth interviews 2 in January 2014 In-depth interviews 3 in September to November 2015	 Actors Production systems Biosecurity practices Chain governance TCE Actors Production systems Biosecurity practices Chain governance TCE 	 the Chairman of the Poultry Farmer Association (PINSAR) the Chairman of the Federation of the Indonesian Poultry Society (FMPI). 1 representative of academia 1 representative of the banking sectors 2 government officials, 2 representatives of farmer associations, 1 representative of a traditional private
Value chain economic performance (quantitative estimates of the market power)	Workshop 3 (focus group discussions) in in March 2015	 Actors Production systems Inputs per stage Outputs per stage Costs per stage Prices per stage Simulations 	 slaughter-point associations 1 integrator slaughterhouse, 3 semi-automated slaughterhouses 2 specialty stores 2 consultants 4 government officials 3 semi-automated slaughterhouses 1 representative automated slaughterhouse 1 representative of Farmer Associations (PINSAR) 1 representative of the union of farmer

as compared to more conventional VCA studies. The interviews were based on semi-structured questionnaires. We specified the questions for the typology according to Gereffi et al. (19) on the degree of coordination, the capabilities in the supply base, the ability to codify transactions and the complexity of transactions. Questions regarding TCE were aimed at three aspects: the level of asset specificity, the level of uncertainty, and the frequency of transactions within each chain. We interviewed the respondents about biosecurity practices based on the FAO poultry biosecurity guidelines.

The different workshops also provided information about (1) actor roles in coordination mechanisms such as the setting of

product and process standards(for biosecurity and food safety); (2) the monitoring of performance, environmental standards, labor standards and conformance to ISO and HACCP standards; and (3) the different roles of actors in the implementation of sanctions whenever the performance of other actors within their chain does not meet the pre-specified requirements.

The key value chain stakeholders interviewed in this study were the Federation of the Indonesian Poultry Society (FMPI) (the only organization uniting all poultry actors in the region), the slaughterhouse association (ARPHUIN) that represents the modern chain, the Union of Farmers Association (GOPAN) in Indonesia, the Poultry Farmers Association (PINSAR) representing the major group of farmers in Indonesia, the traditional private slaughterpoint associations, and two government agencies (the agricultural agency and a regional office). We also interviewed other actors such as consultants and representatives from meat-specialty stores, the banking sector and academia.

The data were processed in five steps. First, the value chain map was drawn and completed with the number of actors. Subsequently, the map was classified based on the governance typology. Third, we calculated the economic performance of the governance structure using quantitative estimates. Fourth, we linked details on the value chain governance structure using TCE and the assessment of biosecurity practices. Lastly, we linked the governance structure with the economic consequences of HPAI in the absence of government intervention.

Quantitative estimates of the market power of different chain actors were based on enterprise budgets for each chain actor group by estimating costs of input, returns, and added value.

- 1. The output of Western Java poultry production was estimated based on the situation in 2013 using secondary data from the Agricultural Census (24). Total farm output was based on the number of broilers in three provinces: West Java, Banten, and DKI Jakarta.
- 2. The total farm output of Western Java was divided over the traditional and the modern channels. Since no exact information on the distribution of output over the chains was available, we made an estimation based on the focus group discussions and interviews. We assumed that farms in sectors 1 (industrial and integrated farms) and 2 (commercial poultry production with high biosecurity farms) served the modern channel and that farms in sectors 3 (commercial poultry production with low biosecurity farms) and 4 (village or backyard poultry farms) served the traditional channel. The output of these four farm types was distributed over the slaughterhouses and collecting points in their respective value chains.
- 3. For each actor group in the identified value chains, we calculated output in kilograms of poultry products based on the available knowledge on production size. Since weight was used as the unit of output, farm output was measured in terms of weight of delivered poultry, while slaughterhouse output depended on the carcass weight
- 4. For each actor, we calculated fixed costs, variable costs, and added value based on the situation in 2013, using secondary data from the Agricultural Census (24).
- 5. Revenues were calculated as the output of products multiplied by the product market price (average yearly price in 2013).
- 6. Finally, for each actor group, we calculated the profitability per chain stage (based on a cycle of production activity for farmers, and on a day of selling and production activities for collecting farms and slaughterhouses) by subtracting the costs from the returns. A cycle of production activity for a farmer refers to the growth cycle of poultry from day 1 until harvest.
- 7. All calculations were made in Indonesian Rupiah and then converted into Euro using the December 2013 exchange rate.
- 8. The results are presented as a comparison of total profit margin relative to the total turnover in a given chain. The total turnover was defined as the total sales revenue.

RESULTS

Mapping the Poultry Value Chain

The analysis revealed two main marketing channels for poultry in West Java, which are illustrated in Figure 1. These channels were classified as the modern and traditional channels only serving the domestic market. The two marketing channels provide poultry meats with different characteristics. The modern channel produces cooled and frozen poultry meat, while the traditional channel produces freshly cut poultry meat without refrigeration or freezing. Therefore, these channels attracted different consumers with different preferences for poultry meat. Within these two channels, four specific chains could be distinguished: the integrator chain and the semi-automated slaughterhouse chain in the modern channel, and the controlled slaughter-point chain and the private slaughter-point chain in the traditional channel. Figure 1 illustrates the production and financial flows of the four different chains, and identifies the different links within and between the different value chains. The production flows are represented by the downward arrows, while the financial flows are represented by the dashed upward arrows. Stakeholders were characterized as internal or external actors, based on their involvement in the physical transport in the production flows. All stakeholders had both a direct and an indirect influence on the poultry transactions.

Most actors in the Western Java poultry chain were internal chain actors who are physically involved in the meat production and distribution, such as farms, collecting farms, transporters, slaughterhouses, slaughter-points, food processors and retails. These actors differed in number (Figure 1) and in their production characteristics. They were involved in transporting live birds and carcasses, using different transportation modes to end consumers. Live birds were produced at farms, and the mode of production depended on the farming system (sectors 1–4). The live birds from sector 1-2 that go to the modern channel were transported directly to the slaughterhouses, while the live birds from sector 2-4 that go to the traditional channel were transported through collecting farms. We noticed a relationship between sector 2 farms from the modern channel and the collecting farms from the traditional channel. Transport tools were owned by both slaughterhouses and collecting farms. Collecting farms are poultry shelters where live birds are brought together and sold. There are two types of collecting farms: controlled collecting farms and private collecting farms. The controlled collecting farms operate in a centralized government area, set up by the government to control the spread of HPAI. The government relocated many private collecting farms to a location owned by the government in order to control live bird movements. By contrast, private collecting farms operate in private locations or through home slaughtering. The average weight of live birds was 2.15 kg for sector 1, 1.5 kg for sector 2 and 1.3 kg for sectors 3 and 4. The average carcass weight by sector was 1.46 kg for sector 1, 1.13 kg for sector 2 and 0.98 kg for sectors 3 and 4.

Live birds were collected and processed in a slaughterhouse (automated or semi-automated) or slaughter-point (manual process), after which they were sold on the market. Live birds from private collecting farms that were to be slaughtered in private slaughter-points were transported by motorcycle. The transporters were informal actors, working part-time



and receiving fees from the private slaughter points for their services. There were four types of slaughterhouse systems: the integrator slaughterhouse, the semi-automated slaughterhouse, the controlled slaughter-points, and the private slaughter-points. The integrator slaughterhouses consists of slaughter plants with modern equipment and holding HACCP, ISO, and state (NKV) certificates. The slaughter process at semi-automated slaughterhouses involves automated general stunning (water bath) and plucking, and transportation in shackles, but with all other work in the plant conducted manually. At controlled slaughter-points an actor that bought poultry from the controlled collecting farms, slaughters it in a centralized government area.

Private slaughter-points are private houses in front of which workers slaughter poultry.

The total output was distributed in accordance to the focus group discussion results. The total output from sector 1 was distributed to the integrator chain. We assumed that the excess supply from sector 2 was distributed over the two chains in the traditional channel. Therefore, the higher quality output from sector 2 was distributed to the automated slaughterhouse (50%), while the lower quality was distributed to the controlled slaughter-point chain (5%), and the private slaughter-point chain (45%). Next, the output from sector 3 was distributed to the controlled slaughter-point chain (10%), and the private slaughter-point chain (90%). The total output from sector 4 was distributed to the private slaughter-point chain.

From the slaughterhouses, poultry meat was transported and sold to food processors, modern outlets such as supermarkets, and meat specialty stores. These outlets applied a cold chain and adhered to specific quality standards. Poultry meat from slaughterpoints, however, was transported and sold through traditional channel outlets, such as wet markets and street vendors. These outlets sold fresh poultry meat using a temporary structure or mobile stall.

The transaction product flows in the internal chain differed across the modern and traditional chains. In the modern channel, the transactions were coordinated with rules and standards, while the traditional channel engaged in on-the-spot transactions, with low entry barriers but asymmetries in information among actors.

We identified a number of external actors that played a role in the value chain as business enablers, but were not necessarily physically involved in the production or distribution of poultry meat. One important example are traders at live bird markets. Traders are the individual actors between farmers and collectors. They play a critical intermediary role in terms of providing informal financial support in liaising transactions between farmers and collectors, and secondly they act as brokers matching farmers and collectors. Traders provide farmers with cash payments, and receive payments from collecting farms. This role started after the banking sector left the small and medium scale poultry business without support during the economic crisis of 1997. Transactions were based on the daily spot market, and there were no formal contracts or informal relations between traders and other actors. The banking sector provides business services such as the holding of financial assets and financial services for large companies, but far fewer services for farmers. There was no direct involvement from the banking sector to support investments to control HPAI. A number of organizations worked together with the government to address HPAI. PINSAR and GOPAN are the poultry farmer associations that advocate and support farmers, while ARPHUIN is the slaughterhouse union. FMPI is a poultry federation that facilitates communication and advocates for the poultry business on behalf of all poultry actors. The government plays a role in the food safety system to control the transmission of HPAI in the poultry sector production and market. Independent consultancy companies also played a role in the system through the provision of expert advice on the poultry business or on food safety in the modern channel, for example regarding ISO standards and HACCP certification.

Chain	Modern cha	nnel	Traditional c	hannel
governance structure determinants (Diversity of transactions	Integrator chain	Semi- automated slaughterhouse chain	Controlled slaughter- point chain	Private slaughter- point chain
Criteria)	Hierarchy	Modular	Market	Market
Degree of coordination	High	Low	Low	Low
 Capabilities in the supply base 	Low	High	High	High
 Ability to codify transactions 	Low	High	High	High
• Complexity of transactions	High	High	Low	Low

Governance Structures in the Poultry Value Chain

We found a wide range of governance structures in the different poultry value chains. Based on the typology of Gereffi et al. (19), we observed the presence of a hierarchy type governance in the integrator chain, modular governance in the semi-automated slaughterhouse chains, and market governance in the controlled slaughter-point and private slaughter-point chains. The other two typologies, the relational and captive governance structure, were not identified in these chains (**Table 2**).

In the hierarchical form of governance in the integrator chain, slaughterhouses acted as the lead firms with explicit coordination of the other actors in the chain. This chain was vertically integrated, employing full managerial control to produce products in-house. The level of coordination between actors was high because of the complexity in the requirements for meat quality, including standards for cold and frozen products, size/weight, biosecurity, halal certification, NKV certification, HACCP certification, and ISO certification. Only NKV and HACCP certification standards induced the slaughterhouse as the leader of the chain to control HPAI. These certificates are required for doing business in this chain. Prices and volumes were arranged via material requirement planning to ensure timely supply.

The modular form of governance was found in the semi-automated slaughterhouse chain, where suppliers had a responsibility to make products or provide services to meet customer expectations. For instance, farmers needed to meet buyer requirements with regard to size, weight and on-farm biosecurity (e.g., isolation, traffic control and sanitation), and the semi-automated slaughterhouses had to provide a product specified by the retailers. In this chain, no private or public standards induced the slaughterhouse as the leader of the chain to control HPAI. A form of contract was used, but the buyer-supplier interactions were limited to the delivery specifications and prices and not via specific, long-term coordination. The traditional channels were characterized by market governance. In these two value chains, transactions were relatively simple, with no formal cooperation between actors. These channels had a low mutual



the Poultry Value Chain. The graphic bars represent the joint profit margin contributed by each actor groups to total turnover (total sales revenues) in different chain governance. Each block in the graphic bars represents each actor group profit margin to the total turnover.

dependence related to reputation, or family and ethnic ties between actors in vertical chain stages. The buyers provided suppliers with limited or no information about product specifications. We found diseased poultry was sold in these chains, therefore we labeled them as a "sick" poultry market. Traders had a relatively larger role coordinating the chain as external actors.

The Economic Performance of the Poultry Value Chain in West Java

As illustrated in **Figure 2**, we computed economic performance at chain level as the share of the total profit margin relative to the total turnover in a given chain. We found that the integrator chain had the highest economic performance, because the share of the total profit margin relative to the total turnover was the highest (**Figure 2**). The other three chains had similar but lower profit margins.

If we look at the distribution of profit within and across the different groups, a number of interesting results emerge. In the modern channels, slaughterhouses had a higher share of the profit margin than farmers and retailers. By contrast, in the more traditional channels, the total profit margin was distributed over more actors, with the largest share captured by the traders. The comparison of actor profit margins within the different chains may illustrate the power of a specific chain actor. In this case, the slaughterhouse seemed to have the highest power in modern channels, while in traditional channels, the highest power was held by traders. Consequently, those who had market power were acting as the chain leader and had the largest influence on chain governance. Indeed, the presence of only a handful of traders compared to the significantly larger number of other actors (Figure 1), suggests a form of oligopolistic power held by traders in the traditional channel. The ability of slaughterhouses and traders to drive the value chain is the key determinant to **TABLE 3** | Biosecurity practices and governance forms in the poultry value chains of West Java.

Chain	Modern Cha	nnel	Traditional C	hannel
Governance Structure determinants (TCE Criteria)	Integrator Chain	Semi- automated Slaughterhouse Chain	Controlled Slaughter- point Chain	Private Slaughter- point Chain
	Hierarchy	Modular	Market	Market
 Level of Asset Specificity 	High	Medium	Low	Low
Level of Uncertainty	Low	High	High	High
Transaction frequency	Low	High	High	High
Biosecurity Practices	High	Medium to low	Low	Low

impose biosecurity standards and control HPAI in all forms of chain governance.

Biosecurity

We looked at the role of chain governance in the application of biosecurity practices for the four different value chains we identified. We assumed that differences in chain governance influence the risk of HPAI transmission (13). In this context, we took a transaction cost economics approach to test our hypothesis as to whether more coordinated chains lead to more investments in biosecurity practices. We differentiated two aspects of biosecurity: (1) the risk of disease introduction, and (2) the risk of disease transmission. The risk of HPAI introduction is the likelihood that the virus enters the value chain, for instance from another value chain. The risk of HPAI transmission is the likelihood of HPAI being transmitted within the value chain, for instance from one stage to the next after introduction of the virus.

Table 3 summarizes the biosecurity practices for each value chain type. While three transaction characteristics were observed, the level of asset specificity was most strongly related to the application of biosecurity practices. The other characteristics of transactions, uncertainty and frequency, were not considered by the actors as drivers for the application of biosecurity measures. Inciting suppliers to adopt biosecurity practices could be a way to mitigate uncertainty in the supply chain. Strong hierarchies and tight coordination amongst actors within the integrator chain facilitated a variety of specific investments, including those on biosecurity. These included maintaining biosecurity through a compartment system at the farm level (among section 1 farms), while slaughterhouses had stringent quality processes, which were HACCP, ISO and NKV certified. In a well-coordinated value chain, such as for the hierarchical form of governance, it was easier to implement and maintain biosecurity practices and, therefore, well-coordinated chains were better protected against HPAI introduction and transmission.

Asset specific investments in the semi-automated slaughterhouse chain (modular governance) were lower than in the integrator chain, because a form of contract (limited to price and weight specifications with general disease status) was used to

support transactions within this chain. While contracts between actors included product specifications with regard to disease status, there were no efforts to support the supplier to increase biosecurity in order to fulfill these requirements. Therefore, biosecurity measures were limited in this chain and depended on the efforts of each individual actor to fulfill the contract requirements. Because of the low level of asset specificity in the semi-automated chain, chain actors were able to trade more freely with other partners, increasing the scope of the transaction but with less coordination. Consequently, investments to promote biosecurity were lower. In this chain, sector 2 farms even traded live birds with collecting farms in traditional channels where biosecurity practices were much lower still. As the risk of HPAI introduction in the controlled and private slaughter-point chains was higher than in the semi-automated slaughterhouse chain, sector 2 farms were at relatively high risk of introducing HPAI in their value chain (Figure 1). Improving coordination in the semi-automated slaughterhouse chain and cutting off trade with the controlled and private slaughter-point chains would most likely have a large effect on overall HPAI incidence in this chain.

There were no relation-specific investments in traditional channels. Transactions in these chains were based on price and convenience, in the absence of specific biosecurity requirements or coordination. Sick poultry was traded in these channels, and a sick poultry market was established that was also used by the semi-automated chain upon HPAI occurrence. The intensity of physical exchange and thus the risk of HPAI transmission was high. In the controlled slaughter-point chain, limited levels of biosecurity were applied in the sector 2 farms, that also delivered to the collecting farms. The majority of the live birds that came from sector 3 farms were mixed with those of sector 4 farms which applied only a minimal level of biosecurity. No biosecurity measures were applied in the collecting farms, during transport, or at the private slaughter-points.

Other researchers have shown that the type of governance affects actor perceptions of the importance of biosecurity (14, 23). This difference in perception influences the implementation of biosecurity practices and hence the risk of HPAI introduction and transmission in the different poultry value chains. We assessed this influence based on the four factors that affect the risk of HPAI introduction and transmission in relation to the value chain map, governance structure and the implementation of biosecurity. As shown in **Table 4**, each of the four factors that influenced the risk of HPAI introduction and transmission had a stronger effect in the less coordinated chains. This means that the risk of introduction and/or transmission of HPAI was much higher in the traditional channels as compared to the modern channels. Moreover, the links and contacts between the semi-automated chain and traditional channels created an additional layer of risk of disease transmission. Therefore, the integrator chain provided better protection against HPAI outbreaks as compared to chains with other forms of chain governance.

A TCE perspective highlights that many routes for disease transmission in the value chain were mediated at least in part by investments in biosecurity that arise from the types of governance that exist in the value chain. We found an important risk of backward transmission, e.g., from the markets to the farms or from the slaughterhouses to the farms. Crates and other materials used to transport poultry could act as vectors in the transmission of HPAI. Slaughterhouses were indeed reported to be associated with HPAI outbreaks (25). Poor biosecurity practices at the collecting farms, slaughterhouses, and slaughter-points could lead to infection of farms through interactions between humans, vehicles and crates, especially during the process of returning poultry crates from the market or the slaughterhouses to farms. In order to decrease the risk of introduction or infection in the less coordinated chains, the chain leaders (traders) would need to invest in more formal relationships that include biosecurity requirements, since traders were the only actors with the financial and management capabilities to invest in new production assets. This means that traders should upgrade their role from informal financers of the transaction into more formalized commercial agents, such as financial institutions or collecting farms. This could reduce the number of "infection cycles" in the complex and poorly-coordinated poultry chains. However, traders have no incentive to do so, as improved biosecurity practices do not affect their profits. Indeed, removing the "sick poultry market" would rather reduce trader profitability. This is in contrast with the chain leaders in the modern channels (slaughterhouses) who have incentives (economic performance to protect) to maintain improved biosecurity practices in their chains.

The Economic Consequences of HPAI in Different Poultry Value Chains

The economic consequences of HPAI were influenced by the biosecurity practices in the value chains (23, 25, 26). HPAI incidents

 TABLE 4
 Risk factors of HPAI introduction and transmission in different poultry value chains in West Java.

Enabling condition of HPAI	Modern Channel		Traditional Channel	
introduction and transmission in the chain governance	Integrator chain	Semi-automated slaughterhouse chain	Controlled slaughter-point chain	Private slaughter-point chain
	Hierarchy	Modular	Market	Market
1. Number of actors involved	+	+ +	+ + +	+ + + +
2. The frequency of contact	+	+ +	+ + +	+ + + +
3. Number of links in chain stages	+	++	+ +	+ + +
4. Contact structure	+	+ + +	+ + +	+ + + +
Total risk of HPAI	+	+ +	+ + +	+ + + +

Note, + = the least likelihood of risk, + + + + = the highest likelihood of risk

TABLE 5 | Consequences of HPAI without government intervention.

Consequences	Modern Cha	annel	Traditional C	hannel
types (Losses)	Integrator Chain	Semi- automated Slaughterhouse Chain	Controlled Slaughter- point Chain	Private Slaughter- point Chain
	(Hierarchy)	(Modular)	(Market)	(Market)
Production	++++	+++	++	+
Farm Price Effect	+ + + +	+ + +	+ +	+
Retail Price Effect	+ + + +	+ + +	+	+
Overall	+ + + +	+ + +	+ +	+

Note, + = the least likelihood of consequences, + + + + = the highest likelihood of consequences

increased the mortality rate of poultry. Hence, the number of live birds that could be sold was reduced. In theory, a lower supply of poultry, will lead to increased prices at the farm gate in all value chains, and eventually the retail price will increase as well. We assessed these consequences based on the information gathered for the production related to disease incidents, including inputs, outputs, and prices per stage in different chains. Our research, however, indicated different consequences of HPAI incidents in the different value chains. The consequences of HPAI incidents in different identified poultry value chains in Western Java are illustrated in **Table 5**.

In the most coordinated chain (integrator chain) HPAI incidents had the most severe consequences (**Table 5**). Because of the biosecurity practices in place, farms were forced to remove subclinically infected poultry from their flocks. The removal caused shortages in the supply of live birds (high quality poultry) to the slaughterhouses. Consequently, given the larger volumes traded by integrators, such shortages affected the price at the farm gate and ceased production at the slaughterhouse. The subsequent shortage in meat supply would increase prices at the retailer level. Thus, the reduction in activity would reduce profitability within this chain.

In less coordinated chains, the consequences of HPAI incidents were less severe (Table 5). For those actors ordinarily selling to formal markets, incidents of HPAI allowed actors to switch sales to the traditional channel (14), making these chains more resilient to fluctuations in the supply of poultry, but also more prone to new HPAI occurrences. Indeed, the private slaughterhouse chain assisted farmers in the semi-automated slaughter chain to trade their sub-clinically infected poultry. Therefore, during an HPAI outbreak, farmers under modular and market forms of governance (sector 2, 3 and 4 farms) were able to sell their poultry to the sick poultry market and thus mitigate the economic consequences of HPAI at a nodal level. However, the ability to trade across channels depended on the size of the outbreak. When HPAI outbreaks were large, farms in the semi-automated slaughterhouse chain were unable to supply enough poultry to the semi-automated slaughterhouse. In these cases the semi-automated slaughterhouses saw a decrease in production, affecting the farm price of poultry.

In general, the overall consequences of HPAI in situations where market governance prevails were lower than in situations of hierarchy and modular governance. The existence of a sick poultry market in this chain partially mitigated the production consequences of HPAI, leading to smaller effects on farm and retailer prices. Because consumers Any doubtin traditional channels were less informed about the quality of the product, retailers could sell sick poultry, having only to accept a slightly lower price.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we carried out an extensive value chain analysis, paying much attention to the governance structures in the Western Java poultry system. Our results indicate that the economic consequences of an HPAI outbreak vary for different governance structures. In particular, chains that were more tightly coordinated had more incentive to implement HPAI control measures compared to traditional channels. Therefore, the risk of HPAI introduction and transmission was lower.

Like all value chain studies, our approach was limited by its sampling frame. We implemented a convenience sampling framework for the different actors, given the complexity of value chains and the difficulties in obtaining representativeness among certain types of actors, particularly traders, wholesalers, and processors. Rich and Wanyoike (11) used a similar approach to extrapolate the broader value chain impact of Rift Valley Fever in Kenya. Although a larger sample would allow for a more detailed quantitative validation, our goal was to offer a qualitative view of the governance structure of the poultry sector. Moreover, resource constraints limit the ability of practitioners to carry out extensive informant-based data collection. Therefore, a relatively limited number of semi-structured interviews with key informants is justified for this study.

A number of issues with regard to the effectiveness of HPAI control measures and how they are related to governance can be identified. First, the effectiveness of HPAI control measures depends on the removal of the sick poultry market from the poultry chain. Without this, efforts to control HPAI will not be effective, since the existence of this market has largely removed the economic motivation of farmers and other actors to improve biosecurity. Traders will need to included, but it is unclear whether they will have the economic incentives to cooperate. Without this intervention, motivating actors, upstream and downstream in the chain will be difficult. Second, because of their higher risk of disease introduction and transmission as well as the limited economic incentives to prevent and control outbreaks, government interventions should focus on the less coordinated chains. Nonetheless, more moderately coordinated chains (e.g., the semi-automated chain) should receive particular attention, as they sell to both formal and informal markets, presenting a greater transmission risk. Third, the value chain map shows that traders play an important role as external actors in HPAI transmission. Analyzing chain governance shows that traders have an important decisionmaking role regarding the distribution of sick poultry to the market. Many control measures did not involve the participation of traders; therefore sick poultry markets have remained viable. Government intervention should aim at upgrading the role of traders from informal to formal commercial agents, such as financial institutions or collecting farms.

Existing coordination mechanisms have resulted in a lack of effective interventions within the traditional poultry sales channels, and improving coordination could lead to better HPAI control. Higher levels of coordination are correlated with improved application of biosecurity measures, thus strengthening coordination will likely reduce the risk of HPAI introduction and transmission in the poultry chains (13). Contracts can be implemented, as one form of a coordination mechanism, to improve meat quality and actor revenues (14). In turn, contract farming would create incentives to increase biosecurity and remove the sick poultry market.

On the other hand, increased coordination comes with higher transactions costs. It is not clear whether chain actors possess either the supply-side or demand-side incentives to address coordination without some form of government intervention or regulation. In order to create effective incentives, an intervention policy tailored to different value chains will be required (8, 14). For the situation in Western Java, a pull-and-push strategy could be applied. This approach uses economic performance as the main driver to stimulate chain actors to invest in improved coordination mechanisms and to produce healthier, higher quality poultry. The push strategy attempts to give greater incentives to chain actors in poultry production. Such incentives can take the form of bottom-up entrepreneurial support to encourage change (financial, organizational or technical incentives, or market access, property rights, and contracts) or a more direct, top-down regulatory approach. Neither approach is mutually exclusive, and indeed a combination of incentives and penalties is crucial where transactions costs and information asymmetries are high (27). The pull strategy is an incentive mechanism that is aimed at consumers. The pull strategy would try to convince consumers to change their preference towards higher quality poultry. Changes in consumer buying preferences would drive actors in poultry chains to meet consumer demand by improving the coordination of transactions (asset specific investments). Both intervention strategies are costly, therefore proving that the regulatory cost of improving standards and controls is a major consequence of HPAI.

CONCLUSIONS

An extensive value chain analysis showed that four different poultry value chains can be distinguished in Western Java: the integrator chain, the semi-automated slaughterhouse chain, the controlled slaughter-point chain and the private slaughter-point chain. These four chains differ in structure, number and size of

REFERENCES

- Eagles D, Siregar ES, Dung DH, Weaver J, Wong F, Daniels P. H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza in Southeast Asia. *Rev - Off Int Epizoot* (2009) 28(1):341–8. doi: 10.20506/rst.28.1.1864
- Santhia K, Ramy A, Jayaningsih P, Samaan G, Putra AA, Dibia N, et al. Avian influenza A H5N1 infections in Bali Province, Indonesia: a behavioral, virological and seroepidemiological study. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses* (2009) 3(3):81–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-2659.2009.00069.x
- Ilham N, Iqbal M. Factors determining farmers' decision on highly pathogenic avian influenza vaccination at the small poultry farms in Western Java. *Med Pet* (2011) 34(3):219–27. doi: 10.5398/medpet.2011.34.3.219
- 4. Azhar M, Lubis AS, Siregar ES, Alders RG, Brum E, Mcgrane J, et al. Participatory disease surveillance and response in Indonesia: strengthening

actors, economic performance, and in governance mechanisms. Moreover, the effects of HPAI vary in the different value chains as well as the effectiveness of HPAI control measures.

A close relationship was found between the poultry chain structure, coordination mechanisms, and the risk of HPAI introduction and transmission. First, the relationship between poultry chain structure and chain governance influences the effectiveness of current HPAI control measures. Second, the diversity in governance implies that there is no "one-size-fitsall" strategy for HPAI control measures that can be applied across different poultry value chains. Third, there are fewer economic incentives in less-coordinated chains (traditional channels) to participate in HPAI control programs. This means that in order to improve the HPAI situation in Western Java, it would be advantageous if government intervention improved incentives for better coordination of the different value chains. Improving the institutional infrastructure is a crucial condition for HPAI control to be effective.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DI designed the study, collected and analyzed the data, and drafted the manuscript. The remaining authors provided input on the design of the study, helped interpreting study results, and critically revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

DI is funded by an LPDP scholarship. The funder had no role in this study.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to acknowledge the Dutch-Indonesian Food Security Program: Poultry and Dairy Sector (2013–2016), SPIN3-JRP-61 Project and CENTRAS IPB for the data support and collection. DI is thankful to Eko Sugeng Pribadi, Asep Rakhmat and Indhy Aidha for organizing the workshops and field visits.

veterinary services and empowering communities to prevent and control highly pathogenic avian influenza. *Avian Dis* (2010) 54(1 Suppl):749–53. doi: 10.1637/8713-031809-Reg.1

- Loth L, Gilbert M, Wu J, Czarnecki C, Hidayat M, Xiao X. Identifying risk factors of highly pathogenic avian influenza (H5N1 subtype) in Indonesia. *Prev Vet Med* (2011) 102(1):50–8. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2011.06.006
- Idris S, Palupi MF, Sudiana E, Unger F, Costard S, Pfeiffer D et al. Qualitative risk assessment of HPAI H5N1 transmission between small-scale commercial broiler chicken farms in Bogor, Indonesia. Washington, DC: IFPRI (2010). Vol. 33. 64 p.
- Food and Agriculture Organization. Approaches to controlling, preventing and eliminating H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza in endemic countries. Rome, Italy: FAO (2011).
- 8. Rich KM, Perry BD. The economic and poverty impacts of animal diseases in developing countries: new roles, new demands for economics and

epidemiology. *Prev Vet Med* (2011) 101(3-4):133–47. doi: 10.1016/j. prevetmed.2010.08.002

- 9. Williamson OE. Transaction cost economics. *Handbook of industrial organization* (1989) 1:135–82.
- 10. Kaplinsky R, Morris M. *A handbook for value chain research*. Vol. 113. Ottawa: IDRC (2001).
- Rich KM, Wanyoike F. An assessment of the regional and national socioeconomic impacts of the 2007 Rift Valley fever outbreak in Kenya. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* (2010) 83(2 Suppl):52–7. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.2010.09-0291
- Rich KM, Ross RB, Baker AD, Negassa A. Quantifying value chain analysis in the context of livestock systems in developing countries. *Food Policy* (2011) 36(2):214–22. doi: 10.1016/j.foodpol.2010.11.018
- Martin V, Zhou X, Marshall E, Jia B, Fusheng G, Francodixon MA, et al. Riskbased surveillance for avian influenza control along poultry market chains in South China: The value of social network analysis. *Prev Vet Med* (2011) 102(3):196–205. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2011.07.007
- 14. Paul M, Baritaux V, Wongnarkpet S, Poolkhet C, Thanapongtharm W, Roger F, et al. Practices associated with highly pathogenic Avian Influenza spread in traditional poultry marketing chains: Social and economic perspectives. Acta Trop (2013) 126(1):43–53. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2013.01.008
- Antoine-Moussiaux N, Peyre M, Bonnet P, Bebay C, Bengoumi M, Tripodi A. The value chain approach in one health: conceptual framing and focus on present applications and challenges. *Front Vet Sci* (2017) 4(DEC):206. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017.00206
- 16. Sumiarto B, Arifin B. Overview on Poultry Sector and HPAI Situation for Indonesia with Special Emphasis on the Island of Java-Background Paper. Manuscript submitted for publication, Royal Veterinary College (2008). http://www.ifpri.org/publication/overview-poultry-sector-and-hpaisituationindonesia-special-emphasis-island-java
- Sudarman A, Rich KM, Randolph TF, Unger F. Poultry value chains and HPAI in Indonesia: The case of Bogor. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) (2010).
- Willyanto I, Bett B, Unger F, Randolph T. Alignment of poultry sector actors with avian influenza control in Indonesia. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) (2010).
- Gereffi G, Humphrey J, Sturgeon T. The governance of global value chains. *Review of International Political Economy* (2005) 12(1):78–104. doi: 10.1080/09692290500049805

- Williamson OE. The theory of the firm as governance structure: from choice to contract. J Econ Perspect (2002) 16(3):171–95. doi: 10.1257/089533002760278776
- 21. Kaplinsky R. *Globalisation, industrialisation and sustainable growth: the pursuit of the nth rent (No. 365).* Sussex : Institute of Development Studies, University of Sussex (1998).
- 22. Ssematimba A, Hagenaars TJ, de Wit JJ, Ruiterkamp F, Fabri TH, Stegeman JA, et al. Avian influenza transmission risks: analysis of biosecurity measures and contact structure in Dutch poultry farming. *Prev Vet Med* (2013) 109(1-2):106–15. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2012.09.001
- van Kerkhove MD, Vong S, Guitian J, Holl D, Mangtani P, San S, et al. Poultry movement networks in Cambodia: implications for surveillance and control of highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI/H5N1). *Vaccine* (2009) 27(45):6345– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.05.004
- 24. Statistics. Agricultural Census 2013. Jakarta: BPS (2014).
- 25. Yupiana Y, de Vlas SJ, Adnan NM, Richardus JH. Risk factors of poultry outbreaks and human cases of H5N1 avian influenza virus infection in West Java Province, Indonesia. *Int J Infect Dis* (2010) 14(9):e800–5. doi: 10.1016/j. ijid.2010.03.014
- 26. van Steenwinkel S, Ribbens S, Ducheyne E, Goossens E, Dewulf J. Assessing biosecurity practices, movements and densities of poultry sites across Belgium, resulting in different farm risk-groups for infectious disease introduction and spread. *Prev Vet Med* (2011) 98(4):259–70. doi: 10.1016/j. prevetmed.2010.12.004
- 27. Gramig BM, Horan RD, Wolf CA. Livestock disease indemnity design when moral hazard Is followed by adverse selection. *Am J Agric Econ* (2009) 91(3):627–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8276.2009.01256.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Indrawan, Rich, van Horne, Daryanto and Hogeveen. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Geographical and Historical Patterns in the Emergences of Novel Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) H5 and H7 Viruses in Poultry

Madhur S. Dhingra ^{1,2}, Jean Artois ¹, Simon Dellicour ³, Philippe Lemey ³, Gwenaelle Dauphin ², Sophie Von Dobschuetz ², Thomas P. Van Boeckel ^{4,5}, David M. Castellan ⁶, Subhash Morzaria ² and Marius Gilbert ^{1,7*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Thanawat Tiensin, Department of Livestock Development, Thailand

Reviewed by:

Alexis Delabouglise, Pennsylvania State University, United States Guillaume Fournié, Royal Veterinary College, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Marius Gilbert marius.gilbert@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 27 October 2017 Accepted: 03 April 2018 Published: 05 June 2018

Citation:

Dhingra MS, Artois J, Dellicour S, Lemey P, Dauphin G, Von Dobschuetz S, Van Boeckel TP, Castellan DM, Morzaria S and Gilbert M (2018) Geographical and Historical Patterns in the Emergences of Novel Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) H5 and H7 Viruses in Poultry. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:84. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00084 ¹ Spatial Epidemiology Lab (SpELL), Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium, ² Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy, ³ Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Rega Institute, KU Leuven — University of Leuven, Leuven, Belgium, ⁴ Institute of Integrative Biology, ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ⁵ Center for Disease Dynamics, Economics and Policy, Washington, DC, United States, ⁶ DM Castellan Consulting, Niagara Falls, ON, Canada, ⁷ Fonds National de la Recherche Scientifique (FNRS), Brussels, Belgium

Over the years, the emergence of novel H5 and H7 highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses (HPAI) has been taking place through two main mechanisms: first, the conversion of a low pathogenic into a highly pathogenic virus, and second, the reassortment between different genetic segments of low and highly pathogenic viruses already in circulation. We investigated and summarized the literature on emerging HPAI H5 and H7 viruses with the aim of building a spatio-temporal database of all these recorded conversions and reassortments events. We subsequently mapped the spatio-temporal distribution of known emergence events, as well as the species and production systems that they were associated with, the aim being to establish their main characteristics. From 1959 onwards, we identified a total of 39 independent H7 and H5 LPAI to HPAI conversion events. All but two of these events were reported in commercial poultry production systems, and a majority of these events took place in high-income countries. In contrast, a total of 127 reassortments have been reported from 1983 to 2015, which predominantly took place in countries with poultry production systems transitioning from backyard to intensive production systems. Those systems are characterized by several co-circulating viruses, multiple host species, regular contact points in live bird markets, limited biosecurity within value chains, and frequent vaccination campaigns that impose selection pressures for emergence of novel reassortants. We conclude that novel HPAI emergences by these two mechanisms occur in different ecological niches, with different viral, environmental and host associated factors, which has implications in early detection and management and mitigation of the risk of emergence of novel HPAI viruses.

Keywords: novel HPAI emergences, low pathogenic to highly pathogenic conversion, reassortment, spatial and temporal pattern, phylogeography

INTRODUCTION

Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) viruses of the H5 and H7 subtypes represent a global human health concern (1) in addition to causing severe economic losses in the poultry industry (2). These viruses have an eight-segmented genome, and undergo frequent genetic reassortment and mutations leading to creation of genetic diversity and emergence of novel viruses.

The natural reservoir of avian influenza (AI) diversity is the wild bird ecosystem, where all subtypes circulate in the low pathogenic (LP) form with in various combinations of one of the 16 haemaggultinin (H1-H16) and one of the nine neuraminidase (N1-N9) surface protein genes (3). Frequent transmission of different AI viruses and their genetic segments between wild bird host species, especially in the orders Anseriforms and Charadriiformes favours maintenance of avian influenza genetic diversity. In addition, contact rates can increase during migration periods, such as in stopover sites, where the host diversity is significant with several species, age groups, of different immune status congregating together. This considerable diversity in host range selects sets of virus subtypes in the low pathogenic form that are capable of maintaining transmission cycles through different hosts (4). In this system, there is predominantly environmental transmission between hosts, with evidence of lower evolutionary rates maintaining evolutionary stasis (5). Thus, virus evolution is characterized by low virulence, and high host survival rates; two conditions that are compatible with long distance migration. In summary, epizootics caused by HPAI in wild bird populations are seldom, and were mostly documented for virus strains that had previously been associated with poultry farming (6).

Poultry farms and their associated value-chain networks form the secondary system for AI transmission. On a host level, these poultry systems are characterized by single or limited host species (primarily galliform poultry and waterfowl), of uniform age and considerably lower genetic diversity, reared in high-density flocks, though those factors vary greatly according to the intensification level of the poultry production system considered (7). In highincome countries (HICs), over 95% of chickens are raised intensively in commercial and highly specialized poultry production systems for eggs and meat production (8). In contrast, in low-income countries (LICs), the large majority of poultry is still raised in backyard extensive poultry production systems, for subsistence and as a way to generate income in rural settings. A full range of intermediate situations exists in between these two extremes, which follow a gradient of income. Middle-income countries (MICs) typically face an intermediary situation where both extensive and intensive poultry production systems co-exist (8-10), and where value-chains involve a number of intermediate workers and live bird markets. These poultry agro-ecosystems can be broadly divided between regions that are mostly free from HPAI and where HPAI outbreaks are sporadic, detected and contained early; and regions where HPAI is endemic or showing frequent reoccurrences, and where there are challenges associated with detection and response. The poultry agro-ecosystem is characterized by anthropogenic transmission risks linked to the farming system and value-chains, a lower diversity of circulating types and sub-types, spillover between host species and occasional emergence of novel HPAI viruses.

The modes of evolution of AI viruses within these two systems vary according to the evolutionary pressures accompanying each system. In wild birds, novel AI viruses evolve using two main mechanisms. First, continuous accumulation of point mutations, deletions and substitutions due to lack of proof reading in the RNA polymerase creates antigenic drift (11). Second, exchange of genetic segments between two co-infecting viruses within a host cell leads to genetic reassortment and yields novel subtypes by antigenic shift. These modes of evolution predominantly result in LPAIV subtypes causing subclinical infections (12). An additional fact is that in countries where long term surveillance is conducted in the wild bird system (over 43 years), no novel emerging HPAIV subtypes have ever been isolated (13).

Within the poultry systems, genetic mutations are constantly occurring, and the emergence of novel HPAIVs have been reported on a regular basis in relation to the following main mechanisms. The presence of a multibasic cleavage site (MBCS) within the HA is one of the properties used by World Organization for Animal Health (OIE) to classify AI viruses as highly pathogenic (14). There are several mechanisms by which this can occur; first, new HPAIVs can emerge from the acquisition of certain stochastic mutations of nucleotide/ amino acid substitution leading to the insertion of basic amino acids yielding (MBCS) in the HA gene of an existing LPAI virus (15, 16). The MBCS can also be introduced into the HA gene in an LPAI by recombination with host or viral RNA (17), which only occurred on a few occasions in the H7 subtype (18). Third, a novel HPAIV can emerge from the reassortment between already circulating LPAIV and HPAIV influenza viruses by exchange of genetic segments (12).

In this paper, we aim to describe the conditions of emergence of novel HPAIV in the poultry system. Two main methods of novel HPAIV emergence will be reviewed: the acquisition of the MBCS in an LPAI virusus leading to conversion to HPAI- called as "conversions", and the exchange of genetic segments between viruses leading to generation of a novel HPAI, called "reassortments". A data set of these conversion and reassortment events will be compiled in order to describe their geographical distribution and spatio-temporal trends in relation to poultry production systems. Finally, we will use phylogeography to assess the evolutionary and geographical relationships between these novel HPAI emergences.

METHODS

Compilation of Conversion and Reassortment Datasets:

Case Definitions

HPAI Conversions: The first reports of novel H5 or H7 HPAI viruses which are documented as resulting from the conversion of a LP to a HP strain subsequent to introduction from wild birds and circulation and gain of pathogenicity in poultry were classified as HPAI Conversions. The gain in pathogenicity should have resulted from the insertion of a MBCS in the HA of a LP virus. Only the primary/first report of emergence of an HPAI in poultry was considered, and the secondary spread of the same subtype during an epidemic was excluded. The dataset of HPAI conversions was compiled from 1959 onwards.

HPAI Reassortments: The first reports of novel HPAI viruses generated by inter and intra subtype exchanges of genetic segments were classified as "HPAI-reassortants". Reports HPAI H5 and H7 novel reassortment events were compiled using methods described below. Novel reassortant viruses isolated from primary outbreaks, surveillance of live bird markets (LBMs), wild-bird die-off events, and from human and other mammalian cases of HPAI caused by H5 and H7 subtypes were included in the dataset. The dataset of HPAI reassortments was compiled from 1996 onwards, as we could not find any reports of reassortments prior to that.

It is to be noted, that the primary report of a novel HPAI emergence may not actually be entirely accurate as the primary report actually pertains to a first detection/isolation, which may reflect a surveillance bias and indeed may not be the actual conversion/reassortment event.

Methodology

Internet searches using Google Scholar and PubMed databases for conversions were performed using keywords, "H5/H7 LPAI to HPAI", "LPAI to HPAI outbreaks", "H5/H7 LPAI to HPAI Conversion ", and "H5/H7 LP to HP emergence". For reassortments, the keywords used were "Novel Reassortment", "HPAI Reassortment", "HPAI AND novel reassortant", "Novel HPAI", "Novel emergence" along with H5/H7 keywords. We also looked at the paper cited, or being cited by the papers found using the search terms in order to find further references that would not have been found in the primary search.

Thereafter, internet search engines (Internet explorer/Google) were also searched used using similar keywords. Time filters were applied on these searches by dividing into three time periods: up to 1995, 1996–2005, and 2006–2015. Country names were also added to these keywords to further find epidemiological details regarding these events. The publications citing these novel emergences were reviewed to classify the report into a conversion or reassortment event based on the documented evidence. In several instances, the references within a publication would reference other novel emergences, and these references were also reviewed for addition of events to the dataset.

The geographic coordinates of the outbreak/isolation were recorded. For some of the earlier events, the geographic coordinates are not exact, and are available only at coarse resolutions. For the reassortments especially with reference to China and Vietnam, several isolates were from LBM surveillance and the exact location could not be ascertained beyond administrative level 2 or 3. The time of outbreak/isolation was also obtained, and for the purpose of homogeneity, we kept the time period, as "year" as exact dates of sampling were not available for most viruses. The subtype (HxNx) involved in the conversion and reassortment event was recorded along with the host species and type of poultry farming system (backyard poultry, commercial poultry and wild birds) of the first isolation of the novel HPAI subtype. Where necessary, the information on outbreaks/isolates was crosschecked in publicly available databases, which included the EMPRES-i database (http://empres-i.fao.org/eipws3g/), the OIE WAHID database (14), and the ProMed-mail (www.promedmail.org) to verify the host species, production system, geographic location and add any other information that may be available.

The sequence isolated from each conversion and reassortment event was identified from the literature along with its accession number. The isolate name and accession numbers of the submitted sequences were obtained from GenBank® (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ genbank/) (19), the Global Initiative on Sharing All Influenza Data (GISAID) EpiFlu Database (http://www.gisaid.org) and the Influenza Research Database (http://www.fludb.org/brc/search_landing.spg? decorator=influenza). In addition, source details of the associated host species, subtype/gene segment involved in the generation of the reassortant isolate were also tabulated as described by the referenced publication. The accession numbers of four sequences for conversion events could not be found in either of the databases, as the respective authors may not have submitted them yet. We were able to obtain the accession number of all reassortant isolates from the public databases. The publication citing the conversion and reassortment was also referenced for each novel virus. In some cases multiple strains were cited in the publication, but only some could be classified as a novel reassortants, therefore careful scrutiny of each publication was carried out to include only new reassortants.

Analysis

The data sets were mapped according to three study periods: Up to 1995, 1996–2005, and 2006–2015. These were chosen as they historically represented times at which important changes occurred in the epidemiology of HPAI: the year 1996 marked the emergence of the HPAI H5N1 A/Goose/Guangdong/1/96 virus, which was distinct from the earlier sporadically occurring HPAI H5 subtypes. During this period, geographic spread within southeast and east Asia of the Gs/Gd lineage was documented. Period three was chosen as the year 2006 marked the period of global expansion of HPAI from Asia into the Indian subcontinent, Europe and Africa.

In order to estimate the evolutionary relationships between the selected H5 and H7 sequences associated with conversions and reassortment events, we used the discrete phylogeographic approach implemented in BEAST 1.8.4 (20). This Bayesian phylogenetic diffusion model allows inferrering ancestral times and spatial locations at the internal and root nodes of time-calibrated phylogenetic trees (21). A distinct analysis was performed for the H5 and H7 alignments, for which we partitioned the coding genes into first + second and third codon positions. In BEAST, we specified a general GTR+ Γ + I nucleotide substitution model, an uncorrelated lognormal relaxed molecular clock to account for evolutionary rate variation among lineages (22) and a flexible Bayesian Skyride coalescent tree prior (23). The discrete diffusion model was parametrized as a nonreversible continuous-time Markov chain (CTMC) model (24). We used the program Tracer 1.6 (20) to ensure that effective sample sizes were greater than 200 for all the different parameters estimated by BEAST. Finally, TreeAnnotator 1.8.4 (20) was used to summarize the inferred ancestral locations from the resulting posterior distribution on a maximum clade credibility (MCC) tree.

RESULTS

From 1959 to 2015, a total of thirty-nine LPAI to HPAI H5 (n = 14) and H7 (n = 25) conversion events were documented (**Figure 1**).



A total of 127 HPAI reassortments were documented since 1959 (**Figure 2**; Table S1 in SI) and only two of the reassortments were reported from H7 subtype, while the remainder was all reported in H5 subtype. Spatially, a large majority of the conversions occurred in Europe (n = 14), followed by the Americas (n = 9), Australia (n = 7), Africa (n = 3) and Asia (n = 4). The details of all the conversion events are provided in **Table 1**. In contrast, the

reassortments were concentrated in Asia (117), with only a few in Africa (n = 5), Americas (n = 3) and Europe (n = 2). There were no reassortments reported from Australia. Within Asia, the highest number of reassortments were documented in China (n = 56), followed by Vietnam (n = 35). Hong Kong (n = 11) Taiwan (n = 4), Korea and Bangladesh (n = 3), Indonesia (n = 2), DPR Korea and Kazakhstan reporting only one reassortment. In



Time Period: before 1996 UK 1959 South Africa 1961 UK 1965 Canada 1966 Australia 1976 UK 1976 Germany 1979	96							
ith Africa lada tralia many								
ith Africa lada tralia many	1959 H5N1	Scotland	Commercial, Chickens	≻	Interface	X07826	(25)	(A/chicken/Scotland/1959(H5N1)
tralia tralia many		Capetown	Wild terns	≻	Interface	U20460	(26)	(A/tern/South Africa/1961(H5N3)
tralia trany	1963 H7N3	England	Commercial, Turkevs	≻	Interface	U20462	(27)	(A/turkev/England/1963(H7N3)
tralia many	1966 H5N9	Ontario	Commercial. Turkevs	Z	Poultry	CY107859	(28)	(A/turkev/Ontario/7732/1966(H5N9)
many		Victoria	Commercial, Chickens	Z	Poultry	CY061602	(29)	(A/duck/Victoria/1976(H7N7)
many	202H 62	England	Commercial. Turkevs	~	Interface	M30122	(30)	A/turkev/England/199/79 (H7N7)
		l ainzia	Commercial Chickens	>	Interface	1120459	(31)	A/chicken/l einzid/79 (H7N7)
		2		-		0		(A/chicken/
USA 19	1983 H5N2	Pennsvlvanja	Commercial. Chickens	Z	Poultry	CY107848	(32)	Pennsvlvania/1370/1983(H5N2)
þ		Ireland	Commercial Turkevs	>	Interface	CY015089	(33	(A/turkev/Ireland/1378/1983(H5N8)
c		Victoria	Commercial Chickens	- >	Interface		(34)	(A /chicken //ictoria /1 /1 086/H7N17)
u alla				- >			(10)	
UK NUK	LNGH LA	East Anglia	Commercial, Iurkeys Commercial, Chicken,	≻	Poultry	EU636692	(QC)	(Arturkey/England/50-92/91(H5N1)
Australia 19	1992 H7N3	Victoria	Ducks	Z	Poultry	CY025077	(36)	(A/chicken/Victoria/224/1992(H7N3)
		Outonad		2 >	Interface		Der: coi toch Off int (04)	
U.		Queensiand		≻ :	Interrace		Hev. Sci. lecn. Uii. Int. (37)	(Avcnicken/Queensiano/ 1994 (m/N3)
		Puebla state	Commercial, Chickens	Z	Poultry	L46586	(61)	(A/Chicken/Puebla/8623-601/94(H5N2)
Time Bouied: 1006 2005	94 H/N3	Islamabad	Commercial, Chickens	Z	Poultry	AF202226	Naeem and Hussein. 1995	A/chicken/Pakistan/447/94 (H7N3)
1000 1330-V					•		, I	:
Ŀ.	0)		Species	Wildbird Li	Wildbird Link Interface	AccessionNo	Reference	Strain Name Strain No.
China 19	INCH ORAL	Guangdong Shenc	Guangdong Sheng Commercial, Geese	×	Interrace	AF144305	(38)	(A/Goose/Guangdong/1/96(H5N1) / / /obio//con/Nom: Con#b M/Alco/2027/1002
Australia 1997	97 H7N4	New South Wales	Commercial. Chickens	>	Interface	CY022701	(39)	(HZN4) (HZN4) (HZN4) (HZN4) (HZN4)
		Veneto and Friuli- Venezia Giulia						
Italy 19	1997 H5N2	regions	Backyard, Chicken	≻	Interface	GU052403	(40)	(A/chicken/Italy/330/97 (H5N2)
Italy 19	1999 H7N1	Verona San Antonio. V	Commercial, Turkeys	z	Poultry	DQ991320	(41)	A/Chicken/Italy/5093/1999 (H7N1)
Chile 20	2002 H7N3	Region	Commercial, Chickens	Z	Poultry	AY303632	(17)	(A/chicken/Chile/4957/02(H7N3)) (A/chicken/Karachi/NARC-
Dakietan	2003 H7N3	HZNR	Commercial Chickens	Z	Doultry.	E.1577596	(67)	
				2 >			(74)	
Netherland	Z003 H/N/	Gelderiand Fraser Valley, British	Commercial, Unickens h	≻	Fourty	AY 338498	(4:3)	(A/chicken/Netherlands/ I/U3(H/N/) (A/chicken/British Columbia/NS-1390-
Ida	2004 H7N3	Columbia	Commercial, Chickens	Z	Poultry	AY731820	(44)	2/04(H7N3)
USA 200	2004 H5N2	Texas	Commercial, Chickens	z	Poultry	AY849793	(45)	(A/chicken/TX/298313/04(H5N2)) (A/certrich/South Africa/
South Africa	2004 HEND	Wastern Cane	Commarcial Ostrich	>	Interface	E 151 0083		(2) USUIU () 2000 () 2
				_			+0) +0.//40 foo 0.m /doomo /foo/010	
Den of Koroa 2005	DE LIZNIZ	D'vonavana-ei	Commorcial Chickons	Z		-	11.p.//1.p.1a0.01g/a001ep/1a0/010/ 201152/20115ED1 2015	
0 9000	5	r yuigyaig-si		2	r outri y			
Country Veriou: 2000-2013	ar Subtume	location	Snariae	Wildhird Lir	Wildhird I ink Interface	AcressionNo	Rafaranca	Strain Name Strain No
			obecies					
oanaua 2007		oaskaloi lewali	COILINEICIAI, ONICKENS	-	IIIIeIIace	EUDOUODO	(47)	(A/chicken/England/1158-
UK 20(2008 H7N7	England	Commercial, Chickens	Z	Poultry	FJ476173	(48)	11406/2008(H7N7))
Spain 200	2009 H7N7	Castilla-la Mancha	Commercial, Chickens	≻	Interface	GU121458	(49)	(A/chicken/Spain/6279-2/2009(H7N7))
								(A/ostrich/South Africa/
South Africa 2011 Mexico 2012	2011 H5N2 2012 H7N3	Western Cape Jalisco	Commercial, Ostrich Commercial, Chickens	≻ ≻	Interface Poultry	JX069081 JX397993.1	(50) (51)	AI2114/2011(H5N2)) (A/chicken/Jalisco/12283/2012)(H7N3)

TABLE 1 | List of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Conversion (subtype H5 and H7).

Novel HPAI Emergences in Poultry

Country	Year	Subtype	Subtype Location	Species	Wildbird Li	Wildbird Link Interface	AccessionNo	Reference	Strain Name Strain No.
Australia	2012	H7N7		New South Wales Commercial, Chickens	~	Interface		FAO Empres-I	NA
Italy	2013	H7N7	Emilia Romagna Region	Commercial, Chickens	≻	Interface	KF569186	(52)	(A/chicken/Italy/13VIR4527- 11/2013(H7N7))
								http://www.dpi.nsw.gov. au/data/assets/pdf_ file/0003/458553/AHS-oct-	
Australia	2013	H7N2	New South wales	New South wales Commercial, Chickens	≻	Interface	NA	dec-2012.pdf.	NA
			Mecklenburg						(A/turkey/Germany-MV/AR2472/2014;
Germany	2014	H5N8	Vorpommern	Commercial, Turkeys	≻	Interface	EPI544756	(53)	AR2472/14)
Germany	2015	1N7H	NIEDERSACHSEN	VIEDERSACHSEN Commercial, Chickens	≻	Interface		(54)	NA
UK	2015	1N7H	Lancashire	Commercial, Chickens	≻	Interface	EPI623939	(54)	A/chicken/England/26352/2015 (H7N7)
France	2015	H5N1	Dordogne	Backyard, Chicken	≻	Interface	KU310447	(22)	(A/chicken/France/150169a/2015(H5N1) A/turkey/Indiana/16-001403-
NSA	2015	H7N8	Indiana	Commercial, Turkeys	z	Poultry	KU558906	(56)	1/2016(H7N8)

are provided in Table S1 in SI. Temporally, the conversion events were reported throughout the three time periods, with 15, 11 and 13 events in the 1959–1995, 1996–2006 and 2006–2015 periods, respectively. In contrast, up to the year 1995, no HPAI reassortments were reported in the literature. In the following decade, 45, and in the period of 2006– 2015, a total of 82 reassortments were documented respectively. The spatio-temporal pattern of reassortment reports largely followed the spread of the HPAI H5N1 virus, which reassorted with many other viruses giving rise to several H5Nx viruses, as detailed in the Supplementary Information Data Sheet S1.

From 1959 to 1995, the conversion events were spatially dominant in Europe and Australia. The majority of conversions occurred in the UK (1959 H5N1, 1963 H7N3, 1979 H7N7, 1991 H5N1) and Ireland (1983 H5N8) with both the H7 and the H5 subtypes involved. The continent of Australia was affected four times with only H7 LP to HP conversions during this period (1976 and 1985 H7N7, 1992 and 1994 H7N3). Single conversion events occurred in USA (1983 H5N2), Canada (1966 H5N9), South Africa (1961 H5N3), Germany (1979 H7N7), Mexico (1994 H5N2) and Pakistan (1994 H7N3).

Africa, four reassortment events were reported from Nigeria and one from South Africa. Europe reported two reassortment events. In the Americas, Mexico, Canada and the USA reported one HPAI reassortment each. The details of all the HPAI reassortments events

During the next decade from 1996 to 2005, Europe still remained the center of conversions, however, unlike the previous time period, none of the events were recorded in the UK. Instead Italy (1997 H5N2, 1999 H7N1), and the Netherlands (2003 H7N7) were affected by outbreaks caused by LP to HP conversions. Interestingly Australia had only one conversion (1997 H7N4) event. Canada (2004 H7N3) and the USA (2004 H5N2) had one event each, similar to the earlier time period. Conversions were also reported from South Africa (2004 H5N2) and Chile (2002 H7N3).

During this period, Asia reported conversions for the first time in Pakistan (2003 H7N3), DPR Korea (2005 H7N7) and China (1996 H5N1). The 1996 H5N1 virus became the progenitor of the HPAI H5N1 virus that began spreading across continents in the following decade.

From 2006–2015, there was a considerable increase in conversion events in Europe (especially towards the latter part of the decade) with seven conversions reported. Two conversions were reported from the Americas and Australia (2012 H7N7, 2013 H7N2). There were no conversions reported from Asia. During the initial part of the decade, the conversions were limited to the UK (2008 H7N7), Spain (2009 H7N7), Canada (2007 H7N3), South Africa (2011 H5N2), Mexico (2012 H7N3) and Italy (2013 H7N7). From 2014–2015 there was a quick succession of conversion events reported from Europe from Germany (2014 H5N8, 2015 H7N7), the UK (2015 H7N7) and France (2015 H5N1). Additionally, a LP to HP conversion events are described in **Table 1**, and more details on these events can be found in Supplementary Information (SI) Data Sheet S2A.

In terms of host species and production systems, conversion events are predominant in intensive production systems with conversion events found in commercial chicken farms (n = 25),

 IABLE 1
 Continued

followed by commercial turkey farms (n = 8), ostrich farms (n = 2) and commercial geese farms (n = 1). Backyard farms only reported HPAI conversions on two instances: in 1997, in Italy with an HPAI H5N2 virus, and in France with an HPAI H5N1 virus. The only instance of a conversion being documented in wild birds was the large die-off of wild terns caused by HPAI H5N3 in 1961, off the coast of South Africa (26). Evidence of a direct interface with wild birds was reported in 19 of the 41 conversion events. This includes proximity to areas inhabited by wild birds, areas of overlap with migratory bird flyways and direct links established with wild bird sequences through phylogenetic analyses.

In comparison, the majority of the reassortants were isolated from chicken and ducks during live bird market (LBM) surveillance conducted in China and Hong Kong (n = 42). Other than that, 6 reassortants were isolated from geese samples and a single isolate came from a partridge sampled in LBMs. In Bangladesh, three reassortant isolates were isolated from chickens in LBM and poultry farms. In Vietnam, most reassortants were isolated from poultry farms from chickens (n = 15), ducks (n = 17), and a single isolate from ostrich and quail each from surveillance following outbreaks. Reassortant viruses were also isolated from commercial chicken farms in Mexico, Canada, China, Hong Kong, DPR Korea, Nigeria, Lao PDR and Taiwan. In Taiwan, three reassortants were also isolated from commercial goose farms. In France, two reassortant viruses were isolated from fattening duck farms.

Reassortants (n = 3) were also reported in commercial ostrich farms from South Africa, Nigeria and Vietnam. Six reassortants HPAI viruses were isolated from human cases, of which three were from China and one each from Hong Kong and Vietnam. Reassortant isolates were obtained from wild birds following reports of die-offs in 9 instances. Reassortants were also isolated from sparrows (n = 1), swine (n = 1), cats (n = 1) and a captive tiger (n = 1). To summarize, the large majority of the 127 HPAI H5 and H7 reassortants were reported from chicken (n = 51), ducks (n = 46), and geese (n = 8), and only few of them were sampled from other bird species.

We were able to obtain the accession numbers of all LPAI to HPAI conversions events, except four sequences (**Table 1**). For the reassortments, all accession numbers for the HA sequences could be obtained (Table S1 SI). The time scaled phylogeographic history of the available HA H5 and H7 subtype novel viruses produced by conversions and reassortments are presented in **Figure 3**, and present the time, region and subtype, that the conversion or reassortment event is associated with.

Within the H5 subtype, one can observe the dominance of conversion events until 1995, and these were largely restricted to Europe and America (**Figure 3**) apart from a single conversion of H5N3 into HPAI causing an outbreak in wild terns off the coast of South Africa. Sometime around late 1980s, the H5N2 subtype was introduced from the Americas (Mexico) into Taiwan (East Asia), which caused a reassortment between a Mexican-like H5N2 virus and a locally circulating H6N1 virus (57) and yielded a virus that was very similar to the vaccine strain used in Mexico. From 1995 onwards, with the emergence of the Gs/Gd HPAI H5N1 subtype, the emergence of novel reassortments started to be reported from eastern Asia (China and Hong Kong) and reassortments were only described as being of the H5N1 subtype until 2008–09. Introduction

of HPAI of the H5 subtype to Southeast Asia took place around year 2000, which was followed by the regular isolation of multiple reassortant genotypes and subtypes. Multiple introductions followed by reassortments are also reported from East Asia (China) into Southeast Asia, indicating a continuous gene flow from eastern China into primarily Vietnam. The spread of H5 HA from China into Africa around 2005 is also noticeable, leading to the emergence and evolution of the European-Middle Eastern-African (EMA) (58) lineage that clusters in Africa. The HA of the South Asian H5N1 viruses also groups together (Figure 3, annotated in blue) indicating a single introduction from Southeast Asia followed by reassortments due to enzootic circulation of subtype H9N2. From 2009 onwards, the H5Nx reassortants start emerging, initially restricted to China, followed by expansion into Southeast Asia, and then global spread into Europe. Simultaneously, reassortment between the Asian H5N1 with the North American viruses yielded to the reassortant HPAI H5N1 and H5N2 in 2014 (Figure 3).

The H7 HA phylogeography does not provide any evidence for conversion or reassortment events involving H7 in Africa (**Figure 3**). The H7 subtypes in the Americas group together as is also the case in Australia. The HPAIV conversions in Australia are part of a discrete monophyletic lineage that diverged from the Eurasian lineage (**Figure 3**). The first conversion event took place in Australia around 1976 and thereafter, all conversion form a single cluster with no introduction from other regions. Similarly, the H7 subtypes in Europe group together, and are only associated with conversion from LPAI to HPAI. The H7 HA was introduced into South Asia (Pakistan) around 1994, where it converted into a HP subtype.

DISCUSSION

The spatial and phylogenetic descriptive studies indicate that conversion and reassortment events, which are the two main evolutionary mechanisms by which a novel HPAI could emerge in the poultry systems, appear to show distinct geographical patterns.

The number of independent LPAI to HPAI conversion events is fairly low, even if some of these conversions lead to epidemics with very important consequences. The large majority of the detected conversions events took place in high-income countries, in poultry farms located within high poultry density areas. Out of the 41 conversion events documented, only 2 occurred in backyard rural flocks, and even those took place in regions of intensive poultry production (Italy 1997 and France 2015).

The surveillance and detection capacity can hardly be considered to be homogenous in space and time, and this may introduce a significant observational bias. So, a first hypothesis to explain the predominance of HPAI conversion in intensive poultry settings could be that this simply reflects the country's surveillance capacity, but that other HPAI viruses could emerge in less intensive settings, and go extinct before being detected. Most HIC countries where HPAI conversions were described have regular and standardized surveillance and detection plans for sub-clinical LPAI and HPAI in poultry, and sometime in wild birds, too. In MICs, where poultry production systems are still transitioning toward more intensive production systems, only the large scale mortalities caused by HPAI


FIGURE 3 | Time-scaled phylogeographic history of H5 and H7 sequences associated with HPAI conversions and reassortments. Branch colors represent the most probable location of the parental node of each branch. Tip labels indicate the subtype and are colored according to the associated event, i.e., conversion (in red) or reassortment (in green). When they are lower than 0.95, posterior probabilities of the most probable ancestral state (i.e. geographic location) are reported next to internal nodes.

in poultry would probably be noticed, often at times when the epidemic would have spread far and wide (e.g., Mexico, Pakistan, China). HPAI conversion in countries practicing vaccination as a means of control may be even more complicated to detect, as masking of clinical signs may confound the passive surveillance. The willingness to report an outbreak is also a factor that needs to be considered and commercial farms are more proactive when it comes to reporting (59), as compared to backyard farms. This willingness to report is more likely to be higher among farmers of HICs than in MICs too.

A second hypothesis is that HPAI conversions can only take place in intensive poultry rearing conditions with high contact rates, where certain mechanisms and conditions encountered in those systems aid conversions. Once a virus starts circulating in poultry, several variants are produced on account of antigenic drift and only the fittest variants persist. If host density and contact rates are low, the most virulent viruses may face a shortage of susceptible hosts and the chain of transmission may be broken. When the density and contact rates of immunologically naïve hosts increases, as it is encountered in a flock of intensively managed and unvaccinated broilers, for example (densities are typically >10 birds/m² in a barn), the cost of gaining virulence decreases (the pathogen can kill its host quickly and still face a sufficiently large number of in-contact susceptible hosts to pursue its transmission in the population) and being highly pathogenic doesn't limit transmission any longer (60, 61). Retrospective studies of LPAI and HPAI viruses from the same epidemic have shown that some of the key mutations that were present in the HPAI variants were also identified in the LPAI precursors, albeit at lower frequencies; and as the LP virus transmitted through the poultry population, it accumulated further mutations driven by a multitude of ecological drivers such as host, population and environmental changes, resulting in the conversion to a HPAI variant (62).

Another possible mechanism linking intensive poultry production systems to the evolution of virulence is the all-in/ all-out practice, whereby entire cohorts of birds are managed simultaneously, and where the birds surviving an HPAI outbreak would be culled, which prevents the selection of natural resistance in the poultry host population. In contrast, in backyard poultry settings, birds that may have survived a local outbreak would possibly be used to restock with the possibility to select natural resistance genes, and mathematical models indicate that this may influence the evolution of virulence and host resistance (63).

The species composition also plays a role; there are differences in immune response to a LPAI and a HPAI infection within different species of poultry (64). In ducks, there is positive selection for genes that help to down regulate the immune response leading to tolerance for LPAI and HPAI infection. In chickens, immune response to LPAI is common (e.g., H9N2) but there is very little protective immune response to HPAI, and which may explain their increased susceptibility. Experimental studies in chicken show that the mutations like the C-terminal truncations at the non-structural 1 (NS1) protein occurring during the LP to HP conversion may help in increasing viral pathogenicity (65). Higher virulence can also be acquired with the insertion of polybasic amino acids in the HA cleavage site (HACS) motif (66). Another is the neuraminidase (NA) stalk region deletion that favour adaptation to terrestrial poultry (67), as well as increased respiratory shedding and virulence (68). However, the knowledge of selection pressures that lead to these mutations and subsequent switch can only be hypothesised and therefore requires further elucidation.

The role of vaccination in driving conversion also needs to be explored. Vaccination used for HPAI control following outbreaks in some of the countries may also favour the evolution of escape mutants that may convert into HP variants. Studies in Italy have shown the presence of certain mutations that were acquired after introduction of heterologous vaccination following the 1999 HPAI H7N1 epidemic (69) and the LPAI H7N3 outbreaks (70). Also in Mexico, antigenic drifts was observed in the HA gene of LP H5N2 AIV isolates over a period of time in vaccinated birds (11). In Egypt, a variant group of HPAI H5N1 viruses with increase in HA substitutions was isolated from vaccinated poultry following the implementation of vaccination in 2006 (71). These vaccination pressures may help in driving changes in the antigenicity that confer an evolutionary advantage and allowing re-infection of hosts, actually increasing respiratory shedding, onward transmission and a chance to change phenotype into HPAI.

In addition, the virus, host, and environment interactions driving conversions in Australia may be unique from other parts of the world. H7 viruses have not evolved antigenically over the last 30 years (72). Yet, there is remarkable diversity of the NA types (H7N2, H7N3, H7N4, H7N6, and H7N7) suggesting frequent reassortment with the wild bird system (73, 74). Australia and New Zealand lie at the southernmost edge of most of the migratory pathways with a climatic pattern quite different from that of the northern hemisphere with alternating wet and dry seasons that impacts the availability of food and breeding requirements for migrating Anseriformes (75), ducks, geese and swans, which represent one of the main reservoir of AI viruses. The Wallace Line, a well-known biogeography limit separating Australasia from Southeast Asia, may represent a barrier to the spread of AI into the Australian continent, as there is limited migration of Anseriformes birds across this line (76). Many species of shorebirds indeed do migrate across the Wallace Line to Australia after numerous stopovers in Asian countries with ongoing HPAI epizootics (77). However, the role of shorebirds in transmitting AI viruses to poultry over short and long distances is less well documented than from Anseriformes, and the LPAI viruses circulating in Australia may have limited genetic relatedness with those circulating in Asia.

The geographical distribution of HPAI reassortments is completely different, and points to the epidemiological conditions encountered in areas where HPAIV circulates endemically, the presence of a pre-existing HPAI being a necessary condition for the emergence of novel HPAI reassortants. The observational and surveillance intensity bias over space and time is likely to be much stronger for the dataset of HPAI reassortants than for the HPAI conversions. In a situation of HPAI endemicity where HPAI outbreaks are not systematically sampled and sequenced, active surveillance followed by sequencing is the main way of detecting a reassortant HPAI.

The epidemiological conditions promoting endemicity were documented in prior studies (78, 79). High duck density, with free-grazing in rice paddy fields are widespread in east Asia, and have been known to be associated with spread and persistence of HPAI (80). The production and marketing value chains associated with poultry production systems in middle income countries are characterized by many facilitators such as middlemen or aggregators who visit different farms, including some with low biosecurity, collect and redistribute multiple species of poultry and waterfowl, taking them to LBMs where there are ongoing possibilities of direct and indirect transmission (81). The LBMs of Asia have a high environmental load of AI viruses, low biosecurity and regulatory processes for minimizing contact points that foster virus survival and re-circulation and are key points of virus exchange and onward virus transmission (82).

Many countries in Asia and elsewhere have similar conditions, such as Bangladesh, Egypt, Indonesia, but yet had much fewer reassortants than China or Vietnam. In Bangladesh the detection rate of AIVs in the LBMs is quite high (24%) (83), the country has a sizeable population of ducks (though less intensively raised than China) and abundant waterfowl in the delta region between its two large rivers, which are also visited by migratory waterfowl from Europe and Central parts of Asia (84). Mixed rearing is common, with poultry and ducks raised together in a semiscavenging system that allows contact with wild waterfowl (85). In Egypt, even though there has been ongoing circulation of HPAI H5N1 virus since 2006, the evolutionary trajectory has largely been of antigenic drift resulting in phenotypic variation, and few reassortants were reported. In Indonesia, apart from the reassortments that occurred in 2005-06, most of the evolution has been limited to point mutations (86) even though the country has numerous live-poultry markets with mixed species.

China and Vietnam implemented several national and regional level surveillance and epidemiological programs in the last decade, hence these were regions of increased sampling, and the higher frequency of reassortants found in these countries compared to other countries where similar risk factors prevail is likely influenced by this sampling bias.

However, this may not necessarily be the only explanation. We referenced the number of samples submitted to GenBank during each of the three time periods from the majority of countries reporting HPAI emergences (China, VietNam, Indonesia, Bangladesh, Egypt, and USA) (SI-Table S2), and found that the number of sequences submitted during the third time-period (2006–2015) is fairly homogenous relative to the chicken stock between all these countries (7) which suggests that the difference in reassortments cannot be fully explained by differences in sampling intensity.

Some epidemiological factors found in China, Hong Kong and Vietnam may differ from Bangladesh, Egypt and Indonesia. In China, Hong Kong and Vietnam, duck meat consumption is more popular, which translates into more intensive duck production systems and trade-related activities, which may also account for the diversity of subtypes of AIVs circulating within the LBMs. Particular subtypes/species combinations in the chicken/duck ecosystems are more prone to reassortment. A higher presence of particular AI subtypes in Anseriformes was described to be associated with higher reassortment rates as compared to Galliformes. Lu et al., (87) found that the H6 subtype that was more abundant in domestic ducks was associated with a higher rate of reassortment. They also found a positive correlation between subtypes with high reassortment rates and Anseriformes, i.e., waterfowl (87). In contrast, lower reassortment rates were observed in Galliformes.

China is also the world's largest producer of swine and the presence of pigs at LBMs creates a higher risk of infection of LBM workers to poultry AIV and swine H1N1 viruses, additionally increasing the risk of emergence of novel HPAI (88). Bangladesh, Egypt and Indonesia are predominantly Muslim nations, and swine production is minimal. In China, other types of agricultural production, such as swine production and aquaculture have also been intensifying rapidly. The production practices unregulated with one industry's waste being used as another industries input. For example, wastes from the swine and poultry industries are most often subjected to land disposal, which can lead to contamination of inland ground and surface water (89). Increasingly, poultry waste is also being used for land based aquaculture feeding in many countries (Little et al., 1996; Little and Edwards, 2003). Presence of remnant feed in poultry and pig wastes attracts waterfowl and wildbirds, which may also promote virus transmission if these waste disposal sites are located along migratory routes [such as in Guangdong, Southern China; (90)].

There is also an extensive wild bird interface in China that may explain the higher reassortment rates observed in east Asia, where large domestic ducks and geese populations are reared in mixed, free range settings that allows close contact of migratory and local waterfowls with ducks and geese, allowing for genetic exchange between viruses (91, 92). Several of the novel reassortants have had multiple gene segments from AI viruses of wild-bird origins (93).

Finally, in China, the rapid increase in HPAI reassortments and the increase in antigenic diversity also coincided with the time when mass-vaccination for HPAI control was implemented. Increase in antigenic drift and diversity promotes rapid antigenic evolution, which further complicates control by vaccination (94). It has not been conclusively proven that vaccination correlates with genetic reassortment, and even though vaccination protects poultry flocks from overt shedding of virus and clinical signs, subclinical infection and silent circulation in poultry does occur (95) and even leads to generation of reassortants as seen by the isolation of vaccine escape variants of HPAI H5N2 in China (96). There are also challenges associated with unregulated vaccine use in several countries that may lead to use of improperly inactivated or attenuated vaccines. In Taiwan, reassortant HPAI H5N2 viruses were isolated from outbreaks, which had HA and NA genes similar to the Mexican vaccine H5N2 strain, and other genes from enzootic AI H6N1 viruses (57).

The recent increase in the number of reassortments in east Asia, accompanied by rapid evolution and global spread of HPAI viruses deserves further investigations. In addition, the H5 HA that was almost exclusively associated with a monophyletic NA over the past decade had recently acquired the ability to combine with several NA subtypes (97) leading to generation of several H5Nx novel reassortants. The reason for this dramatic change in geographic and host range has been described in molecular terms (98). However, the underlying reasons or evolutionary pressures having favored these molecular changes are unknown. It has been hypothesized

that recent changes in the spatial epidemiology of these reassortants HPAI H5Nx may have been associated with land use changes in northeastern China, having affected the spatial patterns of the wild – domestic interface (99).

Further studies on these aspects of differing duck densities and the associated rice-paddy-duck wild bird interface, leading to the risk of generation of genetic diversity will help to gain interesting insights into the generation of HPAI reassortants.

In conclusion, conversions and reassortments have distinct geographical and temporal patterns. The large majority of conversion events took place in intensively raised poultry conditions, but the precise role of this factor as compared to an observational bias would deserve a further quantitative investigation. The distribution of reassortments, that dominate in China and Vietnam, may be influenced by a surveillance and sequencing bias too, but one cannot exclude that other underlying causal factors favoring virus persistence, endemicity and co-circulation of several strains, in these transitioning poultry production systems may have been important too. There are still gaps in our knowledge of the drivers behind the differences in emergences of novel variants, either by conversion or reassortment. With the advent of deep sequencing methods, rapid progress is being made in the identification of molecular changes and mutations associated with evolution. Attempts should be made to monitor and link these changes to agroecological drivers of HPAI emergences, with an aim to adapt surveillance and control accordingly. Risk mitigation approaches to prevent conversions should consider the changing climate, land use, and poultry production scenarios, in order to adjust and target surveillance in changing wild-domestic bird interface for early detection of LP to HP conversion linked molecular

REFERENCES

- Li X, Zhang Z, Yu A, Ho SY, Carr MJ, Zheng W, et al. Global and local persistence of influenza A(H5N1) virus. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2014) 20(8):1287– 95. doi: 10.3201/eid2008.130910
- Otte J, Hinrichs J, Rushton J, Roland-Holst D, Zilberman D. Impacts of avian influenza virus on animal production in developing countries. *CAB Reviews: Perspectives in Agriculture, Veterinary Science, Nutrition and Natural Resources* (2008) 3(080(). doi: 10.1079/PAVSNNR20083080
- Sonnberg S, Webby RJ, Webster RG. Natural history of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1. *Virus Res* (2013) 178(1):63–77. doi: 10.1016/j. virusres.2013.05.009
- Keesing F, Holt RD, Ostfeld RS. Effects of species diversity on disease risk. *Ecol* Lett (2006) 9(4):485–98. doi: doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00885.x
- Fourment M, Holmes EC. Avian influenza virus exhibits distinct evolutionary dynamics in wild birds and poultry. *BMC Evol Biol* (2015) 15:120. doi: doi: 10.1186/s12862-015-0410-5
- 6. The Scientific Task Force on Avian Influenza and Wild Birds. Statement on H5N8 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) in Poultry and Wild birds | Ramsar (2014). Available at: http://www.ramsar.org/news/statement-on-h5n8highly-pathogenic-avian-influenza-hpai-in-poultry-and-wild-birds
- 7. FAO. (2018). FAOSTAT. http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#home
- Gilbert M, Conchedda G, van Boeckel TP, Cinardi G, Linard C, Nicolas G, et al. Income Disparities and the Global Distribution of Intensively Farmed Chicken and Pigs. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(7):e0133381. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0133381

signatures. Vaccination for prevention and control, should be accompanied with regular monitoring of post vaccinal seroconversion, field virus surveillance and updating of vaccine strains. Most importantly, areas of intensifying poultry production need to be regulated to make sure that biosecurity and biosafety practices at all levels of the value chain reduce risk and are able to cope with the demands of intensification, and to avoid ongoing virus evolution.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MG, MSD and JA designed the study and reviewed methods, results and the manuscript. MSD, JA, SD, TVB, PL, collected data, analysed the data and wrote the manuscript. SM, DMC, SVD, GD, PL and MG interpreted the results, wrote and revised the manuscript.

FUNDING

JA, MG an MD are supported by study grant from the National Institutes of Health (1R01AI101028-02A1). SD is a post-doctoral research fellow funded by the Fonds Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek (FWO), Flanders, Belgium. TPVB is supported by the Program for Adaptation to a Changing Environment at ETH Zurich.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fvets.2018.00084/ full#supplementary-material

- van Boeckel TP, Thanapongtharm W, Robinson T, D'Aietti L, Gilbert M. Predicting the distribution of intensive poultry farming in Thailand. *Agric Ecosyst Environ* (2012) 149:144–53. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2011.12.019
- Saksena S, Fox J, Epprecht M, Tran CC, Nong DH, Spencer JH, et al. Evidence for the Convergence Model: The Emergence of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (H5N1) in Viet Nam. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(9):e0138138. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0138138
- Escorcia M, Vázquez L, Méndez ST, Rodríguez-Ropón A, Lucio E, Nava GM. Avian influenza: genetic evolution under vaccination pressure. *Virol J* (2008) 5:15. doi. doi: 10.1186/1743-422X-5-15
- Webster RG, Bean WJ, Gorman OT, Chambers TM, Kawaoka Y. Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses. *Microbiol Rev* (1992) 56(1):152–79.
- 13. Krauss S, Stallknecht DE, Slemons RD, Bowman AS, Poulson RL, Nolting JM, et al. The enigma of the apparent disappearance of Eurasian highly pathogenic H5 clade 2.3.4.4 influenza A viruses in North American waterfowl. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113(32):9033–8. doi. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1608853113
- 14. OIE(World Organization for Animal Health). Article 10.4.1.Infection with Avian Influenza viruses. (2018). Available at: http://www.oie.int/fileadmin/ Home/eng/Health_standards/tahc/current/chapitre_avian_influenza_viruses. pdf
- Horimoto T, Rivera E, Pearson J, Senne D, Krauss S, Kawaoka Y, et al. Origin and molecular changes associated with emergence of a highly pathogenic H5N2 influenza virus in Mexico. *Virology* (1995) 213(1):223–30. doi: 10.1006/ viro.1995.1562
- 16. Perdue M, Crawford J, Garcia M. Occurrence and possible mechanisms of cleavage site insertions in the avian influenza hemagglutinin gene. In: Slemons RD, editor. *Proceedings of the 4th international symposium on avian influenza*,

held May 29-31, 1997. Athens: US Animal Health Association, Georgia Center for Continuing Education, The University of Georgia (1997). p. 182–93.

- Suarez DL, Senne DA, Banks J, Brown IH, Essen SC, Lee CW, et al. Recombination resulting in virulence shift in avian influenza outbreak, Chile. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2004) 10(4):693–9. doi: 10.3201/eid1004.030396
- Pasick J, Berhane Y, Joseph T, Bowes V, Hisanaga T, Handel K, et al. Reassortant Highly Pathogenic Influenza A H5N2 Virus Containing Gene Segments Related to Eurasian H5N8 in British Columbia, Canada, 2014. Sci Rep (2015) 5(1(). doi: 10.1038/srep09484
- Clark K, Karsch-Mizrachi I, Lipman DJ, Ostell J, Sayers EW. GenBank. Nucleic Acids Res (2016) 44(D1):D67–D72. doi. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv1276
- Drummond AJ, Suchard MA, Xie D, Rambaut A. Bayesian phylogenetics with BEAUti and the BEAST 1.7. *Mol Biol Evol* (2012) 29(8):1969–73. doi: doi: 10.1093/molbev/mss075
- Lemey P, Rambaut A, Drummond AJ, Suchard MA. Bayesian phylogeography finds its roots. *PLoS Comput Biol* (2009) 5(9):e1000520. doi: 10.1371/journal. pcbi.1000520
- Drummond AJ, Ho SY, Phillips MJ, Rambaut A. Relaxed phylogenetics and dating with confidence. *PLoS Biol* (2006) 4(5):e88. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0040088
- Minin VN, Bloomquist EW, Suchard MA. Smooth skyride through a rough skyline: Bayesian coalescent-based inference of population dynamics. *Mol Biol Evol* (2008) 25(7):1459–71. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msn090
- Edwards CJ, Suchard MA, Lemey P, Welch JJ, Barnes I, Fulton TL, et al. Ancient hybridization and an Irish origin for the modern polar bear matriline. *Curr Biol* (2011) 21(15):1251–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2011.05.058
- Pereira HG, Tůmová B, Law VG. Avian influenza A viruses. Bull World Health Organ (1965) 32(6):855–60.
- Becker WB. The isolation and classification of Tern virus: influenza A-Tern South Africa-1961. J Hyg (1966) 64(3):309–20. doi: 10.1017/ S0022172400040596
- 27. Wells RJH. An outbreak of fowl plague in turkeys. Veterinary Record (1963) 75:783-6.
- Lang G, Narayan O, Rouse BT, Ferguson AE, Connell MC. A new influenza A virus infection in turkeys II. A highly pathogenic variant, a/turkey/ontario 772/66. Can Vet J (1968) 9(7):151–16.
- 29. Turner AJ. The isolation of fowl plague virus in Victoria. Aust Vet J (1976) 52(8):384. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-0813.1976.tb09503.x
- Alexander DJ, Allan WH, Parsons G. Characterisation of influenza viruses isolated from turkeys in Great Britain during 1963--1977. *Res Vet Sci* (1979) 26(1):17–20.
- Röhm C, Süss J, Pohle V, Webster RG. Different hemagglutinin cleavage site variants of H7N7 in an influenza outbreak in chickens in Leipzig, Germany. *Virology* (1996) 218(1):253–7. doi: 10.1006/viro.1996.0187
- 32. Kawaoka Y, Naeve CW, Webster RG. Is virulence of H5N2 influenza viruses in chickens associated with loss of carbohydrate from the hemagglutinin? *Virology* (1984) 139(2):303–16. doi: 10.1016/0042-6822(84)90376-3
- Mcnulty MS, Allan GM, Mccracken RM, Mcparland PJ. Isolation of a highly pathogenic influenza virus from turkeys. *Avian Pathol* (1985) 14(1):173–6. doi: 10.1080/03079458508436216
- 34. Barr DA, Kelly AP, Badman RT, Campey AR, O'Rourke MD, Grix DC, et al. Avian influenza on a multi-age chicken farm. Aust Vet J (1986) 63(6):195–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-0813.1986.tb02976.x
- Alexander DJ, Lister SA, Johnson MJ, Randall CJ, Thomas PJ. An outbreak of highly pathogenic avian influenza in turkeys in Great Britain in 1991. Vet Rec (1993) 132(21):535–6. doi: 10.1136/vr.132.21.535
- 36. Forsyth WM, Grix DC, Gibson CA. Diagnosis of highly pathogenic avian influenza in chickens: Bendigo 1992. Aust Vet J (1993) 70(3):118–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-0813.1993.tb03294.x
- Naeem K, Hussain M. An outbreak of avian influenza in poultry in Pakistan. Vet Rec (1995) 137(17):439.
- 38. Xu X, Subbarao K, Cox NJ, Guo Y. Genetic characterization of the pathogenic influenza A/Goose/Guangdong/1/96 (H5N1) virus: similarity of its hemagglutinin gene to those of H5N1 viruses from the 1997 outbreaks in Hong Kong. Virology (1999) 261(1):15–19. doi: 10.1006/viro.1999.9820
- 39. Selleck PW, Arzey G, Kirkland PD, Reece RL, Gould AR, Daniels PW, et al. An outbreak of highly pathogenic avian influenza in Australia in 1997 caused by an H7N4 virus. *Avian Dis* (2003) 47(3 Suppl):806–11. doi: 10.1637/0005-2086-47.s3.806

- 40. Capua I, Marangon S, Selli L, Alexander DJ, Swayne DE, Pozza MD, et al. Outbreaks of highly pathogenic avian influenza (H5N2) in Italy during October 1997 to January 1998. Avian Pathol (1999) 28(5):455–60. doi: 10.1080/03079459994470
- Capua I, Mutinelli F, Marangon S, Alexander DJ. H7N1 avian influenza in Italy (1999 to 2000) in intensively reared chickens and turkeys. *Avian Pathol* (2000) 29(6):537–43. doi: 10.1080/03079450020016779
- 42. Abbas MA, Spackman E, Swayne DE, Ahmed Z, Sarmento L, Siddique N, et al. Sequence and phylogenetic analysis of H7N3 avian influenza viruses isolated from poultry in Pakistan 1995-2004. *Virol J* (2010) 7(1):137–10. doi: 10.1186/1743-422X-7-137
- 43. Fouchier RA, Schneeberger PM, Rozendaal FW, Broekman JM, Kemink SA, Munster V, et al. Avian influenza A virus (H7N7) associated with human conjunctivitis and a fatal case of acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101(5):1356–61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0308352100
- 44. Hirst M, Astell CR, Griffith M, Coughlin SM, Moksa M, Zeng T, et al. Novel avian influenza H7N3 strain outbreak, British Columbia. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2004) 10(12):2192–5. doi: 10.3201/eid1012.040743
- 45. Lee CW, Suarez DL, Tumpey TM, Sung HW, Kwon YK, Lee YJ, et al. Characterization of highly pathogenic H5N1 avian influenza A viruses isolated from South Korea. J Virol (2005) 79(6):3692–702. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.6.3692-3702.2005
- 46. Abolnik C, Londt BZ, Manvell RJ, Shell W, Banks J, Gerdes GH, et al. Characterisation of a highly pathogenic influenza a virus of subtype H5N2 isolated from ostriches in South Africa in 2004. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses* (2009) 3(2):63–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-2659.2009.00074.x
- 47. Berhane Y, Hisanaga T, Kehler H, Neufeld J, Manning L, Argue C, et al. Highly pathogenic avian influenza virus A (H7N3) in domestic poultry, Saskatchewan, Canada, 2007. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2009) 15(9):1492–5. doi: 10.3201/eid1509.080231
- DEFRA. (2008). Defra Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. www.http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100407173059/http://www. defra.gov.uk/news/2008/080605c.htm
- Iglesias I, Martínez M, Muñoz MJ, de La Torre A, Sánchez-Vizcaíno JM. First case of highly pathogenic avian influenza in poultry in Spain. *Transbound Emerg Dis* (2010) 57(4):282–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1865-1682.2010.01145.x
- Abolnik C, Olivier AJ, Grewar J, Gers S, Romito M. Molecular analysis of the 2011 HPAI H5N2 outbreak in ostriches, South Africa. *Avian Dis* (2012) 56(4 Suppl):865–79. doi: 10.1637/10171-041012-Reg.1
- 51. Maurer-Stroh S, Lee RT, Gunalan V, Eisenhaber F. The highly pathogenic H7N3 avian influenza strain from July 2012 in Mexico acquired an extended cleavage site through recombination with host 28S rRNA. *Virol J* (2013) 10:139. doi. doi: 10.1186/1743-422X-10-139
- Bonfanti L, Monne I, Tamba M, Santucci U, Massi P, Patregnani T. Highly pathogenic H7N7 avian influenza in Italy. *Veterinary Record vetrec* (2014) 2013:102202.
- 53. Harder T, Maurer-Stroh S, Pohlmann A, Starick E, Höreth-Böntgen D, Albrecht K, et al. Influenza a(H5N8) virus similar to strain in Korea causing highly pathogenic avian influenza in Germany. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2015) 21(5):860–3. doi: 10.3201/eid2105.141897
- 54. Animal Plant Health Agency (APHA). Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza H7N7 epidemiology report (2015). Available at: https://assets.publishing. service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/ 469948/ai-epi-report-july-2015.pdf
- 55. Briand FX, Schmitz A, Ogor K, Le Prioux A, Guillou-Cloarec C, Guillemoto C, et al. Emerging highly pathogenic H5 avian influenza viruses in France during winter 2015/16: phylogenetic analyses and markers for zoonotic potential. *Euro Surveill* (2017) 22(9(). doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.9.30473
- 56. Killian ML, Kim-Torchetti M, Hines N, Yingst S, Deliberto T, Lee DH. Outbreak of H7N8 Low Pathogenic Avian Influenza in Commercial Turkeys with Spontaneous Mutation to Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza. *Genome Announc* (2016) 4(3):e00457-16–16. doi: 10.1128/genomeA.00457-16
- 57. Lee CC, Zhu H, Huang PY, Peng L, Chang YC, Yip CH, et al. Emergence and evolution of avian H5N2 influenza viruses in chickens in Taiwan. J Virol (2014) 88(10):5677–86. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00139-14
- Salzberg SL, Kingsford C, Cattoli G, Spiro DJ, Janies DA, Aly MM, et al. Genome analysis linking recent European and African influenza (H5N1) viruses. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2007) 13(5):713–8. doi: 10.3201/eid1305.070013

- Ojimelukwe AE, Prakarnkamanant A, Rushton J. Estimating the sensitivity of passive surveillance for HPAI H5N1 in Bayelsa state, Nigeria. *Prev Vet Med* (2016) 129:58–66. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2016.05.003
- Alizon S, Hurford A, Mideo N, van Baalen M. Virulence evolution and the trade-off hypothesis: history, current state of affairs and the future. *J Evol Biol* (2009) 22(2):245–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1420-9101.2008.01658.x
- Rozins C, Day T. The industrialization of farming may be driving virulence evolution. *Evol Appl* (2017) 10(2):189–98. doi: 10.1111/eva.12442
- 62. Monne I, Fusaro A, Nelson MI, Bonfanti L, Mulatti P, Hughes J, et al. Emergence of a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus from a low-pathogenic progenitor. *J Virol* (2014) 88(8):4375–88. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03181-13
- Shim E, Galvani AP. Impact of transmission dynamics on the cost-effectiveness of rotavirus vaccination. *Vaccine* (2009) 27(30):4025–30. doi: 10.1016/j. vaccine.2009.04.030
- 64. Smith J, Smith N, Yu L, Paton IR, Gutowska MW, Forrest HL, et al. A comparative analysis of host responses to avian influenza infection in ducks and chickens highlights a role for the interferon-induced transmembrane proteins in viral resistance. *BMC Genomics* (2015) 16:574. doi: 10.1186/s12864-015-1778-8
- 65. Keiner B, Maenz B, Wagner R, Cattoli G, Capua I, Klenk HD. Intracellular distribution of NS1 correlates with the infectivity and interferon antagonism of an avian influenza virus (H7N1). *J Virol* (2010) 84(22):11858–65. doi: 10.1128/ JVI.01011-10
- 66. Senne DA, Panigrahy B, Kawaoka Y, Pearson JE, Süss J, Lipkind M, et al. Survey of the hemagglutinin (HA) cleavage site sequence of H5 and H7 avian influenza viruses: amino acid sequence at the HA cleavage site as a marker of pathogenicity potential. *Avian Dis* (1996) 40(2):425–37. doi: 10.2307/1592241
- 67. Banks J, Speidel ES, Moore E, Plowright L, Piccirillo A, Capua I, et al. Changes in the haemagglutinin and the neuraminidase genes prior to the emergence of highly pathogenic H7N1 avian influenza viruses in Italy. *Arch Virol* (2001) 146(5):963–73. doi: 10.1007/s007050170128
- 68. Munier S, Larcher T, Cormier-Aline F, Soubieux D, Su B, Guigand L, et al. A genetically engineered waterfowl influenza virus with a deletion in the stalk of the neuraminidase has increased virulence for chickens. *J Virol* (2010) 84(2):940–52. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01581-09
- 69. Fusaro A, Tassoni L, Hughes J, Milani A, Salviato A, Schivo A, et al. Evolutionary trajectories of two distinct avian influenza epidemics: Parallelisms and divergences. *Infect Genet Evol* (2015) 34:457–66. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2015.05.020
- Beato MS, Xu Y, Long LP, Capua I, Wan XF. Antigenic and genetic evolution of low-pathogenicity avian influenza viruses of subtype H7N3 following heterologous vaccination. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* (2014) 21(5):603–12. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00647-13
- Arafa A, Suarez D, Kholosy SG, Hassan MK, Nasef S, Selim A, et al. Evolution of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 viruses in Egypt indicating progressive adaptation. *Arch Virol* (2012) 157(10):1931–47. doi: 10.1007/ s00705-012-1385-9
- Hansbro PM, Warner S, Tracey JP, Arzey KE, Selleck P, O'Riley K, et al. Surveillance and analysis of avian influenza viruses, Australia. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2010) 16(12):1896–904. doi: 10.3201/eid1612.100776
- 73. Dugan VG, Chen R, Spiro DJ, Sengamalay N, Zaborsky J, Ghedin E, et al. The evolutionary genetics and emergence of avian influenza viruses in wild birds. *PLoS Pathog* (2008) 4(5):e1000076. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000076
- 74. Bulach D, Halpin R, Spiro D, Pomeroy L, Janies D, Boyle DB. Molecular analysis of H7 avian influenza viruses from Australia and New Zealand: genetic diversity and relationships from 1976 to 2007. *J Virol* (2010) 84(19):9957–66. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00930-10
- 75. Kingsford RT, Roshier DA, Porter JL. Australian waterbirds time and space travellers in dynamic desert landscapes. *Marine and Freshwater Research* (2010) 61(8):875–84. doi: 10.1071/MF09088
- Mccallum HI, Roshier DA, Tracey JP, Joseph L, Heinsohn R. Will Wallace's Line Save Australia from Avian Influenza? *Ecology and Society* (2008) 13(2):41. doi: 10.5751/ES-02620-130241
- 77. Delany S, Scott D. *Waterbird Population Estimates.* 3rd ed. Wagenigen, The Netherlands: Wetlands International (2002).
- Duan L, Bahl J, Smith GJ, Wang J, Vijaykrishna D, Zhang LJ, et al. The development and genetic diversity of H5N1 influenza virus in China, 1996-2006. Virology (2008) 380(2):243–54. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2008.07.038

- 79. Guan Y, Smith GJ. The emergence and diversification of panzootic H5N1 influenza viruses. *Virus Res* (2013) 178(1):35–43. doi: 10.1016/j. virusres.2013.05.012
- Gilbert M, Chaitaweesub P, Parakamawongsa T, Premashthira S, Tiensin T, Kalpravidh W, et al. Free-grazing ducks and highly pathogenic avian influenza, Thailand. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2006) 12(2):227–34. doi: 10.3201/ eid1202.050640
- 81. Fournié G, Tripodi A, Nguyen TT, Nguyen VT, Tran TT, Bisson A, et al. Investigating poultry trade patterns to guide avian influenza surveillance and control: a case study in Vietnam. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:srep29463. doi: 10.1038/ srep29463
- 82. Guan Y, Shortridge KF, Krauss S, Webster RG. Molecular characterization of H9N2 influenza viruses: were they the donors of the "internal" genes of H5N1 viruses in Hong Kong? *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96(16):9363–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.16.9363
- 83. Turner JC, Feeroz MM, Hasan MK, Akhtar S, Walker D, Seiler P, et al. Insight into live bird markets of Bangladesh: an overview of the dynamics of transmission of H5N1 and H9N2 avian influenza viruses. *Emerg Microbes Infect* (2017) 6(3):e12. doi: 10.1038/emi.2016.142
- 84. Bangladesh bird checklist Avibase Bird Checklists of the World. (2017). http://avibase.bsc-eoc.org/checklist.jsp?lang=EN®ion=bd&list= clements
- 85. Khatun A, Giasuddin M, Islam KM, Khanom S, Samad MA, Islam MR, et al. Surveillance of avian influenza virus type A in semi-scavenging ducks in Bangladesh. *BMC Vet Res* (2013) 9:196. doi: 10.1186/1746-6148-9-196
- 86. Lam TT, Hon CC, Pybus OG, Kosakovsky Pond SL, Wong RT, Yip CW, et al. Evolutionary and transmission dynamics of reassortant H5N1 influenza virus in Indonesia. *PLoS Pathog* (2008) 4(8):e1000130. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat. 1000130
- Lu L, Lycett SJ, Leigh Brown AJ. Reassortment patterns of avian influenza virus internal segments among different subtypes. *BMC Evol Biol* (2014) 14:16. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-14-16
- 88. Chen J, Ma J, White SK, Cao Z, Zhen Y, He S, et al. Live poultry market workers are susceptible to both avian and swine influenza viruses, Guangdong Province, China. *Vet Microbiol* (2015) 181(3-4):230–5. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2015.09.016
- 89. Sapkota AR, Curriero FC, Gibson KE, Schwab KJ. Antibiotic-resistant enterococci and fecal indicators in surface water and groundwater impacted by a concentrated Swine feeding operation. *Environ Health Perspect* (2007) 115(7):1040–5. doi: 10.1289/ehp.9770
- 90. Graham JP, Leibler JH, Price LB, Otte JM, Pfeiffer DU, Tiensin T, et al. The animal-human interface and infectious disease in industrial food animal production: rethinking biosecurity and biocontainment. *Public Health Rep* (2008) 123(3):282–99. doi: 10.1177/003335490812300309
- 91. Gu M, Liu W, Cao Y, Peng D, Wang X, Wan H, et al. Novel reassortant highly pathogenic avian influenza (H5N5) viruses in domestic ducks, China. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2011) 17(6):1060–3. doi: 10.3201/eid/1706.101406
- 92. Deng G, Tan D, Shi J, Cui P, Jiang Y, Liu L, et al. Complex reassortment of multiple subtypes of avian influenza viruses in domestic ducks at the Dongting Lake Region of China. J Virol (2013) 87(17):9452–62. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00776-13
- 93. Duan L, Campitelli L, Fan XH, Leung YH, Vijaykrishna D, Zhang JX, et al. Characterization of low-pathogenic H5 subtype influenza viruses from Eurasia: implications for the origin of highly pathogenic H5N1 viruses. J Virol (2007) 81(14):7529–39. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00327-07
- 94. Peng Y, Li X, Zhou H, Wu A, Dong L, Zhang Y, et al. Continual antigenic diversification in china leads to global antigenic complexity of avian influenza H5N1 viruses. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:43566. doi: 10.1038/ srep43566
- 95. Ma QX, Jiang WM, Liu S, Wang SC, Zhuang QY, Hou GY, et al. Subclinical highly pathogenic avian influenza virus infection among vaccinated chickens, China. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2014) 20(12):2152–. doi: 10.3201/ eid2012.140733
- 96. Xu H, Meng F, Huang D, Sheng X, Wang Y, Zhang W, et al. Genomic and phylogenetic characterization of novel, recombinant H5N2 avian influenza virus strains isolated from vaccinated chickens with clinical symptoms in China. *Viruses* (2015) 7(3):887–98. doi: 10.3390/v7030887

- Global Consortium for H5N8 and Related Influenza Viruses. Role for migratory wild birds in the global spread of avian influenza H5N8. Science (2016) 354(6309):213–7. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf8852
- 98. Guo H, de Vries E, Mcbride R, Dekkers J, Peng W, Bouwman KM, et al. Highly Pathogenic Influenza A(H5Nx) Viruses with Altered H5 Receptor-Binding Specificity. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2017) 23(2):220–31. doi: 10.3201/ eid2302.161072
- 99. Gilbert M, Prosser DJ, Zhang G, Artois J, Dhingra MS, Tildesley M, et al. Could changes in the agricultural landscape of northeastern china have influenced the long-distance transmission of highly pathogenic avian influenza h5nx viruses? *Front Vet Sci* (2017) 4. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017.00225

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the submitted work was not carried out in the presence of any personal, professional or financial relationships that could potentially be construed as a conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Dhingra, Artois, Dellicour, Lemey, Dauphin, Von Dobschuetz, Van Boeckel, Castellan, Morzaria and Gilbert. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Establishing Monitored Premises Status for Continuity of Business Permits During an HPAI Outbreak

Jamie Umber^{1,2*}, Rebecca Johnson^{1,2†}, Michelle Kromm³, Eric Linskens^{1,2}, Marie R. Culhane^{1,4}, Timothy Goldsmith^{1,4}, David Halvorson^{1,2} and Carol Cardona^{1,2}

¹ Secure Food Systems Team, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, Saint Paul, MN, United States, ² Department of Veterinary and Biomedical Sciences, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN, United States, ³ Jennie-O Turkey Store, Willmar, MN, United States, ⁴ Department of Veterinary Population Medicine, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Paolo Mulatti, Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale delle Venezie, Italy

Reviewed by:

Shankar Yadav, Plum Island Animal Disease Center (ARS-USDA), United States Luca Busani, Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Italy

> *Correspondence: Jamie Umber umber@umn.edu

[†]Present Address:

Rebecca Johnson, Center for Infectious Disease Research and Policy, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, United States

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 30 November 2017 Accepted: 25 May 2018 Published: 22 June 2018

Citation:

Umber J, Johnson R, Kromm M, Linskens E, Culhane MR, Goldsmith T, Halvorson D and Cardona C (2018) Establishing Monitored Premises Status for Continuity of Business Permits During an HPAI Outbreak. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:129. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00129

Recent experiences with avian influenza outbreaks in poultry in the United States have tested biosecurity protocols and outbreak management strategies. During an outbreak, regulatory officials managing the emergency response need to make timely decisions in order to achieve disease control and eradication goals while simultaneously decreasing the unintended consequences of the response. To move susceptible animals or animal products out of a disease Control Area via a secure food supply continuity of business (COB) permit without the risk of expanding a disease outbreak, premises must be designated as Monitored Premises (MP) by regulatory officials. The experience of and lessons learned from the 2014 to 2015 highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) outbreak have resulted in defined criteria necessary to establish MP status during an HPAI outbreak and highlighted the need for a clear method to determine that those criteria have been met. Establishing MP status is different from an epidemiologic investigation, though they both require analyses of how avian influenza virus may enter poultry premises and can take significant staff time. MP status of premises seeking to move animals or animal products must be continuously re-evaluated as Infected Premises status, and resulting epidemiologic contacts, can rapidly change during an outbreak. We present here a questionnaire to establish MP status, designed to be initially completed by industry representatives in an attempt to streamline processes and conserve resources. During an outbreak, the MP status questionnaire is an essential risk-based management tool used to establish premises status, as part of operationalizing permitted movement to support COB.

Keywords: HPAI, disease outbreaks, monitored premises, continuity of business, permit, permitted movement, questionnaire

INTRODUCTION

The process for moving animals and animal products in the United States (US) can be challenging to implement when quarantine and movement control activities are in place to contain and eradicate a foreign animal disease (FAD) such as highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI). However, facilitating the movement of non-infected animals and non-contaminated animal products into, within, and out of a disease Control Area during a disease outbreak,

115

while minimizing risk of disease introduction and/or spread, is critical in order to maintain continuity of business (COB) for animal agricultural industries (1, 2). For poultry, COB is achieved when the movement of non-infected birds and noncontaminated poultry products are allowed during an HPAI outbreak, thus helping prevent many potentially devastating unintended economic consequences of the outbreak and securing the US food supply. Additionally and importantly, though outside the scope of this manuscript, maintaining COB helps address animal welfare issues that can arise due to restricted movements.

FEDERAL GUIDELINES AND DEFINITIONS

"The United States Department of Agriculture Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (USDA APHIS) HPAI Response Plan: The Red Book" is the federal document detailing the FAD Preparedness and Response Plan to HPAI in the United States. The plan stipulates that when HPAI is detected in the US, appropriate regulatory officials issue a quarantine, hold order, or standstill notice for the Infected Premises and establish the boundaries of a Control Area (3). Regulatory officials also work to determine appropriate premises designations (i.e., Infected, Contact, Suspect, At-Risk, and Monitored) for other poultry operations within that Control Area (Figure 1). The area and premises designations are used for quarantine and movement control efforts, which extend beyond the Infected Premises and are implemented as rapidly as possible [see also Figure 5-4 in The Red Book for a graphic representation of premises designations in relation to permitting and movement control (3)]. Quarantine and movement restrictions are important tools in controlling and eradicating any FAD outbreak; however, there remain multiple types of movements that occur during an FAD outbreak that are critical to the vitality of the animal agriculture business and which can be done with minimal risk of spreading disease (e.g., movements of feed, liquid pasteurized egg products, processed meat, or newly hatched birds). So as not to create an unacceptable risk of disease spread, the current US approach to HPAI emergency response involves regulatory officials issuing permits for some movements to, from, and within Control Areas [e.g., from movements of susceptible animals and animal products to movements of fomites and materials (4)]. Commodity-specific proactive risk assessments help inform the permit decision-making processes with regard to which types of movements from apparently healthy animals (flocks or herds) may pose acceptable risk.

According to federal guidelines, there are two primary types of permits: (1) Specific, and (2) COB (4). Specific permits are used for movements from Infected, Contact, and Suspect Premises—which are under quarantine during an FAD outbreak. COB permits may be issued for movements from At-Risk Premises or Monitored Premises (MP) and are vital for the production of animals and animal products (4). COB permits are meant to facilitate the continuation of business operations for those premises not infected by the disease agent but still affected by their location within a Control Area and the associated movement restrictions therein. Secure Food Supply (SFS) permits, a type of COB permit, allow movements of animals and animal products into the supply chain for further feeding, growing, processing, or to market (4). At-Risk Premises may seek a COB SFS permit to move susceptible animals or animal products within the Control Area. Monitored Premises (MP) meet a set of defined criteria and may seek to move susceptible animals or animal products both within and out of the Control Area by COB SFS permit. Movements into the Control Area under COB SFS permits are less common (4). An MP objectively demonstrates that it is not an Infected Premises, Contact Premises, or Suspect Premises.

Our focus here is on COB SFS permitted movements from MP [for further information about other movement or permit types see the FAD Preparedness and Response Manual, Permitted Movement (4)]. It is important to note that outbreakspecific circumstances cannot be predicted in advance and therefore movement permitting decisions may ultimately depend on relevant risk and epidemiologic determinations made by regulatory officials for any given outbreak.

BACKGROUND

The goals of HPAI response in the US include eradicating HPAI (using strategies that stabilize animal agriculture, the food supply, and the economy while protecting public health and the environment) and providing science- and risk-based approaches and systems to facilitate COB (3). Achieving these goals will allow US industries to resume normal production as quickly as possible and the US to regain disease-free status, ideally without the response effort causing more disruption and damage than the disease outbreak itself (3) (e.g., since avian infection with AI viruses is notifiable to the World Organisation for Animal Health [or OIE] there may be significant international trade consequences until disease-free status can be regained). With these goals in mind, the concepts and definitions for premises designations have evolved with FAD preparedness and response in the US. The term "Monitored Premises" first appeared in the USDA HPAI Response Plan (i.e., The Red Book) in 2011. Only At-Risk Premises are eligible to become MP (i.e., currently Infected, Contact, and Suspect Premises cannot become Monitored Premises) (3). According to the 2017 Red Book, MP meet a set of defined criteria in seeking to move susceptible birds or poultry products out of the HPAI Control Area by permit; these criteria are based on the level of risk of the movement and are set out by the Secure Poultry Supply Plan.¹ For the Secure Poultry Supply Plan, the

Abbreviations: COB, Continuity of Business; FAD, Foreign Animal Disease; HPAI, Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza; MN, Minnesota; MP, Monitored Premises; MPSQ, Monitored Premises Status Questionnaire; SFS, Secure Food Supply; UMN, University of Minnesota; USDA APHIS, United States Department of Agriculture, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service.

¹The Secure Poultry Supply Plan (SPS) is a translation of the science in the Secure Egg (SES), Turkey (STS), and Broiler (SBS) Supply plans into a harmonized permitting approach that can be readily accessed (Grab n' Go) in the event of a disease outbreak such as HPAI (https://securepoultrysupply.umn.edu/).

Infected Premises Detected

An Infected Premises is where a presumptive positive HPAI case or confirmed positive HPAI case exists based on laboratory results, compatible clinical signs, case definition, and international standards.

Control Area Established

A Control Area consists of an Infected Zone (the zone that immediately surrounds an HPAI Infected Premises) and a Buffer Zone (the zone that immediately surround an HPAI Infected Zone or an HPAI Contact Premises).

Appropriate	Premises Designations Within the Control Area are Determined
Infected Premises	Premises where a presumptive positive HPAI case or confirmed positive HPAI case exists as defined above.
Contact Premises	Premises with susceptible animals that may have been exposed to HPAI, either directly or indirectly, including but not limited to exposure to animals, animal products, fomites, or people from an HPAI Infected Premises.
Suspect Premises	Premises under investigation due to the presence of susceptible animals reported to have clinical signs compatible with HPAI. This is intended to be a short-term premises designation.
At-Risk Premises	Premises that have susceptible animals, but none of those susceptible animals have clinical signs compatible with HPAI. Premises objectively demonstrates that it is not an Infected Premises, Contact Premises, or Suspect Premises. At- Risk Premises may seek to move susceptible animals or products within the Control Area by permit. Only At-Risk Premises are eligible to become Monitored Premises.
Monitored Premises	 Premises objectively demonstrates that it is not an Infected Premises, Contact Premises, or Suspect Premises. Only At-Risk Premises are eligible to become Monitored Premises. Monitored Premises meet a set of defined criteria in seeking to move susceptible animals or products out of the Control Area by permit. For the Secure Poultry Supply Plan, the following criteria must be met in order for a premises to be considered a Monitored Premises (5): Pre-movement RRT-PCR testing is negative for HPAI; Epidemiologic questionnaire is completed; No unexplained mortality, no unexplained clinical signs, and no unexplained changes in production parameters; and Biosecurity measures are acceptable to state and federal authorities.

FIGURE 1 | USDA APHIS and Secure Poultry Supply Plan definitions of and steps leading to HPAI area, zone, and premises designations. Additional FAD zone, area, and premises designation definitions not applicable to this manuscript are available in The Red Book (3). Within the unified Incident Command*, the Incident Commander works with the Operations Section and Situation Unit (in the Planning Section) to determine zone, area, and premises designations. These designations are evaluated and reevaluated as needed throughout an outbreak based on the epidemiological situation; specific guidelines as to how to and who will conduct such evaluations to determine appropriate premises designations do not exist. The MPSQ provides a method to establish Monitored Premises status. *In the US, HPAI response is based on the principles found in the National Response Framework (NRF) and National Incident Management System (NIMS); response efforts should be implemented through a Unified Incident Command (i.e., in a manner consistent with the Incident Command System [ICS]) (see the HPAI Red Book for more detailed information and references for the Unified Incident Command organizational structure).

following criteria must be met in order for a premises to be considered an MP [the combined USDA APHIS and Secure Poultry Supply Plan definition of MP is included in **Figure 1**; (3, 5)]:

- Pre-movement RRT-PCR testing is negative for HPAI;
- Epidemiologic questionnaire is completed;
- No unexplained mortality, no unexplained clinical signs, and no unexplained changes in production parameters; and

• Biosecurity measures are acceptable to state and federal authorities.

The criteria specified in the Secure Poultry Supply Plan MP definition were harmonized across poultry industries based, in part, on observations during the 2014–2015 HPAI outbreak in the US and on consultations with the Secure Poultry Supply Working Groups representing the egg, turkey, and broiler industries. While these overarching criteria were harmonized, details regarding each component may be industry specific. Numbers and timing of samples collected for RRT-PCR testing may differ by industry based on transmission rates, products being moved, and nature of the production system, for example. Both the Secure Egg Supply and the Secure Turkey Supply plans include epidemiology questionnaires (which are tailored to identify any possible source of HPAI retrospectively and prospectively on egg or turkey operations, respectively), while the Secure Broiler Supply plan does not.

Lessons learned regarding permitted movement during the 2014–2015 HPAI outbreak in Minnesota (MN) were the subject of several cross-sector/cross-commodity meetings of individuals from the poultry industry, academia, and state and federal agencies that began in late 2015 with a goal to improve future permitting. These meetings comprised larger group discussions as well as smaller working group discussions. The first multi-disciplinary meeting was held by the University of MN (UMN) in December 2015, and it highlighted how permitted movement must be a collaborative effort and resulted in the formation a working group charged with creating a revamped permitting process for MN (6). A key question that this permitting working group faced was how to establish MP status (i.e., how to determine that all necessary criteria had been met) and who will do it.

DEVELOPMENT OF A TOOL TO ESTABLISH MONITORED PREMISES STATUS

Prior to the 2014-2015 HPAI outbreak in the US, permit guidance in MN generally was written ad hoc (to address biosecurity and testing requirements) for use by regulatory officials to issue movement permits for poultry. Regulatory officials would review basic production parameters and epidemiologic links among poultry farms that requested to move birds or poultry products. During the 2014-2015 HPAI outbreak in MN, the permitting language was long and very product-specific, all permits were hand-signed, and initially trucks were officially sealed and followed to destinations such as processing plants. This permitting process created a significant workload burden on regulatory officials during the outbreak, requiring an average of 288 staff hours per week (equivalent to 7 full-time employees) for 16 weeks, not including federal staff or indirect state staff time. In the end, over 900 permits were approved in MN that encompassed over 3,000 movements (not including feed or slaughter product permits and their associated movements) (7).

While the permitting process in MN ultimately was successful during the 2014–2015 HPAI outbreak, the substantial time and

effort required by regulatory officials and industry alike for permitting was sufficient to motivate an improvement of the process. According to the USDA, during the entire 2014–2015 HPAI outbreak (which involved 15 states that had positive commercial or backyard poultry producing premises), there were over 7,500 permits—and over 20,000 individual movements associated with those permits—that were entered into the USDA APHIS Emergency Management Response System 2.0 (EMRS2). EMRS2, a secure information management system, is used by APHIS personnel for all permitting processes, including issuing permits and tracking movements (4). While a large portion (36%) of the total permits during the outbreak were issued in MN (8), given the sheer number of permits involved for the US as a whole, the burden of the permitting process is likely to have been a challenge for other states as well, not just MN.

The cross-sector/cross-commodity meetings held in MN following the 2015 outbreak were an opportunity to garner the expertise of people involved in this very large outbreak on the aspects of response that went well and aspects that needed improvement. Through multiple meetings and conversations, it became clear that one key component of the permitting process was lacking-a clear method for establishing MP status. Thus, developing a procedure and the tools to establish that all necessary criteria for MP status have been met could help improve the permitting process in future disease outbreaks. Determining MP status is different from an epidemiologic investigation, making epidemiologic questionnaires inefficient tools for determining MP status. When determining MP status, it is important to elicit evidence of potential infection via contact specifically with Infected, Suspect, or Contact Premises in a Control Area. In contrast, epidemiologic investigations are more open-ended and examine contact with all potential sources (including other poultry operations and wild birds) and may also seek to gather information about a premises that is not central to determining MP status, such as management type. As such, having a targeted, pre-existing "Monitored Premises Status Questionnaire" (MPSQ) could assist regulatory officials and industry representatives when they are seeking to move poultry/poultry products via COB SFS permits. As the MN working group began development of the MN MPSQ, the 2016 AI outbreak in Indiana re-confirmed the need for such a tool. The response coordinators in the 2016 Indiana outbreak benefited from lessons learned and tools developed as a result of the 2014-2015 outbreak; however, no pre-existing method for determining MP status had been developed at that time. The Indiana Incident Command created their own impromptu strategy during the outbreak. Their method involved using direct communications with the poultry industry premises, completing a biosecurity checklist (using the existing biosecurity checklist in the Secure Egg Supply Plan), and conducting daily sampling (personal communication Dr. Mike Kopp, Sept 2017).

It follows that a pre-existing MPSQ should enable more efficient determination of the appropriate premises designation, that is, if a premises meets the defined criteria to be designated as an MP. This determination would ideally be made without having to have as many direct conversations or searching for then modifying existing checklists or questionnaires to address all of the defined criteria. A set of targeted questions was thus compiled TABLE 1 | Questions included in the Minnesota Monitored Premises Status Questionnaire (MPSQ).

IDENTIFICATION AND LOCATION OF PREMISES

1. What is the national Premises Identification Number (PIN) for the premises?

HPAI

Responses indicate whether or not a premises is an Infected Premises (#2) or a Suspect Premises (#3–5); Yes answers will be referred to Incident Command for follow-up

2. Does premises have a diagnosis of HPAI? (Yes/No)

3. Does premises have any unexplained clinical signs or clinical signs indicating HPAI? (Yes/No)

4. Does premises have any unexplained mortality or mortality indicating HPAI? (Yes/No)

5. Does premises have any unexplained changes in production parameters or production parameters indicating HPAI? (Yes/No)

EPIDEMIOLOGIC LINKS/EXPOSURES TO INFECTED PREMISES

Responses indicate whether or not a premises is a Contact Premises; Yes and Unknown answers will be referred to Incident Command for follow-up

6. Has this premises been exposed to poultry manure from an infected flock (HPAI virus in manure) in the past 14 days? (Yes/No/Unknown)

7. Has this premises been exposed to dead poultry from an infected flock (HPAI virus in carcasses, etc.) in the past 14 days? (Yes/No/Unknown)

8. Has this premises been exposed to live poultry from an infected flock (HPAI virus in bird secretions and excretions) in the past 14 days? (Yes/No/Unknown)

9. Has this premises been exposed to eggs or egg-handling materials from an infected flock (HPAI virus in and on eggs from infected birds) in the past 14 days? (Yes/No/Unknown)

10. Has this premises been exposed to semen or semen-handling materials from an infected flock (HPAI virus in semen) in the past 14 days? (Yes/No/Unknown)

11. Has this premises had unmitigated exposure* to equipment that has been in contact with poultry manure, dead poultry, live poultry, eggs,

egg-handling materials, semen, or semen-handling materials from an infected flock in the past 14 days? (Yes/No/Unknown)

12. Has this premises had unmitigated exposure** to people who have been in contact with poultry manure, dead poultry, live poultry, eggs or egg handling materials from an infected flock in the past 14 days? (Yes/No/Unknown)

13. Have the people or the equipment from this premises been involved in the depopulation of infected flocks in the past 14 days? (Yes/No/Unknown)

BIOSECURITY

An answer of No will be referred to Incident Command for follow-up

14. Is an Accredited Veterinarian (or other Biosecurity Coordinator) responsible for the development, implementation, maintenance, and ongoing effectiveness of a premises biosecurity program that conforms to the National Poultry Improvement Plan (NPIP) guidelines? (Yes/No)

Additional required and critical information also is gathered in the full MPSQ (i.e., date and time that status of Infected Premises was last checked in order to ensure up-to-date Contact Premises information; and explanations of any "yes/no/unknown" answers where appropriate).

*Unmitigated exposure to equipment means inadequate sanitation procedures for those items that come into contact with an infected flock or infectious materials such as trucks/trailers used to transport live birds, eggs, or eggshells; load-out equipment; dumpsters; etc. (a longer list of examples is included with the full MPSQ).

**Unmitigated exposure to people means inadequate biosecurity, sanitation, or downtime procedures for those people who come in contact with an infected flock or infectious materials such as might happen with working at other poultry operations, visiting a poultry processing plant, visiting a manure handling plant, etc. (a longer list of examples is included with the full MPSQ).

to create an MPSQ that, taken together, industry could use to establish whether a premises had met all the necessary criteria for MP status (Table 1). The MPSO is divided into four sections: Identification & Location of Premises; HPAI; Epidemiologic Links/Exposures to Infected Premises; and Biosecurity. The Identification & Location of Premises section identifies the premises via the national Premises Identification Number. The HPAI section contains questions to help determine whether or not a premises is an Infected Premises or a Suspect Premises (e.g., does the premise have a diagnosis of HPAI or does the premises have any unexplained clinical signs or clinical signs consistent with HPAI). The Epidemiologic Links/Exposures to Infected Premises section contains questions to help determine whether or not a premises is a Contact Premises (e.g., has the premises been exposed to an HPAI infected flock via poultry manure, poultry carcasses, equipment, etc.). The Biosecurity section helps determine if the premises has a biosecurity program in place that likely will be acceptable to regulatory officials.

The questionnaire was designed with the intent that industry representatives, who actually know answers to farm level questions, will initially answer the questions. Gearing the questionnaire toward industry-initiated determination of MP status was an intentional redistribution of permitting-related responsibility based on two lessons learned: (1) determining appropriate premises designation can take more time and poultry commodity expertise than regulatory personnel may have available during an outbreak, and (2) for products that move daily, MP status must be continuously re-evaluated during an outbreak as Infected Premises status (and thus potential Contact Premises) can rapidly change; this amount of work for regulators concerned with outbreak control may not be justified for lowrisk products but is desired by producers who want risk for moving product to be as low as possible. Additionally, the MPSQ questions were designed to be cross-sector and appropriate for any poultry/poultry product (e.g., the terms poultry and bird are used throughout rather than specifying sector/bird type). If a premises meets all of the criteria to be designated as an MP, then the request for permitted movement from that premises should be more easily evaluated by regulatory personnel who make the final determination as to whether to designate a premises as an MP, evaluate compliance with product-specific permit guidance criteria, and issue a permit or not. The pre-existing, targeted, cross-sector MPSQ can enable a more efficient evaluation, and re-evaluation if necessary, by both industry and regulators.

Since the development of the MPSQ, multiple HPAI outbreak tabletop exercises have been conducted throughout the US by the SFS team. These exercises have underscored the complexities involved with the permitting process during an FAD response. Indeed, one of the most commonly identified exercise benefits noted by participants has been knowledge gained about COB permitted movement (9). Discussions from these exercises reinforce that the MPSQ is a tool that can streamline the COB SFS permitting process during what can be a chaotic time. Specifically, it provides industry representatives with a "Grab n' Go" list of questions that they can answer before requesting a COB SFS permit; and it allows regulatory officials to assess those answers quickly (i.e., the answer to all of the MPSQ questions, except for the very first and last questions, should be NO otherwise further follow-up is needed by Incident Command) (see Table 1). Ultimately, the MPSQ makes the evaluation process to determine MP status operational rather than theoretical.

CONCLUSION

The need for a logistically feasible operational process that could support the efficient and high throughput of COB permits was a driving force for a series of meetings following the 2014–2015 HPAI outbreak in order to improve the permitting process in MN and gather the experiences gained in the largest FAD outbreak in US history. The process undertaken by MN stakeholders has been collaborative, multi-disciplinary, and multi-layered. Ultimately, the lessons learned from the 2014–2015 outbreak and open discussions resulted in the development of an MN MPSQ with the intent that this instrument could be a universal tool for all poultry commodities and eventually all animal agricultural businesses such as beef, dairy, and pork. MP status is central to the assumptions used to determine the risk of commodity movements during an HPAI outbreak. The MPSQ is a tool that

REFERENCES

- USDA APHIS. FAD Preparedness and Response Plan (PReP)/National Animal Health Emergency Management System (NAHEMS) Guidelines: Continuity of Business. Riverdale, MD (2016). Available online at: https://www.aphis.usda. gov/animal_health/emergency_management/downloads/nahems_guidelines/ cob_nahems.pdf
- Secure Poultry Supply Website. Permitting Process (2018). Available online at: https://securepoultrysupply.umn.edu/content/permittingprocess
- USDA APHIS. FAD PReP HPAI Response Plan: The Red Book. Riverdale, MD (2017). Available at: https://www.aphis.usda.gov/animal_health/emergency_ management/downloads/hpai_response_plan.pdf
- USDA APHIS. FAD PReP Manual, Permitted Movement. Riverdale, MD (2017). Available online at: https://www.aphis.usda.gov/animal_health/ emergency_management/downloads/documents_manuals/fadprep_man6-0_ permit-mvmt.pdf
- Secure Poultry Supply Website. *Harmonized Elements* (2018). Available online at: https://securepoultrysupply.umn.edu/content/harmonized-elements# monitored
- Johnson R, Cardona C, Halvorson D, Schwabenlander S, Culhane M, Goldsmith T, et al. The good, the bad, and the ugly of permitted movement of poultry and poultry products during an HPAI outbreak. In: WPDC Conference (2016). p. 124–5. Available online at: https://aaap.memberclicks.net/assets/ WPDC/wpdc_2016_final.pdf

helps to further operationalize the process used to determine MP status for the purposes of permitting, and together with other improvements (e.g., Secure Poultry Supply Plan harmonization, electronic forms and web applications, and risk-based permitting approaches), has improved and streamlined the permitting process in MN and could likely be a beneficial tool for other states' response plans as well.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JU wrote the manuscript. RJ provided valuable background information regarding the entire permitting improvement process undertaken in Minnesota. EL provided helpful research assistance as well as additional background information regarding the cross-sector meetings. RJ, CC, and DH conceived the MPSQ. MK provided poultry industry leadership throughout the permitting improvement process and review of the MPSQ. RJ, MC, TG, DH, and CC provided valuable expertise, feedback, and editing on all topics included in this manuscript. All the authors have read and approved the manuscript.

FUNDING

The Secure Food Systems Team would like to acknowledge the support of this work discussed above through the USDA APHIS Cooperative Agreement 15-9100-1495ca.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to acknowledge the MN Permitting Working Group for their important work developing the Minnesota Monitored Premises Status Questionnaire, and Dr. Mike Kopp for discussing the important HPAI response work in Indiana.

- Schwabenlander S. HPAI Permitting in Minnesota. In: USAHA/AAVLD Committee on Animal Health Surveillance and Information Systems (CAHSIS) Meeting (2015). 5 p. Available online at: http://www.usaha.org/upload/ Committee/AnimalHealthSurvInfo/report-ahis-2015.pdf
- USDA APHIS. Final Report for the 2014-2015 Outbreak of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI) in the United States. Riverdale, MD (2016). Available online at: https://www.aphis.usda.gov/animal_health/emergency_ management/downloads/hpai/2015-hpai-final-report.pdf
- 9. Linskens E, Neu A, Walz E, St. Charles K, Culhane M, Ssematimba A, et al. Preparing for a Foreign Animal Disease Outbreak Using a Novel Tabletop Exercise. *Prehospital Disaster Med.* (in press).

Conflict of Interest Statement: MK is employed by Jennie-O Turkey Store.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Umber, Johnson, Kromm, Linskens, Culhane, Goldsmith, Halvorson and Cardona. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Developing Farm-Level Post-vaccination Sero-Monitoring Systems for H5N1 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza in an Endemically Infected Country

Peter A. Durr^{1*}, Risa Indriani², Paul Selleck¹, Abdul R. M. Adjid², Tatty Syafriati^{2†} and Jagoda Ignjatovic^{3†}

¹ CSIRO-Australian Animal Health Laboratory, Geelong, VIC, Australia, ² Indonesian Research Centre for Veterinary Sciences, Bogor, Indonesia, ³ Faculty of Veterinary Science, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mathilde C. Paul, Ecole Nationale Vétérinaire de Toulouse, France

Reviewed by:

El-Sayed M. Abdelwhab, Friedrich Loeffier Institut, Germany Sophie Molia, Centre de Coopération Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Développement (CIRAD), France

> *Correspondence: Peter A. Durr

peter.durr@csiro.au

[†]Retired

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 10 April 2018 Accepted: 03 December 2018 Published: 08 January 2019

Citation:

Durr PA, Indriani R, Selleck P, Adjid ARM, Syafriati T and Ignjatovic J (2019) Developing Farm-Level Post-vaccination Sero-Monitoring Systems for H5N1 Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza in an Endemically Infected Country. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:324. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00324 Whilst the serological responses of poultry following vaccination against highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 has been extensively investigated under laboratory conditions, there have been fewer studies conducted in the field. This applies particularly to the endemically infected countries routinely practicing vaccination, where the combination of multiple circulating clades and/or the use of vaccines with different seed strains makes the design and interpretation of field studies especially problematic. To address this for the particular situation of laver hens in the small to medium commercial sector in Indonesia, we developed a sampling regime before and after the vaccination given to point-of-lay pullets, and assessed serological response with a panel of test antigens. This confirmed that high titres were induced in those birds vaccinated with locally produced homologous H5N1 vaccines administered two or more times, but in flocks using imported heterologous H5N2 vaccines median titres were significantly lower, and unlikely to provide protection throughout the production cycle, without additional vaccination. Comparing the HI responses against the panel of antigens enabled the detection of the flock's exposure to different vaccine antigens, and made possible the detection of mislabelled vaccine seed strains. Furthermore, we show that test antigens need not be exactly matched to assess sero-protection in well vaccinated birds. Finally our study suggests that the POL vaccination serves as a useful reference point for following cohorts of layers throughout their production cycle, and thus enabling robust vaccination field effectiveness studies.

Keywords: avian influenza virus subtype H5N1, avian influenza vaccines, haemagglutination inhibition test, highly pathogenic avian influenza, poultry vaccination

INTRODUCTION

The epidemic of H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) virus in Indonesia was initially detected in poultry farms in central Java in August 2003 (1). Although the source of the virus has been traced by sequence comparisons back to Hunan province in southern China (2), the mechanism of the introduction has not been definitively determined. Initially it was suspected

121

to be via migrating birds, but there is evidence that the pathway of introduction of the virus occurred through the transboundary movement of poultry and/or poultry products (3). Following this introduction, the disease spread rapidly, and by 2005 had been detected in poultry flocks in 30 out of Indonesia's 33 provinces (4).

Initially the Indonesian veterinary authorities attempted a stamping out policy, but when the extent of the spread of the disease became clear, this strategy was changed to one of vaccination (4). While vaccination proved successful in controlling the epidemic (5), there are a number of outstanding questions about its sustainability as a control measure (6, 7). Of particular concern is the extent to which antigenically variant strains are induced by vaccination, which in turn may lead to vaccine failures (8). In response to field reports that this might be occurring in Indonesia, Swayne et al. (9) undertook a challenge study using three Indonesian field strains and found that for one of these, A/chicken/West Java/PWT-WIJ/2006, all the tested vaccines were ineffective to prevent death in the challenged birds. This was supported by antigenic cartography which showed considerable drift from the then predominant strain used in the locally made vaccines, A/chicken/Legok/2003. Nevertheless, there are other reports of continued effectiveness of the vaccines, and this was supported by a field study in West Java demonstrating that vaccination could prevent disease in layer flocks and native chickens (10).

In a pilot survey of vaccination practices we conducted in 2008 in small to medium sized layer and broiler flocks in western Java, we confirmed that vaccination was being routinely used in the layer farms, but not in the majority of the broiler farms, which relied on biosecurity to prevent disease. With respect to the vaccination regimes used on the layer farms, these varied considerably, especially as regards the vaccine used and the number of vaccinations administered. Nevertheless, we did identify a consistent practice of giving pullets a HPAI vaccine at or around the point-of-lay (POL) stage, which was reported to occur between 16 and 20 weeks of age.

Arising from the initial survey a number of questions were posed, and accordingly we undertook a follow-up study with the general objective of providing baseline data to improve the advice on vaccination regimes. Specifically, in the layer flocks, we sought to establish the effectiveness of the POL vaccination to protect the birds during their early laying period. Due to the variety of vaccines being used, we recognized the need to undertake serological assays using antigens identical, or else closely matched to the vaccine strain. This required us to obtain detailed data about the farm management and vaccination practices, and to explicitly frame our study as an integration of field epidemiology and laboratory diagnostics, as well as extending and building on comparable studies being undertaken on vaccine efficacy and effectiveness at the same time within Indonesia (9–11).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Farms

The study was carried out in 15 commercial layer poultry farms, all located in the districts of Sukabumi and Cianjur in the province of West Java, Indonesia (**Figure 1**). These districts have a well-developed poultry industry, being suitably placed to supply the large Jakarta market. Although some of the farms were large, all were considered by the district animal health office staff as Sector 3 under the FAO classification (12). The initial farm sampling visit occurred between December 2009 and January 2010.

The study farms were selected by officials of the local district animal health office ("Dinas Peternakan Kabupaten"), as the unavailability of a listing of commercial poultry farms in the two districts precluded random selection or formal sampling size calculations. However, there was no deliberate selection for any production or health criteria, although implicitly, participating farms tended to have good relations with the local animal health office. Thus, although not a random sample, the flocks were considered by the animal health staff to be representative of the layer farms in the area.

Sampling

For the layer flocks, a structured sampling regime was developed to collect serum before and after the POL vaccination, which based on our pilot survey had been identified to be typically given when the pullets were between 16 and 20 weeks of age (Table 1). Farms were contacted to determine when this vaccination was intended to be administered for the next cohort of layers, and then visited ~ 1 week before this date (Figure 2). From each farm, 11 pullets were randomly selected, this sample size being chosen based on previous experience of estimating flock serological responses. From each bird, 0.5-1.0 ml of blood was collected from the wing (brachial) vein using a needle and syringe. Three to four weeks after vaccination, a second visit was undertaken and the procedure repeated. The birds were not individually marked, and therefore no attempt was made to resample exactly the same birds. However, the birds in the two samplings did belong to the same cohort.

At the time of the first blood sampling, a questionnaire was administered to the farm manager, to obtain data about the flock and the sampled cohort. This questionnaire had two broad sections: the first asking general details of the farm and the management of the pullets and layers, and the second about the HPAI vaccination practice, including the vaccine used for the POL vaccination (**Table 1**).

Vaccines and Panel Antigens

For the 15 sampled farms, we identified seven vaccines being used for the POL vaccination (Table 2), and for each of these

Abbreviations: DOC, day-old-chicks; FAO, Food and Agricultural Organization (of the United Nations); HA, haemagglutination assay/haemagglutinin (gene); HI, haemagglutination inhibition (assay/test); HPAI, highly pathogenic avian influenza; LPAI, low pathogenic avian influenza; OFFLU, OIE/FAO influenza (network of expertise); OIE, Office International des Epizooties (World Organization for Animal Health); POL, point-of-lay; RBC, red-blood cells.



FIGURE 1 | The location of the 15 study farms in the districts of Sukabumi and Cianjur in the province of West Java, Indonesia.

TABLE 1 Summary of the farm surve	y questionnaire responses with res	pect to practices relevant to the study.
-------------------------------------	------------------------------------	--

Farm ID	Layer replacement (and age of purchase if growers/pullets)	Age at commencement of lay (weeks)	POL vaccine administered	Age vaccinations given (weeks)
1	DOC	19	IND_2	4/17
2	DOC	20	CHI_3	5/15
3	DOC	19	MEX_1	6/17
4	DOC	20	CHI_2	4/9/12/17
5	DOC	19	IND_1	2/5/10/17
6	DOC	20	CHI_3	3/8/14/22
7	Growers (12w)	19	CHI_3	nk/14
8	Pullets (14w)	20	IND_2	4/12/16
Э	DOC	19	MEX_1	6/17
10	Pullets (14w)	18	IND_1	nk/16
11	DOC and Pullets (14w)	19	CHI_1	DOC: 4/10/18 Pullets: nk/18
12	DOC	19	IND_2	3/9/18
13	DOC	20	CHI_2	4/9/20
14	DOC	19	CHI_3	4/9/20
15	Pullets (14w)	20	MEX_2	4/12/20

DOC, day-old-chicks; nk, not known; POL, point-of-lay.

we determined the registered seed strain by reference to H5N1 vaccine listings (13, 14) or else by direct communications with the vaccine manufacturers. Antigens were then chosen to match these seed strains (**Table 3**), except for the IND_1 vaccine, for which we substituted a near identical isolate, *A/chicken/West Java/SMI-CSLK-EB/2006* (**Table 4**), as this was found to be more stable and thus provided a more consistent titer on culture. In addition to the four homologous antigens, we included in the panel one derived from an isolate representative of the then commonest circulating clade ("2.1.3.1"), *A/chicken/Konawe Selatan/BBVM204(O)/2007* (**Table 3**). Thus in the panel, one antigen was intended to be identical ("homologous") to the seed strain, and the other four non-identical ("heterologous").

Serology

All 330 collected blood samples were transported at room temperature to the Indonesian Research Center for Veterinary Sciences within 12 h. The serum was then extracted from the syringe, and transferred to a 1.8-ml Eppendorf tube, where it was then stored at -20° C. After preliminary testing to confirm the quality of the serum, the samples were then transported to the Australian Animal Health Laboratory (AAHL) where the Haemagglutination Inhibition (HI) tests were performed against the panel of selected antigens (**Table 3**). This testing used the standard AAHL SOP, which broadly follows that outlined in the OIE Terrestrial Manual of Diagnostic Tests (15). In brief, 25 μ l of serum was diluted two-fold in PBS, starting from 1:4 and



FIGURE 2 | The intended sampling regime for the pullets in the study layer flocks, aiming to occur before and after the administration of the POL vaccine. In practice, the vaccination regimes on the farms turned out to be more variable than indicated (Table 1).

TABLE 2 Anonymised details of the vaccines reported to be used by the farms for the sampled pullets, including the registered seed strain.

Anonymised vaccine name	Country of production	Subtype/pathogenicity	Registered seed strain	Number of farms using
CHI_1	China	H5N2-LPAI	A/turkey/England/N28/1973	1
CHI_2	China	H5N2–LPAI	A/turkey/England/N28/1973	2
CHI_3	China	H5N2–LPAI	A/turkey/England/N28/1973	4
IND_1	Indonesia	H5N1-HPAI	A/chicken/West Java/PWT-WIJ/2006	2
IND_2	Indonesia	H5N1-HPAI	A/chicken/Legok/2003	3
MEX_1	Mexico	H5N2-LPAI	A/chicken/Mexico/232/1994	2
MEX_2	Mexico	H5N2–LPAI	A/chicken/Mexico/232/1994	1

TABLE 3 | Details of the antigens used for the HI test.

Isolate	Antigen abbreviation	H5N1 Clade	GenBank accession number for the HA gene
A/chicken/Legok/2003 (H5N1)	Leg/03	2.1.1	GU052426
A/chicken/West Java/SMI-CSLK-EB/2006 (H5N1)	Cis/06	2.1.3.2	EU124276
A/chicken/Konawe Selatan/BBVM204(O)/2007 (H5N1)	Kon/07	2.1.3.1	Not deposited
A/turkey/England/N28/1973 (H5N2)	Eng/73	n/a	EU636684
A/chicken/Mexico/232/1994 (H5N2)	Mex/94	n/a	AY497096
	A/chicken/Legok/2003 (H5N1) A/chicken/West Java/SMI-CSLK-EB/2006 (H5N1) A/chicken/Konawe Selatan/BBVM204(O)/2007 (H5N1) A/turkey/England/N28/1973 (H5N2)	A/chicken/Legok/2003 (H5N1)Leg/03A/chicken/West Java/SMI-CSLK-EB/2006 (H5N1)Cis/06A/chicken/Konawe Selatan/BBVM204(O)/2007 (H5N1)Kon/07A/turkey/England/N28/1973 (H5N2)Eng/73	A/chicken/Legok/2003 (H5N1) Leg/03 2.1.1 A/chicken/West Java/SMI-CSLK-EB/2006 (H5N1) Cis/06 2.1.3.2 A/chicken/Konawe Selatan/BBVM204(O)/2007 (H5N1) Kon/07 2.1.3.1 A/turkey/England/N28/1973 (H5N2) Eng/73 n/a

finishing at 1:2048, in U-bottomed microwell plastic plates and 4 HA units of antigen was added to each well. Following incubation at room temperature for 60 min, 50 μ l 0.5% chicken RBC was then added to each well, and the plates were incubated at 4°C for 30–40 min to allow the RBCs to settle. Plates were read and the HI titer was determined as the value of the highest dilution of serum causing complete inhibition of the 4 HA units of virus.

Data Analyses

For each individual HI result, negative titres (<1:4) were recoded to have a value of "2," and then each individual titer transformed to \log_2 titres for further analysis. The individual farm results of the sampled birds HI titres were highly variable, reflecting in part the fact that the sampling at the two visits were not from the same birds. Accordingly, for the purpose of our analysis we treated the HI titer results as a flock test, i.e., where the results are interpreted as estimating a flock-level parameter (16), by taking the median of \log_2 titres from the 11 sampled birds as the measure of the flock's serological status before and after the vaccination.

As anticipated, the vaccination caused increases in the median titer in the majority of the farms, but the actual extent of the increase was highly conditional on which test antigen was used. An added complexity was that some of the responses to these test antigens were highly correlated to each other. In order to provide a more complete analysis of the before and after responses, we treated the median responses for each farm to the test antigens as a multivariate response variable. The overall effect of the vaccination response was then tested for a significant increase using a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA). As a traditional sum-of-squares MANOVA is dependent upon the assumptions of multivariate normality, which was not shown to be met for our dataset, we conducted a nonparametric permutation MANOVA ("PERMANOVA") to assure against Type I error (17). Aside for testing for an overall significant increase in median farm titres following vaccination, we also

TABLE 4 | Nucleotide percentage identity (green) and amino acid percentage

 similarity (red) distance matrices for the HA1 genes and proteins of the reported

 and presumed vaccine seed strains (Table 1) and the HI test antigens (Table 2).

	Seed strain/HI antigen								
	Leg/03 (%)	Cis/06 (%)	Pwt/06 (%)	Kon/07 (%)	Eng/73 (%)	Mex/94 (%)	rgGD/96 (%)		
Leg/03		96.2	96.3	97.4	86.9	79.3	96.1		
Cis/06	95.0		99.9	95.7	85.0	77.6	93.0		
Pwt/06	95.0	100		95.8	84.9	77.5	92.9		
Kon/07	98.4	96.0	96.0		85.6	79.1	93.7		
Eng/73	95.7	91.3	91.3	94.7		82.2	89.8		
Mex/94	92.9	88.8	88.8	92.2	94.4		80.6		
rgGD/96	98.8	93.8	93.8	96.9	96.9	93.8			
Heatmap	classes								
Nucleoti	de	Amino							

identity	acid similarity
>95%	>97.5%
90–95%	95-97.5%
<90%	<95%

assessed the effect of the provenance of the vaccine on the increase in the titres. Following the detection of a significant provenance effect, we then used orthogonal contrasts to explore whether the Chinese-origin vaccines were significantly different in their responses to the Mexican-origin vaccines, despite both being registered as using H5N2 seed strains (**Table 2**). Finally, to explore the patterns of the HI titer profiles at an individual farm level, we undertook an unsupervised classification of the post-vaccination serological responses for each of the 15 farms, using a hierarchical (agglomerative) cluster analysis, with Ward's linkage used to assess inter-cluster dissimilarity.

All statistical analyses were done within the *R* statistical framework (v. 2.16 or v. 3.0), using either functions from the base or statistics libraries, or else from specialized packages. For the PERMANOVA we used the *Adonis* function of the *vegan* package (version 2.0–10), and for the cluster analysis we implemented the *"hclust"* function of the *cluster* package version 1.15.2.

Bioinformatics Analyses of HI Test Antigens

The clade classification of the H5N1 HI test antigens followed that outlined in the publication by the WHO/OIE/FAO H5N1 Evolution working Group (18). For each of these test antigens, as well as those subsequently presumed to be used as seed strains in the vaccines, a pairwise distance matrix determination was undertaken on alignments of the HA1 gene and its corresponding protein chain (**Table 4**). Nucleotide distances were determined by pairwise identity without assuming a substitution model, and amino acid similarity was calculated using the BLOSUM90 algorithm (19). Alignments and distance matrices were undertaken using *Geneious Pro* version 10.1.3 (www.geneious.com).

Animal Welfare and Ethical Considerations

The sampling of the birds followed the standard practice used for the testing of flocks by the farm managers for their normal sero-monitoring and therefore was treated as a veterinary routine with benefit to the welfare of the birds, as a low titer would result in revaccination and therefore prevention of disease. The questioning of the farm managers was conducted in an ethical framework in which the following conditions applied: (i) the data collected was not of a personal nature; (ii) the data was anonymised before and during publication; (iii) the objectives of the survey were discussed with the farmers beforehand; (iv) taking part in the survey was voluntary and there was no implied pressure to participate; (v) there was no financial or social penalty for not taking part in the survey; (vi) the study was part of disease control research which benefits the farmers; and (vii) the results of the tests on the individual birds–and the wider survey results and their implications for post-vaccination monitoring–were communicated back to the farmers.

RESULTS

General Properties of the Sampled Farms

All the farms were relatively large, with the median number of layers in production being 60,000 birds (range 30,000–138,000). Median egg production per month was 90,000 kg (range 27,000–204,000), with the median egg weight 64 g (range 60–65 g). The predominant breed was "ISA Brown" followed by "Lohmann Brown."

Ten of the farms purchased only DOCs as their replacement strategy, while 4 purchased grower/pullets, and one farm purchased both DOCs and grower/pullets (**Table 1**). For those that purchased pullets, these mostly came from a single supplier, which was different for the five farms.

The median target age for pullets to begin laying was 19 weeks, and the median age for culling was 85 weeks. Premature culling of layers was low with a median of 2% (range 1–10%). Management practices were stable, with 14 of the managers reporting no change over the previous 3 years.

Vaccination Practice for HPAI H5N1

With respect to HPAI H5N1, none of the farms reported outbreaks within the previous 3 years, indicating that the vaccination strategy they had adopted was effective. However, the vaccination regime used on the farms was more variable than indicated in the pilot study, both with respect to its timing and the vaccines used. The predominant practice (n = 9 farms) was to give the vaccination at the time of the start of laying, or up to 2 weeks beforehand (**Table 1**). Two farms gave the POL vaccination 1–2 weeks after the start of laying, and 4 farms gave the pre-laying final vaccination more than 4 weeks prior.

For the 11 farms that brought in DOCs (including the single farm that also brought in growers/pullets), 3 gave 4 vaccinations before or shortly after the POL, 4 gave 3 vaccinations and one 4 gave two vaccinations. For the 5 farms that brought in grower/pullets, the HPAI vaccination practice used by the supplier was known for two of these. These both administered a vaccine at 4 and 12 weeks to the growers, and were reported to be the same vaccine as was given by the farm at the POL.

Seven different vaccines were reported to be used by the farms (**Table 2**). These broadly fell within three groups: (1)

Indonesian manufactured vaccines, using Clade 2.1 H5N1 seedstrains that had been isolated from outbreaks on farms in western Java; (2) imported Chinese manufactured vaccines registered as using a H5N2 LPAI seed-strain originally isolated from turkeys in England in 1973; and (3) imported Mexican manufactured vaccines using the *A/chicken/Mexico/232/1994* H5N2 seed-strain. All vaccines were oil emulsion, inactivated vaccines, sold as multi-dose bottles, and sourced from local suppliers. All vaccines were recommended by the manufacturer to be refrigerated when not in use.

All the farms reported to undertake post-vaccination seromonitoring following the POL vaccination. The exact details regarding this were not asked in the questionnaire, but presumably followed standard practice of sending serum to a private laboratory to determine that the pullets had a titer greater than or equal to 1:16, the threshold which is generally taken to indicate sero-protection for poultry in Indonesia (4, 10, 20).

Flock-Level Serological Responses Before and After POL Vaccination

As assessed by the MANOVA, vaccination resulted in an overall increase in the flock median log₂ titer (from 5.36 to 6.64, a 1.24 fold increase), which was highly significant (p < 0.01). This rise was most consistent for the Indonesian vaccines, wherein flock median log₂ titer responses showed a 1.58-fold increase (from 5.22 to 8.27), irrespective of which test antigen was used (Figure 3, Table 5). The fold increase for the Chinese and Mexican vaccines was less than for the Indonesian vaccines, being 1.11 and 1.35 respectively. However, the Chinese vaccines had a much higher overall pre-vaccination baseline than the vaccines originating from Mexico (6.29 vs. 3.91), which was a highly significant difference (p < 0.01). There were however, considerable differences between the responses of the same serum when tested against the different antigens, with the H5N2 test antigens recording pre-POL vaccination titres below that of the international standard for sero-protection against mortality, viz. >1:32(15).

The responses to the Chinese vaccines were highly variable (Figure 3), with responses intermediate between the Indonesian and the Mexican vaccines. The responses from the farm using the CHI_1 vaccine were similar to those of the farms using the Mexican vaccines, but the farms using the other two Chinese vaccines had responses comparable to the farms using the Indonesian vaccines, as was demonstrated with the hierarchical cluster analysis (Figure 4). This was consistent with the results of the orthogonal contrast analysis for provenance, which showed that the overall responses of the Indonesian-origin vaccines did not differ significantly from those originating from China, but these Chinese-origin vaccines were highly significantly different to the Mexican-origin vaccines (p < 0.01). Based on the evidence from the two different statistical analyses, it is concluded that two out of the three of the Chinese vaccines (CHI_2 and CHI_3) contained seed strains antigenically closer to H5N1 than the H5N2 for which they were registered, most probably a reverse genetics-generated H5N1 LPAI virus using the A/goose/Guangdong/1/1996 isolate (rgGD/96) (9).

Adjusting the interpretation of the serological responses for the six farms which used the mislabelled Chinese-origin vaccines, it is possible to assess the capability of the vaccine seed strains to induce immunity in the early layer stage (i.e., after the POL vaccine) allowing for both the effect of the different test antigens and the two accepted thresholds for sero-protection (Tables 5, 6). This shows that all the 5 farms using the locally produced Indonesian vaccines had a median flock titer \geq 1:32, which is the minimum recommended threshold to prevent mortality following exposure to HPAI viruses (15). Furthermore, this strong response to these vaccines were seen irrespective of which of the three H5N1 test antigens were used. Similarly there were strong responses to the vaccines surmised to contain rgGD/96, all producing median titres \geq 1:32 when assessed using the H5N1 test antigens. However, for some of the Indonesian and Chinese H5N1 containing vaccines, the titres when assessed against the H5N2 test antigens were in the intermediate sero-protective range (i.e., \geq 1:16, but <1:32), which undoubtedly reflects the antigenic distance between the subtypes (Table 4). Regarding the flocks which were vaccinated with H5N2 containing vaccines, one of these (Farm 3) had a titer below the sero-protective threshold when assessed against three of the test antigens, including the one to which it was homologous (Mex/94). This was not seen in the other flocks using the H5N2 vaccines, and may reflect other factors not accounted for in our analysis (due to insufficient replication) such as the timing and number of vaccinations (Table 1).

Our use of a panel of antigens allows an assessment of the practice of the Indonesian testing laboratories of using a single standardized HI test antigen to assess the flock level of sero-protection, at both the lower (1:16) and upper (1:32) thresholds (**Table 7**). When the classification using standardized antigen (Leg/03) is compared with the commonest circulating strain (Kon/07), there was agreement for all flocks at the 1:16 threshold, and all but one for the 1:32 threshold, the latter being for flock 11, which used the CHI_1 vaccine containing a H5N2 antigen. Comparing the Leg/03 test antigen against the homologous test antigen, which would be expected to give the most accurate titer (21) is made complex by not having data for the presumed rgGD/96 containing vaccines, but for the 9 farms for which the homologous antigen data was available, the predictive value of the standardized antigen was similarly very high.

DISCUSSION

The HI test for the assessment of vaccine induced immune responses in poultry has a long history of usage, dating back over 50 years (22). By the time the H5N1 HPAI panzootic strain appeared in Hong Kong, it was a mature test, and thus used to assess the effectiveness of vaccination to prevent onward transmission of the disease (23). However, this use of the HI test describes a situation where the causative strain of the outbreak, the exact seed strain of the vaccine, the timing of the vaccination and prior exposure of the vaccinated birds are all known. A much more complex situation occurs when the disease is endemic, such as in Indonesia, where many of



these variables might either not be known, or else subject to a degree of uncertainty. The challenge is to develop methods to assess the field performance of HPAI vaccination in the endemically infected countries, which at the time of our study, and to a degree to this day, remains an under-researched topic (24–27).



The approach we took was to assume that the vaccination system developed by the Indonesian poultry farmers, based on vaccinating the young birds several times before the commencement of laying, might be "fit for purpose," and to make an objective assessment of its performance. For this, we developed a sampling regime centered on the POL vaccination, based on the assumption that this would be of most interest to the participating farms, and therefore achieve greater farmer cooperation. Furthermore, we developed an Indonesian language questionnaire survey to ensure the capture of quality data of the management and vaccination practices. Using this data we were then able to select antigens which corresponded to the registered seed strain of the POL vaccine, and then systematically compare responses to a panel of homologous and heterologous antigens.

In retrospect it can be seen that the limitation of this study design was the presumption that the seed strain used in the POL vaccine would equate with that to which it was registered, and because mislabelled vaccines were used in 6 of the 15 sampled farms, this made interpreting the resulting post-vaccination responses initially problematic. Through a combination of careful rechecking the farm questionnaire data, repeating the HI testing using newly obtained H5N2 antigens and undertaking detailed statistical analyses we arrived at the hypothesis that some of the Chinese origin vaccines contained a H5N1 antigen. This hypothesis was subsequently confirmed with the publication by Swayne et al. (9), reporting that some of Chinese origin vaccines being used in Indonesia at the time were found by sequencing to contain a seed strain using an antigen derived from *A/goose/Guangdong/1/1996* (H5N1).

The use of these mislabelled vaccines is now largely of historical interest, as in 2012 the Indonesian veterinary authorities prohibited the further use of imported vaccines. However, this example does illustrate the capability of the HI test, when used against a panel of homologous and heterologous antigens, to reconstruct the previous exposure of birds to vaccines. Although not unexpected, this is as far as we are aware the first time this result has actually been shown. A more practical learning from this vaccine mislabelling is that if inconsistent results are found in vaccine efficacy or effectiveness trials, then sequencing of the vaccine (and possibly the test antigen) is recommended.

Once the test results could be reinterpreted with the true or probable vaccine seed strain, then it was possible to confirm that those flocks in which a H5N2 vaccine was used had significantly lower median titres than those using a H5N1 seed strain. The use of H5N2 (and H5N9) vaccines had initially been recommended for use in Indonesia on the basis of the experience in Italy during an outbreak of H7N1 LPAI/HPAI between 1999 and 2001, where the application of a heterologous vaccine enabled the differentiation of vaccinated from infected flocks, and this assisted in proving freedom from disease in the latter stage of eradication (28). Our post-vaccination serological results are consistent with those obtained in the experimental challenge trials using H5N2 vaccines available in Indonesia (9) and thus provide additional evidence that the use of heterologous vaccines are suboptimal for the H5N1 endemically infected countries, and if a DIVA strategy is desired, then this would be best to be based on other testing methodologies (29, 30).

Implications for Farm-Level Sero-Monitoring in Endemically Infected Countries

A learning from our field sampling that remains relevant to the Indonesian situation-and also to those endemically infected countries with multiple circulating HPAI viruses-is the appropriate selection of test antigens for the HI test in response to evolving H5N1 strains. The use of a panel of antigens in our study was based on the recommendation that only homologous antigens would provide a true estimate of the postvaccination titer, and that heterologous antigens would give an underestimate (21). While obtaining accurate titres is important when vaccines are being assessed for both vaccine efficacy (31) and field effectiveness trials (32), they are of lesser direct interest when the purpose of the HI testing is simply to determine if the flock has an adequate post-vaccination level of seroprotection. This was clearly demonstrated in this study, where for the H5N1 vaccines, there was little difference in predictive value of a single standardized antigen as compared to the classification of the flocks using a homologous antigen and using an antigen matching the current circulating strain (Table 7). This has beneficial implications for the testing laboratories as using a single, standardized antigen is significantly more practical than varying the test antigen according to the vaccine used, as this avoids the complexity of keeping in stock various test antigens whilst assuring their quality over time. A similar argument applies to avoiding the need to change the test antigen to reflect the frequent identification of genetically variant H5N1 isolates, which have now been documented in all the endemic countries (18, 33-35). Nevertheless, there will be a need to carefully

Farm ID	POL vaccine probable seed strain	Pre-POL vaccination median HI titer				Post-POL vaccination median HI titer				liter	
		Leg/03	Cis/06	Kon/07	Eng/73	Mex/94	Leg/03	Cis/06	Kon/07	Eng/73	Mex/94
1	Leg/03 (H5N1)	4.55	6.45	5.36	2.09	1.09	7.82	10.36	9.27	5.00	3.82
2	rgGD/96 (H5N1)	5.18	6.73	5.55	3.55	1.82	8.27	10.45	9.00	5.82	5.36
3	Mex/94 (H5N2)	5.36	6.18	3.91	5.45	4.27	3.91	5.55	3.91	5.00	3.91
4	rgGD/96 (H5N1)	6.64	8.64	6.73	4.64	3.45	8.45	11.00	9.45	6.91	6.64
5	PWT-WIJ/06 (H5N1)	4.64	6.64	5.18	2.73	1.64	8.55	11.27	10.27	6.09	4.45
6	rgGD/96 (H5N1)	8.27	11.09	7.73	6.36	5.82	7.45	10.55	7.18	5.55	5.27
7	rgGD/96 (H5N1)	7.20	9.45	7.73	5.91	5.36	6.91	9.18	6.27	4.91	4.55
8	Leg/03 (H5N1)	4.91	7.64	6.27	2.09	1.09	6.64	10.45	9.09	4.73	3.64
9	Mex/94 (H5N2)	3.18	3.73	1.91	3.82	2.18	6.36	7.36	5.18	6.09	5.45
10	PWT-WIJ/06 (H5N1)	7.64	10.45	8.27	6.55	5.18	8.64	11.64	9.91	6.73	5.55
11	Eng/73 (H5N2)	5.36	6.27	4.73	4.73	3.27	5.82	6.45	4.73	4.55	3.27
12	Leg/03 (H5N1)	6.73	9.36	8.00	3.82	2.09	8.27	10.91	9.91	5.00	4.09
13	rgGD/96 (H5N1)	6.64	9.18	7.91	5.73	4.73	8.36	10.91	10.00	6.64	6.00
14	rgGD/96 (H5N1)	6.45	9.36	7.73	5.36	4.82	8.64	11.82	10.45	7.00	7.18
15	Mex/94 (H5N2)	5.09	5.91	2.55	4.00	3.91	6.45	8.18	5.55	5.55	5.91

TABLE 5 | Median pre- and post-POL vaccination HI log₂ titres for the 15 farms sampled in the study.

Homologous titres (i.e., where the HI test antigen titer matches the probable vaccine seed strain) are indicated by bold, highlighted text, except for the Chinese origin vaccines that were subsequently determined to contain a seed strain using A/goose/Guangdong/1/1996 (rgGD/96), as this conclusion was reached subsequent to the serological testing.

TABLE 6 | Summary of median HI responses for the 15 sampled farms provided in Table 5 with respect to two thresholds for sero-protection (1:16 and 1:32) and three scenarios of matching between the test antigen and the probable seed strain used in the POL vaccine.

Seed-strain vs. test antigen scenario	Sampling	Number of farms having a median HI titer above the tw accepted thresholds for the HI test			
		≥1:16	≥1:32		
Single standard test antigen (Leg/03) ($n = 15$ farms)	Pre-POL vaccination	14/15	11/15		
	Post-POL vaccination	14/15	14/15		
Test antigen matched to the vaccine seed strain ($n = 9$ farms)	Pre-POL vaccination	7/9	3/9		
	Post-POL vaccination	8/9	3/9		
Test antigen corresponding to presumed circulating strain at time of study (Kon/07) ($n = 15$ farms)	Pre-POL vaccination	12/15	11/15		
	Post-POL vaccination	14/15	13/15		

TABLE 7 | Cross tabulation of results of the post-POL vaccination serology provided in Table 5 comparing the classification of the sampled flocks H5N1 HPAI sero-protective status using a standardized test antigen (Leg/03) against: A. one of the then commonest circulating strains (Kon/07); and B. the antigen homologous to the vaccine seed strain.

HOLDS OF PO	SITIVITY $(n = 15 \text{ FAR})$	MS) AT TWO THRESHOLDS FOR POSITIVIT	γ	
	•	2. Threshold for positivity: ≥1:32		g strain (Kon/07)
NEG	POS	Leg/03	NEG	POS
1	0	NEG	1	0
0	14	POS	1	13
T ANTIGEN AT	TWO THRESHOLDS	OF POSITIVITY ($n = 9$ FARMS)		
1. Threshold for positivity: ≥1:16 Homologous test antigen			Homologo	ous test antigen
NEG	POS	Leg/03	NEG	POS
1	0	NEG	1	0
0	8	POS	1	7
	Circulatin NEG 1 0 T ANTIGEN AT Homologe NEG 1	Circulating strain (Kon/07) NEG POS 1 0 0 14 TANTIGEN AT TWO THRESHOLDS OF Homologous test antigen NEG POS 1 0	Circulating strain (Kon/07)2. Threshold for positivity: \geq 1:32NEGPOSLeg/0310NEG014POSTANTIGEN AT TWO THRESHOLDS OF POSITIVITY ($n = 9$ FARMS)Homologous test antigenNEGPOS10NEG10NEG	NEG POS Leg/03 NEG 1 0 NEG 1 0 14 POS 1 T ANTIGEN AT TWO THRESHOLDS OF POSITIVITY (n = 9 FARMS) Homologous test antigen 2. Threshold for positivity: ≥1:32 Homologous NEG POS Leg/03 NEG 1 0 NEG 1

Each cross-tabulation comparison uses the two thresholds applied to the HI test, i.e., \geq 1:16 and \geq 1:32.

monitor the evolution of the predominant circulating virus and determine if it has diverged sufficiently to warrant a change. In the specific case of Indonesia, this is assisted by the creation of an avian influenza virus laboratory network, supported by a webenabled database system, *IVM Online* (36), but for the endemic countries without comparable systems, approximate monitoring might be based on a bioinformatics analysis of the HA1 sequence (**Table 4**).

A second learning that has relevance beyond the Indonesian situation is that in layers the POL vaccination defines a reference point for the assessment of the effectiveness of HPAI vaccination throughout the birds' production cycle. Being able to define such a reference point is essential, because as was shown from our questionnaire survey (Table 1), the small to medium commercial layer sector engages in a diversity of practice, with respect to the vaccines used, the number administered and the timing of the vaccination. However, after the POL vaccination, the majority of the birds-with the exception of those being vaccinated with the H5N2 seed strain-had titres >1:32 and thus it becomes possible to make comparisons between flocks of vaccination parameters, such as the length of time the birds were protected, and the sero-protection status at the time of their culling. This possibility was in fact realized in a follow-on study, using some of the same farms reported on here, in which we were able to make a detailed assessment of the field effectiveness of HPAI vaccination by following cohorts of bird individually marked and resampled (32).

Finally, it needs to be stressed the limitation of our study with respect to understanding the effect of variables other than the seed strain in determining the HI titer in the pullets, *viz*. the type of vaccine, age at vaccination, number of vaccinations, the interval between vaccination and sampling etc. As was found, the farms used a diversity of vaccination practices (**Table 1**), and the relatively small sample size of our study precluded a detailed analysis of these. We do however, fully recommend that future studies explore the impact of vaccination practice on vaccine responses, both through more systematic field studies as well as complementary laboratory trials.

CONCLUSION

Whilst the general principles for implementing sero-surveillance for the endemically infected countries relying on vaccination as the principal method of control are now established

REFERENCES

- Wiyono A, Indriani R, Dharmayanti NLPI, Damayanti R, Darminto S. Isolasi dan karakterisasi virus Highly pathogenic Avian Influenza subtipe H5 dari ayam asal wabah di Indonesia [Isolation and characterization of virus of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5 subtype of chicken from outbreaks in Indonesia]. Jurnal Ilmu Ternak Dan Veteriner (2004) 9:61–71.
- Wang J, Vijaykrishna D, Duan L, Bahl J, Zhang JX, Webster RG, et al. Identification of the progenitors of Indonesian and Vietnamese avian influenza A (H5N1) viruses from southern China. J Virol. (2008) 82:3405–14. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02468-07

(7, 14, 27), it is also clear that each of these countries have unique challenges that require such sero-surveillance to be customized taking into account the specifics of the poultry production system, vaccination practices and permissible vaccines (5, 6, 37). This study assessing the use of the HI test system for POL pullets, and the follow-on one assessing sero-protection during and at the end of the layer production cycle (32), contribute to the evidence-base on which to provide recommendations for the commercial layer sector. It is however evident that developing robust sero-monitoring and sero-surveillance programs is a complex problem for which further research, both in Indonesia and beyond, is required.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PD: study design, data analysis, interpretation of results, writing of draft; RI: study design, farm visits, and specimen collection, data input; laboratory testing, interpretation of results; PS: laboratory testing, interpretation of results, editing of draft; AA: study design; TS: study design, farm visits, and specimen collection; data input; JI: study design, interpretation of results.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Australian Center for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) (Project AH/2006/05).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was funded by the Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) (Project AH/2006/05). We thank the poultry farms who participated in this study, and the staff at the animal health offices in Sukabumi and Cianjur who facilitated the farm visits. We also thank the Directorate General of Livestock and Animal Health Services for permission to export the serum samples to AAHL for testing. We gratefully acknowledge Ronald Wisnu Haryanto (ex-Mitrais) for developing the *SurvIT* application which was used to manage the survey data, Kerryne Graham (AAHL) who produced **Figure 1**, Frank Wong (AAHL) who provided the information on the Clade classification of the H5N1 test antigens (**Table 3**), and Bill Venables (CSIRO) who gave valuable statistical advice.

- Kilpatrick AM, Chmura AA, Gibbons DW, Fleischer RC, Marra PP, Daszak P. Predicting the global spread of H5N1 avian influenza. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2006) 103:19368–73. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0609227103
- Sawitri Siregar E, Darminto, Weaver J, Bouma A. The vaccination programme in Indonesia. In: Dodet B, editor. *Vaccination: A Tool for the Control of Avian Influenza*. Basel; Verona: Karger (2007). p. 151–8.
- Domenech J, Dauphin G, Rushton J, McGrane J, Lubroth J, Tripodi A, et al. Experiences with vaccination in countries endemically infected with highly pathogenic avian influenza: the Food and Agriculture Organization perspective. *Rev Sci Tech.* (2009) 28:293–305. doi: 10.20506/rst.28.1.1865
- Swayne DE. Impact of vaccines and vaccination on global control of avian influenza. Avian Dis. (2012) 56:818–28. doi: 10.1637/10183-041012-Review.1

- Sims LD. Intervention strategies to reduce the risk of zoonotic infection with avian influenza viruses: scientific basis, challenges and knowledge gaps. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses* (2013) 7:15–25. doi: 10.1111/irv.12076
- Cattoli G, Fusaro A, Monne I, Coven F, Joannis T, El-Hamid HS, et al. Evidence for differing evolutionary dynamics of A/H5N1 viruses among countries applying or not applying avian influenza vaccination in poultry. *Vaccine* (2011) 29:9368–75. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.09.127
- Swayne DE, Suarez DL, Spackman E, Jadhao S, Dauphin G, Kim-Torchetti M, et al. Antibody titer has positive predictive value for vaccine protection against challenge with natural antigenic-drift variants of H5N1 highpathogenicity avian influenza viruses from Indonesia. *J Virol.* (2015) 89:3746– 62. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00025-15
- Bouma A, Muljono AT, Jatikusumah A, Nell AJ, Mudjiartiningsih S, Dharmayanti I, et al. Field trial for assessment of avian influenza vaccination effectiveness in Indonesia. *Rev Sci Tech.* (2008) 27:633–42. doi: 10.20506/rst.27.3.1823
- Poetri ON, Van Boven M, Claassen I, Koch G, Wibawan IW, Stegeman A, et al. Silent spread of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 virus amongst vaccinated commercial layers. *Res Vet Sci.* (2014) 97:637–41. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2014.09.013
- Durr PA, Wibowo MH, Tarigan S, Artanto S, Rosyid MN, Ignjatovic J. Defining "Sector 3" poultry layer farms in relation to H5N1-HPAI-an example from Java, Indonesia. *Avian Dis.* (2016) 60:183–90. doi: 10.1637/11134-050815-Reg
- 13. Anon. *Indeks Obtat Hewan Indonesia*. Jakarta: Direktorat Jenderal Peternakan/Asosiasi Obat Hewan Indonesia (2007).
- Martin V, Forman A, Lubroth J. Preparing for Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza revised ed. Rome: FAO Animal Production and Health (2009). p. 83.
- OIE. Chapter 2.3.4. Avian influenza (infection with avian influenza viruses). In: Anon, editor. Manual of Diagnostic Tests and Vaccines for Terrestrial Animals. Paris: World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE) (2015). p. 1–23.
- Martin SW, Shoukri M, Thorburn MA. Evaluating the health status of herds based on tests applied to individuals. *Prev Vet Med.* (1992) 14:33–43.
- Anderson MJ. A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. *Austral Ecol.* (2001) 26:32–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-9993.2001.01070.pp.x
- WHO/OIE/FAO H5N1 Evolution Working Group. Continued evolution of highly pathogenic avian influenza A (H5N1): updated nomenclature. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses* (2012) 6:1–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-2659.2011.00298.x
- Henikoff S, Henikoff JG. Amino acid substitution matrices from protein blocks. PNAS (1992). 89:10915–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.22.10915
- McLaws M, Priyono W, Bett B, Al-Qamar S, Claassen I, Widiastuti T, et al. Antibody response and risk factors for seropositivity in backyard poultry following mass vaccination against highly pathogenic avian influenza and Newcastle disease in Indonesia. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2015) 143:1632–42. doi: 10.1017/S0950268814002623
- Pedersen JC. Hemagglutination-Inhibition test for avian influenza virus subtype identification and the detection and quantification of serum antibodies to the avian influenza virus. In: Spackman E, editor. Avian Influenza Virus. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press (2008). p. 53–66.
- Daubney R, Mansi W, Zahran G. Vaccination against fowl plague. J Comp Pathol Ther. (1949) 59:1–18.
- 23. Ellis TM, Leung CY, Chow MK, Bissett LA, Wong W, Guan Y, et al. Vaccination of chickens against H5N1 avian influenza in the face of an outbreak interrupts virus transmission. *Avian Pathol.* (2004) 33:405–12. doi: 10.1080/03079450410001724012
- Desvaux S, Garcia JM, Nguyen TD, Reid SA, Bui NA, Roger F, et al. Evaluation of serological tests for H5N1 avian influenza on field samples from domestic poultry populations in Vietnam: consequences for surveillance. *Vet Microbiol.* (2012) 156:277–84. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2011.11.010

- Desvaux S, Grosbois V, Pham TT, Dao DT, Nguyen TD, Fenwick S, et al. Evaluation of the vaccination efficacy against H5N1 in domestic poultry in the Red River Delta in Vietnam. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2012) 141:1–13. doi: 10.1017/S0950268812001628
- Kayali G, Kandeil A, El-Shesheny R, Kayed AS, Gomaa MR, Kutkat MA, et al. Do commercial avian influenza H5 vaccines induce cross-reactive antibodies against contemporary H5N1 viruses in Egypt? *Poult Sci.* (2013) 92:114–8. doi: 10.3382/ps.2012-02637
- 27. Peyre M, Fusheng G, Desvaux S, Roger F. Avian influenza vaccines: a practical review in relation to their application in the field with a focus on the Asian experience. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2009) 137:1–21. doi: 10.1017/S0950268808001039
- Capua I, Terregino C, Cattoli G, Mutinelli F, Rodriguez JF. Development of a DIVA (Differentiating Infected from Vaccinated Animals) strategy using a vaccine containing a heterologous neuraminidase for the control of avian influenza. *Avian Pathol.* (2003) 32:47–55. doi: 10.1080/0307945021000070714
- Hasan NH, Ignjatovic J, Peaston A, Hemmatzadeh F. Avian influenza virus and DIVA strategies. *Viral Immunol.* (2016) 0.29:198–211. doi: 10.1089/vim.2015.0127
- 30. Tarigan S, Indriani R, Durr PA, Ignjatovic J. Characterization of the M2e antibody response following highly pathogenic H5N1 avian influenza virus infection and reliability of M2e ELISA for identifying infected among vaccinated chickens. Avian Pathol. (2015) 44:259–68. doi: 10.1080/03079457.2015.1042428
- Villanueva-Cabezas JP, Coppo MJC, Durr PA, McVernon J. Vaccine efficacy against Indonesian highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Vaccine* (2017) 35:4859–69. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.07.059
- 32. Tarigan S, Wibowo MH, Indriani R, Sumarningsih S, Artanto S, Idris S, et al. Field effectiveness of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 vaccination in commercial layers in Indonesia. *PLoS ONE* (2018) 13:e0190947. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0190947
- WHO/OIE/FAO H5N1 Evolution Working Group. Toward a unified nomenclature system for highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (H5N1). *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2008) 14:e1. doi: 10.3201/eid1407.071681
- WHO/OIE/FAO H5N1 Evolution Working Group. Revised and updated nomenclature for highly pathogenic avian influenza A (H5N1) viruses. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses* (2014) 8:384–8. doi: 10.1111/irv.12230
- Smith GJ, Donis RO. Nomenclature updates resulting from the evolution of avian influenza A(H5) virus clades 2.1.3.2a, 2.2.1, and 2.3.4 during 2013-2014. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses* (2015) 9:271–6. doi: 10.1111/irv.12324
- 36. Hartaningsih N, Wibawa H, Pudjiatmoko, Rasa FS, Irianingsih SH, Dharmawan R, et al. Surveillance at the molecular level: Developing an integrated network for detecting variation in avian influenza viruses in Indonesia. *Prev Vet Med.* (2015) 120:96–105. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2015.02.015
- Peyre M, Choisy M, Sobhy H, Kilany WH, Gely M, Tripodi A, et al. Added value of avian influenza (H5) day-old chick vaccination for disease control in Egypt. Avian Dis. (2016) 60:245–52. doi: 10.1637/11131-050715-ResNote

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Durr, Indriani, Selleck, Adjid, Syafriati and Ignjatovic. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

